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Table 01	O perating data 

$ in millions 2008 2007 Change 
 in %

Selected key figures    

Net revenue 10,612 9,720 9 %

Earnings before interest and taxes, depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA ) 2,088 1,943 7 %

Earnings before interest and taxes ( EBIT ) 1,672 1,580 6 %

Net income 818 717 14 %

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,016 1,200 (15 %)

Free Cash Flow1 343 657 (48 %)

Capital expenditure ( net ) 673 543 24 %

Acquisitions, investments and purchases of intangible assets ( net ) 218 234 (7 %)

Earnings per ordinary share in $  2.75 2.43 13 %

Dividend per ordinary share2 in €  0.58 0.54 7 %

EBIT margin in % 15.8 16.3 –

Return on invested capital ( ROIC ) in % 8.6  8.4  –

Equity to assets in % 40.0 39.3 –

Other data    

Employees ( full-time equivalents ) 64,666 61,406 5 %

Patients 184,086 173,863 6 %

Clinics 2,388 2,238 7 %

Treatments in millions 27.9 26.4 5 %

1 Before acquisitions and dividends
2 2008: Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.

All figures in this report are stated in U.S.-$ and in conformity with U.S. GAAP, if not indicated otherwise.
Unless specified, all charts refer to fiscal year 2008. For more details please look to the 5-year-summary at the end of the financial report.

Creating a future worth living. 
For people. Worldwide.  

Every day. 

More than three decades of experience in dialysis,  
innovative research, the global leader in dialysis services and products –  

that is Fresenius Medical Care. Patients with kidney disease can now  
look ahead with much more confidence thanks to our innovative technologies  

and treatment concepts. We give them a future, one that offers them  
the best-possible quality of life.

  
We use the increasing demand for modern dialysis methods to  

our advantage and work consistently to enhance the Company’s growth.  
Together with our employees, we focus on pursuing strategies that will enable  
us to uphold our technological leadership. As a vertically integrated company,  

we offer products and services for the entire dialysis value chain. 

The highest medical standards are our benchmark.  
This is our commitment to our patients, our partners in the  

healthcare system and our investors, who trust in the reliable  
performance and the future of Fresenius Medical Care.
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I am delighted to inform you that 2008 was another successful year for 
Fresenius Medical Care. This is the twelfth year of our existence and we again 
achieved record sales and earnings. Our company continued to grow in  
a difficult business environment and we were able to reach our ambitious 
targets. The field in which we work is not as dependent on the overall eco-
nomic environment as other sectors. However, we too had to make some 
fundamental changes and master a number of challenges in these volatile 
economic conditions. 

I think you will see that 2008 proved to be an extremely challenging yet suc-
cessful year for Fresenius Medical Care. Last year, we were able to demonst-
rate once again that our company’s business model is a robust, profitable, 
and sustainable one that, even in turbulent times, is able to generate conti-
nuous growth, with a worldwide increase in patients of 6 % per year. But 
one thing has become apparent: in order to continue our past performance, 
we now have to make an even greater effort.

Here I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks and appreciation to all of our 
employees around the world with the highest credit they deserve. Our per-
formance in 2008 was not a foregone conclusion; it reflects the dedication 
and extraordinary efforts of our staff to help promote our company. Of 
course, my compliments also go to my colleagues on the Management Board 
and the members of the Supervisory Board. I would like to thank them since-
rely for the constructive collaboration and mutual trust. 

Please allow me to take a brief look at our results in the last financial year.  
In 2008, we augmented our revenue by 9 % to $ 10.6 billion. For the first time 
in our history, we surpassed the $ 10 billion mark. This significant revenue 
increase was due to a strong organic growth of 7 %. As in the previous years, 
our net income grew at an even higher rate than our revenue to $ 818 million, 
up 14 %. As we have done every year in the past, we would like to share our 
success with you, our shareholders. Therefore, we will propose a dividend 
increase of around 7 % at the Annual General Meeting, raising it to € 0.58 per 

Dear ladies and gentlemen,

Bad Homburg v. d. H., March 2009



ordinary share. This would be the twelfth consecutive rise and would mean 
that we have increased our dividend every year throughout our company’s 
history. 
 
Our share held its own in a very difficult environment. Although this was not 
reflected in its absolute price, it performed extremely well in relative terms. 
With a price drop of just 9 %, the development of our share was among the 
best in the DAX index, keeping in mind that many international stock indexes, 
such as the DAX and Dow Jones, were down more than 40 % in 2008. 

As a vertically integrated supplier with a clear focus on chronic kidney failure, 
we expanded both our products and services portfolio in 2008. Our goal re-
mained steadfast to further improve the living conditions of our patients and 
we kept our sights set firmly on our strategy for 2010. 

In 2008, we continued to invest in the research and development of new 
products, expanded our product spectrum, and extended existing production 
capacities to ensure the future growth of our company and to take advantage 
of opportunities. We reached another milestone last year in production, with 
some 80,000,000 dialyzers and fiber bundles being produced worldwide. 

In addition to very strong organic growth, selective acquisitions will continue 
to play a key role in our company’s strategy. These should further strengthen 
our global presence, particularly in our dialysis care segment, that is to say, 
our worldwide dialysis clinic network.

In the future, one of the biggest challenges we will face is adapting to chan-
ging reimbursement models in dialysis. Here, in particular, we need to find 
and pursue innovative paths. Starting in January 2011, a new lump-sum 
reimbursement system for dialysis will be introduced in our largest market, 
the U.S. Our company will doubtlessly be ideally equipped for this change. 



Not only opportunities, but also new risks will nonetheless arise and we will 
face them as we have in the past.

We have set ourselves ambitious goals again for 2009. We intend to boost 
sales to more than $ 11.1 billion and achieve a net income of $ 850 million to 
$ 890 million. 

I believe that 2009 will be another successful year for Fresenius Medical Care. 
This is based on my confidence in our long-term strategy, in our strong  
operating business, in our innovativeness, and in the fact that we have the 
courage and possibilities to take new paths.

I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation again to you, the share-
holders of Fresenius Medical Care, for your support and your trust in us. 

In the following pages of the corporate report, you can read more about how 
important confidence is for us, how instrumental it is for our company’s success, 
and how it continues to motivate us to achieve outstanding performance. 

Yours sincerely,

Dr. Ben J. Lipps
Chief Executive Officer 
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CREATING A FUTURE  
WORTH LIVING. 

FOR PEOPLE. WORLDWIDE. 
EVERY DAY.

More than three decades of experience in  
dialysis, innovative research, the global leader  

in dialysis services and products – that is  
Fresenius Medical Care. 

 
Patients with kidney disease can now look  

ahead with much more confidence thanks to our  
innovative technologies and treatment concepts.  

We give them a future, one that offers them  
the best-possible quality of life.

  
We use the increasing demand for modern  

dialysis methods to our advantage and work  
consistently to enhance the Company’s growth. 

Together with our employees, we focus on pursuing  
strategies that will enable us to uphold our  

technological leadership. As a vertically integrated  
company, we offer products and services  

for the entire dialysis value chain. 

The highest medical standards are our  
benchmark. This is our commitment to our patients,  

our partners in the healthcare system and our  
investors, who trust in the reliable performance  

and the future of Fresenius Medical Care.

our Vision
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Table 01 operating data

$ in millions 2008 2007 Change 
in %

selected key figures    

Net revenue 10,612 9,720 9 %

Earnings before interest and taxes, 
depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA ) 2,088 1,943 7 %

Earnings before interest and taxes ( EBIT ) 1,672 1,580 6 %

Net income 818 717 14 %

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,016 1,200 (15 %)

Free Cash Flow1 343 657 (48 %)

Capital e xpenditure ( net ) 673 543 24 %

Acquisitions, investments and purchases 
of intangible assets ( net ) 218 234 (7 %)

Earnings per ordinary share in $ 2.75 2.43 13 %

Dividend per ordinary share2 in € 0.58 0.54 7 %

EBIT margin in % 15.8 16.3 –

Return in invested capital ( ROIC ) in %

Equity to assets in %

8.6

40.0

8.4

39.3

–

–

1 Before acquisitions and dividends
2 2008: Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.

Chart 01 reVenue by region

$ in millions

Facts and Figures

491 Latin America

606 Asia-Pacific

2,510 E urope / Middle E ast /Africa

7,005 North America 10,612 Mio.
Total
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Chart 02 reVenue by segMent

$ in millions

758 Dialysis products 6,247 Dialysis services

1,490 Dialysis services2,117 Dialisis products

north america

international

7,005 Mio.
Total

3,607 Mio.
Total
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Chart 03 Fresenius Medical careʼs patients worldwide

Patients

5 % Asia-Pacific

16 % E urope / Middle E ast /Africa

11 % Latin America

68 % North America

Facts and Figures

Table 02 Fresenius Medical careʼs clinics worldwide

Number 2008 2007 Change

North America 1,686 1,602 5 %

Europe / Middle E ast /Africa 400 362 10 %

Latin America 177 169 5 %

Asia-Pacific 125 105 19 %

total 2,388 2,238 7 %

184,086
Total
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Chart 04 dialysis serVices worldwide
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125,857 FMe

12,659 FMe

3,600 Showai-Kai
5,200 Asia Renal Care

19,230 FMe

2.950 Diaverum

9,250 Baxter

29,841 FMe

10,400 Diaverum

18,000 KfH

111,000 DaVita

12,800 DCI

Table 03 Market position in Major product groups

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3

Dialyzers Fresenius Medical Care Gambro Asahi

Dialysis machines Fresenius Medical Care Gambro Nikkiso

Hemodialysis 
concentrates Fresenius Medical Care Fuso Gambro

Bloodlines Fresenius Medical Care Gambro Kawasumi

Peritoneal dialysis 
products Baxter Fresenius Medical Care Pisa

Fresenius Medical Care competitors continent

1.77 Mil.
Total
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Fresenius Medical Care is the world‘s largest  
integrated provider of products and services for  

individuals undergoing dialysis because of  
chronic kidney failure, a condition that affects more  

than 1.770 million individuals worldwide. 
 

Fresenius Medical Care is also the world‘s  
leading provider of dialysis products such as  

hemodialysis machines, dialyzers and related disposable  
products. Fresenius Medical Care is listed on  

the Frankfurt Stock Exchange ( FME, FME3 ) and the 
New York Stock Exchange ( FMS, FMS / P ).

 

 
64,666

EmPLOYEEs WORLDWIDE 
oVer 30

PRODUCTION sITEs WORLDWIDE 
184,086

PATIENTs WORLDWIDE 
2,388

CLINICs WORLDWIDE 
round about 27.87 Millions

DIALYsIs TREATmENTs

our coMpany proFile
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Fresenius Medical care
61346 bad Homburg v.d.H.
tel. + 49 6172 609 0
http://www.fmc-ag.com
 

investor relations
tel. + 49 6172 609 25 25
Fax + 49 6172 609 23 01
e-Mail: ir@fmc-ag.de

subject to change.

Fresenius Medical care ag & co. Kgaa
registered seat and commercial register: Hof an der saale ( germany ), Hrb 4019
chairman of the supervisory board: dr. gerd Krick
general partner: Fresenius Medical care Management ag
registered seat and commercial register: Hof an der saale ( germany ), Hrb 3894
Management board: dr. ben lipps ( chairman ), roberto Fusté, 
dr. emanuele gatti, rice powell, lawrence a. rosen, dr. rainer runte, Mats Wahlstrom
chairman of the supervisory board: dr. ulf M. schneider
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Confidence is one  
of the most wonderful  

human emotions.  
At Fresenius Medical Care  
we take pride in building  

a special work  
environment that we call  

“living confidence”.

 about	 confidence



Life is not the  
same as quality of life.  
And who understands  

this better than  
we do?

 – About the importance placed on quality of life at Fresenius Medical Care –  

Our dedicated team of employees develops products and therapies  
of the highest standard. We do all we can to further improve  
that quality – and take pride in helping to make life better for  

dialysis patients around the world.

 about	 life



It takes a corporate  
culture that is steeped in  

confidence to foster genuine  
teamwork and commitment  

to the highest possible goals.  
And that is exactly what  

we have achieved at  
Fresenius Medical Care.

– Living confidence at Fresenius Medical Care –

Living confidence means a lot to us. Everyone in our  
company has the space and independence he or she needs  

to realize ideas and find solutions to problems. Our common goal –  
to keep improving the lives of dialysis patients – is the key to the  

special dedication, the special creativity and the special sense  
of responsibility shared by everyone at Fresenius Medical Care.

And it is this common goal that drives us to excellence in  
dialysis therapy, excellence that results from our vertically integrated  
business model and enables us to provide the best possible therapy  

for our patients during every phase of their treatment.

At the heart of this concept lies our belief that people perform best  
when they are given the maximum leeway to release their energies  

and unleash their creativity. At the same time they are able to assume  
greater responsibility and are encouraged and supported in their  

aspirations. Through them, we create quality products, solutions and  
processes, always looking for that little bit more. We believe  
that quality, even at the highest level, can take another step.  

Our success confirms this confidence in our people.

 living	 confidence



 

 

 

living ConfidenCe also means seeking  
dialog and fostering sCientifiC exChange. 

dr. tanja maier, a physiCian at the  
nephrologiCal CliniC at the university of  

marburg in germany, speaks to dr. ben j. lipps,  
Chief exeCutive offiCer of fresenius mediCal Care,  

to learn more about the many faCets of this  
speCial and suCCessful Corporate Culture.

we reveal how fresenius mediCal Care  
expands its knowledge edge through training 

and Continuing professional development.

we explore how fresenius mediCal Care 
Creates a better life for patients,  

while making sure that optimum Care  
remains affordable.

 

we show how fresenius mediCal Care plaCes  
usability at the Center of its development  

efforts for its inCreasingly Complex dialyzers  
and dialysis maChines. and why this  

makes business sense.   

we look at how fresenius mediCal Care time  
and time again finds new avenues for making 

improvements in produCtion.

 living confidence

 developing confidence

 justifying confidence

 experiencing confidence

 creating confidence



Why is quality so decisive for fresenius Medical care? And what does the future of 
dialysis look like – both from a business and medical point of view? dr. Tanja Maier,  
a nephrologist from Marburg in Germany talked to dr. Ben J. lipps, CEO of 
fresenius Medical care. 

Dr. Ben J. Lipps ( 68 ) has been Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the 
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care since 1999. From 1985 to 1999 – 
he held several positions at Fresenius Medical Care. As U.S. citizen, Dr. Lipps 
has worked in the field of dialysis for more than 40 years. His name is closely 
associated both with the evolution of dialysis technology as it is today and with 
Fresenius Medical Care’s lead in the US market as well as other countries. Even 
after decades in management, Dr. Lipps still takes a unique personal interest in 
the well-being of patients who are treated in Fresenius Medical Care’s clinics  
or use the company’s products and services.

Dr. Ben J. Lipps
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Tanja Maier ( 41 ) is a clinical nephrologist at the University of Marburg in 
Germany. After studying medicine and earning her doctorate at Berlin’s Free 
University, she worked for eight years in the Department of Nephrology at the 
Charité, Campus Benjamin Franklin. While there, she completed her training 
to become a consultant in internal medicine with an emphasis on nephrology 
and internistic intensive care. Since 2004 she has been head of the Department 
of Nephrology at Marburg University’s hospital and responsible senior physician 
at the Marburg Transplant Center. Even in times of increasing economic and 
administrative requirements in her profession and the challenge of forging 
a network between hospitals, teaching and research, Dr. Maier sees the focus  
of her work in caring for and supporting patients.

Dr. Tanja Maier
Nephrologist at the University of Marburg

 living confidence

Interview about living confidence I p.
I   
09

   I



I p.
I   
10

   I



 living confidence

T. Maier Dr. LIppS, WOULD yOU MIND TAkING A BrIEF TrIp DOWN MEMOry LANE 
WITH ME? WHAT WAS IT LIkE WHEN DIALySIS WAS IN ITS INFANCy? 

B. Lipps during the early years of the mid 70s our research team made some breakthroughs 
in the treatment of kidney patients that paved the way for dialysis as it is today. 
Back then, more than 40 years ago, nephrology, the treatment of kidney disease, 
was still a very new branch of medicine. A few years later, we manufactured the first 
artificial hollow fiber membrane. i remember the close contact with patients at 
the time as being very special. in those days, we worked with a very small number 
of kidney patients. 

T. Maier SINCE WHEN HAS qUALITy BEEN THE TOp prIOrITy FOr yOU AND 
FrESENIUS MEDICAL CArE? 

B. Lipps it probably began back then. Since there were so few patients at the beginning, we 
doctors and engineers could offer them very intensive care, which resulted in a very 
close community. We were able to evaluate technological progress straight away;  
if we made mistakes, they happened in our immediate environment, and so quality 
became our most important consideration. And things have remained that way up  
to the present day. 

T. Maier HOW DID yOU ExpErIENCE THE DEvELOpMENT OF kIDNEy TrEATMENT?  

B. Lipps it was a godsend for me to be able to participate in the construction of some of 
the first dialysis machines. At that time, we had very modest goals compared to  
today. You have to consider that up to the early 1970s, kidney failure was a death 
sentence. over time, we were able to increase the life expectancy of patients by a 
month with the help of dialysis. one month became two, then three months, then 
years. Today it can even be decades. 

T. Maier DO yOU MEASUrE yOUr SUCCESS SOLELy IN TErMS OF HOW MANy 
yEArS OF LIFE yOUr pATIENTS GAIN? 

B. Lipps no. our goal is to make the lives of dialysis patients worth living. At first, of course, 
the focus was on prolonging their lives. But after the initial results, we could concen­
trate on making dialysis treatment as gentle as possible. The quality of the machines, 
drugs and methods at our disposal today are – to use a sports term – in a completely 
different league to those available to us a few decades ago, if they existed at all. 
While kidney failure is no longer a death sentence today, it is still a burden for  
dialysis patients. our aim is to reduce this burden, and we are still working to achieve 
this, every day and every hour.
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T. Maier WHAT IS MOrE IMpOrTANT TO yOU: TECHNOLOGICAL prOGrESS Or 
MEDICAL rESEArCH?

B. Lipps our focus has shifted over the course of the decades, too. At the beginning, we were 
primarily interested in perfecting the technology, and concentrated our attention on 
electronics, material science and production technology. Production technology is 
still a concern today, because we have to keep our costs under control. That means 
we have to increase the production volume while maintaining the level of quality. 
The technological foundations have been laid in the meantime, and the machines 
work reliably. That's why we can now concentrate on making their use as comfor­
table as possible for patients. The machines have to be easy to operate, but they 
must also be adaptable to individual patients and their treatment. So it’s a question 
of ergonomics – or user­friendliness, if you will. 

T. Maier HOW DO yOU DECIDE WHICH INNOvATION TO BrING ONTO THE 
MArkET WHEN?

B. Lipps There are two simple questions that help us assess whether an innovation is ready 
for the market. does it improve the quality of life patients? And, is it economical? 
Quality is the most important criterion, followed by efficiency. 

T. Maier WHO COMES Up WITH THE IDEAS FOr INNOvATIONS IN yOUr COMpANy?

B. Lipps As far as innovation in the production process is concerned, many ideas are coming 
from our factories – and we are pleased about that because this is where our know­
how is. it’s a joy to see how dedicated our employees are to finding new ways of 
optimizing production. The ideas for product innovations primarily come from three 
areas of our organization: from research and development, from marketing, and 
from our medical community.

T. Maier AND WHAT HAppENS THEN? HOW ArE THE OTHEr ArEAS INCOrpOrATED?

B. Lipps each idea generated by one of the groups is presented to the others. Then we form 
a project team that accompanies the idea from that point on. The team consists of 
representatives from all of the departments affected, without hierarchies playing too 
great a role. 
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Dr. Gail-Suzanne Brown     
Senior Vice President  
Research and Development  
at Fresenius Medical Care       

How Fresenius medical care  
focused on the patient  

from the earliest stages  
of development.

about    QUALITy Generation



 

How quality comes about.
researcH and development  

talks witH marketing.

Some people say that our respective departments each have their own  
distinct view on things. I can’t say I agree. Here at research and develop-
ment, the patient is always at the focus of our work. We do all we can  
to create products that improve his quality of life, that are safe, and allow 
better treatment. Isn’t that true for you? Doesn’t marketing put the patient 
first, too?

Yes, of course. What we do is to respond to customers’ wishes, and that  
includes patients, as well as clinics and physicians. We also deal with market 
mechanisms. Hm, that sounds a bit technical. You know, really, our job is  
to dream. We are driven by the question of what our customers consider  
an ideal product to be. To find the answer to this question, we like to dream. 
And we get impatient when the market demands an innovation and we 
think it is taking too long to get one ready.

And we are the ones who can tell you what is technologically feasible. We 
at R&D deal more with the scientific and engineering side of things, but of 
course we are also tuned into the market. However, we will only release a 
product when it is technologically sound and safe to use. But in the end,  
we both put the patient’s well-being first, don’t we?

Definitely. In the medium to long term, our success will always depend on 
progress as the patient sees it. After all, we’re talking about what is most 
precious to him – his life, and its quality.

And our aim is to improve that. It has to do with the reliability of our  
machines and the confidence that patients rightly place in their treatment. 
Today, our machines are built so that, if they were cars, they would only 
need to be serviced once every 130,000 miles – that’s not even one-sixth of 
what today’s cars demand. But are our customers aware of that? Are we 
telling them that clearly enough?

I think so. Remember, most of them have used our products for years. That 
means they have seen for themselves that the quality of our machines is  
second to none.

G. Brown

W. Wehmeyer 

G. Brown

W. Wehmeyer

G. Brown

W. Wehmeyer

 

about    QUALITy GenerATIon



So what we have to do now is to produce this kind of quality at an afforda-
ble price. I think we manage that fairly well already. At present, we can say 
we are the best in the world, both in terms of quality itself and in the ratio 
of cost to quality.

But we aren’t going to rest on our laurels …

No, absolutely not! It’s not as if there’s nothing left to be improved. Ideally, 
patients should be able to undergo dialysis without noticing anything at all. 
We‘re still a long way from that, but the roadmap is clear. It’s a matter of 
compatibility and machines that can automatically adapt the treatment to  
individual patients.

Another important factor is that our products should work equally well  
the world over: in poor countries, where there often aren’t enough nurses, 
especially in outlying areas, or in regions with water shortages or bad water 
quality as well as in rich countries. No matter where they live, patients have 
a right to expect outstanding quality from us. 

Which brings us back to quality. It doesn’t come for free, and our efforts to 
achieve and improve it are enormous.

But customers do pay for our quality, simply by buying our products and 
services. They know that poor quality leads to follow-up costs, even though 
these may go unnoticed for a while. But somewhere down the line, it will  
hit back like a boomerang.

... and the patient will suffer. But we won’t let that happen.

That’s what our customers rely on. And it‘s what all our teams work to 
achieve, whether in R&D, production or marketing.
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You can’t hear quality. A technician in a soundproof  
room measures the noise intensity emitted by a dialyzer  
assembly. The quieter the machines, the less stressful  
the therapy is for the patient.





Wolfgang Wehmeyer  
Senior Vice President International 
Marketing and Medicine 
at Fresenius Medical Care 



The health of our patients is our main concern. 
Therefore, our goal in the long term is to improve their quality 

of life by continuously optimizing dialysis treatment. 
 
 
 
 

 
– our contribution – 

 

researcH and development  
expenditure  

in 2008
$ 80 Million

 
number oF employees in  

researcH and development  
worldwide    

415
 

number oF patents 
and patent applications 

in 2008 
2,402

 
Further information on this topic can be found from page 76 onwards.

our   concLUsIon





T. Maier WOULD yOU SAy THAT THIS kIND OF FrEEDOM IS TypICAL OF 
FrESENIUS MEDICAL CArE?

B. Lipps definitely. i’m convinced that a company like fresenius Medical care can only 
remain successful if it encourages every employee to excel. And that can only  
happen if each one of them is given leeway and responsibility – and that’s what  
we try to do. 

T. Maier LOOkING BACk, HOW HAS THE BUSINESS CHANGED? ISN’T IT TrUE 
THAT DIrECT FEEDBACk FrOM pATIENTS HAS TAkEN A BACk SEAT AND 
THAT yOU TEND TO COMMUNICATE AND WOrk MOrE WITH DOCTOrS 
AND NEpHrOLOGISTS INSTEAD?  

B. Lipps That’s true, and it’s a good thing. it reflects the fact that the number of patients 
we treat has grown, and continues to grow. Today, we associate with 5,000 to 6,000 
doctors under contract who treat tens of thousands of patients. And the patients 
can now lead longer and better lives thanks to our products and services.

T. Maier BUT IS qUALITy THE SAME FOr A DOCTOr AS FOr A pATIENT? FOr 
ExAMpLE, I kNOW THAT My pATIENTS WOULD prEFEr ME TO BE WITH 
THEM MOrE OFTEN INSTEAD OF HAvING TO DEAL WITH ECONOMIC AND 
ADMINISTrATIvE MATTErS. BUT DOCTOrS HAvE OBLIGATIONS TOWArDS 
HOSpITALS AND INSUrANCE COMpANIES, AND THESE GAUGE THEM 
BASED ON OTHEr CrITErIA.  

B. Lipps Ultimately, everyone desires to provide a better quality of life for the patients – 
so we generally concur on what quality is. But i agree with you: different interests 
come into play depending on which part of the system you talk to. for us, that’s 
a reason to integrate further services into our offer; in that way we can take on 
more  comprehensive responsibility for quality and try to meet more demands.

T. Maier DO yOU THINk THAT yOUr COMpETITOrS WILL SIMpLy TAkE THIS LyING 
DOWN?   

B. Lipps We never underestimate the competition. But i know that we are relatively unique 
in what we do. We have specialized in nephrology and have built a vertically inte­
grated business model in this field. in other words, we not only provide machines, 
but also consumables, drugs, the skills of our care personnel, and so on.  
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T. Maier DOESN’T SUCH SpECIALIzATION ALSO HAvE DISADvANTAGES, BECAUSE IT 
MAkES THE COMpANy ONE-SIDED?

B. Lipps This model has a major strength. Managers at fresenius Medical care know that 
they have to be successful in nephrology – or in the subarea they are responsible for. 
Because ultimately, that is the only field of activity this company works in. 

T. Maier DOESN’T THAT LIMIT THEIr CArEEr pErSpECTIvES?

B. Lipps As we continue to enhance our business model to the present day, there is increasing 
potential within the company. You have to consider the fact that we started as an 
equipment manufacturer. Then we started producing consumables. later services 
were added.

T. Maier BUT EvEryTHING rEvOLvES ArOUND NEpHrOLOGy.

B. Lipps That’s true. That’s our area of expertise, after all. And we’ve been successful because 
we focus on one important disease. it’s a matter of offering excellent treatment to 
patients week after week, month after month, year after year. dialysis combines 
state­of­the­art technology with an exceptional proximity to patients, and that 

 justifying confidence

I p.
I   
14

   I



How Quality Assurance and  
Production work together at  

Fresenius Medical Care. 

about    Quality Management 

Glenn Slater ( left ), 
Senior Vice President  

Production North America

Mike Saraceno ( right ), 
Senior Vice President  

Quality Systems North America



Quality assurance and Production are two functions that are naturally crucial to the 
success of Fresenius Medical Care. In many other companies these are often established 
as distinct entities that may not always share common goals. Fresenius Medical Care 
North America, though, does not separate the two, having forged instead an alliance  
between them to ensure best quality. Mike Saraceno, who is responsible for quality 
systems in Fresenius Medical Care’s North American operations: “The life and health 
of patients depend on the quality of our products, so we always have to get this  
factor right, even when we increase production numbers.”   
 
With a market expectation of higher than average quality from Fresenius Medical Care 
and a position as “best cost” leader, the company has seen demand expand its volumes 
to the point where it became necessary to form a partnership between Quality and  
Production and thus combine common goals. Acceptance of a certain amount of rejected 
products was no longer affordable. Glenn Slater, responsible for manufacturing at  
Fresenius Medical Care North America, underlines the importance of the partnership: 
“Each of us knows that we can only reach our goal if we work together to accomplish 
it. Cooperation is the key and the partnership between Quality Assurance and Produc-
tion has made it possible to achieve the highest degree of quality.”

The resulting quality programs have enabled the Company to reach Six Sigma levels  
of 3.4 defects per million opportunities. Management acknowledges that the implemen-
tation of these programs requires enormous effort and, where opportunities exist, a 
complete rethink of processes. Saraceno and Slater have taken advantage of the free-
dom to realign processes for maximum quality output and encouraged their employees 
to follow this practice. 

The focus on quality has also been allied to a focus on environmental practices, with 
one goal being to use as little landfill as possible. At the plant in Utah, for example,  
the past two years have seen a reduction in hazardous substances of 84 % as well as 
a reduction of landfill waste of 66 %.

The entire organization of Fresenius Medical Care is based on the principle of common 
values. “This concept enables each of us to go beyond our achievements,” summarizes 
Saraceno. The results are endorsed by Slater: “I’ve never seen the quality that is pro-
duced at Fresenius Medical Care anywhere else and I’ve been working in the industry 
for 35 years.” 
  
  

 

How Fresenius Medical care Finds  
ever-new avenues For iMProveMents  

in Production. 

about    Quality ManageMent 



A dialyzer is born – Lean Six Sigma  
is the magic formula for unmatched  
quality in production.



Fresenius Medical Care dialyzers  
go through a final check before shipping:  
certified quality creates confidence.





Hand-tested:  
production technicians  
examine dialyzer parts.



Thanks to efficient production processes,  
we are the cost leader. We have raised output while  
simultaneously improving quality. At the same time,  

we conserve global resources and reduce  
the environmental impact. 

 
 
 
 

 
– our contribution – 

 

Preserving tHe environMent 
in Fresenius Medical care’s 

Production Plants in  
ogden and walnut creek 

in 2008 
 

water consuMPtion 
– 12 %

 
electricity consuMPtion   

– 8.3 %
 

gas consuMPtion
– 48 % 

 
Further information on this topic can be found from page 86 onwards.

our   conclusion





makes this area unique in my eyes. There’s nothing like it in the health industry or  
in any other branch of industry for that matter. of course, you could offer dialysis as 
part of a wide spectrum of health services ( and others have tried this ), but i don’t 
think that can ever really work. conversely, it seems to me that our success is proof 
of the fact that the dialysis business requires specialization. And we've abided by 
that up to now. 

T. Maier BUT THE CONDITIONS HAvEN’T ALWAyS BEEN IN yOUr FAvOr. FOr 
ExAMpLE, IN NOrTH AMErICA THEy HAvEN’T rAISED yOUr rEIMBUrSE-
MENTS FOr 17 yEArS. HOW DO yOU SUrvIvE IN THIS kIND OF  
ENvIrONMENT?

B. Lipps in fact, these adverse circumstances have made us even stronger. naturally, we 
would like to see the health authorities in many more countries in which we are  
active regulate the reimbursement of nephrological services more comprehensively, 
or at least take inflation into account. But as most of them have not done so, we 
had to think of something else. first of all, of course, we made sure that the costs 
were not too high …

T. Maier … WHICH CAN rESULT IN LOWEr qUALITy.

B. Lipps That was never an issue. 

T. Maier BUT HOW DO yOU WITHSTAND THE prESSUrE?

B. Lipps Put very simply, because we see our patients. As you know, in our field of work, 
relationships with patients can last for years, sometimes decades. People come for 
dialysis three times a week, and while we do what we can to make their lives more 
pleasant, we know that a dialysis patient has a rough time even with the ideal  
prerequisites. 
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T. Maier BUT HOW DO CLOSE AND LONG-TErM rELATIONSHIpS WITH yOUr 
pATIENTS HELp yOU CONTINUE TO IMprOvE THE qUALITy OF yOUr  
prODUCTS? 

B. Lipps for us, the quality of our products is synonymous with improvements in the quality 
of our patients’ lives. We can see whether that is the case straight away, for ex­
ample, during treatment in our clinics. if an employee in production suggests a  
way of making something at a lower cost, but this could result in patients being 
worse off, we don’t implement the suggestion. Plain and simple.

T. Maier ONE OFTEN HEArS FrOM OTHEr COMpANIES ABOUT CONFLICTS 
BETWEEN COST-CUTTING MEASUrES AND qUALITy ASSUrANCE.  
WHAT’S THE SITUATION WITH yOUr COMpANy? HOW DO THE  
EMpLOyEES IN prODUCTION GET ALONG WITH THOSE IN qUALITy  
ASSUrANCE?

B. Lipps Very well, in fact. of course, there are differences in opinion, and there should be, 
as long as an agreement is reached in the end. And we make sure that this happens 
by coordinating the goals of our production managers with those of our quality  
control managers, for example. When a decision has to be made on an innovation, 
both sides sit down together and develop a document that serves as a basis for the 
decision.  

T. Maier HOW DO yOU DEFINE “ExCEpTIONAL”?

B. Lipps for us, it means that we achieve our goals the first time around without having to 
do additional work. That’s what we understand by “exceptional”. And we achieve 
this with lean Six Sigma. We are currently introducing this management concept 
throughout the company. our goal is to reach a level of quality where we have no 
more than three defects per one million pieces produced. 
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How Fresenius Medical Care  
raises efficiency and quality  

at the same time.

Dr. Andrea Stopper  
Senior Vice President  
Dialysis Services Coordination  
for Europe, Middle East, Africa
at Fresenius Medical Care

about    Quality standards 



 

How Fresenius Medical care  
creates a better liFe For patients and,  

at tHe saMe tiMe, does everytHing to ensure  
optiMuM care reMains aFFordable.

There hardly is a country in the world that does not debate on which services the 
public healthcare system should provide and what these services should cost. What  
a relief when solutions can be found to improve treatment for patients – solutions 
that do not strain the healthcare system but reduce its costs.   

Fresenius Medical Care has found one such solution and has adopted a comprehensive 
therapy approach in Portugal. For years the country’s healthcare system lagged behind 
in the way it paid for dialysis treatment. As of January 1, 2009, Portugal introduced new 
reimbursement rules – a real paradigm shift. “It was a win-win situation,” says Andrea 
Stopper, Head of Dialysis Services Coordination (for Europe, Middle East and Africa) at 
Fresenius Medical Care, “but not everybody realized that from the outset.” Today, Fre-
senius Medical Care provides the state-run insurer with a vastly improved service that 
costs less. 

How is that possible? “The key was to expand the scope of our services. Today, we are 
responsible for the entire treatment process instead of just individual steps, as it used to 
be,” says Dr. Stopper. “We have managed to persuade our partners that we could offer 
a better overall quality if we were in charge of the entire process, including all dialysis 
services and products. That’s why we are currently discussing the inclusion of Vascular 
Access Management ( VAM ) into our offering.” As a part of dialysis medicine VAM allows 
a direct access to the dialysis system on the patient’s body. “Until now, VAM was often 
performed somewhere else, for example in general hospitals. There, a catheter was 
simply inserted instead of a surgical vessel access being performed. Catheters, however, 
often cause infections and therefore add to costs. When we carry out the VAM ourselves 
we avoid such follow-up costs. We are thus able to provide a more cost-effective treat-
ment, while still improving quality.” 

This was made possible only because Fresenius Medical Care had been operating its 
own VAM center in Portugal for years. At the center Fresenius Medical Care physicians 
acquired the necessary expertise. “We ventured into this direction without receiving a 
single euro of public funds in return – we simply realized that this was the right way  
to improve quality,” says Dr. Stopper. The achieved success proves this strategy right: 
not only do the new standards increase patients’ longevity, patients also return to the 
hospital less often – what an obvious progress towards quality of life!    
          
           

about    Quality standards 



Regular gatherings:  
marketing executives at Fresenius Medical Care’s  

headquarters in Bad Homburg, Germany.



Finding out about the latest developments at  
Fresenius Medical Care: Dr. Andrea Stopper chats  
with marketing executives from all over the world.





Personal meetings enable experts from  
all parts of the world to get together and talk –  
all for the patient’s benefit.



Quality improvements can also be the result  
of cost pressure. The reimbursement model in Portugal  

is a role model for healthcare markets worldwide. 
 
 
 
 

 
– our contribution – 

 

patients in care  
in portugal  

4,200 
 

patients in portugal  
treated witH online-HdF    

65 % 
 

dialysis clinics  
in portugal    

34
 

Further information on this topic can be found from page 102 onwards.
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T. Maier AND DOES LEAN SIx SIGMA rEDUCE yOUr COSTS?

B. Lipps in a process like this, of course, you first have to invest in training and documenta­
tion. in the long term, however, we are convinced that lean Six Sigma will make us 
cost leaders in the dialysis product segment. And that’s the only way to stay at the 
top. But what’s more important is that it helps us to improve our quality.

T. Maier SO DOES EFFICIENCy LEAD TO qUALITy? 

B. Lipps That’s exactly right. By the way, we notice this in other areas, too, for example in 
the case of bundling, or lump­sum reimbursement for complex services.

T. Maier IS THAT THE COMprEHENSIvE ApprOACH yOU JUST SpOkE ABOUT?

B. Lipps That’s right.

T. Maier SO yOU NO LONGEr WANT TO JUST prOvIDE DIALySIS MACHINES AND 
MATErIAL, BUT TO COvEr THE ENTIrE DIALySIS prOCESS?

B. Lipps Yes. We believe that it’s in everyone’s interest if we cost efficiently provide products 
and services which focus on delivering the best renal therapy. 

T. Maier WHICH SErvICES MIGHT THOSE BE?

B. Lipps Vascular access management ( VAM ), for instance. You probably know that the way 
in which patients are prepared for dialysis differs from country to country. While 
some doctors routinely give patients an artificial access to their blood stream, others 
opt for a more natural solution – for example, a fistula. This requires greater skill  
because it means interfering with the structure of the blood vessel, but it leads to 
better results. We have assisted the physicians by developing a method to monitor 
the patients that are on fistulas.
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T. Maier WHAT MAkES yOU SO CONFIDENT THAT yOU CAN SUCCESSFULLy 
prOvIDE SUCH COMpLEx MEDICAL SErvICES?

B. Lipps The fact that we have practiced vascular access surgery for several years now. 
in recent years, we have gained a lot of experience in this area and have been able 
to provide our specialists with comprehensive training. in addition, we see this as  
a way of cutting payers’ costs.

T. Maier THEN yOU WOULD BE CHEApEr AND BETTEr AT THE SAME TIME?

B. Lipps Yes, that’s the great thing about our approach. We believe that in this case 
efficiency gives rise to quality.

T. Maier BUT NOT MANy SHArE THE vIEW.

B. Lipps True. There is the widespread belief that when money is scarce, quality will 
inevitably suffer. But that doesn’t apply in our area, provided that the authorities 
and payers agree with us about where to cut costs without adversely affecting  
quality and act accordingly. fortunately, we see that payers in more and more  
countries are beginning to share our opinion.

T. Maier WHAT CONvINCES THE pAyErS – OTHEr THAN THE prOSpECT OF 
SAvING MONEy?

B. Lipps We have developed with our physicians and associates a very efficient system 
of  indicators. it enables us to monitor the well­being of a patient, and the payers 
 respect us for keeping these indicators within certain limits. in other words, it’s 
about meeting standards. 

T. Maier SO yOU WANT TO ASSUME MOrE COMprEHENSIvE rESpONSIBILITy 
FOr THE pATIENT. WHAT IS THE STrATEGy BEHIND ExpANDING yOUr  
ACTIvITIES IN THIS WAy? 

B. Lipps We’re expanding, but exclusively in the field of nephrology. That’s our company’s 
focus, and we see growth opportunities in this area for the future.
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Dr. Kümmerle  
Senior Vice President  

Quality Management International
at Fresenius Medical Care

about    Quality training 

how Fresenius Medical Care  
training goes hand in hand with 

quality management.



 

how Fresenius Medical care  
expands its knowledge edge through  

its training and education systeM.

In his responsibility for quality management systems in the International segment of 
Fresenius Medical Care, Wolfgang Kümmerle does not normally need to start from 
scratch: 

“Our staff works in healthcare and thus needs to comply with diverse legal regulations 
regarding education, training and skills. Anyone applying for a job needs to fulfil these 
requirements. However, for Fresenius Medical Care to maintain and constantly enhance 
its quality standards, additional and very different prerequisites need to be in place. It is 
therefore essential that training exercises are effective. A successful final exam alone is 
not good enough. Not all of our training modules end with an exam. And, even with an 
exam we cannot know how someone will put theory into practice in day-to-day work, 
for example in a dialysis ward,” says Dr. Kümmerle. 

Therefore, his department developed a holistic training management system. It covers 
all business processes and determines the effectiveness of training measures. “We make 
use of multiple-choice tests, and we hold specific workshops for this purpose. We get 
the best results when people know what happens both upstream and downstream 
from their station in the work process.” This has led to the creation of a training matrix 
which reflects the entire product life cycle, from purchasing via production and 
application all the way to waste disposal. 

“Fresenius Medical Care’s exceptional business model has made this possible. In other 
industries that is quite seldom. Certainly, we invest a lot of effort in this area. We want 
to make sure that each employee looks beyond the limits of the respective processes 
and becomes aware of the importance of quality for his or her specific job,” says 
Wolfgang Kümmerle. “Our staff needs to feel as an integral part of the whole – this is 
the best motivation. It is also the key for all trainings and a prerequisite for quality.”  
                 
               

about    Quality training 



A holistic management system  
guarantees high-quality training  
throughout the Company.



Trainees learn how to  
operate a dialysis machine.





Are our training courses up to the mark?  
Special workshops gauge and assess  
their effectiveness.



The development of a holistic training  
management system as an important element of  

quality management is a cross departmental approach  
that goes far beyond conveying knowledge  

about individual products or services. 
 
 
 
 

 
– our contribution – 

 

certiFied dialysis clinics 
in 2008 

300
 

quality trainings  
in 2008 

57
 

participants  
in 2008 

578
 

Further information on this topic can be found from page 88 onwards.
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T. Maier yOU SOUND vEry CONFIDENT.

B. Lipps i am, as is the rest of the Management Board. We are concentrating on this one 
clinical picture and are convinced that our business model is sustainable.

T. Maier HOW DO yOU MOTIvATE yOUr EMpLOyEES TO FOLLOW yOU ON THIS 
pATH?

B. Lipps Monetary incentives certainly play a role, but as a successful company we have 
to do more than that. for me, it is important that managers act with emotional  
intelligence. To be successful as a manager, you have to like your coworkers. This  
is not a sufficient condition, of course, but a necessary one.  

T. Maier yOU’vE BEEN IN THE FrONT LINE OF NEpHrOLOGy FOr MANy yEArS. 
WHAT WILL BE THE MOST IMpOrTANT CHALLENGES IN THE NExT FEW 
 yEArS, IN yOUr OpINION?  

B. Lipps in the near future, it is likely that we will reach the point where we can continually 
monitor patients’ vital parameters, for example their water content. We carried out 
intensive work in this area long before it was reimbursed. Just last year, we intro­
duced our Body composition Monitor, the BCM, a device that enables doctors to 
measure not just the relative but also the absolute water content of a patient. This 
has enhanced the quality of treatment enormously. 
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T. Maier OvErHyDrATION IS ONE OF OUr MOST UrGENT prOBLEMS. AND IT IS 
NOT ALWAyS EASy TO FIND OUT WHAT CAUSES IT, ESpECIALLy IN pATI-
ENTS WITH OTHEr ILLNESSES, SUCH AS HEArT DISEASE. SOME  
pATIENTS LACk THE NECESSAry DISCIpLINE AND DrINk TOO MUCH  
ALTHOUGH THEy kNOW THAT IT IS DETrIMENTAL FOr THEIr HEALTH 
WHEN THEy ArE OvErHyDrATED.

B. Lipps And that’s why we think it is so important to constantly monitor the patient’s 
 hydration status. fortunately, due to advancements in mobile data technology 
we will soon be able to do this in a non­invasive manner.

T. Maier AND IN THE LONGEr TErM – WHAT CHALLENGES ArE yOU pLANNING 
ON MEETING?

B. Lipps i have two main aims: one is to launch a program for comprehensive reimbursement 
that enables us to organize treatment in such a way that the patient takes front and 
center at all times. The other is to develop a wearable dialysis machine.

T. Maier HOW LONG DO yOU THINk WILL IT TAkE BEFOrE AN EFFICIENT, pOrTABLE 
DEvICE HAS BEEN DEvELOpED THAT IS EASy TO USE?

B. Lipps it’s hard to say, but i’d say five to ten years at the most.

T. Maier FrESENIUS MEDICAL CArE HAS BEEN SUCCESSFUL FOr SO LONG NOW. 
HOW DO yOU MAkE SUrE THAT yOUr COMpANy DOESN’T GET CArrIED 
AWAy?

B. Lipps That’s really very easy. Top management just has to see the patient and ask: is his 
life good? And by “top management” i mean that this attitude has to come from  
the top, but of course it applies throughout the company. That’s why we invite our 
patients to come to us and talk with our people. We believe that nothing motivates 
an employee in production more than when a patient tells him how important our 
products and services are. 

T. Maier AND WHAT ABOUT yOU? DO yOU STILL TALk WITH pATIENTS?

B. Lipps certainly. We have a large number of patients who’ve used our products for 30 years 
or more, and we talk on the phone and write to each other regularly. As i said at the 
beginning: these people are like family to us.
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fresenius mediCal Care  
would like to thank its staff  

and partners the world  
over for their dediCation  

and its patients for another  
year of their ConfidenCe  

in us and our produCts and  
serviCes. it is the kind of  

ConfidenCe we are grateful  
for beCause it inspires us  
to beCome even better,  

every day. 

 – Living confidence at Fresenius Medical Care – 

Thanks to our excellent dialysis machines, drugs and therapies,  
we grew our business worldwide yet again in the past year.

  
Thanks to our staff – who have more than earned the  

confidence we place in them – we were able to improve  
the quality of our products and services. After all,  

only a company that embodies and enhances quality  
reliably and sustainably can provide quality of life to  

all those who so urgently desire it.  

 living confidence
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2008 was another successful year:  
Our shares developed positively 

in a weak enviroment. Furthermore,  
we will propose the twelfth 

consecutive dividend increase.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERSChap. 01.1 – 4

How can human resources  
work boost quality?

“Good human resources work means having confidence in our employees to enable 
them to take responsibility for their own actions, discover their personal strengths 
and apply these to their work. When people are inspired by what they do, quality 
and excellent performance are logical consequences.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Borries von Müller

Job Title Corporate Vice President Human Resources

Age 48 Years

Nationality German

Joined in January 2008
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our Year 2008

 INFOrMATION INITIATIvE LAUNCHED

Information Initiative Launched. Fresenius Medical Care was instrumental in the foundation of the German 
kidney Alliance initiative with the aim of increasing awareness of the role played by dialysis in treating 
and improving the quality of life of kidney patients. 
 
 HOME DIALySIS MACHINE prESENTED

At the 28th Dialysis Conference in Orlando, Florida, Fresenius Medical Care presents its new home dialysis 
machine: the Liberty Cycler. With this wearable, easy-to-operate device, dialysis patients can perform  
automated peritoneal dialysis treatment at home.
 
 prODUCTION ExpANDED

Due to strong global demand, Fresenius Medical Care expands its dialysis product manufacturing capaci-
ties at its St. Wendel plant in Germany. Thanks to two new fiber spinning facilities that produce hollow  
fibers, the most important component of dialyzers, production capacity at the St. Wendel site grows by 
about 30 %.

 ACTIvITIES IN GErMANy STEppED Up

Fresenius Medical Care increases its activities in Germany and expands its dialysis machine production  
capacity at its Schweinfurt factory. As a result, the plant will be able to increase the annual production  
of hemodialysis machines by 7 % to 10 % by 2015.

 FAST HELp

Within the space of 24 hours, we deliver nearly 100 dialysis machines to the earthquake region in 
Sichuan, China. A crisis intervention team makes this possible so that patients in the crisis area can be 
cared for. 

 ETHICAL BUSINESS prACTICES rECOGNIzED

The Ethisphere Institute includes Fresenius Medical Care on its list of the “World’s Most Ethical Compa-
nies”. The evaluation committee honored our Company for its “impressive and meaningful ethical busi-
ness practices”, recognizing it as one of the outstanding representatives in our industry. 

 DISTrIBUTION CENTEr BUILT

Fresenius Medical Care erects a new distribution center in Biebesheim, Germany. The new building, which 
has space for more than 55,000 pallets, caters to the Company’s future growth.   

 HELp FOr ABOrIGINES

Fresenius Medical Care provides care to Aborigines in Australia who are in need of dialysis. Instead of  
having to make long journeys to dialysis clinics in larger cities, the aborigines are treated in their tribal 
areas in the desert. 

 CrISIS prOGrAM ExTENDED

In 2008, our employees again help provide emergency care to patients during the devastating storms “Ike” 
and “Gustav” in the U.S. Thanks to a comprehensive crisis program, patients in endangered areas can 
continue to receive life-saving dialysis treatment. 
 
 INvESTOr rELATIONS WOrk AWArDED

In the course of 2008, Fresenius Medical Care again receives numerous awards for its investor relations 
work – these are published on our website www.fmc-ag.com in the “Investor relations” section.
 
 TrAINING CENTEr OpENS IN BrAzIL

Fresenius Medical Care opens a training center for care personnel in Brazil to pass on technological 
know-how and expertise. Only thanks to their sound knowledge of all aspects of dialysis treatment can 
the employees provide comprehensive care to patients. 

 prODUCTS AWArDED WITH NOrDIC ECOLABEL

Many of Fresenius Medical Care’s products for peritoneal dialysis are now certified with the Nordic  
Ecolabel. This makes us the first company to receive this award for medical products. The label is 
proof of the good environmental compatibility of our products.

01  JAnUArY

02  feBrUArY

03  MArch

04  APril

05  MAY

06  JUne

07  JUlY

08  AUGUST

09  SePTeMBer

10  ocToBer

11  noVeMBer

12  deceMBer
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ManageMent Board

 CHAIrMAN

Dr. Ben J. Lipps ( 68 ) was appointed Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Management Board of 
Fresenius Medical Care in 1999. prior to that, he was CEO of Fresenius Medical Care North America from 
1996 to 1999 and of Fresenius USA from 1985 to 1996. Ben Lipps has worked in the field of dialysis for about 
40 years. After earning his master’s and doctoral degrees in chemical Engineering at the Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology, he led the research team at Dow Chemical that developed the first commercial 
hollow-fiber artificial kidney at the end of the 1960s.
 
 FINANCES

Lawrence A. rosen ( 51 ) joined Fresenius Medical Care in November 2003 as Chief Financial Officer. prior 
to that, he worked for Aventis S.A. in Strasbourg, France, and one of its predecessor companies, Hoechst 
AG for almost 20 years. His most recent position there was Group Senior vice president for Corporate 
Finance and Treasury. Lawrence rosen holds a Bachelor of Science in Economics from the State University 
of New york at Brockport and an MBA from the University of Michigan.
 
 EUrOpE, LATIN AMErICA, MIDDLE EAST AND AFrICA

Dr. Emanuele Gatti ( 53 ) is Chief Executive Officer for Europe, Latin America, Middle East and Africa. After 
completing his studies in bioengineering, Dr. Gatti lectured at several biomedical institutions in Milan. He 
continues to be involved in comprehensive research and development activities. At present he is visiting 
professor and Chairman of the University Board at the Danube University in krems, Austria. Dr. Gatti has 
been with the company since 1989. Before being appointed to the Management Board of Fresenius 
Medical Care in 1997, he was responsible for the dialysis business in Southern Europe.

 ASIA-pACIFIC

roberto Fusté ( 57 ) is Chief Executive Officer for Asia-pacific. After completing his degree in Economic 
Sciences at the University of valencia, the Spaniard founded the company Nephrocontrol S.A. in 1983. 
Nephrocontrol was acquired by the Fresenius Group in 1991, where Mr. Fusté has worked since. Before 
being appointed to the Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care in 1999, Mr. Fusté held several 
senior positions within the Company in the Latin America and Asia-pacific regions.

 LAW & COMpLIANCE

Dr. rainer runte ( 49 ) is Member of the Management Board for Law & Compliance at Fresenius Medical 
Care and has been working for the Fresenius Group for 18 years already. In 1997, he assumed the position 
of Senior vice president for Law at Fresenius Medical Care and was appointed to the Management Board 
in 2002. prior to that, rainer runte worked as a scientific assistant in the law department of the Johann 
Wolfgang Goethe University in Frankfurt and as an attorney in a firm specialized in economic law.

 DIALySIS SErvICES NOrTH AMErICA

Mats Wahlstrom ( 54 ) was appointed Member of the Management Board in early 2004. He is also co-CEO 
of Fresenius Medical Care North America and CEO of Fresenius Medical Services. Mats Wahlstrom looks 
back on 26 years of experience in the healthcare industry and has worked in the renal field for 23 years. 
prior to joining Fresenius Medical Care in 2002, he held various positions, for example at Gambro AB in 
Sweden, including president and CEO of Gambro U.S. as well as CFO of the Gambro Group.

 rENAL THErApIES GrOUp NOrTH AMErICA

rice powell ( 53 ) is CEO of the renal Therapies Group of Fresenius Medical Care in North America. He 
joined Fresenius Medical Care in 1997 and was appointed co-CEO of the Company and Member of the 
Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care North America in January 2004. rice powell has 30 years 
of experience in the healthcare industry. From 1978 to 1996 he held various positions, among others at 
Baxter International Inc., Biogen Inc., and Ergo Sciences Inc. in the U.S.

01  dr. Ben J. liPPS

02  lAWrence A. roSen

03  dr. eMAnUele GATTi

04  roBerTo fUSTé

05  dr. rAiner rUnTe

06  MATS WAhlSTroM

07  rice PoWell

you can find more information about the directorships of our Management Board members on page 125. 
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The supervisory board was centrally engaged in the year 2008 with the company’s long term 
strategic objectives, the regional growth concepts, the technical development possibilities 
for dialysis treatment and the expansion of business activities in the pharmaceutical area in 
the course of dialysis treatment and the position of the company against the background 
of the general economic developments.

Particulars
In the expired fiscal year, the Supervisory Board dealt intensively with the position and per-
spectives of the company and various special issues while performing the tasks assigned to  
it by statute and the Articles of Association and the German Corporate Governance Code. 
We regularly advised the management of the company i.e. the Managing Board of the gen-
eral partner on the management of the company and supervised the management of the 
company in line with our liability as Supervisory Board of the partnership limited by shares. 
The management informed us regularly in written and oral reports, promptly and compre-
hensively on all material questions of business policy, of company planning and strategy, the 
course of business, the profitability, the situation of the group and the risk situation and risk 
management. We again reviewed, as in previous years, the business development of the 
companies acquired in the previous years and compared this with the plans and projections 
at the time of each acquisition. 

Meetings
Four meetings of the Supervisory Board took place in the fiscal year 2008. No member took 
part in less than half of the meetings. Between meetings, written information was provided. 
The Supervisory Board discussed urgent matters several times in telephone conferences. In 
addition, the chairman of the Supervisory Board maintained close contact between meetings 
with the Managing Board of the general partner. The Supervisory Board continued in the 
year under report the tradition of getting to know senior executives in the course of presen-
tations on selected themes.  

PrinciPal toPics discussed by the suPervisory board
The Supervisory Board in 2008 repeatedly dealt with the patent law situation of the company, 
in particular including against the background of disputes with the competitors Gambro and 
Baxter. 

The Supervisory Board again in a one and a half day strategy meeting in autumn together 
with the management discussed the medium and long-term perspectives of the company. 
The central issue was home hemodialysis, both the further development of its technological 
basis and the services associated with home care. 

The Supervisory Board discussed the medium and long-term development opportunities  
in the various regions with the Managing Board and obtained reports – frequently country-
specific – on the situations of cost reimbursement by public bodies and private insurers.  

the audit and corPorate governance coMMittee
The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee which is presided over by Dr. Walter L. 
Weisman held a total of four meetings and also held several telephone conferences in the  
reporting year. It dealt with the annual and group financial statements, the proposed appli-
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cation of profits and the Report 20-F for the American Securities and Exchange Commission 
( SEC ). The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee also discussed each of the quarterly 
reports with the management. The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee satisfied it-
self on the independence of the auditing company, granted the audit assignment, concluded 
the fee agreement and dicussed and determined the main issus in the audit with it.   

Representatives of the auditor participated in all meetings of the Audit and Corporate  
Governance Committee and reported in each case on the audit work and the audit review 
of the quarterly financial statements. 

The effectiveness of the internal controlling system and risk management in the company 
was discussed several times. KPMG AG Wirtschaftprüfungsgesellschaft, in the course of the 
audit, reviewed the structure and function of the risk management and raised no objections 
thereto. The Managing Board of the general partner reported periodically on individual 
major risks. The Managing Board of the general partner also reported to the Committee on 
the compliance situation of the company regularly in all ordinary meetings of the Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committee.
    
In 2008, the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee was again intensively concerned 
with the checking of the company's internal controlling system according to the Sarbanes Oxley 
Act ( “SOX 404” ). On 12 February 2009, the company received the unqualified audit certificate 
of KPMG AG  Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, for the implementation of 
the provisions of SOX 404 in fiscal year 2008.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee also again checked the legal and business 
relations of the company with Fresenius SE and its affiliates. In that respect, it was confirmed 
that these relations correspond to those between unrelated third parties ( at arms' length ). 

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee informed the entire Supervisory Board in 
each case of the results of its discussions. 

Joint Committee
The Joint Committee which was established according to the Articles of Association in 2006 
and the approval of which is required for certain significant transactions between the company 
and Fresenius SE or its affiliates, did not meet in 2008 since no transactions which required 
approval were undertaken.  

Corporate GovernanCe
The Supervisory Board reviewed its efficiency and the flow of information between the Man-
aging Board of the general partner and the Supervisory Board and between the latter and 
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee. There were no complaints on this issue.
 
The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee also met regularly, after its personal  
meetings, with representatives of the auditors in the absence of members of the Managing 
Board of the general partner. 

report of the SuperviSory Board 
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At its meeting on 18 November 2008, the Supervisory Board discussed and passed the decla-
ration of conformity of the company pursuant to Section 161 German Stock Corporation Act 
( AktG ) on the German Corporate Governance Code. The said declaration applies in the  
version of December 2008 permanently accessible on the company's Internet site. The only 
exceptions from the recommendations of the Code remain the ( absence of ) age limits for 
members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board and the remuneration of the 
Supervisory Board which contains no performance-oriented element. 

The Corporate Governance report of the general partner and the Supervisory Board is  
provided from page 91 onwords of the annual report.

annual and grouP financial stateMents
The annual financial statements of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA and the manage-
ment report were prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code ( HGB ), the 
group financial statements and group management report in accordance with the “Interna-
tional Financial reporting Standards” ( IFRS ). The bookkeeping, the annual financial state-
ments and the management report of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA and the group 
financial statements and the group management report of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. 
kGaA for the fiscal year 2008 in each case were audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsges-
ellschaft (formely KPMG Deutsche Treuhandgesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftprü-
fungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main) auditors appointed by General Meeting resolution of 
20 May 2008 and instructed by the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Su-
pervisory Board; they each carry the unqualified audit certificate. The auditor’s reports were 
presented to the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee and the Supervisory Board. 
The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee taking account of the audit report of the 
auditor of the annual and group financial statements and in discussion with the auditor, re-
viewed the annual and group financial statements and the management report and reported 
on same to the Supervisory Board.
  
The Supervisory Board reviewed the annual financial statements, the management report 
and the proposal for the application of the balance sheet profit, the group financial state-
ments and the group management report, in each case for the fiscal year 2008. The docu-
ments were presented to him timely. The Supervisory Biard agrees with the result of the 
audit of the annual financial statements and the group financial statements by the auditor. 
Even after the final outcome of its own review by the Supervisory Board, which itself, like the 
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee, heard the representatives of the auditors of 
the annual and group financial statements who signed the audit report, no objections to the  
annual financial statements and management report of the company or against the group  
financial statements and group management report arise. At its meeting on 18 February 2009, 
the Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements and management report  
of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA for 2008, presented by the general partner. At 
this meeting, the draft of the report pursuant to form 20-F to be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission ( SEC ), which, besides other information, contains the group annual 
financial statements and group management report according to the U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting principles ( US GAAP ) with the US dollar as the reporting currency, was also dis-
cussed. The group financial statements and group management report were approved by 
the Supervisory Board at its meeting on 12 March 2009. The Supervisory Board also approved 
the general partner's proposal for the appropriation of profit, which provides for a dividend 
of € 0.58 for common shares and € 0.60 for preference shares. 
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dePendencY rePort
The general partner, Fresenius Medical Care Management AG has, in accordance with 
Section 312 German Stock Corporation Act, prepared a report for the fiscal year 2008 on 
relations with affiliated companies. The report contains the concluding declaration of the 
general partner that the company received reasonable consideration in the course of each  
of the legal transactions and measures listed in the report taking account of the circum-
stances known to the general partner at the time the legal transactions were conducted or 
the measures taken or not taken and that the company was not disadvantaged by the fact 
that measures were taken or not taken. The Supervisory Board and the Audit and Corporate 
Governance Committee reviewed the report. The auditor participated in the corresponding 
negotiations and reported on the essential results of the audit. The Supervisory Board and 
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee share the opinion of the auditor who, on 
12 February 2009, certified the report as follows: 

“Based on our audit and the conclusions reached, we confirm that (1) the disclosures made 
in the report are factually correct, ( 2 ) the consideration received or paid by the Company for 
each legal transaction disclosed in the report was not unreasonably high, ( 3 ) there are no 
other circumstances relating to the transactions and measures disclosed in the report which 
would lead to a conclusion different to the one reached by the personally liable shareholder 
( General partner )”. 

The Supervisory Board thanks the members of the Managing Board of the general partner 
and all employees for their commitment and the work commitment contributed in 2008.  

Bad Homburg v.d.H, 12 March 2009

The Supervisory Board
Dr. Gerd Krick

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
31

   I01.3  rePort of the suPervisorY Board 



stock Market

In 2008, the stock markets showed a very weak devel-
opment, triggered by the real estate crisis in the U.S. in 
mid-2007 and heightened by the related bank crisis and 
the negative effects on the real economy. After declin-
ing very sharply at the beginning of the year, the stock 
market briefly recovered starting in March. From May, 
further strong declines followed with only short phases 
of stabilization. All in all, the leading stock indexes,  
including the German DAX, the U.S. Dow Jones, and 
Japan’s Nikkei, underwent parallel developments in the 
course of the year, suffering loses of more than 30 %. 
2008 was marked not only by price drops but also by 
massive price fluctuations 

Of the world’s leading stock indexes, the U.S. Dow 
Jones index fared best. The Dow Jones performed 
somewhat better than some European stock indexes 

partially due to the advantageous exchange rate  
between the U.S. dollar and other currencies, which 
benefited exporting companies. Another likely reason 
was that the Federal reserve Bank reduced key interest 
rates faster and more strongly than other reserve  
banks, which fueled expectations that the U.S. stock 
market would improve. The Dow Jones index closed 
2008 at 8,776 points, 34 % lower than at the beginning 
of the year, when it reached its high for the year. 
After five consecutive years of increases, the German 
DAX index dropped by 40 %. However, it was one of the 
indexes that showed the best development in 2008. The 
DAX’s 8,067 points at the beginning of 2008 were its 
high for the year, analogous to the development of the 
Dow Jones index. This was followed by a sharp down-
swing. Within just a few trading days, the DAX fell to 
6,500 points. The subsequent lateral movement in a 
wide spectrum from 6,200 to 7,000 points was followed 
from September 2008 by an additional significant and 

 01.4   caPital Market and stock

 

Table 01.4.1 STock index / STock

Country / Region Jan. 1, 2008 Dec. 31, 2008 Change High Low

DAx Germany 8,067 4,810 – 40 % 8,067 4,127

Dow Jones U.S. 13,265 8,776 – 34 % 13,265 7,552

Nikkei Japan 15,308 8,860 – 42 % 15,308 7,163

CAC France 5,614 3,218 – 43 % 5,614 2,881

FTSE Great Britain 6,457 4,434 – 31 % 6,479 3,781

STOxx 50 Europe 4,400 2,451 – 44 % 4,400 2,166

DJ EUrO STOxx Healthcare Europe 394 320 – 19 % 414 296

Fresenius Medical Care ordinary share in € Germany 36.69 33.31 – 9 % 39.10 29.73

Fresenius Medical Care ADS in $ U.S. 52.75 47.18 – 11 % 59.01 39.84

Source: REUTERS data, own calculations
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rapid decline, this time by more than 30 % in just a few 
weeks. The DAX recovered somewhat towards the end 
of 2008, closing the year at 4,810 points. 

The trend was also very negative on the other European 
stock markets, with some dropping even more strongly 
than the Dow Jones and the DAX indexes. The initial 
hope that the Asian markets could detach themselves 
from the development in Europe and the U.S. came to 
an end quickly as economic data got weaker and weaker 
starting in mid-2008. When the smaller economies, which 
are more dependent on outer influences, showed par-
ticularly strong declines, their stock markets also came 
under pressure. The Singapore Straits Times and Hong 
kong Hang Seng indexes dropped by more than 50 % 
in 2008. The Japanese Nikkei index closed the year at 
8,860 points, down 42 %. 

Different industries developed very differently in 2008. 
The prices of shares of bank and insurance companies 
dropped substantially due to the financial and bank crisis. 
Shares of mining and oil companies also plummeted on 
account of the economic downturn and the resulting 
decreases in the price of their products. The same could 
be observed with shares generally considered cyclical, 
such as shares of companies in the strong export- 
oriented sectors. On the other hand, the shares of  
companies in the healthcare sector were among the top 
performers. An increasing aversion to risks on the part 
of investors could be observed again in 2008. Many 
market participants were worried that smaller com-
panies would be affected more by the recession. As a 
reaction to this, they sold their shares, particularly small 
and mid cap shares.

share develoPMent

Against the background of the difficult business envi-
ronment and the increasing uncertainty on the financial 
markets – especially on the stock markets – Fresenius 
Medical Care’s share developed positively in 2008. While 
some of the world’s leading stock indexes fell by more 
than 40 %, Fresenius Medical Care’s ordinary share did 
relatively well, with the price decreasing only moderately. 

The price of the ordinary share fell by 9 %, closing the 
year at € 33.31. With this performance, it was among 
the leading shares in the German DAX index ( ₋ 40 % ) The 
share also fared very well in comparison with the closer 
reference group, the healthcare sector. For instance, 
the value of the Dow Jones EURO STOXX Healthcare 
index, consisting of Europe’s leading and largest com-
panies in the industry, decreased by 19 % last year. 
Fresenius Medical Care’s ordinary share reached its 
year-high on January 9, 2008 and its year-low on March 
19, 2008. Many investors still view Fresenius Medical 
Care’s share as being a defensive share. This is reflected 
by the low fluctuation intensity of our share. The range 
in which the share was traded in 2008 was very narrow, 
with the difference between the lowest and highest 
price being only 24 %. Daily fluctuations, too, were 
lower in terms of percentage points than the average 
on the DAX index. 

The price of preference shares normally parallels that of 
the ordinary shares. However, since the large majority 
of preference shareholders took advantage of the offer 
to convert their preference shares into ordinary shares 
in February 2006, the number of outstanding prefer-
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ences shares, and thus the volume of shares traded, has 
been very low. As a result, any further statements on 
the price development would be speculative. 

At the beginning of the year, Fresenius Medical Care’s 
share fell victim to the sharp downswing on the stock 
markets. During this period, some investors sold shares 
in a panic. Investors all over world resorted to alterna-
tive kinds of investments. As the year progressed, our 
share then showed a very stable development. The sub-
siding debate about medically adequate treatment of 
anemia in dialysis patients in the U.S. with so-called 
erythropoesis stimulating agents ( ESA ), such as EPO, had 
a favorable impact on the development of our share. 
The discussion had a detrimental effect on the share 
price development in the previous year, as reimburse-
ment of ESA accounted for a significant portion of 
Fresenius Medical Care’s North American sales. Further-

more, the share price was influenced by conjecture 
about a change in the reimbursement structure for dial-
ysis treatment in the U.S., which was then passed by 
lawmakers. Many investors regard the new system of 
bundling, the lump-sum reimbursement, as being a 
good opportunity for Fresenius Medical Care’s business 
model, but have difficulties making an exact assess-
ment. The new reimbursement system will be imple-
mented as of 2011. Beforehand, however, the legislators 
have to specify a number of details. (See also the sec-
tion "New reimbursement Models" starting on page 101.) 
In a market environment increasingly marked by uncer-
tainty, our constant revenue and profit development in 
the course of 2008 also contributed to stabilizing the 
share price. 

The appreciation of the euro against the U.S. dollar 
again played an important role in the development of 

Chart 01.4.1 relATiVe ShAre Price PerforMAnce, indexed; JAn. 1, 2008 UnTil dec. 31, 2008
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the share price. A strong euro constitutes a financial 
advantage for Fresenius Medical Care, as we maintain 
our financial accounting in U.S. dollars and so our oper-
ating results achieved in euros are higher. However, 
compared to other companies which do their account-
ing in euros, a strong euro tends to be unfavorable for 
us, because when our results are converted from dollars 
to euros their value is lower if the euro is strong. 
Our shares are traded on the New york Stock Exchange 
( NYSE ) in the form of American Depositary shares ( ADS ) 
and quoted in U.S. dollars. Each ordinary or preference 
share corresponds to one Fresenius Medical Care ordi-
nary or preference share. The development of the ADS 

is generally tied to the development of the ordinary and 
preference shares, taking into account the development 
of the euro-U.S. dollar exchange rate. At the end 
of 2008, the price of the ADS ordinary share was $ 47.18, 
11 % lower than at the beginning of the year.
At December 31, 2008, Fresenius Medical Care’s market 
capitalization was € 9.92 million ( 2007: € 10.88 million ). 
The average trading volume of our shares was 
1.49  million per trading day ( 2007: 1.68 million ). 
The trading volume of preference shares was 1,697 per 
trading day. Thus, the liquidity of the ordinary shares 
was significantly higher.

01.4  caPital Market and stock

Table 01.4.2 MArkeT cAPiTAlizATion

At December 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Market capitalization € in millions 9,919 10,876 9,928 8,416 5,266

Market capitalization $ in millions 13,787 16,010 13,075 9,929 7,173

Exchange rate $ to € 1.3900 1.4720 1.3170 1.1798 1.3621

Chart 01.4.2 ShAre Price deVeloPMenT, ABSolUTe; JAn. 1, 2008 UnTil dec. 31, 2008
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In 2008, our ordinary share improved significantly in 
the rankings published by the German Stock Exchange, 
which serve as a basis for deciding which companies 
are in the DAX index. The lists are drawn up monthly 
based on the volume of stocks traded and the market 
capitalization ( related to free float ). In terms of market 
capitalization, Fresenius Medical Care moved from 25th 
place at the beginning of the year to 17th place in De-
cember 2008. As regards stock market trading volume, 
we went down one position and are now in 31st place. 
The index weight increased from 0.86 % to 1.41 %. As a 
result, our position in the DAX improved considerably 
last year. 

dividend

As a result of the company’s performance in 2008, we 
will propose to the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 
2009 the twelfth consecutive dividend increase: the divi-
dend is set to increase to € 0.58 from € 0.54 per ordinary 
share and to € 0.60 from € 0.56 per preference share. The 
dividend increase of 7 % is in keeping with our profit-
oriented dividend policy of recent years. Based on the 
proposed dividend and the closing prices of our shares 
at the end of 2008, this would be equivalent to a divi-
dend yield of 1.7 % for our ordinary shares, about 1.5 % 
more than in the previous year. 
.

Table 01.4.3 BASic ShAre dATA

Ordinary share Preference share

Ticker Symbols   

Frankfurt Stock Exchange FME FME3

New york Stock Exchange FMS FMS / p

Security identification numbers   

WkN 578 580 578 583

ISIN DE 0005785802 DE 0005785836

CUSIp N o. ( NySE ) 358029106 358029205

Stock Markets  

Germany Frankfurt ( prime Standard )

United States New york Stock Exchange ( NySE )
   

reuters  

xetra FMEG.DE FMEG_p.DE

Frankfurt Stock Exchange FMEG.F FMEG_p.F

ADS New york Stock Exchange FMS.N FMES_p.N

Bloomberg  

xetra FME Gy FME3 Gy

Frankfurt Stock Exchange FME Gr FME3 Gr

ADS New york Stock Exchange FMS US FMS/p US
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If the Annual General Meeting accepts the proposal, 
total dividends of some € 173 million will be distributed 
for 2008. related to an exchange rate of $ 1.3900 to the 
euro at the end of the year under review, this represents 
total dividends of approximately $ 240 million. Based on 
our net income of $ 818 million, this is a payment rate 
of about 30 %. 

shareholder structure

Fresenius Medical Care’s subscribed capital amounted 
to € 297.7 million as of December 31, 2008. There 
were 293.93 million ordinary shares outstanding, and 
3.81 million preference shares in circulation.

At the beginning of 2009, we again conducted a share-
holder identification survey. We present the results in 
the following. We have intentionally abstained from 
comparing the figures with those from the previous 
year, as the data and categories used by the new serv-
ice provider are not identical with those used last year.
The total number of Fresenius Medical Care outstand-
ing shares was 297,742,576 on December 31, 2008. 
191,139,550 shares, or 64.2 %, were in free float at the 
end of the reporting year. In the survey we were able to 
attribute 271,607,967 shares to their owners: 106,603,026 
were identified as belonging to Fresenius SE, which 
accounts for 35.8 % of total capital – almost the same 
as in the previous year. 165,004,941 shares, representing 
86.3 % of the shares in free-float, were held by other 

01.4  caPital Market and stock

Table 01.4.4 nUMBer of idenTified ShAreS

of shares in % in % of Free Float

Total shares outstanding, Dec. 31, 2008 297,742,576 100.0 –

of which Ordinary shares 293,932,036 98.7 –

of which preference shares 3,810,540 1.3 –

Shares identified incl. Fresenius SE 271,607,967 91.2 –

Shares not identified 26,134,609 8.8 13.7

Fresenius SE, Dec. 31, 2008 106,603,026 35.8 –

Free Float 191,139,550 64.2 –

ShAreS idenTified 165,004,941 55.4 86.3

Table 01.4.5 GeoGrAPhicAl diSTriBUTion of ShAreS idenTified 

Shares in % 

North America ( incl. Canada ) 47,931,998 29.0

Germany 21,184,539 12.8

United kingdom 40,182,577 24.4

France 11,197,265 6.8

Ireland 3,694,310 2.2

rest of Europe 13,738,743 8.3

retail Investors 23,816,450 14.4

Asia-pacific / Middle E ast 3,259,059 2.0

ToTAl  165,004,941  100.0

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
37

   I



investors. Just 26,134,609 shares or 8.8 % of the out-
standing capital could not be identified. Overall, we 
identified 656 institutional investors.

The top 20 institutional investors in our company held 
about 30 % or around 50 million of the identified shares. 
Four of them are based in Germany, seven are in the 
United kingdom, four in the United States and two are 
based in France. The remaining three investors come 
from Norway, Ireland and Canada.

At the time of the survey, private investors accounted for 
23,816,450 shares or 14.4 % of the shares identified, while 
retail brokers ( ADR ) held 4,411,383 shares in total, or 2.7 %.

In terms of geographical distribution, 47,931,998 shares 
were held by institutions in North America ( incl. Can-
ada ). This represents 29.0 % of the shares identified. 
A total of 68,636,260 shares, or 41.7 % of the identified 
shares, were held in Europe, excluding Germany,  
with U.K. institutions controlling 40,182,577 shares or 
24.4 %. German institutional ownership accounted for 
21,184,539 shares, or 12.8 %.

Chart 01.4.3 GeoGrAPhicAl diSTriBUTion of ShAreS idenTified

12.8 % G ermany

14.4 % retail Investors

2 % Asia pacific / Middle E ast

41.7 % Europe ( excl. Germany )

29.0 % North America ( incl. Canada )

Table 01.4.6 ShAreholder diSTriBUTion of ShAreS idenTified

Shares in % of identified shares 

Institutional Investors 136,590,408 82.8

retail Investors 23,816,450 14.4

retail Broker ( ADr ) 4,411,383 2.7

prime Brokerage Accounts 186,700 0.1

ToTAl 165,004,941 100.0
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Looking at our shareholder structure we feel that we 
have a well balanced portfolio of shareholders both 
from a geographical point of view and in terms of  
private and institutional investors. For 2009 and 2010 we 
see the regional focus of our investor relations activities 
being in North America as well as selected European 
countries.

In July 2008 Fresenius SE issued an offering of € 554 mil-
lion in mandatory exchangeable bonds ( MEB ), which are 
exchangeable into ordinary shares of Fresenius Medical 
Care upon redemption. The bonds issued have a maturity 
of three years. Upon maturity, a maximum of 16.8 mil-
lion and a minimum of 14.24 million Fresenius Medical 
Care shares will be deliverable, representing approxi-
mately 5.7 % or 4.8 % of Fresenius Medical Care’s total 
subscribed capital. The holding of Fresenius SE of cur-
rently 35.8 % will therefore be reduced by at least 4.8 %. 

investor relations

Comprehensive, transparent and timely information 
about the capital markets remained at the center of our 
investor relations activities in 2008. We provide market 
participants with extensive information to enable them 
to make a fair assessment of the Company’s situation. 

We issue detailed quarterly and annual reports with 
comprehensive segment reporting and extensive notes. 
We publish our reports promptly and fulfil the require-
ments of the various guidelines we are held to observe 

in both the U.S. and Germany. These include the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code, the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act, and the regulations of Deutsche Börse and the 
New york Stock Exchange. More information on corpo-
rate governance can be found starting on page 91. 

We broadcast analyst conferences on the publication of 
our quarterly reports live on the Internet and offer web 
casts of these meetings for replay online. Our share-
holders can also watch the speech given by the Chair-
man of the Management Board at the Annual General 
Meeting live on our website. 

In 2008, we further intensified our contact with financial 
analysts as well as with institutional and private inves-
tors worldwide. We introduced Fresenius Medical Care 
in a total of 1,176 one-on-ones with analysts and inves-
tors ₋ 34 % more than in 2007 – and answered questions 
about our business development and the Company’s 
future. In addition, we presented the Company and its 
perspectives at 24 roadshows and 28 investment confer-
ences around the globe. private investors also play an 
important role. For this reason, we were present several 
times at events staged by Germany’s leading association 
of private investors, the Deutsche Schutzvereinigung für 
Wertpapierbesitz ( DSW ).

2008 was also a highly successful year for the Investor 
relations department. Our company received several 
awards for its investor relations work. The magazine 
“Capital” and the Society of Investment professionals in 
Germany ( Deutsche vereinigung für Finanzanalyse und 

01.4  caPital Market and stock

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
39

   I



Asset Management, DVFA ) awarded Fresenius Medical 
Care for the best IR work of all the companies in the 
DAX 30 index. The U.S. magazine “Institutional Investor” 
ranked our company number one in the “healthcare” 
category in Europe. Our annual report 2007 won second 
place in the DAX 30 in a competition held by “manager-
magazin” and received several awards from the U.S. 
League of American Communications professionals 
( LACP ). Furthermore, our company was presented with 

the Thomson Extel pan-European IR Excellence Award in 
the Medtech & Services category for its outstanding in-
vestor relations work. 

If you would like to contact Fresenius Medical Care  
Investor relations or find out about key dates in our  
financial calendar 2009, please take a look at page 134 of 
the corporate report – or visit us at www.fmc-ag.com.

Table 01.4.7 keY fiGUreS of freSeniUS MedicAl cAre ShAreS

2008 2007

Ordinary  
share

Preference 
share

Ordinary  
share

Preference 
share

Authorized capital $ in thousands 363,076 4,240 361,384 4,191

Number of shares millions 293.93 3.81 292.79 3.78

closing prices ( xetra trading )             

High € 39.10 37.60 38.67 36.78

Low € 29.73 28.31 33.05 31.32

year-end € 33.31 33.50 36.69 35.39

Average daily trading volume Shares 1,498,696 1,698 1,691,393 4,421

closing price ( AdS – nYSe )             

High $ 59.01 55.00 56.70 53.50

Low $ 39.84 31.00 43.69 40.00

year-end $ 47.18 43.00 52.75 51.34

Market capitalization             

year-end € in billions 9.79 0.13 10.74 0.13

Total  € in billions 9.92 10.87

index weight             

DAx  % 1.41 – 0.86  –

dividend     

per share1  € 0.58 0.60 0.54 0.56

Dividend yield  % 1.7 1.8 1.5 1.6

Distribution amount  € in millions 173 160

earnings per share ( ePS )             

Number of shares2  millions 293.23 3.80 291.93 3.74

Earnings per share ( EpS ) $ 2.75 2.78 2.43 2.45

1 2008: Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.  
2 Weighted average of outstanding shares.
For a more detailed version, please refer to the 5-Year Summary on page 122 in the financial report.
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We achieved new records in sales  
and earnings, accomplished all of our 

goals and boosted investments  
in our future growth. We anticipate  

to continue on our sustainable  
growth path in 2009.

What impact does quality have on 
treatment?

“By trusting in the quality of our products and services, our customers – patients, 
nephrologists and nurses alike – are able to concentrate fully on the dialysis treat-
ment. Our expertise and quality at all levels of the supply chain help us to ensure 
consistent quality in dialysis treatment. And give our customers the good feeling 
that they can rely on us.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Thomas Dimt

 
Job Title 

 Senior Vice President Finance & Logistics 
Europe, Middle East, Africa

Age 42 Years

Nationality German

Joined in March 1996

Our Fiscal YearChap. 02.1 – 6



C
ha

p.
0

2
 

�O
ur


 F

iscal



 

Y
ear




Operations and Business Environment
Group Structure and Business � 43
Strategy, Objectives, and Corporate Management � 44
Economic Environment � 48
Dialysis Market � 52
Events Significant for Business Development � 60
Comparison of the Actual Business Results with Forecasts � 61
The Management’s General Assessment of Business Perfomance � 62

Results of Operations, Financial Situation, 
Assets and Liabilities

Results of Operations � 63
Financial Situation � 69
Assets and Liabilities � 74

Non-Financial Performance Indicators
Research and Development � 76
Procurement and Logistics � 84
Production � 86
Quality and Environmental Management � 88
Corporate Governance � 91
Employees � 95
Portfolio Expansion and General Factors � 100

Risk Report
Risk and Opportunities Management � 103
Risk Areas � 105

Subsequent Events
Economic and Business Environment � 111
Overall Assessment of our Business Situation � 111

Outlook
Business Policy � 112
General Economic Development � 112
Markets � 113
Sector-specific Conditions – Dialysis Market � 113
Business Performance of Fresenius Medical Care in 2009 and 2010 � 114
Therapies, Products and Services � 116
Employees � 117
Legal Structure and Organization � 117
Production � 117
Procurement and Logistics � 118
Quality and Environmental Management � 118
Opportunities � 119
General Statement on the Expected Development � 120

p. � 43

p. � 63

p. � 76

p. �103

p. �111

p. �112

Chap. 02.1 – 6

Chap. 02.1

Chap. 02.2

Chap. 02.3

Chap. 02.4

Chap. 02.5

Chap. 02.6



grouP structure and Business

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading vertically 
integrated provider of products and services for people 
with chronic kidney failure. When the kidney function 
of patients with this disease fails, dialysis takes over the 
vital task of cleansing the blood. In healthy people toxins 
are discarded via the urine and surplus water is removed 
from the body. However, as patient’s kidneys can no 
longer fulfill these tasks they require dialysis treatment. 
At the end of 2008, about 1.770 million patients regularly 
underwent dialysis worldwide. Fresenius Medical Care 
provided treatments to 184,086 patients in a network of 
2,388 dialysis clinics in North America, Europe, Asia, Latin 
America, and Africa. 

Fresenius Medical Care runs a network of more than  
30 manufacturing facilities on all continents. The Com-
pany’s most important production sites in terms of pro-
duction output are in the U.S., Germany, and Japan. We 
also operate plants in other European and Asian coun-
tries, as well as in Latin America. An overview of our 
major manufacturing facilities can be found in the “pro-
duction” section beginning on page 86. Fresenius Medical 
Care’s headquarters are in Bad Homburg v.d.H. near 
Frankfurt / Main in Germany. 

Fresenius Medical Care’s activities are organized on a 
regional level and divided into three operating segments: 
North America, International, and Asia-pacific. For re-
porting purposes, the International and Asia-pacific seg-
ments are grouped into the International segment as 
they are subject to similar economic conditions. This 
not only applies to the products sold, patient struc-
tures, and methods of distributing products and serv-

ices, but also the economic environment. Our North 
American headquarters are located in Waltham, Massa-
chusetts, U.S., the International operating segment is 
based in Bad Homburg v.d.H., and the regional admin-
istrative headquarters for Asia-pacific are in Hong kong. 

ManageMent and control 
Since February 2006, Fresenius Medical Care has taken 
on the legal form of a partnership limited by shares 
( kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA ). The corpo-
rate structure of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA 
as well as the Company’s management and supervisory 
structure are discussed in the corporate governance  
report starting on page 91. 

keY Products, services and Business  
Processes
Fresenius Medical Care provides dialysis services in its 
own dialysis clinics in more than 30 countries. The most 
important products in the dialysis product business are 
dialyzers ( artifical kidneys ) and dialysis machines. Our 
dialysis products are used in both, hemodialysis and  
peritoneal dialysis, within and outside our own network 
of dialysis clinics. We offer our product and services 
range in more than 115 countries worldwide and are 
therefore a global acting company.

MaJor Markets and coMPetitive Position
Our key markets are North America and Europe, where 
we generate approximately 66 % and 24 % of our sales, 
respectively. Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading 
provider of dialysis services, with a market share of 
about 14 % based on revenue. We provide care for most 
dialysis patients worldwide and operate more dialysis 
clinics than any of our competitors. 

oPerations and Business environMent 02.1   

Chart 02.1.1 freSeniUS MedicAl cAre – WorldWide

freSeniUS MedicAl cAre
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Our dialysis products accounted for a market share of 
around 32 % in 2008, which means that we are the un-
challenged market leader in this area, too. The market 
share of our key products, dialyzers and dialysis machines, 
was significantly higher with more than 45 % and over 
55 %, respectively. Further information on the dialysis 
market and the position of Fresenius Medical Care can 
be found in the “Sector-Specific Conditions – Dialysis 
Market” section starting on page 52.

legal and econoMic factors
Fresenius Medical Care provides life-saving products and 
therapies for chronically ill patients and is therefore only 
exposed to economic cycles to a relatively small extent. 
In this respect, we are different from manufacturers of 
consumer goods, for example, that are exposed to a 
more cyclical demand for their products. 

Furthermore, the dialysis market is continuing to grow 
on account of demographic factors, including the aging 
population and the increasing incidence of diabetes and 
hypertension, which frequently precede the onset of 
end-stage renal disease ( ESRD ). In recent years, forecasts 
regarding the occurrence of these two diseases have 
been continually adjusted upwards. The “International 
Diabetes Federation” expects the number of people with 
diabetes to almost double – from 194 million in 2003 
to 380 million in 2025. In addition, the life expectancy 
of dialysis patients is increasing thanks to continual  
improvements in the quality of treatment and higher 
standards of living, also in developing countries. 

Dialysis reimbursement structures differ from country to 
country, and often even within one country. In the U.S., 
costs for the majority of dialysis treatments are reim-
bursed by public healthcare programs such as Medicare. 
As a result, Fresenius Medical Care’s business is impacted 
by reimbursement rates and methods specified by gov-
ernment. Further information can be found starting  
on page 101 in the “New reimbursement Models” section. 

In 2008, the legal conditions for Fresenius Medical Care 
remained largely unchanged and therefore did not have a 
significant influence on the company’s operating business.

accounting
Fresenius Medical Care reports on the basis of U.S. GAAP 
( United States Generally Accepted Accounting principles ) 
and in U.S. dollars. 

strategY, oBJectives, and corPorate 
ManageMent

our long-term strategy is geared towards continuously 
increasing our company’s value. We focus our business 
activities on the health of patients, improving the qual-
ity of their lives, and raising their life expectancy. the 
Management Board uses a number of different instru-
ments and key figures to evaluate the company’s busi-
ness performance, develop the corporate strategy, and 
make investment decisions. overall, we see ourselves 
in an excellent position to achieve our growth goals 
and stay ahead of the competition in the long term.

control criteria
The Management Board operates the Company using 
various financial ratios and follows its growth strategy 
for the future, GOAL 10, which Fresenius Medical Care 
has been pursuing since the spring of 2005. GOAL 10 
stands for “Growth Opportunities to Assure Leadership 
in 2010” and defines our scope for growth in the years 
to come. Fresenius Medical Care is pursuing four paths 
in parallel to successfully capture a broader spectrum  
of the worldwide dialysis market and achieve its growth 
objectives ( see the “Growth Strategy” section on the 

following page ). 

In our view, EBIT ( earnings before interest and taxes ) is 
one of the most useful yardsticks for measuring the 
profitability of the Company. Consequently, we control 
the activities of our business segments based on their 
EBIT. Another good indicator to assess Fresenius Medical 
Care’s ability to achieve positive financial results is EBITDA 
( earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor-
tization ). The Management Board evaluates each segment 
based on target figures that reflect all of the segment’s 
controllable revenues and expenses. Financing is a cor-
porate function, over which the Company’s segments 
have no control. Therefore, interest expenditure for fi-
nancing is not included in the segments’ target figures. 
Neither are “corporate costs”, which relate primarily to 
headquarters’ outlays in the areas of accounting and  
finance, professional services, etc., or tax expenses,  
as the Company believes that these costs are also not 
within the control of the individual segments. 

Fresenius Medical Care evaluates its operating cash flow 
based on days sales outstanding ( DSO ). The number of 
DSO is used to assess the extent to which a company 
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can generate the necessary cash to maintain the assets 
depicted in the balance sheet and to make expansion 
investments. 

The debt /EBITDA ratio is another important criterion for 
assessing corporate performance. This ratio compares 
the Company’s debt to its EBITDA and other non-cash 
charges. The debt /EBITDA ratio is an indicator of the 
amount of debt and the length of time needed to serv-
ice it. It provides more reliable information about the 
extent to which a company is able to meet its payment 
obligations than simply taking absolute debt into account. 
Fresenius Medical Care is active in the dialysis industry 
and has a strong position in a global, growing, and 
largely non-cyclical market. The industry is character-
ized by stable and sustained cash flows that can be 
planned, as most of the Company’s customers have a 
high credit rating. This means that we can draw on a 
relatively large share of debt capital, in comparison to 
companies in other industries. 

We also gear our corporate management towards op-
erational ratios such as ROIC ( return on invested capi-
tal ), ROOA ( return on operating assets ) as well as ROE 

( return on equity ). ROIC rose from 8.4 % in 2007 to 8.6 % 
in 2008. ROOA decreased slightly in the same period from 
12.5 % to 12.3 %. ROE ( after tax ) improved from 12.9 % 
to 13.7 % in the last business year.

Our investments are generally controlled in a detailed 
coordination and evaluation process. In a first step,  
the Management Board sets the complete investment 
budget for the group, as well as investment targets 
based on investment proposals. Subsequently, the  
operating units and an internal Acquisition Investment 
Committee ( AIC ) examine the individual projects and 
measures taking into account the overall strategy, the 
total budget, as well as the return on investment and 
potential yield. The investment projects are evaluated 
based on commonly used methods such as internal  
interest rate and incremental capital methods. 

Details on the development of these financial indicators 
as well as other financial figures can be found in the 
“results of Operations, Financial Situation, Assets and 
Liabilities” section starting on page 63 as well as in the 
Financial report. 

Table 02.1.2 PArAMeTerS for AcQUiSiTion And inVeSTMenT deciSionS (excerPT)

Internal interest rate > FME discount rate1

Internal interest rate > 15 %

Amortization period ≤ 10 years

EBITDA multiplier ≤ 5.5

Incremental capital > 0 (only applies to investment decisions )

1 The discount rate varies depending on the region or country in which the acquisition or investment is made.

Table 02.1.1 iMPorTAnT keY fiGUreS

2008 2007

EBIT in $ millions 1,672 1,580

EBITDA in $ millions 2,088 1,943

Debt / EBITDA 2.69 2.84

return on Invested Capital ( rOIC ) 8.6 % 8.4 %

return on Operating Assets ( rOOA ) 12.3 % 12.5 %

return on Equity ( rOE ) 13.7 % 12.9 %

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
45

   I02.1  oPerations and Business environMent



groWth strategY
We presented GOAL 10, a long-term strategy with de-
fined objectives, back in the spring of 2005. GOAL 10 
stands for Growth Opportunities to Assure Leadership 
in 2010 and describes four paths ( see below ) that 
Fresenius Medical Care intends to follow in order to 
boost its success across the broadest possible spectrum 
of the global dialysis market and to achieve its long-term 
growth objectives. We aim to pursue the four paths of 
GOAL 10 in a financially responsible way and bolster our 
position as the world’s market leader in dialysis. In addi-
tion to expanding our production capacities and signifi-
cantly enlarging our clinic network, one of the most 
important measures we took in 2008 was to enter into 
alliances in the field of intravenously administered iron 
preparations, a move that will help us ensure long-term 
growth. We have elaborated on the GOAL 10 strategy in 
detail in previous annual reports and will therefore limit 
ourselves here to discussing a few important aspects. 

Path 1: organic groWth. By introducing dialysis 
services and innovative dialysis products such as the 
newly developed 5008 and 5008S series dialysis machines, 
we intend to achieve organic growth of between 5 % 
and 6 % annually in the years to come. We are planning 
to expand our clinic network in all important markets 
and growth regions worldwide to maintain and even 
improve our leading market position. At the same time, 
we aim to grow our range of integrated, innovative 
treatment concepts such as Ultracare ( see glossary  
on page 128 onwards ) and cardioprotective dialysis and 
combine them with dialysis drugs, for example. We  
believe that this strategy will make us stand out signifi-
cantly against our competitors. 

Path 2: acquisitions. With our long-term growth 
goals and our aim to boost profitability in mind, we 
regularly investigate possible acquisitions to selectively 
expand our dialysis clinic network. In doing this, we 

Chart 02.1.2 $ 65 Billion diAlYSiS MArkeT 2008
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concentrate on particularly attractive regions, although 
investments in future acquisitions in North America 
should be on a smaller scale than in previous years due 
to the fact that the consolidation of the North American 
dialysis market is proceeded farthest. However, we as-
sume that most of our future growth will be generated 
organically. Acquisitions should help us achieve our long-
term objectives. Further information on acquisitions 
could be found in the “Investments and Acquisitions” 
section on page 71. 

Path 3: horizontal exPansion. Last year, we 
added intravenously administered iron preparations to 
our range of dialysis drugs. We did this through alli-
ances, which enabled us to extend our range of prod-
ucts expediently and in keeping with our strategy. A  
detailed report on our activities related to dialysis drugs 
can be found on page 100 in the “portfolio Expansion 
and General Factors” section.

Path 4: hoMe dialYsis As in the past, a relatively 
small percentage of dialysis patients ( 11 % ) performs 
dialysis at home. Most patients receive their treatments 
in specialized dialysis clinics. We aim to assume an im-
portant global position in the home therapies market, 
which includes peritoneal dialysis as well as home  

hemodialysis, in the long term. To achieve this goal,  
we intend to combine our comprehensive and innova-
tive product portfolio with our expertise in the area of  
dialysis services. More information can be found in the 
“portfolio Expansion and General Factors” section  
beginning on page 100. 

Our strategy encompasses concrete and measurable 
growth objectives. At the same time, it takes into ac-
count long-term trends that we forecast for the dialysis 
market. In addition to a growth in patient numbers,  
we expect the quality of dialysis services and available 
products to become more important. Thus, compen-
sation for dialysis care should in the future depend to  
a greater extent on certain quality criteria being met. 
More information on this can be found in the “quality 
and Environmental Management” section from page 88 
onwards as well as in the “New reimbursement  
Models” section from page 101 onwards. 

Moreover, we are convinced that in future there will be 
a growing need for integrated care of kidney patients. 
As a result, our business will not only focus on individual 
services or dialysis products, but will combine the dif-
ferent areas of application related to dialysis. 

Table 02.1.3 GoAl 10 oBJecTiVeS

Goal 10 2008 2007 2006 2005

revenue in $ millions > 11,500 10,612 9,720 8,499 6,772

Annual revenue growth at constant currency ~ 6 – 9 % 8 % 14 % 25 % 8 %

Share of dialysis market1 ~18 % 16.3 % 15.7 % 15.5 % 12.9 %

Market volume1 in $ billions ~ 67 ~ 65 ~ 62 ~ 55 ~ 52,5

Annual net income growth2 > 10 %3 14 % 25 % 24 % 17 %

1 Company es timates
2 2005 excluding one-time effects, 2006 excluding one-time effects and effects from SFAS 123R
3 On the basis of constant currencies for 2009 and 2010
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groWth oBJectives
We have set ourselves ambitious goals again for the 
years to come. Overall, we expect to boost our revenue 
by 6 % to 9 % on average per year at constant currency 
as a result of strategic measures – the horizontal expan-
sion of our product portfolio through dialysis drugs and 
the further development of our home therapies prod-
ucts – as well as through organic growth. Our revenue 
goal for 2010 remains unchanged at over $ 11.5 billion. 
Annual net income should increase by more than 10 % 
per year, in case the exchange rate relations remain 
constant in 2009 and 2010.

Financial prudence will guide us along all four paths of 
GOAL 10 to enable us to service our debt and make in-
vestments. The operating cash flow should comprise at 
least 10 % of revenue. A continued increase in earnings 
and improved management of our current assets should 
contribute to this development. Furthermore, we aim to 
sustain the tax rate at the present level of between 36 % 
and 37 % by 2010. Expenditures for investments and ac-
quisitions as part of ordinary operating activities should 
be at around 8 % of revenue. 

Our GOAL 10 objectives can be found in the table below.
For further information phase refer to the “Outlook” 
section starting on page 112.

econoMic environMent

the economic environment worsened noticeably in 2008. 
rising prices for raw materials and energy coupled with 

increasing inflation rates overall had a slightly negative 
impact on the results of our operations. in the second 
half of the year, the strong depreciation of many curren-
cies against the U.S. dollar within a short period of 
time had an adverse effect. We were able to largely 
compensate for this with improved efficiency and a 
positive operational development. economic fluctua-
tions usually have a more moderate effect on the  
development of the dialysis market than in other  
industries. 

general econoMic environMent
2008 began with a strong start for the German economy. 
However, as the year progressed, rising raw materials 
prices and the appreciation of the euro along with the 
financial crisis put a damper on business activity. Since 
the middle of 2008 the global economy has been in an 
economic slump. The main reasons for the downturn 
are the collapse of the U.S. real-estate market, the world-
wide crisis in the banking sector and in the financial 
markets, as well as higher inflation due to the rise in 
prices for various raw materials. Due to the positive  
development in the first half of the year, the leading 
German research institutes expected the worldwide 
gross domestic product to increase by 3 % after an 
increase of 5 % in 2007. 

In many industrialized countries, the economy is already 
in a recession (see glossary on page 118). Many indicators 
suggest that the underlying economic trend in the U.S. 
and Western European countries will be extremely weak. 
In Japan, too, economic conditions worsened in the 
last months. Only in emerging countries has production 

Table 02.1.4 QUArTerlY deVeloPMenT of USd exchAnGe rATeS VerSUS The eUro

$ / € 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Average

2008 1.4981 1.5623 1.5036 1.3185 1.4705

2007 1.3098 1.3484 1.3753 1.4486 1.3708

Source: REUTERS, average rates
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increased considerably in recent months, but even there 
the rate of expansion has declined considerably. 

A primary reason for the economic downturn is the on-
going crisis in the financial sector, triggered by solvency 
problems in the U.S. mortgage market. Most financial 
institutions had to make significant value adjustments 
in the course of 2008. As a result, business relations 
between banks deteriorated substantially as they made 
less cash and cash equivalents available to each other. 
Many banks reacted to their own tight liquidity situa-
tion by restricting the credits they gave to companies. 
The complexity of the problems grew considerably in the 
course of the year, also with a view towards the overall 
economy. In response, governments and central banks 
introduced comprehensive programs in a concerted  
effort to stabilize the financial sector. These included  
liquidity and trust-building measures such as direct equity 
injections, capital guarantees for the issue of new bonds, 
purchasing programs for non-performing assets, as well 
as interest rate cuts by central banks on a broad basis.

As in the previous years, the worldwide economic situa-
tion varied in 2008. However, the economic growth spread 
was much wider than in 2007. Of the industrialized 
countries, the U.S. and Germany developed at the same 
pace, while growth in Great Britain and Japan slowed 
down. Among emerging countries, China’s strong growth 
stood out again. 

exchange rate develoPMent
Analogous to the financial markets, developments on 
the currency markets were marked on the whole by high 
volatility, i.e. pronounced and rapid fluctuations. The 
global economic trend was influenced by developments 
in exchange rates to different degrees over the course 
of the year. In the first half of 2008, the most important 
monetary parities were relatively stable. The strong ap-
preciation of a number of these currency rates versus 
the U.S. dollar benefited exports from the U.S in the first 
months of the year. But from September, this changed 
unexpectedly quickly. Within a short period, the U.S. dol-
lar appreciated substantially against a large number of 

Chart 02.1.3 USd indexed AGAinST eUro, Yen And PoUnd; deVeloPMenT JAn. 1, 2008 UnTil dec. 31, 2008

130

120

110

100

90

80

70

Jan.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Feb.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mar.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Apr.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jun.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jul.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aug.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sep.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Oct.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nov.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dec.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

USD / EuroUSD / JPY USD / GBP

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
49

   I02.1  oPerations and Business environMent



currencies. This could be seen above all in the reassess-
ment of the economic situation in the individual regions. 
On the cut-off date on December 31, 2008, the U.S. dol-
lar / euro exchange rate was 4.9 % lower than a year 
before, while the average for 2008 was 7.3 % higher 
than in the previous year. 

The U.S. dollar and the euro in particular and their rela-
tion to each other are important for Fresenius Medical 
Care, because we earn a large part of our revenue in 
the U.S. and in the euro zone. In reporting terms, an 
appreciation of the euro is advantageous for us, as our 
functional currency is the U.S. dollar and thus the balance 
sheet values achieved in euros are higher. 

Our production sites are predominantly decentralized to 
enable us to meet the demand in our dialysis product 
business. Due to our plants in the U.S., Japan, and Europe, 
we are less affected by long-term currency fluctuations; 
transaction risks are kept to a minimum as costs and  
revenue are generated in the same currency. But signifi-
cantly more volatile exchange rates mean that even  
Fresenius Medical Care is more affected by the sensitiv-
ity to these exchange rates. In the field of dialysis care, 
which accounts for a larger share of business than dialy-
sis products, the transaction risk is minimal as business 
is local and thus conducted in the respective currency 
area. 

united states
In the U.S., growth slowed down slightly in year-to-year 
terms. The gross domestic product increased by 1.3 %, 
driven by public investments and in particular by ongoing 
strong export activity. In addition to a significant reduc-
tion in stocks, investment in housing construction again 
had an adverse effect. price trends were influenced to a 
high degree by fluctuations in the price of raw materials, 
particularly oil. The inflation rate climbed from 2.9 % in 
2007 to 3.9 % in the year under review. In the course of 
2008, the Federal reserve slashed the key interest rate, 
the Federal Funds rate, by a total of around 400 basis 
points in several steps to an almost historic low and a 
new target corridor of 0 % to 0.25 %. 

euroPe
In Europe, the real gross domestic product declined 
substantially in the second half of 2008, after moderate 
growth had been recorded in the first six months. For 
the year as a whole, Europe's GDP rose slightly by 0.9 %, 
compared to an increase of 2.6 % in the previous year. 
The inflation rate soared to a historic high due to the 
higher cost of raw materials coupled with the deprecia-
tion of the U.S. dollar against the euro. The European 
Central Bank (ECB) countered the pessimistic economic 
outlook in connection with the financial crisis by taking 
numerous measures to boost liquidity. In the space of a 
few weeks, the ECB lowered its key interest rates by 200 

Chart 02.1.4 deVeloPMenT of keY inTereST rATeS of iMPorTAnT cenTrAl BAnkS JAn. 1, 2008 To dec. 31, 2008
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basis points in the last four months of the year, after 
the inflation risk had abated as a result of falling prices 
for energy and other raw materials as well as the nega-
tive economic forecast.

After a flying start to the year, the German economy 
lost momentum as the year progressed. This was due to 
the financial crisis, rising prices for raw materials and 
the appreciation of the euro in comparison to other 
currencies. Export demand, which previously had been 
one of the main pillars of growth, declined significantly, 
not only as a result of the adverse exchange rate situation, 
but also due to the downturn in the global economy in 
general. Despite the marked reluctance of companies 
to invest, employment in Germany rose slightly in 2008, 
with unemployment figures dropping from 3.4 million in 
2007 to 3.3 million in 2008. 

In Great Britain, economic growth tailed off sharply due 
to the country’s high dependency on the financial sec-
tor. The GDP grew by 0.8 %, compared to 3.0 % the year 
before. The new European EU member countries gener-
ally showed a positive economic development, with an 
average growth of 4.5 %, although the growth rate in 
the individual countries varied considerably. russia con-
tinued to post very dynamic growth. Driven by strong 
domestic demand as well as high income from the oil 

and gas business, russia’s GDP climbed by 6.8 %. At the 
same time, however, inflation increased substantially. 

asia
The Japanese economy continued to deteriorate. Due 
to a lack of impetus from abroad, domestic demand 
declined further. Higher energy and food prices also 
had an adverse effect. The GDP rose by just 0.1 % in 
2008, following a 2 % increase the previous year. 

Emerging countries in Asia showed comparatively robust 
growth, although at a significantly slower rate. China’s 
growth rate of the GDP had been declining constantly, 
albeit moderately, since the middle of 2007. The coun-
try’s sluggish economic growth reflects the slight drop 
in demand on the main markets and the ongoing appre-
ciation of the Chinese currency against other curren-
cies. Growth is driven by private consumption and 
increasing investments in infrastructure. China’s GDP 
rose by 9.6 % in 2008, compared to 11.9 % in the previ-
ous year. The economies of the remaining countries in 
East Asia also grew: by 4.4 % in 2008 compared to 4.8 % 
in 2007. 

latin aMerica
Latin America displayed steady economic growth. Its 
GDP rose to 4.4 %, almost reaching the previous year’s 

Table 02.1.5 reAl GroSS doMeSTic ProdUcT

Change over previous year in % 2008 2007

United States 1.3 2.0

Germany 1.3 2.5

Euro zone 0.9 2.6

Great Britain 0.8 3.0

New EU member states 4.5 6.2

EU 27 1.2 2.9

russia 6.8 8.1

Japan 0.1 2.0

China and Hong kong 9.6 11.9

East Asia 4.4 5.8

Latin America 4.4 5.6

WorldWide 3.6 5.0

Source: Institut für Weltwirtschaft an der Universität Kiel „Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2008; 19. Dezember 2008, monthly reports of the Deutsche Bundesbank and European Central 
Bank, German Federal Statistical Office
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growth rate. However, the economies of the different 
countries in the region developed in a highly heteroge-
neous way. As raw materials producers and energy sup-
pliers, most of the countries in the region continued to 
profit from the high raw materials prices. The economic 
outlook seems stable in many countries, only in Mexico 
is the outlook clouded due to the country’s strong  
dependence on the development of the U.S. economy. 

Further information can be found from page 61 in the “Com-
 parison of the Actual Business results with  Forecasts” 
section and in the “Outlook” section starting on page 112. 

dialYsis Market 

in 2008, we consolidated our worldwide leading posi-
tion in the steadily growing dialysis market. as a ver-
tically integrated provider, we are ideally placed and 
have the best opportunities to sustainably strengthen 
our position and expand both our product and serv-
ices business in the future.

the dialYsis Market – sector-sPecific  
conditions
As a global market leader in dialysis products and dialy-
sis services, Fresenius Medical Care considers it important 
to possess accurate and current information on the  
status and development of the global, regional and na-
tional dialysis patient population and markets for dialy-
sis products and services. This patient population and  
market information is used for a variety of Company- 
internal and external purposes. 

In order to obtain this information, Fresenius Medical 
Care created an internal information tool called Market 
& Competitor Survey ( MCS ). The MCS is designed to 
collect, analyze and communicate relevant market and 
competitor data on the global dialysis market. The 
Company determined that most other sources of infor-
mation of this kind were not timely, detailed or consist-
ent enough to fulfill the Company’s information needs 
in this area. Many countries offer valuable information 
on various aspects of ESRD and dialysis patient demo-
graphics as well as related trends through renal registries 
and other official organizations, such as the United 
States renal Data System ( USRDS ) or the Japanese Society 

for Dialysis Therapy ( JSDT ). In addition, multinational 
renal registries such as the registry of the European 
renal Association ( ERA ) – European Dialysis and Trans-
plant Association ( EDTA ) publish data about patient de-
mographics. 

However, the following shortcomings can be observed 
when using renal registry data to analyze the develop-
ment of dialysis patient numbers on a global scale:

 Not all countries have a national renal registry or other 
organization that analyzes and publishes the number 
of renal patients. In 2008 only 37 countries published 
information either directly through a national renal 
registry or indirectly through a multinational organi-
zation, while more than 145 countries are reported 
to treat dialysis patients.

 Some national registries that publish information on 
the number of dialysis patients do not cover the 
complete country but selected regions only.

 A time lapse between data collection and publication 
by the registries is unavoidable and can be significant. 
A Company-internal analysis performed in August 
2008 revealed that by this date only 1 out of the 
37 countries with registry data had already published 
2007 data, 30 had published 2006 data and 6 had 
published data only from 2005 or earlier.

This means that it is impossible to derive a complete and 
current global picture of the number of dialysis patients 
by consolidating renal registry data. Furthermore, renal 
products used for dialysis, such as dialyzers or peritonal 
dialysis solution bags, are generally not tracked by renal 
registries. As far as the Company is aware, the renal 
medicinal product industry does not have an offering 
comparable to that of databases compiled by private 
companies such as IMS Health for example, which 
 supplies the pharmaceutical industry with generally 
 accepted sales statistics on pharmaceutical products.

The MCS is therefore used within the Company as a tool 
to retrieve current, accurate and essential information 
on the dialysis market, developing trends, the market 
position of Fresenius Medical Care and that of its com-
petitors. The country-by-country surveys performed at 
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the end of each calendar year focus on the total number 
of patients treated for ESRD, the treatment modality 
selected, products used, treatment location and ESRD 
patient care structure. The survey has been refined over 
the years to facilitate access to more detailed information 
and to reflect changes in the development of therapies 
and products. Its modular design allows the information 
from different countries to be consolidated. The ques-
tionnaires are distributed to professionals in the field of 
dialysis who are in a position to provide ESRD-relevant 
country specific information themselves or who can  
coordinate appropriate input from contacts with the  
relevant know-how in each country. The surveys are 
then centrally validated by cross-referencing them with 
the most recent sources of national ESRD information 
( e.g. registry data or publications if available ) and with 
the results of earlier surveys performed in previous 
years. In addition, replies are subjected to a validation 
process whereby input fields with related information 
are linked and checked for consistency. All information 
received is consolidated at a global and regional level 
as well as analyzed and reported together with publicly 
available information published by our competitors.

Patients – a gloBal aPProach
If not indicated otherwise, data are based on internal 
estimates based on the Market Competitor Survey ( MCS ) 
described above.

End-stage renal disease ( ESRD ) has a global dimension. 
By the end of 2008, approximately 2.300 million patients 
received treatment for ESRD. Around 1.770 million patients 
in more than 145 countries on all continents received 
renal replacement therapy in the form of dialysis. Ap-
proximately 530,000 kidney patients live with a trans-
planted kidney. 

patient numbers in different countries can be compared 
by using prevalence values, which express the relative 
number of ESRD patients per million population ( p.m.p. ). 
The country prevalence values vary significantly, spanning 
a range from well under 100 to more than 2,000 p.m.p. 

ESRD prevalence is highest in Taiwan with around 
2,420 p.m.p., closely followed by Japan with around 
2,380 p.m.p. and then the USA with around 1,780 p.m.p. 
It averages about 960 p.m.p. in the 27 countries that 
make up the European Union ( EU ). 

Table 02.1.6 PATienTS WiTh end­STAGe renAl diSeASe ( eSrd )

Number in million

eSrd patients 2.300

of which dialysis 1.770

Hemodialysis ( HD ) 1.580

peritoneal Dialysis ( pD ) 0.190

of which transplants  0.530

Table 02.1.7 GloBAl PreVAlence rATeS

Patients per million
population ( p.m.p. )

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

ESrD 342 326 310 295 280 265 251 237 224 212 200

Dialysis 263 249 236 224 213 202 192 182 172 163 155

World population 6.7 billion
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The much lower global average of around 340 p.m.p. is 
due to a variety of reasons. On the one hand we see 
differences in the demographics of the individual coun-
tries with respect to age, distribution of renal risk factors 
such as diabetes and hypertension, genetic pre-disposi-
tion towards kidney diseases and cultural habits such as 
diet. On the other hand access to treatment is still lim-
ited in many countries and a number of individuals with 
terminal renal failure do not receive treatment and 
therefore are not included in the p.m.p. calculation.
 
Mounting global prevalence values over the years indicate 
a relative increase in the number of people receiving care 
for ESRD. This may be linked to a number of factors, in-

cluding an increase in diseases leading to kidney damage 
such as diabetes and hypertension, a general aging of 
populations as well as a gradual improvement in access 
to treatment. A comparison between national economic 
strength expressed as gross domestic product ( GDP ) and 
the prevalence of ESRD suggests that economic factors not 
only influence the demographics of the population but 
may also impose restrictions on treatment. There is an 
indication that access to treatment is restricted in coun-
tries where the GDP per capita is below a limiting value 
of around $ 10,000 per person per year. In countries with 
economies performing above this value, there is no corre-
lation between economic strength and ESRD prevalence.

Table 02.1.8 PATienTS – reGionAl deVeloPMenT

2008 Change

north America 445,000 4 – 5 %

U.S. 370,000 3  – 4 %

europe / Middle east /Africa 520,000 5 – 6 %

EU 300,000 3  – 4 %

Asia­Pacific 620,000 10– 11 %

Japan 290,000 3  – 4 %

latin America 185,000 7 – 8 %

WorldWide 1,770,000 7 %

Chart 02.1.5 eSrd PreVAlence of SelecTed coUnTrieS
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Patients – regional develoPMent
By the end of 2008, the number of ESRD patients under-
going dialysis treatment had reached 1.770 million world-
wide. Of these patients, approximately 21 % were treated 
in the U.S., 17 % in the EU and 16 % in Japan. The re-
maining 46 % of all dialysis patients were distributed 
among 120 countries in different geographical regions. 

The number of dialysis patients worldwide increased by 
approximately 7 % in 2008 and met the growth rate we 
had expected. Significant regional differences remained: 
patient numbers grew at a below-average pace in the 
U.S. and Japan, as well as in Western and Central Europe. 
In all these regions, the prevalence of terminal kidney 
failure is already relatively high and patients generally 
have secured access to treatment, usually dialysis. Annual 
growth rates in economically weaker regions, however, 
were above average, reaching double-digit figures.  

The relatively high growth in these areas indicates that  
accessibility to treatment is still somewhat limited, albeit 
gradually improving.

Patients – treatMent Mode develoPMent
Of the 1.770 million patients that underwent dialysis 
treatment by the end of 2008, 1.580 million were treated 
with hemodialysis (see glossary on page 131) and about 
190,000 received peritoneal dialysis (see glossary on 

page 132). In a global comparison of treatment methods, 
hemodialysis therefore clearly dominates. More than 
89 % of all dialysis patients were treated with this method 
in 2008. Within the group of the 15 largest dialysis 
countries accounting for more than three quarters of 
the world dialysis population, hemodialysis is the pre-
dominant treatment method in all countries except in 
Mexico.

Chart 02.1.6 heModiAlYSiS PATienTS 2008

Chart 02.1.7 PeriToneAl diAlYSiS PATienTS 2008
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In addition to these two dialysis therapies, an alterna-
tive method for treating patients with terminal kidney 
failure is kidney transplantation. Approximately 530,000 
kidney patients lived with a transplanted kidney at the 
end of 2008. However, for many years the number of 
donated organs worldwide has continued to be signifi-
cantly lower than the number of patients on transplant 
waiting lists. Consequently, less than one quarter of the 
global ESRD population lives with a donor organ. Despite 
ongoing efforts by many regional initiatives to increase 
awareness of and willingness for kidney donation, the 
distribution of patients between the various treatment 
modes has remained nearly unchanged over the past 
ten years. 

dialYsis Provider Business
The global dialysis market for both the provider and 
product business grew by approximately 5 % to about 
$ 65 billion in 2008. The market can be segmented into 
dialysis products accounting for around $ 10.5 billion 
and dialysis services ( including renal pharmaceuticals ) 
valued at around $ 55 billion.

In 2008, the majority of all hemodialysis patients were 
treated in 28,000 dialysis centers worldwide, at an aver-

age of some 55 patients per center. Clear differences 
exist in the organizational structure of dialysis center 
operations, depending on whether a country’s health 
system is predominantly private or public. The U.S. and 
the European Union have 5,000 dialysis centers each. 
Whereas around 1 % of these dialysis centers are publicly 
operated in the U.S., in the EU this number is about 62 %. 

In Japan, however, private nephrologists play a key role, 
running about 75 % of all facilities. In Eastern Europe, 
the last few years have seen a significant increase in the 
number of company-owned clinics, possibly reflecting 
the fact that private companies are more likely to invest 
in modernization and capacity extension than govern-
ment bodies are. 

In the U.S., the degree of concentration is already 
relatively high. Fresenius Medical Care and the second-
largest competitor Davita now provide dialysis care to 
approximately 63 % of all dialysis patients in the U.S. 
Fresenius Medical Care maintained its leading position 
in 2008 and treated more than 122,000 patients, repre-
senting about 33 %.
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Chart 02.1.11 ToP 5 diAlYSiS ProViderS WorldWide 2008
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Chart 02.1.9 diAlYSiS clinic oPerATorS 2008
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The dialysis market outside the U.S. is much more frag-
mented. With more than 700 centers in over 30 countries 
treating more than 60,000 patients, Fresenius Medical 
Care has by far the largest and most international dialy-
sis center network. 

As in previous years, many healthcare systems continued 
to face increasing pressure to contain healthcare ex-
penditure while simultaneously striving to improve treat-
ment standards for patients. Under these conditions, 
reliable product supply and quality as well as innovative 

Market shares

Chart 02.1.14 heModiAlYSiS ProdUcTS 2008

Chart 02.1.15 PeriToneAl diAlYSiS ProdUcTS 2008
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Chart 02.1.13 diAlYSiS ProdUcTS 2008
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approaches toward optimizing patient care are key suc-
cess factors for market participants. A vertically inte-
grated dialysis provider like Fresenius Medical Care that 
offers not only the entire product spectrum in the dialy-
sis sector but also high-quality treatment in dialysis clin-
ics worldwide has excellent opportunities to continually 
expand its position in the current and future dialysis 
market. In 2008, Fresenius Medical Care continued to 
uphold its clear leadership as the largest private pro-
vider of dialysis care worldwide, treating 184,086 dialy-
sis patients in 2,388 clinics.

Dialysis reimbursement systems differ from country to 
country and often even vary within countries. Among 
the factors determining reimbursement are regional 
conditions, the kind of treatment provided, regulatory 
issues and the type of care provider ( public or private ). 
Establishing reimbursement structures based on treat-
ment quality remains a focus of discussion. The goal of 
this reimbursement method is to uphold the treatment 
quality while maintaining the current level of costs for 
the treatment of a dialysis patient. Fresenius Medical 
Care provides dialysis in more than 30 countries with 
different healthcare systems and reimbursement schemes. 
Our international experience puts us in a position to 
support national health systems in their endeavors to 
customize structures, to adapt our business according 
to local needs and regulations, and to act profitably.

dialYsis Product Business
From the entire volume of the worldwide dialysis market, 
which amounts to around 65 billion U.S. dollars, more 
than 16 %, or about 10.5 billion U.S. dollars, are generated 
on the market for dialysis products. The key products 

offered in this market include dialyzers, hemodialysis 
machines, concentrates and solutions, as well as perito-
neal dialysis products. The three largest suppliers of  
dialysis products taken together held a worldwide mar-
ket share of nearly 70 % in 2008. With a market share 
of approximately 32 %, Fresenius Medical Care was the 
market leader, followed by Baxter and Gambro. The 
market share of the remaining, mainly Japanese, prod-
uct providers was in the single-digit range for each 
company. 

The largest single product group in this market is dia-
lyzers, of which about 180 million were needed by dial-
ysis patients worldwide in 2008. The fact that more than 
80 million of these dialyzers were produced by Fresenius 
Medical Care underlines our leadership in this market. 

Dialyzers can be categorized as cellulose-based or syn-
thetic-based, depending on the material used for the 
production of the dialysis membrane. The trend towards 
the use of dialyzers containing membranes made from 
synthetic material prevailed in 2008. At the end of 2008, 
the share of synthetic-membrane dialyzers in the dia-
lyzer market was more than 80 %. Cutbacks in produc-
tion capacity for cellulose-based dialyzers suggest that 
sales of synthetic dialyzers will grow further in the years 
to come. Our pioneering work in the development and 
production of synthetic dialyzers laid the foundation 
and defined the course that is now being followed by 
other major competitors.

Dialysis machines constitute another key segment of 
Fresenius Medical Care’s product business, in which we 
also hold a leading position. Of about 65,000 new dialy-

Table 02.1.9 MArkeT PoSiTion in MAJor ProdUcT GroUPS 

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3

Dialyzers Fresenius Medical Care Gambro Asahi

Dialysis machines Fresenius Medical Care Gambro Nikkiso

Hemodialysis concentrates Fresenius Medical Care Fuso Gambro

Bloodlines Fresenius Medical Care Gambro kawasumi

peritoneal dialysis products Baxter Fresenius Medical Care pisa
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sis machines sold in 2008, more than 55 % were produced 
by Fresenius Medical Care. We continued this develop-
ment with the introduction of the series of hemodialy-
sis machines – the 5008 in 2005 and the 5008S in 2008 – 
in the international market. Thanks to their innovative 
user interface and technologies that set new standards 
in dialysis, the 5008 and the 5008S found a high level of 
acceptance. The new machines not only reinforce our 
strong market position, but also provide excellent pros-
pects for future market share growth. 

In the U.S., our largest business region, our market share 
in these two product groups – dialyzers and dialysis 
machines – exceeded 70 % of the independent market. 
We define the independent market as all dialysis clinics 
that do not belong to a major U.S.-wide dialysis care 
provider, such as Fresenius Medical Care or Davita.
Sales of our 2008K dialysis machine grew by more than 
14 % in 2008. This dialysis machine is the leading dialysis 
system in the U.S.; we have sold more than 15,000 units 
of this machine there. Again, dialyzers also outpaced 
average growth in the U.S., where we achieved record 
figures by selling more than 30 million dialyzers. 

The number of peritoneal dialysis patients grew by 
about 7 % to around 190,000 worldwide; the number of 
patients treated with our products increased to more 
than 35,000. Worldwide, we hold an 18 % share of this 
market, which is still dominated by Baxter. Our market 
share in the U.S. was 26 %. Further information on our 
position in the home therapies market, which comprises 
peritoneal dialysis and home hemodialysis, can be found 
in the “Home Dialysis” section beginning on page 100.

events significant for Business  
develoPMent

acquisitions and divestMents
Our investment strategy remained largely unchanged in 
the last financial year. We further invested in our future 
growth by expanding our clinic network and produc-
tion capacities. In 2008 we spent a total of $ 218 million 
on acquisitions; investments totaled $ 673 million. Indu-
vidual acquisitions and disinvestments play a secondary 
role in this part. 

collaBorations
In July 2008, we concluded two special and independent 
licensing and sales agreements enabling us to market 
and sell Galencia Ltd.’s and Luitpold pharmaceuticals, 
Inc.’s intravenous iron preparations venofer and Ferinject 
for dialysis treatment in the U.S. and in certain European 
and Middle Eastern countries. The drugs are used to 
treat anemia in dialysis patients. venofer is the world’s 
top-selling iron preparation. The contracts encompass 
all corresponding activities for the two products in the 
field of dialysis and took effect as of January 1, 2009. 
On the basis of our ten-year contract for North America, 
Luitpold will produce the products for Fresenius Medical 
Care. Galenica and its partners will retain sole responsi-
bility for marketing the products in other medical areas. 
The market volume for intravenous iron preparations in 
2008 is estimated at more than $ 800 million worldwide. 
Further information can be found in the section “renal 
Drugs” on page 100. 

Business environMent
The business environment as well as the legal conditions 
that are particularly relevant to our business remained 
virtually unchanged in 2008. A special situation arose in 
the U.S. with the drug Heparin, an anticoagulant sub-
stance. In February 2008, one of the manufacturers of 
Heparin, the U.S. company Baxter, began taking the 
product off the market after impurities were found in 
the production process. In the following months, the 
sole remaining manufacturer of the product, APP pharma-
ceuticals, raised the price of Heparin significantly. The 
higher prices were not offset by higher reimbursement 
rates, and so the price increase had a direct negative 
effect on the earnings situation of our clinics and on 
our margins. 

In portugal, a new reimbursement model was introduced 
at the beginning of the second quarter. “Comprehen-
sive price payment” is an integrated, quality-driven ap-
proach that bundles a variety of dialysis-related services 
and products. It requires the successful implementation 
of an integrated disease management model in order 
to provide comprehensive patient care while at the same 
time improving quality and boosting the efficiency of 
the health system. Including the new additional services 
in this reimbursement model, the Company expects the 
reimbursement rate to increase significantly. For more 
information please refer to the section “New reim-
bursement Models” on page 101. 
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suMMarY
There were no further major events in 2008 with a sig-
nificant influence on the operating business or the legal 
structure of Fresenius Medical Care. In the year under 
review, Fresenius Medical Care continued its extraordi-
narily positive development from last year, achieving 
record revenues and earnings. All regions and segments 
contributed to this result.

coMParison of the actual Business  
results With forecasts

fresenius Medical care can look back on another very 
successful business year. We improved our results 
again in all key performance indicators and achieved 
record revenue and earnings. as a result, we reached 
or in some cases even exceeded our ambitious targets 
for 2008, although the business environment changed 
significantly and even worsened in part. for example, 
our operating business was impacted more than usual 
by the strong fluctuations in the currency exchange 
rate. 

2008 was a very successful year for Fresenius Medical 
Care. At the beginning of the year, we expected reve-
nue of about $ 10.4 billion, 7 % more than in 2007. In 
fact, we grew our revenue to more than $ 10.6 billion, 
up 9 % year on year and thus above our target. 

Originally, we expected our net income for 2008 to be 
in the range from $ 805 million to $ 825 million, which 
would have meant a growth of 12 % to 15 % on a year-
to-year basis. At the end of 2008, our net income to-
taled $ 818 million, at the upper end of the envisaged 
spectrum. As expected, there were no one-time effects 
in 2008. 

The effective tax rate was 36.6 % in the year under 
review, better than we had anticipated. The expected 
continuous growth of the dividend is reflected in our 
dividend proposal: pending approval by the General 
Meeting, the dividend per ordinary share will increase 
by 7 % to € 0.58. More information on this can be found 
in the “Dividend” section from page 37 onwards. 

At the beginning of the year, we expected our capital 
expenditures and acquisition spending to total approxi-

mately $ 800 million to $ 1 billion. $ 650 million to $ 750 
million were to be used for capital expenditures, and 
the remaining amount for acquisitions. In line and as 
planned, we spent $ 891 million on capital expenditures 
and acquisitions in 2008; $ 673 million were used for 
capital expenditures and $ 218 million for acquisitions. 

The operating cash flow – driven by earnings perform-
ance and ongoing good management of accounts  
receivable – was expected to be within the target range 
of 10 % of total revenue. In 2008, the operating cash 
flow totaled about $ 1.02 billion or approximately 10 % 
of total revenue, thus meeting our expectations. 

According to our forecast, the debt / EBITDA ratio was to 
reach a level below 2.8 by the end of 2008. We already 
achieved this target in the third quarter. The debt /
EBITDA ratio was 2.69 at the end of 2008. 

At the end of the year under review, the number of  
employees at Fresenius Medical Care ( full-time equiva-
lents ) had increased to 64,666 from 61,406 at the end of 
2007, thus almost reaching our forecast figure of 65,000. 
The continued strong organic growth of the dialysis 
services business in all regions and the numerous  
acquisitions in Europe and Asia were key contributing 
factors. 

research and development expenditures – to boost and 
enhance Fresenius Medical Care’s ability to adapt to  
future requirements – were at about $ 80 million and 
within our expectations. The field of dialysis products is 
generally characterized by ongoing efforts to develop 
existing product groups. Details can be found from page 76 
onwards in the “research and Development” section. 

The development of the general economy was marked 
by a moderate upswing in the first half of the year,  
followed by a significant downswing. The net gross  
domestic product in all important regions grew com-
pared to the previous year. The economies of emerging 
markets grew more strongly than the U.S. and European 
markets, which are most important for us in terms of 
their share of our sales volume. However, Fresenius 
Medical Care’s dialysis business is less dependent on 
economic cycles than other industries. The dialysis  
market developed positively as we expected: the  
market volume was up by approximately 5 %, and the 
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number of patients grew by around 7 %. In terms of the 
distribution of dialysis patients according to treatment 
method, there was no significant changes vis-à-vis the 
previous year. Hemodialysis remained by far the most 
important method used to treat chronic kidney failure.

the ManageMent’s general assessMent 
of Business PerforMance

2008 was an exceptionally successful year for our com-
pany. revenue and earnings climbed to record levels. 
We achieved, and in same cases surpassed, all our main 
objectives set at the beginning of the year.

Our company experienced stronger growth than the  
dialysis industry as a whole. As a result, we managed  

to increase our share of the market. We maintained  
our position as market leaders in North America, our 
biggest market by far. We also recorded significant  
revenue growth in Europe, Latin America and Asia,  
reinforcing our market position in these regions. 

Fresenius Medical Care’s profitability continued to  
increase in the year under review. There were improve-
ments in all relevant key figures. This has to be seen in 
conjunction with our ongoing high investment in our 
company: we maintained existing clinics, equipped new 
ones and expanded production capacities. In addition, 
important cooperative ventures in the field of intrave-
nous iron preparations, were an important milestone 
for our dialysis drug strategy. 

Table 02.1.10 oBJecTiVeS And reSUlTS for 2008

Results 2008 Objectives 2008 Ob-
jective 

reached

revenue + 9 % to $ 10.6 bil. + 7 % to > $ 10.4 bil. ✓

Net income + 14 % to $ 818 mil. + 12 % – 15 % to $ 805 – 825 mil. ✓

Dividend 7 % per ordinary share to € 0.581 Continuous increase ✓

Capital expenditures $ 673 mil. $ 650 – 750 mil. ✓

Acquisitions $ 215 mil. $ 150 – 250 mil. ✓

Tax rate 36.6 % 38 % – 39 % ✓

Debt / EBITDA r atio 2.69 < 2.8 ✓

Number of employees2 64,666 More than 65,000  

research and 
development expenditures $ 80 mil. ~ $ 80 mil. ✓

product innovations e.g. 5008S dialysis machine
Further expansion of  

product and service range ✓

1Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.
2Full-time equivalents

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
62

   I



results of oPerations, financial situation, 

assets and liaBilities

 

 02.2   

results of oPerations

2008 was another successful business year, especially 
considering the generally difficult economic situation 
worldwide. We achieved and partially exceeded our  
annual targets, yielding record numbers in revenue 
and income. every region and segment contributed  
to our growth and consequently to our consolidated 
market position in nearly every business area. 

revenue
In 2008, Fresenius Medical Care once again achieved 
a significant gain in revenue of 9 % to $ 10.61 billion. In 
constant currency, the gain was 8 %; organic revenue 
increased by 7 % and acquisitions grew by 1 %. 

In 2008, dialysis services, with 73 % ( 2007: 74 % ), ac-
counted for the majority of revenue. Meanwhile, 27 % 
of our revenue went to dialysis products ( 2007: 26 % ). 

We gained 7 % in worldwide revenue for dialysis services 
( $7.74 billion ) in 2008. The revenue increase resulted 
from organic growth of 6 % and exchange rate effects 
of 1 %. 

The core of our dialysis services is the provision of high-
quality treatments in our dialysis clinics. Therefore, the 
number of dialysis treatments provided is a key indica-
tor in the revenue development of this business seg-
ment. At the end of 2008, we operated about 2,400 
dialysis clinics, 7 % more than at the end of 2007. At 
the same time, Fresenius Medical Care treated more 
than 184,000 patients, up 6 % from the previous year. 
The number of treatments in 2008 grew by 5 % to ap-
proximately 27.87 million. 

revenue from dialysis products rose by 15 % ( 11 % in 
constant currency ) to $ 2.87 billion. The main reasons 
for the gain were increased sales of hemodialysis ma-
chines, dialyzers, blood lines, concentrates, products 
for peritoneal dialysis as well as higher revenues from 
the phosphate binding drug phosLo and revenue from 
intravenous iron products, which are the subject of the 
new license agreements. Including sales to our own  
dialysis clinics, revenue from dialysis products rose by 
14 % to $ 3.73 billion.

As in previous years, the majority of dialysis services by 
far were provided in North America ( 89 % ). Due to the 

Table 02.2.1 reVenUe BY SeGMenT

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change

north America    

Dialysis products 758 661 15 %

Dialysis services 6,247 6,002 4 %

ToTAl 7,005 6,663 5 %

international    

Dialysis products 2,117 1,846 15 %

Dialysis services 1,490 1,211 23 %

ToTAl 3,607 3,057 18 %

Worldwide    

Dialysis products 2,875 2,507 15 %

Dialysis services 7,737 7,213 7 %

ToTAl 10,612 9,720 9 %
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strong expansion of our clinic network, the focus of the 
International segment experienced a slight shift to the 
services business; however, product sales still dominate 
this segment with 59 % of revenue. The revenue distri-
bution of dialysis services and products in North Amer-
ica differs from that of the International region due to 
several reasons. One of the main reasons is the different 
development and structure of local healthcare systems. 
For example, in major dialysis markets such as Germany 
and Japan, extensive legal restrictions are imposed on 
the operation of dialysis clinics by private companies 
such as Fresenius Medical Care. This limits the expansion 
of our clinic network in these countries. Furthermore, 
we accelerated the expansion of our dialysis service 
business in North America since Fresenius Medical Care 
was founded in 1996 and the aquisition of National 
Medical Care ( NMC ).

Both segments – North America and International – 
contributed to revenue growth in 2008. 

revenue in North America rose by 5 % to $ 7.01 billion. 
Organic revenue growth was also 5 %. North America 
remains the most important business region for Fresenius 
Medical Care. In 2008, 66 % of our total revenue was 
derived from this region; in 2007, it was 69 %. 

revenue from the dialysis services business in North 
America increased by 4 % to $ 6.25 billion. Organic 
growth was 4 %. The average reimbursement rate per 
treatment in the U.S. – our main market – rose from 
$ 327 to $ 330 in 2008. The main reason for this rise was 
an increase in commercial payer revenue. 

Table 02.2.2 PATienTS

2008 2007 Change

North America 125,857 121,431 4 %

Europe  / Middle E ast /Africa 29,841 26,902 11 %

Latin America 19,230 17,741 8 %

Asia-pacific 9,158 7,789 18 %

ToTAl 184,086 173,863 6 %

Table 02.2.3 TreATMenTS

Table 02.2.4 clinicS

in millions 2008 2007 Change

North America 19.15 18.45 4 %

Europe  / Middle E ast /Africa 4.46 4.07 10 %

Latin America 2.92 2.71 8 %

Asia-pacific 1.34 1.21 11 %

ToTAl 27.87 26.44 5 %

2008 2007 Change

North America 1,686 1,602 5 %

Europe  / Middle E ast /Africa 400 362 10 %

Latin America 177 169 5 %

Asia-pacific 125 105 19 %

ToTAl 2,388 2,238 7 %
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Sales development of dialysis products was also extremely 
successful. In the North America segment, this includes 
products for hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis, as 
well as the dialysis drug phosLo and newly licensed in-
travenous iron products. revenue from dialysis products 
grew by 15 % to $ 758 million, which was due to strong 
sales of nearly all products in our product portfolio. 

The International segment is comprised of all business 
regions except North America. In 2008, Fresenius Medical 
Care generated approximately 34 % of its total revenue 
in this segment. This represents a significant increase 
from the previous year ( 31 % ). revenue grew by 18 % 
( 13 % in constant currency ) to $ 3.61 billion in 2008. 
Organic revenue growth was 12 % and acquisitions 
accounted for 1 % of revenue growth. 

Dialysis services revenue in the International segment 
increased by 23 % ( 18 % in constant currency ) to $ 1.49 
billion. Dialysis products sales rose by 15 % to $ 2.12 bil-
lion ( 10% in constant currency ), due to continued high 
demand for dialysis machines, dialyzers and peritoneal 
dialysis products. 

The largest business region in the International segment 
is Europe / Middle East /Africa. revenue in this region 
rose by 19 % to $ 2.51 billion. In constant currency, reve-
nue growth was 12 %. The region accounted for 24 % of 
total revenue ( 2007: 22 % ). Thanks to our positive busi-
ness performance in Europe, we have confirmed and 
expanded our position as the region’s largest provider 
of dialysis services and products. At the end of the 
2008, we provided dialysis services to nearly 30,000 pa-

Table 02.2.6 reVenUe BY reGion

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change

North America 7,005 6,663 5 %

Europe  / Middle E ast /Africa 2,510 2,116 19 %

Latin America 491 400 23 %

Asia-pacific 606 541 12 %

ToTAl 10,612 9,720 9 %

Table 02.2.5 reVenUe deVeloPMenT BY SeGMenT 

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change Organic 
growth

Currency trans- 
lation effects

Acquisitions / 
Divestments

Percentage of 
total revenue

North America 7,005 6,663 5 % 5 % – – 66 %

International 3,607 3,057 18 % 12 % 5 % 1 % ( net ) 34 %

ToTAl 10,612 9,720 9 % 7 % 1 % 1 % ( net ) 100 %

Chart 02.2.1 reVenUe BY reGion 2008

4 % Latin America

6 % Asia-pacific

24 % E urope / Middle E ast /Africa

66 % North America
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tients in 400 dialysis clinics; an increase of nearly 3,000 
patients ( +11 % ) compared to the previous year. In 2008, 
our revenue from dialysis services was $ 948 million, up 
25 % from the previous year. Adjusted for exchange rate 
effects, revenue rose by 18 %. revenue from dialysis 
products was $ 1.56 billion, an increase of 15 % ( 9 % in 
constant currency ). 

Business performance in Latin America was also positive. 
revenue grew by 23 % to $ 491 million, 19 % in constant 
currency. revenue generated in Latin American accounted 
for 4 % of our total revenue, as in the previous year. 
Dialysis services revenue rose by 25 % ( 22 % in constant 
currency ) to $ 330 million. We generated $ 161 million 
from dialysis product sales, an increase of 18% over 
2007 ( 12 % in constant currency ). At the end of 2008, we 
treated more than 19,000 patients in 177 dialysis clinics 
in this business region. 

The Asia-pacific region recorded revenue growth of 12 % 
to $ 606 million. In constant currency, growth was 11 %. 
This region accounted for 6 % of Fresenius Medical 
Care’s total revenue ( 2007: 5 % ). revenue from dialysis 
services increased by 13 % ( 10 % in constant currency ) 
to about $ 212 million. In 2008, dialysis product revenue 
in this region increased by 11 % ( 11 % in constant 
currency ) to $ 394 million. 

Order volume is not a significant indicator for Fresenius 
Medical Care since nearly 75 % of its business model 
consists of regularly provided services. In addition, our 

product business mainly covers single-use products, 
whereas project-related orders could lead to significant 
changes in order volumes in the reporting period. As a 
result, Fresenius Medical Care does not report on the 
basis of this indicator. 

earnings 
eBitda. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization ( EBITDA ) increased by 7 % to $ 2.09 bil-
lion in 2008 ( 2007: $ 1.94 billion ). 

oPerating incoMe. ( EBIT, earnings before interest 
and taxes ). Operating income also increased in 2008 by 
6 % to $ 1.67 billion. The operating margin was 15.8 % 
and lower than the previous year’s figure of 16.3 %. The 
decline was among others due to higher personnel 
costs, lower reimbursement rates for EPO, start-up costs 
for new clinics and unfavorable exchange rate effects. 
Furthermore, depreciation increased as we expanded 
our production capacities due to continuous high de-
mand for our products. Due to these additional capaci-
ties, we were able to perform our regular maintenance 
program at our European plants during the summer 
break of this year. Whereas last year, the program had 
to be shortened because capacity limits had been 
reached, and resulted in a positive effect on the operat-
ing margin. The strong revenue growth impacted oper-
ating margins positively which, was driven by higher re-
imbursement rates for dialysis services, as well as con-
tinued above market growth rates for dialysis product 
sales. 

Chart 02.2.2 QUArTerlY deVeloPMenT of reVenUe

in $ millions 2,000 2,800

2008, 1st Quarter

2007, 1st Ouarter

2008, 2nd Quarter

2007, 2nd Ouarter
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2007, 4th Ouarter
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In the North America segment, operating income rose 
by 3 % to $ 1.17 billion in 2008. The operating margin 
was 16.7 % compared to 17 % in 2007. The moderate 
decrease is mainly due to increased personnel costs and 
other operating costs as well as lower reimbursement 
rates for. This was partially compensated by increased 
commercial payor revenue. 

In the International segment, we increased our operat-
ing income by 13 % to $ 616 million. This mainly resulted 
from an increase in product sales and treatment vol-
umes as well as higher revenue per treatment. The  
operating margin was 17.1 %, which was also below 
previous year’s figure of 17.8 %. This was primarily due 
to accelerated growth in the dialysis services business 
with lower margins, start-up costs for new clinics, 

higher depreciation due to capacity expansion, as well 
as foreign currency transaction effects.

Corporate costs for our central administration also in-
creased, primarily as the result of the renal Solutions, 
Inc. acquisition because such costs are not accounted 
for in the EBITDA and EBIT of the International and North 
America business segments. As such costs are not con-
trolled by and are not under the cognizance of the indi-
vidual business segments, Fresenius Medical Care is of 
the opinion that these costs are not controlled by the 
individual business segments. They mainly account for 
corporate expenses such as for accounting and finance 
as well as business segment, research and development 
costs. The total corporate operating costs amounted to 
$ 112 million in 2008 compared to $ 94 million in 2007. 

Table 02.2.7 oPerATinG incoMe (eBiT)

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change

North America 1,168 1,130 3 %

International 616 544 13 %

Corporate (112) (94) 19 %

ToTAl 1,672 1,580 6 %

Table 02.2.8 ABBreViATed incoMe STATeMenT

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change

Net revenue 10,612 9,720 9 %

Costs of revenue 6,983 6,364 10 %

GroSS ProfiTS 3,629 3,356 8 %

in % of revenue 34.2 34.5 –

oPerATinG incoMe ( eBiT ) 1,672 1,580 6 %

Interest e xpense ( net ) 336 371 – 9 %

eArninGS Before TAxeS 1,336 1,209 10 %

neT incoMe 818 717 14 %
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earnings Before taxes. Increased to $ 1.34 billion, 
up 10 % from the previous year ( $ 1.21 billion ).

net incoMe. In 2008, net income rose by 14 % to $ 818 
million ( 2007: $ 717 million ).

develoPMent of other MaJor iteMs in the 
incoMe stateMent 
gross Profit. Increased to $ 3.63 billion in 2008, up 
8 % compared to 2007. During the same period, the gross 
profit margin fell from 34.5 % to 34.2 %. The slightly 
lower margin was mainly due to higher personnel costs 
and other increased costs, especially for Heparin, but 
also due to lower reimbursement rates for EPO and 
decreased dosage of EPO in North America. Both seg-
ments recorded higher depreciation due to expanded 
production capacities in 2008. 

Selling, general and administrative ( SG&A ) expenses 
grew by 10 % to $ 1.88 billion ( 2007: $ 1.71 billion ). These 
expenses corresponded to 17.7 % of revenue, a slight 
increase from the previous year ( 2007: 17.6 % ). The 
increased revenue had a favorable impact, however, 
this was partially offset by higher personnel costs and 
higher Corporate costs. 

Depreciation and amortization in 2008 was $ 416 million, 
compared to $ 363 million in the previous year. This 
increase resulted from higher investment activity, partic-
ularly as a result of our worldwide production capacity 
expansion.

In 2008, research and development expenditure was $ 80 
million ( 2007: $ 67 million ). This increase was mainly due 
to additional costs for research and development pro-
grams required to develop hemodialysis machines, field 
testing of new products as well as expenses for home 
dialysis research projects. 

net interest exPense. Net interest expense in 2008 
amounted to $ 336 million compared to $ 371 million in 
2007. This positive development was primarily due to 
lower average interest rates in connection with changes 
in the financing structure, resulting from the repayment 
of a portion of our trust preferred securities. More  
information on our financial situation can be found 
starting on page 69 as well as in note 9 of the financial 
report starting on page 70.

Chart 02.2.3 QUArTerlY deVeloPMenT of neT incoMe

in $ millions 150 220

2008, 1st Quarter

2007, 1st quarter

2008, 2nd Quarter

2007, 2nd quarter

2008, 3rd Quarter

2007, 3rd quarter

2008, 4th Quarter

2007, 4th quarter

186  

211  

206  

214  

160  

179  

181  

197  
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tax rate. Income tax expense in 2008 was $ 489 million, 
compared to $ 466 million in the previous year. This cor-
responds to an effective tax rate of 36.6 % ( 2007: 38.5 % ). 
The lower tax rate was mainly due to the German cor-
porate tax reform that became effective on January 1, 
2008.

earnings Per share. Earnings per share ( EPS ) grew 
by 13 % in 2008 to $ 2.75 per ordinary share compared 
to $ 2.43 in 2007. These figures also apply to our ordi-
nary American Depository Shares ( ADS ), since the rela-
tionship between ordinary share and ordinary ADS has 
been 1:1 since the share split in 2007. The weighted 
average number of shares outstanding was approxi-
mately 297.03 million in 2008 ( 2007: 295.67 million ). Of 
this number, 293.23 million were ordinary shares ( 2007: 
291.93 million ). The increase in the number of outstand-
ing shares was due to the exercise of stock options.  
Detailed information on earnings per share is listed  
on page 85 of the financial report. 

value added stateMent
The value added statement shows Fresenius Medical 
Care’s total economic output in 2008. All goods and 
services purchased as well as depreciation and amorti-
zation have been subtracted. Fresenius Medical Care’s 

value added was $ 5.2 billion in 2008 ( 2007: $ 4.8 billion ), 
an increase of 8 % compared to the previous year. Of 
this amount, $ 3.5 billion or 67 % was attributable to 
our employees, and 9 %, was attributable for the state. 
About $ 362 million or 7 % went to lenders, while $ 283 
million ( approximately. 6 % ) went to shareholders and 
minority interest holders. The company retained $ 564 
million for reinvestment. 

financial situation

Despite considerable uncertainty on the financial mar-
kets, our investment and financing strategy did not 
change in 2008. As such our business model allows for 
a stable and high cash flow, thereby enabling us to 
have a more consistent and higher level of borrowing 
than other industries. In addition, we optimized our 
 financing structure at an early stage, prior to the start 
of the financial crisis, by issuing senior notes and by 
 redeeming trust preferred securities. As a result, no 
 significant refinancing will be required before 2011. 
Our refinancing options remain stable and flexible and 
we will continue our investment plans for the current 
business year. 

Table 02.2.9 VAlUe Added STATeMenT

in $ millions 2008 2007

creation   

Company output 10,668 100 % 9,796 100 %

Materials and services purchased (5,049) – 47 % (4,635) – 47 %

Gross value added 5,619 53 % 5,161 53 %

Depreciation and amortization (415) – 4 % (363) – 4 %

neT VAlUe Added 5,204 49 % 4,798 49 %

distribution1     

Employees 3,506 67 % 3,189 67 %

State 489 9 % 466 10 %

Lenders 362 7 % 400 8 %

Shareholders & minority interest holders 283 6 % 245 5 %

Company 564 11 % 498 10 %

neT VAlUe Added 5,204 100 % 4,798 100 %

1 Provided the profit distribution for 2008 is accepted by the Annual General Meeting.
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financial ManageMent Policies and goals
Ensuring our financial flexibility is key to Fresenius  
Medical Care’s financing strategy. This is achieved 
through the use of a wide range of financial instruments 
as well as diversification of investors and banks. Our 
maturity profile is characterized by diversification of 
maturities with a high amount of medium-term and 
long-term financing options. 
 
In selecting financial instruments, we consider market 
capacity, financing costs, investor diversification, flexi-
bility, qualification requirements and maturities. At the 
same time, we focus on financing cost optimization.

Fresenius Medical Care manages its financing needs 
through a combination of operating cash flow as well 
as short, medium, and long-term debt. In addition to 
the financing instruments utilized, Fresenius Medical 
Care has a sufficient financial leverage in the form of 
syndicated lines of credit, which can be utilized if 
needed. 

Fresenius Medical Care uses the debt / EBITDA ratio ( lev-
erage ratio ) as a guideline for its long-term financial 
planning. This ratio compares the Company’s financial 
liabilities ( debt ) with earnings before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA ) and other non-
cash items. Fresenius Medical Care has a strong position 
in the growing global dialysis markets, which is consid-
ered non-cyclical. The dialysis industry can be charac-

terized by stable cash flows, as most clients have high 
credit worthiness. Therefore, high, stable, and planna-
ble strong cash flows can be achieved. These allow for 
an appropriate ratio of debt, i.e. a balanced combina-
tion of financial debt liabilities. At the end of 2008, the 
debt / EBITDA ratio was 2.69 compared to 2.84 in the 
previous year. For further information, please see the 
“Strategy, Objectives, and Corporate Management” 
section, starting on page 44. 

Fresenius Medical Care has sufficient financial resources, 
due to only partially used lines of credits and the  
accounts receivable facility, which will be maintained  
in the years to come. We aim to keep committed and 
unutilized credit facilities of at least $ 500 million.

In addition, we are focusing on reducing financing in-
struments with our financing activities in the coming 
years. For this reason, the subordinated trust-preferred 
securities issued by Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust 
II and III, which matured in February 2008, were refi-
nanced with existing senior credit facilities instead of  
issuance of new subordinated securities. Our medium-
term goal is to create a financing portfolio containing 
only of senior and unsecured debt instruments.

For detailed information on financing, please see the  
financial report section “Liquidity and Capital resources”, 
starting on page 20, notes 8 and 9, and in the “Outlook” 
report on page 112. 

1 At the beginning, before repayments

Table 02.2.10 MediUM­TerM­ And lonG­TerM finAncinG inSTrUMenTS

Year issued Amount in mil. Coupon in % Maturity

Credit Agreement Term Loan A 2006 1,850 $1 – 31.03.2011

Credit Agreement Term Loan B 2006 1,750 $1 – 31.03.2013

Senior N otes 2007 – 2017 2007 500 $ 6 7/8 % 15.07.2017

Trust preferred Securities Iv 2001 225 $ 7 7/8 % 15.06.2011

Trust preferred Securities v 2001 300 € 7 3/8 % 15.06.2011

Notes 2005 200 € – 27.07.2009
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rating
In the second quarter of 2008, the rating agency Moody’s 
upgraded the corporate rating and credit rating of  
Fresenius Medical Care. Moody’s ratings are all based 
on a stable outlook. 

At the beginning of the third quarter, Standard & poor’s 
downgraded the outlook rating of Fresenius Medical 
Care from positive to negative in connection with the 
APP acquisition through Fresenius SE. All other ratings 
were confirmed. 

effect of off-Balance-sheet financing  
instruMents on the financial Position and 
assets and liaBilities 
Fresenius Medical Care is not involved in any off-bal-
ance-sheet transactions that could have a significant  
effect on the company’s financial situation, expenses  
or earnings, profit and loss position, liquidity, invest-
ments, assets or capitalization. 

liquiditY analYsis
For detailed information on liquidity, please see the  
“Liquidity and Capital resources” section of the finan-
cial report, starting on page 20. 

dividends
Fresenius Medical Care will propose the twelfth consec-
utive dividend increase to the Annual General Meeting. 
A dividend of € 0.58 per ordinary share ( 2007: € 0.54 ) and 
€ 0.60 per preference share ( 2007: € 0.56 ) will be proposed 
for the business year 2008. This represents an increase 
of 7 % in both cases. The total dividend payout is ex-

pected to be approximately € 173 million ( 2007: € 160 mil-
lion ). For further information on dividends, please see 
the section “To Our Shareholders”, starting on page 37. 

investMents and acquisitions
The majority of the investment expenditure went to 
maintenance of existing clinics and setup of new clinics. 
In addition, funds were invested in maintaining and  
expanding production facilities in North America,  
Germany, Japan, and France. Capitalization of dialysis 
machines for customers, primarily in the International 
segment, also took up a portion of the investment  
expenditure. These investments are financed through 
operating cash flow or through existing or new credit 
facilities. 

In 2008, Fresenius Medical Care spent $ 1,011 million on 
investments, acquisitions and the purchase of intangible 
assets; of this amount, $ 964 million were cash transac-
tions, of which $ 498 million went to the North America 
segment, $ 359 million to the International segment and 
the Corporate segment accounted for $ 107 million. This 
amount includes a loan granted to Fresenius SE in the 
amount of $ 50 million. 

A total of $ 673 million in net investment went to fixed 
assets, compared to $ 543 million in the previous year. A 
large portion of the investment expenditure – $ 398 mil-
lion – went to maintaining existing clinics and set up of 
new clinics. Additionally, $ 195 million in investment ex-
penditure went to maintaining and expanding produc-
tion capacities, mainly in Germany and North America 
as well as in Japan and France. Another $ 94 million was 

Table 02.2.11 rATinGS

Standard & Poor’s Moody’s Fitch

Corporate credit rating BB Ba1 BB

Outlook negative stable negative

Senior secured debt BBB– Baa3 BBB–

Senior unsecured debt BB+ Ba2 not rated

Subordinated debt BB Ba3 B+
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invested in the capitalization of dialysis machines  
provided to customers by our distribution companies, 
primarily in the International segment. Investments in 
fixed assets accounted for about 6 % of total revenue 
and hence remained unchanged from the previous year.  
 
About 54 % of the net investment amount went to 
expansion investments, while 46 % was spent on main-
taining existing production sites and dialysis clinics. 

We invested approx. 57 % in North America, followed 
by 34 % in Europe, 5 % in the Asia-pacific region and 4 % 
in Latin America.

In 2008, $ 225 million was spent on licenses and acquisi-
tions, primarily in the area of dialysis clinics. Of this 
amount, $ 113 million went to North America; $ 57 mil-
lion was spent for the International segment and $ 57 
million in the Corporate segment. In addition, a loan  

of $ 50 million was granted to Fresenius SE. We also 
recorded receipts in the amount of $ 59 million in con-
nection with divestitures. 

Overall, approximately $ 891 million was spent for 
investment activities and acquisitions in 2008, taking 
into account disinvestments. An increase of $ 114 mil-
lion compared to the previous year. 

cash floW analYsis
Our operating cash in 2008 was $ 1.02 billion, which was 
lower by 15 % from 2007 ( $ 1.20 billion ). The decline was 
due to an increase in the days sales outstanding ( DSO ) 
as well as other charges to the working capital; however, 
the decrease was partially offset by increased earnings. 
The cash inflow was used for investments ( property, 
plant and equipment and acquisitions ). 

Table 02.2.12 neT inVeSTMenTS And AcQUiSiTionS BY SeGMenT

in $ millions 2008 2007 Thereof  
property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Thereof   
acquisitions,  

intangible  
assets and 

other 
investments 

Thereof   
divestitures

Change % of total

North America 444 347 384 113 53 97 50 %

International 340 310 289 57 6 30 38 %

Corporate 107 120 – 107 – (13) 12 %

ToTAl 891 777 673 277 59 114 100 %

Chart 02.2.4 neT cAPiTAl exPendiTUre on ProPerTY, PlAnT And eQUiPMenT BY reGion

4 % Latin America

5 % Asia-pacific

34 % E urope / Middle E ast /Africa

57 % North America
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A detailed description of additional factors is listed in 
the financial report in the “Liquidity and Capital  
resources” section, starting on page 20. 

In 2008, we already saw some slight delays in the pay-
ment patterns of our clients worldwide. At the end of 
2008, the days sales outstanding in North America rose 
by two days to 60 days; outside of North America, it 
rose by three days to 107 days. Overall, the days sales 
outstanding increased by four days to 77 days com-
pared to the previous year. The increase in the North 
America segment was largely due to the launch of the 
in-licensed iron product venofer as well as due to de-
lays in reimbursement of dialysis services related to the 
introduction of new identification numbers for Medicare 
and Medicaid health care providers. The increase in the 

International segment mainly reflects delays in payment 
by state entities, which are affected by the current 
worldwide financial crisis. Since the majority of our re-
imbursement comes from public healthcare organiza-
tions and private insurers, we expect that most of our 
outstanding accounts will be collected in the near fu-
ture, although with a slight delay. Further information is 
listed in the following “Assets and Liabilities” section.

In 2008, our free cash flow, excluding acquisitions and 
dividends, was $ 343 million compared to $ 657 million in 
2007. After acquisition expenses of $ 218 million ( less 
divestitures ) and dividends amounted to $ 252 million, 
free cash flow was ₋ $ 127 million, compared to $ 235 mil-
lion in the previous year. For further information, please 
see the section “Investments and Acquisitions” on page 71.

Table 02.2.13 ABBreViATed STATeMenT of cASh floW

Table 02.2.14 dAYS SAleS oUTSTAndinG

in $ millions 2008 2007 Change

Cash at the beginning of the year 245 159 54 %

Cash from operating activities 1,016 1,200 – 15 %

Cash used in investing activities (891) (777) –

Cash from / used in financing activities (156) (341) –

Effect of exchange rate changes 8 4 100 %

Cash at the end of the year 222 245 – 9 %

Free cash flow 343 651 – 48 %

in days 2008 2007 Change

North America 60 58 2

International 107 104 3

ToTAl 77 73 4

Chart 02.2.5 oPerATinG cASh floW

in $ millions

2008 1,016

2007 1,200

  

 

A detailed representation can be found in the consolidated financial statements in the financial report beginning on page 46. 
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assets and liaBilities

in 2008, we recorded an increase in total assets and 
once again improved our asset situation. the key  
indicators of the balance sheet reflect the sustained 
growth and successful performance of our company.  

Balance sheet and asset situation
The Company’s total assets increased by 5 % from 
$ 14.17 billion to $ 14.92 billion. In constant currency, 
they grew by 7 %.

Fixed assets rose by 4 % ( + 5 % in constant currency ) to 
$ 10.71 billion at the end of the year. This corresponds 
to approximately 72 % of the company’s total assets, 
slightly below last year’s number of 73 %. The absolute 
increase in non-current assets was primarily due to  
investments in property, plant and equipment, the  
purchase of license and distribution rights for the com-
mercialization and the distribution of intravenous iron 
products of Galenica Ltd. and Luitpold pharmaceutical 
Inc.. As a result, the values of license and distribution 
agreements shown under intangible assets have in-
creased. For further information, please see the section 
“Events Significant for the Business Development”  
on page 71. 

Fixed assets include goodwill of $ 7.31 billion, primarily 
related to the acquisition of renal Care Group in 2005 
and the formation of Fresenius Medical Care in 1996. 
The slight increase in goodwill compared to the previ-
ous year’s amount of $ 7.25 billion was the result of 

acquisitions made in 2008, slightly offset by exchange 
rate effects. 

property, plant and equipment rose by 9 % to $ 2.24 billion 
in 2008, mainly due to capital expenditure of $ 687 mil-
lion less depreciation amounting to $ 368 million and 
exchange rate effects of $ 68 million. For more informa-
tion, please see the “Investments and Acquisitions”  
section and the financial report on page 60. 

Current assets increased by 9 % to $ 4.21 billion ( 13 % at 
constant currency ). This increase was mainly due to 
higher trade accounts receivable as well as an increase 
in prepaid expenses and other current assets and  
inventories. 

In 2008, the group’s inventories went up by 11 % to 
$ 707 million. In constant currency, the increase was 
15 %. This rise resulted from expanding our production 
capacities over the course of the year. In the previous 
year, inventory was reduced due to capacity shortages 
and reached to normal levels in 2008. In addition, we 
built up inventory as a result of our purchase of licenses 
for intravenous iron products. 

Accounts receivable grew by 7 % to $ 2.18 billion, an in-
crease of 13 % at constant currency. This was above the 
revenue growth of 9 % in 2008 and reflects the increase 
of the days sales outstanding. For further information, 
please see section “Financial Situation” starting on page 69.
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shareholders’ equitY further strengthened 
in 2008 
Shareholders’ equity rose by 7 % to $ 5.96 billion com-
pared to $ 5.58 billion in 2007. This increase was mainly 
due to net income of $ 818 million and proceeds from 
the exercise of stock options in the amount of $ 42 mil-
lion. The dividend payout for 2007 in the amount of 
$ 252 million and exchange rate effects of $ 171 million 
partially offset the shareholders equity. The equity ratio 
increased slightly by one percentage point to 40 % in 
2008. 

Debt amounted to $ 8.96 billion ( $ 8.60 billion in the pre-
vious year ). Financial liabilities in the amount of $ 5.74 

billion ( 2007: $ 5.64 billion ) included short-term liabilities 
of $ 1.14 billion ( 2007: $ 974 million ) as well as medium 
to long-term debt in the amount of $ 4.60 billion 
compared to $ 4.67 billion in 2007. In 2008, our financial 
liabilities amounted to 80 % compared to 77 % in the 
previous year. 

For the period the group has no significant accruals. 
The largest single accrual – amounting to $ 115 million – 
is for the settlement of fraudulent conveyance claims 
and all other legal matters in connection with the  
National Medical Care transaction in 1996 resulting 
from the bankruptcy of W.R. Grace. please see note 18 
of the financial report for further details.

Chart 02.2.6 BAlAnce SheeT STrUcTUre ­ ASSeTS

Chart 02.2.7 BAlAnce SheeT STrUcTUre – ShAreholderS’ eQUiTY And liABiliTieS

2008 $ 14,920 mil.

2007 $ 14,170 mil.

2008 $ 14,920 mil.

2007 $ 14,170 mil.

Accounts receivable

Non-current debt 

Non-current assets

Shareholders’ equity

 Inventories

Current debt

Other current assets 

A detailed representation can be found in the consolidated financial statements in the financial report from page 44. 

72 % 8 % 15 % 5 %

73 % 9 % 14 % 4 %

40 % 39 % 21 %

39 % 40 % 21 %
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research and develoPMent

Our Company’s business activities are aimed at achiev-
ing objectives on three levels. First, we seek to enhance 
the safety and quality of life of every single patient, and 
to improve their chance of survival. Second, we intend 
to offer our customers high-quality, reliable products – 
the best treatment at the lowest possible cost. And 
third, based on these two objectives, on a corporate 
level we want to maintain and expand our leading mar-
ket position. What these three goals have in common  
is quality. The groundwork for Fresenius Medical Care’s 
high-quality products and services is laid in our research 
and development ( R&D ) departments. This is where 
quality begins. Last year, we once again enhanced the 
performance and quality of our products and treatments 
through our ongoing R&D work, thus creating a basis 
for sustained growth of our Company in the future.

qualitY in research and develoPMent –  
a definition
High quality in dialysis treatment is not easy to guarantee, 
as dialysis is one of the most complex types of therapy. 
At the same time, it is a highly individual treatment that 
depends on many factors, which may be weighted dif-
ferently from patient to patient. For this reason, we de-
fine quality in research and development first and 
foremost via the result. This includes the quality of treat-
ment that can be achieved with our products and serv-
ices in the different areas of application and takes into 
account important aspects such as the safety and relia-
bility of our products to ensure patients’ well-being. 
High-quality treatment means better results and a bet-
ter quality of life for patients. Therapies that focus on 
quality from the outset lead to lower follow-up costs, 
say, for hospital treatments and stays. This ensures that 
quality remains affordable. Many of the products and 
treatment methods that stem from our development de-
partments take this as a point of departure. Secondly, 
quality can also be defined in terms of the path that 
takes us to this result: the structures and procedures in-
volved in the development process, and the availability 
of appropriately qualified staff. Company-specific regu-

lations as well as international standards and norms, 
which we achieve to the full extend possible with our 
research and development activities, provide a frame-
work for these two quality aspects. In this way, we can 
guarantee cost-efficient and high-quality product devel-
opment processes.

qualitY of treatMent and a ParadigM shift 
in reiMBurseMent
quality costs money ( see the “quality and Its Costs” 
section on page 78 ), but quality is also reimbursed. This is 
particularly true in portugal and the U.S., where a bundled 
reimbursement system was introduced last year. Thanks 
to this, patients will receive better care in the future.

For Fresenius Medical Care, these changed reimburse-
ment structures also promise advantages, opportunities 
and challenges in research and development. Thanks to 
our integrated business model, we are not only in a po-
sition to offer all the products and services specified in 
the “therapy bundle” in the required quality; we can 
also focus even more on further developing our range 
of products and services. Further information can be 
found in the section “New reimbursement Models” 
starting on page 101. 

qualitY in the develoPMent Process
Our research and development work is rooted in re-
sponsibility for our patients on the one hand, and ac-
countability to our Company on the other. Our aim is  
to do all that is technologically, medically and economi-
cally possible to enhance the length and quality of life 
of dialysis patients, which is still very limited, by shap-
ing the required processes so that they are as quick and 
effective as possible. To achieve these aims, we regu-
larly reassess our processes and priorities in research 
and development. In addition, we compare our ap-
proach with that of high-tech companies in other fields 
of technology and cooperate with them. This collabora-
tion benefits all those involved and helps us to continu-
ously review and improve our development processes 
and benchmark them against those of market leaders in 
other technologically sophisticated industries.

non-financial PerforMance indicators 02.3   
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Every new development at Fresenius Medical Care starts 
with an idea. This can be sparked either by a specific 
need on the market ( market pull ), or through techno-
logical advancements ( technology push ). Every product 
idea runs through a structured development process 
with clearly defined phases, so that only those ideas are 
pursued that actually create value for patients and users 
as well as for Fresenius Medical Care itself. Therefore, 
we examine and evaluate the planned product in terms 
of its market value, development costs, the resources 
required, and the technologies we need to manufacture 
the product. If the idea is still interesting “at second 
glance”, but it has not yet been clarified beyond doubt 
that it can be implemented and is suitable for the mar-
ket, a pre-development phase is added in which staff 
scrutinize the concept for any possible flaws. If the idea 
passes this test, it goes into the development phase. This 
involves several milestones: first, a functional model has 
to be approved, then in a later development phase a test 
model, and finally the development result, after which 
the go-ahead for the market launch is given by a special 
committee. Feedback from customers and users is also 
essential in the development process, as it allows us to 
keep their needs in view. 

Our goal of guaranteeing high-quality research and de-
velopment motivated us to put in place detailed guide-
lines for R&D at Fresenius Medical Care. These place great 
importance on compliance with safety norms and regu-
latory requirements, as well as on achieving outstanding 
development quality at the lowest possible cost. 

A special feature of the R&D work carried out in our 
Company is that we have to consider the circumstances 
in different regions and countries – for example regula-
tory conditions, legal, healthcare, and financing systems, 
and the habits of people who live there. For this reason 
our work is highly decentralized. In addition, we differ-
entiate our products and services according to the re-
gion: a dialysis machine can have a different design or 
differing functions in the individual countries. Therefore, 
quality can only be defined the same the world over at 
the highest level of meaning, as the quality of treatment. 
The actual details, however, can vary region by region. 

Development and production cycles also vary in length, 
depending on the kind of product. For example, it nor-
mally takes at least five years to develop a new generation 
of dialysis machines. The machine is then on the market 
for at least seven to eight years. But even during this 
time, we continually strive to improve it and to integrate 
new functions. Devices already in use may be retrofit-
ted to accommodate changes in minimum safety re-
quirements, for example, that are specified in national 
and international norms.

Enhancing the process safety of dialysis machines is a 
separate field of development. As with all extracorporeal 
treatment methods ( i.e. that take place outside of the 
body ), dialysis involves a number of risks that cannot be 
fully ruled out, such as blood loss or air infusion. In the 
worst case, they can lead to the death of the patient. 
As part of our continuous efforts to improve our prod-
ucts, we therefore work on developing additional 
methods and devices to reduce the risk of patients 
being harmed by technological error or human failure. 

With every dialysis treatment, not only the patient is 
subject to a calculated risk; we are too. Both medically 
and technologically, a degree of uncertainty remains 
during treatment. We see it as our duty to reduce this 
uncertainty as much as we can. To this end, we com-
prehensively document treatments and perform de-
tailed error analyses. For our products to be reliable, 
moreover, they must function without errors and be easy 
to operate. Consequently, we define exactly how the 
machines are to be applied and provide detailed infor-
mation on the intended use in the form of handbooks.

qualitY through qualifications
Innovative products and therapies at the highest level are 
key to Fresenius Medical Care’s success. The task of our 
R&D departments is to continually develop and improve 
our products and treatments. The largest is R&D Interna-
tional with 250 employees, most of whom are employed 
at our Schweinfurt and Bad Homburg sites. Smaller teams 
are also located in St. Wendel and in romania. In addi-
tion to R&D International, we have research and develop-
ment departments in North America and in the Asia- 
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pacific region, as well as at key production sites. All of 
these units are closely interlinked and cooperate on 
many projects. 

At the end of last year, a total of 415 employees ( full-
time equivalents ) worked on improving the quality of 
therapy in our research and development departments, 
roughly the same number as in the previous year. 

The members that make up our team reflect the variety 
of areas in research and development as it relates to 
renal replacement therapy. They include people from 
the medical profession as well as software specialists 
and economists. However, engineers make up the largest 
group of specialists in our offices and labs. Almost half 
of all our research and development employees are  
graduates from technical universities or universities of 
applied sciences. Added to these are other members of 
staff who have completed technical apprenticeships or 
graduated from universities. Holistic thinking is required 
in all of our development departments. To design a  
dialysis machine, employees must first understand the 
underlying medical processes – regardless of their original 
professional background.

Fresenius Medical Care’s R&D departments constantly 
observe medical advancements in the field of renal re-
placement therapy and even have a direct impact on 
them. The members of our R&D departments participate 
actively in public research discourse, attend expert  
scientific conferences, and cultivate direct and personal 
contact with customers and leading physicians.

Employees from our R&D departments sit on various 
committees, such as national or international commit-
tees to establish product and treatment standards, in 
which the legal foundations for our industry are laid. 
They work side by side with government organizations, 
medical professional associations and healthcare pro-
viders. This provides us with first-hand information on

regulatory issues which we can then implement quickly 
in new product features or functions. Of course, it also 
attests to the expertise ascribed to our staff outside the 
company. 

qualitY and its costs
Our research and development activities primarily serve 
to ensure and enhance the value of our products and 
services from the customer’s perspective. At the same 
time, the ongoing development of new and improved 
dialysis therapies and products is an integral part of  
our growth strategy. Our objective is to offer state-of-
the-art products at competitive prices, to stand out  
significantly from other providers in the market, and  
ultimately to increase sales. Last year, again, we managed 
to further boost the efficiency and quality of our prod-
ucts through our continuous research and development 
work. However, it is impossible to calculate the exact 
contribution of individual developments or innovations 
to revenue growth or to relate them to a given business 
year. As a rule, new products do not replace old ones, 
but the latter remain on the market. It takes several 
years to introduce a new product on all markets. At  
the same time, however, our products have a life-time 
spanning several years. 

In 2008, research and development expenditures 
amounted to $ 80 million, corresponding to around 
2.8 % of our total dialysis product sales. This means that 
our investments in the future of our products and serv-
ices grew significantly for the first time year-on-year 
( $ 67 million ). The main reason for this increase in ex-
penditure is the acquisition of renal Solutions, Inc. ( RSI ).

While our research and development expenditures are 
rather low compared to other companies in the health-
care sector, they are well within the range typically ob-
served in the dialysis industry. They are also sufficient, 
since our activities focus on continual improvements for 
users and patients rather than inventions.

Table 02.3.1 nUMBer of eMPloYeeS in r&d

Full-time equivalents 2008 2007

 ToTAl 415 372
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qualitY through innovation culture
The Fresenius Medical Care Group is highly innovative 
and has tremendous creative potential. This is due to 
the group’s typical innovation culture that has produced 
our current comprehensive range of technologically  
leading products. 

A successful innovation culture necessitates certain fac-
tors: the right location, motivated and highly qualified 
employees from different areas of expertise ( see the 
“quality through qualifications” section above ), further 
training for staff in all relevant areas, as well as high 
priority being placed on innovation in the Company as 
a whole and particularly at management level. In addition, 
Fresenius Medical Care’s global culture is characterized 
by an open and fair discussion beyond departmental 
boundaries. This ensures that objectives are invariably 
the objectives of all. A further feature of our innovation 
culture is that it strikes a balance between short-term, 
long-term, and visionary projects, and contains the right 

mixture of projects with low and high risks. Added to 
this is excellent communication between all of the Com-
pany’s R&D departments, as well as between Fresenius 
Medical Care and its clinic partners. This enables us to 
fully exploit potential synergies resulting from the verti-
cal integration of our Company. 

Another element of our culture of development and in-
novation are the annual meetings and conferences we 
hold in this area, where employees from our worldwide 
R&D sites meet and exchange experience with one an-
other and with representatives from the various market 
segments. Here, new ideas are propounded and new 
technologies discussed. These meetings foster personal 
contact between R&D staff within our international 
company and enable us to compare our internal projects 
with current market trends. This exchange goes beyond 
defined reporting lines and is in our view indispensable 
for creative and efficient research and development work. 

Chart 02.3.2 diSciPline of r&d eMPloYeeS

Chart 02.3.1 AcAdeMic GrAde of r&d eMPloYeeS

22 % Me chanics

43 % Technical College graduates ( FH / TH )

30 % E lectronics

4 % Master craftsmen

22 % O thers

34 % Technicians

11 % ph ysics

19 % University graduates

7 % Biom edicine

5 % Life sciences   / Medicine

3 % C hemistry
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Our innovativeness is reflected in the number of patents 
and patent applications to which Fresenius Medical Care 
has the rights. At the end of 2008, these encompassed 
2,402 patents in around 460 patent families. Further-
more, our inventions in the year under review gave rise 
to additional patent families, which will protect our in-
novations in important dialysis products and treatment 
methods in the future. 

In the following sections, we discuss selected focus areas 
for development in the year under review and provide a 
short overview of current research activities.

develoPMent focus: online-hdf and 5008s 
heModialYsis Machine
With the development of the 5008 therapy system, we 
raised the status of online hemodiafiltration ( Online-HDF ) 
from an exclusive technology for just a few users to a 
standard piece of equipment. In Online-HDF, the ma-
chine automatically produces the required amounts of 
sterile and pyrogene-free infusion solution from stand-
ard bicarbonate dialysate. Clinical studies show that  
hemodiafiltration leads to a 30 % to 35 % decrease in 
the mortality rate of kidney patients. Hardly any other 
single measure in the field of renal replacement therapy 
has such a positive impact on the length of patients’ 
lives. Fresenius Medical Care was one of the first pro-
viders of commercially available Online-HDF machines; 
we see this as a confirmation of the Company’s long-

term innovation and product development policy. As 
Online-HDF becomes increasingly wides pread as a 
standard treatment, our R&D work will center on im-
proving technical aspects of this treatment method.  

An important milestone for our research and develop-
ment activities last year was the European market launch 
of the 5008S hemodialysis machine at the most important 
event in the industry, the Congress of the European renal 
Association / European Dialysis and Transplant Association 
in Stockholm in May. The 5008S is an upgrade of our 
5008 therapy system. In developing this product, we 
focused our efforts on improving the interface between 
the machine and the operator. New features include 
convenient navigation as well as more automated proc-
esses, for example, data collection and documentation. 
As a result, nurses have more time to tend to individual 
patients. This and other integrated safety and control 
measures have raised the quality of treatment consider-
ably compared with the basic 5008 model. The 5008S 
also uses resources more efficiently in standby mode, the 
machines use minimum amounts of dialysate and en-
ergy. We expect the dialysis system 5008S with intuitive 
operation to contribute to establishing Online-HDF as a 
treatment of choice in renal replacement therapy. We 
will continue to use the 5008 as the main platform for 
further significant improvements and extensions of our 
products.

Table 02.3.2 reSeArch And deVeloPMenT exPendiTUreS

in millions $ 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

ToTAl 80 67 51 51 51
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develoPMent focus: hoMe dialYsis
The average age of the population in industrialized 
countries in particular is rising. As a result, the number 
of people with end-stage renal disease ( ESRD ) is also 
growing significantly. The number of dialysis patients 
could more than double by 2025 to reach approximately 
4 million.

With this in mind, we are currently pursuing two strate-
gies that will take the pressure off hospitals’ capacities 
in the future and improve the quality of treatment for 
individual patients. First, we intend to make it possible 
to transfer more treatments to the patient’s home envi-
ronment. And second, we aim to make it easier for  
dialysis treatment to be carried out successfully in the 
patient’s home environment by optimizing our products. 

The two current home dialysis therapy forms, peritoneal 
dialysis ( PD ) and home hemodialysis ( home HD ), comple-
ment each other. Fresenius Medical Care anticipated this 
relationship early on by pursuing a balanced product  
policy. 

At present, an important strategy in home dialysis is to 
continue improving PD. In PD, the patient’s peritoneum 
is used as the dialyzing membrane. A sterile dialysis so-
lution is introduced and discharged through a catheter 
that has been surgically implanted into the patient’s ab-
dominal cavity. The solution removes toxins along with 

excess water. The patient administers the treatments 
several times a day or during the night supported by a 
machine, the cycler. Fresenius Medical Care possesses 
several types of these extremely high-quality and pow-
erful machines for automatic peritoneal dialysis ( APD ). 
The development department has recently developed a 
new cycler with the aim of offering high-quality APD 
worldwide at an improved cost. The uniform techno-
logical platform is an important step in this direction.  
A cycler developed specifically for the U.S. market was 
approved by the Food and Drug Administration ( FDA ) in 
2008. Customers’ reactions so far have been extremely 
positive. We are planning on enhancing this cycler to 
make it one of our core products in the U.S. and con-
tribute to gaining additional market share. 

recognized advantages of Fresenius Medical Care’s PD 
solutions, such as balance and bicavera, are their bio-
compatibility and pH-neutral properties. In addition, they 
contain particularly small quantities of the harmful glu-
cose degradation products that arise from the steriliza-
tion of PD solutions. This means that the peritoneum is 
maintained as the dialysis membrane, which again con-
tributes to the patient’s well-being. Moreover, PD is a 
convenient home therapy for early treatment of kidney 
failure particularly if there is still residual renal function. 
In general, the aim in future is to begin treatment at an 
early stage of the disease. 
 

Table 02.3.3 nUMBer of PATenTS And PATenT APPlicATionS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

ToTAl 2,402 1,932 1,752 1,542 1,428
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Using the patientOnLine software, clinic personnel can 
monitor the patient’s individual PD treatment, thus con-
tributing significantly to quality assurance. In 2008, a new 
version of the software, patientOnLine ( 5.0 ), was brought 
onto the market. It allows physicians to determine the 
patient’s current state of health even more reliably. Fur-
thermore, it is compatible with Windows vista and has 
been further improved with additional functions. In  
recognition of its high quality standards, version 5.0 of 
patientOnLine now bears the “CE” mark of conformity 
( CE = Conformité Européene ) in accordance with the 
Medical Device Directive of the EU and is thus certified 
as a medical device. The CE mark of conformity obliges 
Fresenius Medical Care to ensure that patientOnline  
fulfils the legal requirements in the EU in terms of health 
protection, safety and environmental protection. It helps 
customers to identify high-quality products in the market.

In 2008, we also stepped up work on therapy options 
for children with kidney disease under the motto  
“special solutions for special people”. Last year, home 
therapy improvements also encompassed better patient 
information: we issued a brochure entitled “kidney  
Options” in 25 countries for patients who had recently 
contracted kidney disease as well as a special user 
handbook for home HD patients, which we published 
for the first time. 

develoPMent focus: BodY coMPosition  
Monitor ( BcM ) 
The Body Composition Monitor ( BCM ) was successfully 
introduced in many countries in 2008. An in-depth ac-
count of this highly innovative diagnostic machine can 
be found in last year’s annual report. The BCM can 
determine the hydration state ( water level ) and body 
composition ( body water, fat-free body mass, and fat ) 
of a dialysis patient. Only on the basis of these data, 
especially the percentage of body water, is it possible 
to assess the exact condition of dialysis patients. In this 
way, the treatment can be tailored better to the individual 
needs of patients and dialysis therapy can be improved 
considerably.

The hydration state of kidney patients has an immediate 
influence on the state of their heart and vascular system 
and thus on their life expectancy – cardiovascular  
diseases are the most frequent cause of death of dialy-
sis patients. With the BCM, Fresenius Medical Care has 
developed an easy-to-operate, inexpensive, state-of the-

art measuring device that provides users with a compre-
hensive clinically validated program for evaluating the 
data collected. 

In 2008, several clinical studies were completed and 
publications issued. These publications underscore the 
outstanding diagnostic importance of the BCM. 

As the BCM is not yet a standard medical device, Fresenius 
Medical Care is cooperating closely with different inter-
national clinical experts who report on their experience 
with the BCM at clinics after introducing the device. 
Some also hold workshops and convey their findings in 
training programs. The findings will provide essential 
clues for our customer service’s consulting work. Given 
the importance of the hydration level and the potential 
of the BCM method, which we are only beginning to 
fathom, this project will continue to be a focus of our 
development work in the future. 

develoPMent focus: sorBent sYsteMs
General trends in medical technology can also be ob-
served in the dialysis sector: new methods and materials 
make it possible to reduce the size, weight and energy 
consumption of individual components and thus entire 
devices, as well as integrate fundamentally new func-
tionalities in medical technology. Fresenius Medical 
Care took a step in this direction with the acquisition of 
renal Solutions, Inc. ( RSI ) in 2007. RSI is an internationally 
recognized and exclusive specialist in the field of dia-
lysate regeneration using enzyme-based sorbent sys-
tems. The main objective of these systems is to reduce 
the amount of water needed for hemodialysis treat-
ment from about 120 liters ( 37 gallons ) of reverse os-
mosis water at present to around five to six liters of 
drinking water – an important contribution towards 
cutting costs and protecting the environment with the 
aim of making our treatments ecologically sustainable. 
Apart from the ecological and financial implications of 
these improvements, they may lead to a substantial re-
duction in the size of hemodialysis machines. The ulti-
mate goal is for patients to be able to wear these 
devices, possibly directly on their bodies. The long-term 
use of such sorbent systems is of particular interest to 
the R&D department because they hold the prospect of 
removing specific toxins from patients’ blood. Advance-
ments in innovative dialysis solutions will be a focus in 
the years to come and could possibly even culminate in 
a wearable artificial kidney.
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qualitY through research cooPeration  
and funding
We gauge the success of our innovations primarily on 
the basis of day-to-day practical experience. For this  
reason, cooperation between our researchers and  
Fresenius Medical Care’s clinics and a close relationship 
with daily users – doctors, nurses and patients – is im-
portant to successfully research and develop innovative 
solutions for treating people with kidney disease. In this 
way, Fresenius Medical Care benefits from its position 
as a vertically integrated dialysis company with direct 
access to users in its own clinics.  

Moreover, we maintain close contact with universities 
and research institutes in our area of expertise. We co-
operate particularly intensively with the University of 
Michigan ( on a long-term study of chronic kidney pa-
tients ), University krems in Austria ( on extracorporeal 
methods ), and the renal research Institute ( RRI ) in the 
United States. For our collaboration with universities 
and other scientific institutions in Germany and abroad, 
we use various financing models, some of which are 
publicly funded. 

The RRI’s network currently comprises 15 institutes in 
6 U.S. states. The RRI was founded in 1997 as a joint 
venture between Fresenius Medical Care North America 
and the Beth Israel Medical Center, a hospital in New 
york. The idea was to create a network of clinics in 
which new technologies could be researched, with the 
aim of improving patients’ quality of life and gaining a 
better understanding of the course of chronic kidney 
failure. 

The RRI is widely acknowledged as the leading institute 
in the field of clinical treatment of chronic kidney failure. 
Its research program ranges from studying fundamental 
scientific aspects of hemodialysis to improving technol-
ogies for determining the hydration level of hemodialy-
sis patients. 

The RRI’s work in 2008 focused on dialysis frequency 
( daily dialysis compared to thrice-weekly treatment ), 
the hydration level of dialysis patients ( see the “Devel-
opment Focus: BCM” section ) as well as so-called SORB 
technology ( see the glossary on page 128 ) and the weara-
ble kidney ( see the “Development Focus: Sorbent Sys-

tems” section ). Last year, clinical studies on the 
regulation of patients’ calcium and phosphate levels 
also played a prominent role in RRI’s work with the aim 
of establishing a more objective scientific basis for the 
prescription of calcium. To this end, laboratory data  
are used as well as a computer program that permits  
an assessment of the intake and levels of calcium and 
phosphate, as well as the way the two minerals are 
processed in the dialyzer. Based on this appraisal, rec-
ommendations can be made to doctors regarding the 
right dosage of the phosphate binder phosLo ( see also 

page 100 ) and of calcimimetics. Another project currently 
being carried out by the RRI focuses on the removal of 
toxins. A substance is introduced into the bloodstream 
that dissolves the toxins directly before the blood en-
ters the dialyzer. These examples show that the studies 
conducted by the RRI integrate the whole group’s inter-
ests and its requirements for new knowledge.  

For many of our studies, we have access to RRI’s exten-
sive databases and the data compiled by Fresenius  
Medical Care North America. Using these, we can trace 
back patients’ state of health for months, which in turn 
enables us to optimize instructions for the future treat-
ment of kidney patients. In the evaluation of our data-
bases, we try more stringently to use past-related data 
to draw conclusions on future improvements. For ex-
ample, we intend to further reduce the risk of infection 
in dialysis patients.

The RRI publishes 15 to 25 articles a year in the industry’s 
specialist magazines. It also takes part in numerous U.S. 
and international symposia with more than 30 abstracts 
a year. Last year, for example, the RRI was represented 
at the annual conference of the American Society of 
Nephrology ( ASN ), where different RRI representatives 
reported on their research findings to an interested  
audience. Furthermore, the RRI holds its own three-day 
international conference every year in January, at which 
researchers from different institutes come together to 
discuss specialized topics. A lively exchange is also en-
couraged within the Fresenius Medical Care Group, for 
instance on experience with the different health systems. 

Some of the RRI’s studies are subsidized, including 
the institute’s research projects with the University of 
Michigan, the University of North Carolina, the University 
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of rochester, and the University of Massachusetts to-
gether with St. raphael’s Hospital. The topics of projects 
that are subsidized include depression and fear among 
children with chronic kidney disease or the effects of 
dialysis on other processes in the body, for example in 
patients with cardiovascular diseases.  

In 2009, the RRI will concentrate on evaluating technolo-
gical and clinical approaches to further improve the 
quality of treatment and boost its success rate. In clinical 
projects, for example, the RRI intends to work more in-
tensely on raising water purity standards and improving 
the compatibility of different drugs. SORB technology 
will be a predominant topic in research projects. Further 
research areas include factors that promote cardiovas-
cular problems in dialysis patients, daily dialysis and its 
effect on the heart and the thyroid function, as well as 
problems that arise in connection with dialysis. 

ProcureMent and logistics

The procurement of high-quality raw materials and 
semi-finished products as well as the punctual delivery 
of our products to customers – patients, dialysis clinics 
and hospitals – are among the most important factors 
for the success of Fresenius Medical Care. Naturally, the 
products are constantly checked during production, 
and the manufacturing process is precisely monitored. 
But the desired end quality can only be achieved if the 
input – raw materials or delivered materials – meets our 
high quality standards. Equally important are optimum 
logistics processes to ensure that our high-quality prod-
ucts reach our customers intact and on time.

Our procurement strategy aims at obtaining the neces-
sary materials and components through a fair, long-
term and sustainable cooperation with our suppliers. 
We thus look for optimum economic conditions and 
the highest quality worldwide. This is why, in October 

Table 02.3.4 The rri’S MoST iMPorTAnT STUdieS in 2008

zhu, f. / kuhlmann, M. k. / kotanko*, P. / Seibert e. / leonard, e. f. / levin, n. W.:  
A method for the estimation of hydration state during hemodialysis using a calf bioimpedance technique. 
physiological Measurement 29: S. 503 – 516, 2008

richter A. / kuhlmann M. k. / Seibert e. / kotanko, P. / levin n. W. / handelman, G. J.: 
vitamin C deficiency and secondary hyperparathyroidism in chronic haemodialysis patients. Nephrology Dialysis 
Transplantation 23: 2058 – 2063, 2008

kotanko, P. / levin, n. W. / zhu, f.: 
Current state of bioimpedance technologies in dialysis. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation 23: 808 – 812, 2008

kaysen, G. A. / kotanko, P. / zhu, f. / Sarkar, S. r. / heymsfield, S. B. / kuhlmann, M. k. / levin, n. W.: 
Estimation of adipose pools in hemodialysis patients from anthropometric measures. Journal of renal Nutrition 18: 473 – 478, 2008

daugirdas, J. T. / levin, n. W. / kotanko, P. / depner, T. A. / kuhlmann, M. k. / chertow, G. M. / rocco, M. V.:  
Comparison of proposed alternative methods for rescaling dialysis dose: resting energy expenditure, high metabolic rate organ mass, 
liver size, and body surface area. Seminars in Dialysis 21: 377 – 384, 2008

* Peter Kotanko is a physician and the director of the RRI’s research laboratory. 
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2007, our International segment launched the “purchas-
ing Excellence” initiative. The aim of the initiative is to 
re-centralize decentralized purchasing in Europe, to 
streamline and standardize processes, and to achieve 
additional savings by means of internationally coordi-
nated product group management. The matrix organi-
zation has been implemented since January 2009. Today, 
centrally located specialists are responsible for the  
strategic purchase of the large product groups – for  
example, energy, consumables, chemicals, and plastic 
granulates, a primary product for dialyzers. In addition, 
a centralized purchasing control system monitors pro-
curement performance. The improvement approaches 
implemented saved some € 9 million in procurement 
costs in 2008. As a result, we managed to largely com-
pensate the higher prices that some of our suppliers 
demanded due to the raw material boom in 2008. With 
respect to very large single items in procurement – such 
as polysulfone, the material the fibers in our dialyzers 
are made of – we took intensive measures last year to 
hedge our purchasing volume. Today, we obtain 60 % 
of all products on the basis of outline agreements. 

Under the watchword supplier management, in the In-
ternational segment all suppliers are regularly catego-
rized and evaluated on the basis of strict quality criteria 
and standards. The resulting ratings are one of the prin-
cipal foundations for supplier development measures 
and future supply decisions. Supply management is not 
yet harmonized in all plants and regions; that will be 
one of our tasks this year. 

In the logistics area, our biggest project last year was 
preparing our new distribution center in Biebesheim, 
Hesse, for operation. The distribution center meets all 
modern logistics standards. Among other things, all 
processes are controlled electronically by using bar codes. 
In December 2008, Fresenius Medical Care acquired the 
center from an investor who built it to our specifications. 
In Biebesheim, we combine the former main warehouses 
of Gernsheim ( the integration started last December 
and should be fully concluded by the end of the second 
quarter 2009 ) and Darmstadt ( the move will take place 
in the fourth quarter 2009 ). The new high rack ware-
house will initially cater for 55,000 pallets. Its capacity 

can, however, be increased to up to 75,000 pallets. This 
completely covers the forecast volume growth for the 
coming years. The new distribution center will reduce 
our annual logistics costs in Europe by € 1.5 million as 
from 2010.

In 2008, we launched a second, cross-functional initiative 
called “P.XL – packaging Excellence” to improve product 
packaging and packaging units. The new, standardized 
packaging should ensure a problem-free, cost-effective 
handling along the entire supply chain while meeting 
our customers’ requirements. Our standardized card-
board boxes give us the edge to better plan and utilize 
warehouse space. Simultaneously, the more efficiently 
used loading spaces bring down our transport costs.

The aim of our project “Supply Chain Landscape 2015”, 
introduced last year, is to develop a sustainable strategy 
for the Europe / Middle East /Africa region until the year 
2015 that also takes Fresenius Medical Care’s growth 
expectations into account. The very core of the project 
is the creation of a flexible and cost-effective supply 
chain ( particularly in terms of transport volume ) for  
single-use products from our factories, distribution 
centers and warehouses to the end customer. Apart 
from the long-term improvement goals, we have iden-
tified measures for short-term optimizations and cost 
savings.

In the U.S., we primarily focused on optimizing processes 
and cutting costs in procurement last year. Still, quality 
remains one of our top priorities. Therefore, we always 
examine insourcing possibilities.

We operate 14 distribution centers in the U.S., and 
supply more than 6,000 clinics and around 7,800 home 
dialysis patients. Last year, 300 trucks moved 86 % of 
our transport volume – more than ever before. Our 
own fleet is not only more cost-effective, but offers a 
better transport quality than any external service pro-
vider. The fact that we continue to operate a fleet of 
trucks is one of the results of the Lean Six Sigma quality 
initiative launched almost four years ago. It allows us  
to analyze and better coordinate processes in logistics, 
among other areas. We recently started offering our 
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transport infrastructure to external customers to improve 
the load capacity of our trucks. Now we can sell load 
capacity to more than 160 freight brokers – for example, 
when returning from the customer to the distribution 
center. 

Due to the financial crisis, we have to contend with  
rising prices in both procurement and logistics. Our 
challenge is to find new suppliers to further enhance 
the safe supply of strategically important products.  
Another challenge is posed by the increasing costs for 
the transport of liquids such as dialysis concentrates 
and peritoneal dialysis solutions, which weigh more 
than, for example, bloodlines or dialyzers. 

In an effort to counter rising procurement prices we  
intensively pursued an approach in 2008 to increasingly 
coordinate our procurement activities to meet the  
demand in North America, Europe and the Asia-pacific 
region. To this end, we standardized a number of ( raw ) 
materials across regions. Moreover, we make greater 
use of supply sources in regions with favorable exchange 
rates. However, material savings and insourcing remain 
proven measures to counteract rising prices.

Production

Fresenius Medical Care’s customers justifiably expect to 
receive all of our products in the required number at a 
constantly high quality and on the specified delivery date. 
In our view, quality in production means meeting these 
requirements reliably. For us, manufacturing quality  
therefore comprises much more than just producing an 
end product that fulfils pre-defined specifications. The 
goods and raw materials must also have been supplied 
in the appropriate quality, and the production chains 
must be error-free. In addition, supply chain manage-
ment has to be coordinated ( see the glossary on page 

133 ). Here the Fresenius Medical Care Group’s vertical 
integration is an important lever for success. As all of 
these processes are largely internal, we are able to  
control the quality of such ourselves.  

One of the ways in which we can achieve quality is by 
ensuring that we only resort to outsourcing when a 

supplier convinces us that it can provide better quality 
than we can. As a result, we produce the main compo-
nents of a dialysis machine in-house. Core components 
that are not only decisive for the quality and reliability 
of our products but also determine costs are always 
manufactured in our own plants. Our employees also 
play an important role in ensuring reliable production 
quality: experience shows that our teams that are used 
to working together deliver particularly consistent qual-
ity. In our production sites in North America, for exam-
ple, the workforce in 2008 was 100 % identical to that 
in the previous year. As a result, Fresenius Medical Care 
was able to retain the know-how of its experienced 
production team.

In 2008, our production activities again centered on 
expanding capacities in our plants worldwide. This has 
enabled us to meet the continous growing demand for 
our products. 

At our plant in St. Wendel, Germany, we invested 
around € 39 million from March 2008 and into the first 
quarter of 2009 in expanding our production capacities. 
Approximately € 23 million were spent on a production 
building and two new fiber spinning lines with which 
we manufacture hollow fibers, the most important 
component of our dialyzers. These fibers are also deliv-
ered from St. Wendel to other production sites where 
dialyzers are manufactured. As a result of this investment, 
production capacity for these fibers grew by almost a 
third. About € 16 million were allocated to increasing 
the production of bags for peritoneal dialysis, enabling 
us to expand the capacity in this area by around a  
quarter. In the year under review, moreover, additional 
facilities for manufacturing single-use dialyzers went 
into operation, for which € 36 million were earmarked 
at the beginning of 2007. As a result, 35 million of these 
“artificial kidneys” are now produced in St. Wendel 
every year.

The following example illustrates the scale of our fiber 
production. In our International segment we produced 
approximately 158 million kilometers of fiber last year – 
enough to reach the sun ( distance earth / sun about  
150 million kilometers ). If we added the fibers produced 
in North America, we would make our way back, too.
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We expanded the capacity of our plant in Ogden, Utah, 
from 32 million dialyzers in 2007 to 36 million last year, 
an increase of 12 %. We achieved this, among other 
things, by upgrading two production lines. Now all five 
production lines are at the same high technical level. We 
plan to operate additional production lines in Ogden by 
2010. Our total investment budget for the expansion of 
production here will amount to $ 72 million in 2008 and 
2009.

Hemodialysis machines are manufactured mainly at two 
sites: in Schweinfurt, Germany, and in Walnut Creek, 
California. While the German plant manufactures com-
ponents as well as machines, the U.S. plant is specialized 
in assembling and testing of dialysis machines for the 
North American market. 

Every second dialysis machine manufactured worldwide 
comes from our plant in Schweinfurt. In Schweinfurt, we 
further expanded production capacity for hemodialysis 
machines in 2007 and 2008 with a total investment 
budget of € 25 million. We intend to increase the prod-
uction volume there by 7 % to 10 % annually until 2015. 
A new building has been constructed with 3,600 square 
meters of space, where the machines can be checked 
directly after they come off the production line, and 
where software tests can be performed and dialysis 
treatments simulated. In the logistics area, which occu-
pies a large part of the factory space, the machines c 
an be subsequently packed and prepared for shipment.

In 2008, we produced a total of around 80 million dia-
lyzers and fiber bundles worldwide. With this produc-
tion capacity, we achieved a market share of 44 % 
compared to 40 % in 2007. This means that Fresenius 
Medical Care remains the uncontested leader in the  
dialyzer market. This also applies to dialysis machines: 
90 % of all of the dialysis machines sold in the U.S. 
came from our plants. 

China is the growth engine in the Asia-pacific region. 
The Chinese market continues to hold enormous busi-
ness potential for Fresenius Medical Care: in view of the 
size of the population, the economic growth, and the 
healthcare measures planned in China, we expect the 
number of dialysis patients in the country to increase. 

The production site in Jiangsu, China, which we took 
over in the summer of 2007, is only a two-hour drive 
from Shanghai, giving us good access to qualified per-
sonnel and well-developed transport routes. The main 
products manufactured at the site are tubing systems 
and other single-use dialysis products for the Chinese 
market. As a result of the expanded capacities, we will 
be able to supply other markets in the region from 
Jiangsu in future and thus partake in the extremely  
dynamic growth in the region.

In Japan, we operate two plants in Inukai and in Buzen 
and have increased the capacity of both of these. The 
plants primarily manufacture single-use products needed 
for peritoneal dialysis. We also started producing FX 
generation dialyzers in Japan in 2008. These products 
are in high demand in Asia. 

Our manufacturing processes, especially in our eight 
production sites in North America and in five major 
sites in Europe, are geared toward the Lean Six Sigma 
management system that combines Lean Manufactur-
ing and Six Sigma approaches. Lean Six Sigma is used 
to analyze and optimally coordinate all production 
processes. Our aim is to achieve better production re-
sults, and in particular reduce defect rates, while short-
ening manufacturing cycle times. In 2008, we held 
further training sessions at the plants to heighten em-
ployees’ awareness of the opportunities that Lean Man-
ufacturing and Six Sigma offer to positively impact 
product quality and thus help us to achieve our goals. 
In North America we also use the CAPA ( Corrective And 
preventive Action ) program to help prevent problems 
from occurring. This involves identifying possible sources 
of error by observing processes before problems arise. 
CAPA is therefore an integral element of the manage-
ment systems in all of our production sites.

Our technical customer service also plays a key role in 
ensuring quality. It is responsible for installing, main-
taining and repairing our dialysis machines, and instruct-
ing users on how to use them – in more and more 
regions around the world even 24 hours a day, seven 
days a week. It is therefore a reliable interface between 
the Company and our customers. In 2008, the focus 
was on introducing the new TAM ( Technical Assistant 
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Management ), which can be used to make all customer 
service processes electronic and thus more efficient. visit 
reports made by service technicians, for example, can 
be transmitted directly to Fresenius Medical Care’s SAP 
system and from there passed on to the personnel de-
partment where work hours are recorded to finally reach 
the finance department where customer invoices are is-
sued. Spare parts orders are also fed directly into the 
SAP system in question, where they are processed im-
mediately.

qualitY and environMental  
ManageMent

At Fresenius Medical Care, quality and environmental 
management are an essential part of the Integrated 
Management System ( IMS ), which we developed with 
the primary aim of meeting our own high quality stand-
ards. As a provider of products and services for the 
treatment of kidney failure, we bear a particular respon-
sibility for our patients and for upholding our level of 

quality. The IMS complies with the legal guidelines for 
products and services, and is at the same time geared 
to our operational workflows. It fulfils the ISO 9001:2000 
requirements for quality management systems in combi-
nation with the ISO 14001:2004 standard for environmental 
management systems. At the same time, it conforms to 
the special requirements for medical devices specified 
by the ISO 13485:2003 standard. Our quality and environ-
mental management systems are also TÜV-certified. TÜV, 
a German technical inspection agency, subjects our cor-
porate headquarters, our plants, our distribution and our 
clinic organization to precise testing on a yearly basis. 

We have introduced the IMS at most of our European 
production sites. In 2008, it was implemented for the 
first time in the republic of Serbia ( ISO 9001 and ISO 
14001 ) and South Africa ( ISO 9001 ) as well as in France 
and England ( ISO 14001 ). The share of our dialysis clinics 
that are certified according to ISO 14001 is constantly 
growing. In 2008, the figure rose to 37 % from 29 % the 
previous year. Add to these 39 facilities that meet the 
quality management standard ISO 9001:2000 as well as 
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48 clinics certified according to the standard ISO 14001. 
The total number of clinics in Europe that fulfil ISO 
9001:2000 requirements increased to 282. The number 
of our European dialysis clinics whose work is geared to 
the environmental management standard 14001:2004 
grew to 145. Our U.S. production sites in Ogden, Utah, 
and in Walnut Creek, California, as well as our plant in 
reynosa, Mexico, are certified according to ISO 13485. 

In the U.S., we introduced a formalized “certified” envi-
ronmental health and safety audit program several years 
ago that inspects all of our manufacturing operations 
on an annual basis. 

In the Asia-pacific region, we are currently boosting our 
efforts to establish western quality and environmental 
standards at all of our plants. Furthermore, in the year 
under review, we undertook improvements based on 
the “Six Sigma” concept (see the glossary starting on 

page 132), which is used in quality management to fur-
ther reduce the error rate.

We use audits to verify whether the IMS is implemented 
effectively. To enable us to do this at as many sites and 
as regularly as possible, we stepped up our auditor 
training activities in 2008. A focus in the year under 
review was the Eastern Europe region.

As the above statements show, we see quality manage-
ment as being much more than just the final inspection 
in the production process – although of course at  
Fresenius Medical Care this is a standard procedure and 
indispensable. rather, quality in production means en-
suring that outstanding work is done from the manu-
facture phase onwards. This requires targeted training 
and high employee commitment, and – an essential  
aspect – that the production team has a particular idea 
of the value it creates. 

We currently carry out quality training regularly in our 
medical product and drug areas as well as in our dialy-
sis services. To anchor quality management more firmly 
in the entire workforce, we are working on a compre-
hensive training management system. The aim of this is 

not to focus on certain products or services. Instead, an 
integrated system should emerge, similar to an IMS ( see 

page 19 for details on the training management system ).

Another central aspect of our quality management ac-
tivities is preparing drugs for approval and submitting 
applications. This is subject to national and international 
regulations. The aim is to keep the time between devel-
opment, clinical testing and market launch to a mini-
mum. To meet this goal, the so-called mutual recognition 
procedure plays a key role in Europe. This directive al-
lows for accelerated approval of medical products in all 
European countries if they have already been approved 
by another EU member state. The speed depends on the 
choice of reference country. Another path that is usually 
even faster is the so-called decentralized procedure, 
whereby an application for the approval of a product is 
submitted in several member states at the same time. 

In 2008, we focused our activities in this area on dialysis 
drugs, particularly phosphate binders like phoslo and 
iron supplements. More than 38 approvals were granted 
for these products alone. At the same time, we ex-
panded our product range of peritoneal dialysis ( PD ) 
and hemofiltration solutions and obtained a total of 
36 approvals for these medical products.

To evaluate the quality of our dialysis treatments, we 
use quality parameters that are generally recognized by 
the dialysis industry ( see the table on the next page con-
taining a selection of quality data ), such as hemoglobin 
values. In cooperation with responsible nephrologists, 
we aim to achieve a defined hemoglobin level for our 
patients. The so-called kt / v value gives an indication of 
the filtering performance of a treatment by establishing 
the ratio of the length of treatment and the filtration 
rate of certain toxic molecules. Albumin, a protein, is 
one quality parameter used to monitor a patient’s general 
nutritional condition. Hospitalization days are another 
important indicator of the treatment quality, because 
they are particularly cost-intensive and can significantly 
reduce the quality of life of dialysis patients. In 2008, we 
were able to further improve the quality of our dialysis 
treatment based on these parameters.  

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
89

   I02.3  non-financial PerforMance indicators



Fresenius Medical Care makes efforts to promote greater 
environmental awareness and environmental protection 
on several levels at its sites. By improving our operational 
efficiency, for example through measures to save energy 
or by reducing the amount of raw materials needed in 
manufacture, we contribute to the sustainable develop-
ment of the Company even in times of rising energy and 
raw materials prices. Increasing efficiency also means 
limiting the influence of our Company’s activities on the 
environment. Therefore conservation of drinking water 
and energy, as well as emissions and waste, has been a 
central element of our environmental management for 
years. 

In the U.S., for example, we already recycle an average 
of 1,752 tons of paper and cardboard a year. As a result, 
we avoid about 1,226 tons of CO2 emissions and save 
around 160,000 liters of fuel, approximately 46.6 million 
liters of water, and 7.2 million kilowatts of electricity; 
and stop 29,700 trees from being chopped down. In our 
clinics in the U.S., we collect plastics, such as cannulae, 
in special boxes and pass them on to be recycled; in 
2008, this totaled 18.64 tons of recyclable plastic waste. 
We also take environmental considerations into account 
when it comes to our buildings: we use energy-saving 
lamps and eco spec premium paint and exceed the  
insulation standards for the industry. We place great 
importance on avoiding waste and making sure that 
our production processes are energy-saving. In our 
Ogden plant, many of the components of the dialyzers 
produced there are recycled, as are different parts of 
dialysis machines made in Walnut Creek, where we  
prevent over 450 tons of machine waste from reaching 
our landfills.

Back in 2007, we adopted our environmental program 
for the entire EMEA ( Europe, Middle East, Africa ) region. 
In conjunction with this program, environmental goals 
were defined that are to be achieved by 2010:

 specifying environmentally relevant performance 
indicators for all participating production sites,

 further improving energy efficiency and avoiding 
emissions, 

 carrying out a feasibility study on the use of 
alternative energy generation methods at a sample 
production site,

 improving the recycling rate from 70 % at present to 
85 % in 2010,

 further training our employees and raising their 
awareness of environmental protection and environ-
mental management, and 

 optimizing eco-controlling in the rapidly growing 
number of dialysis clinics in Europe.

Last year, we made significant advances concerning all 
of these points. 

In addition, our production buildings are becoming more 
environmentally friendly. In 2008, we began operating 
the extension of the production plant at our Schweinfurt 
site, in which dialysis machines are manufactured. The 
building is equipped with a heat recovery system and 
automatic fresh air supply. Consequently, air-conditioning 
is not needed, which saves a great deal of energy.  

At our plants in St. Wendel ( Germany ), SMAD ( France ) 
and SisTer ( Italy ), our environmental measures centered 
on improving production processes by increasing the 
scope of plastic raw materials used. 

1 Internationaler Standard BCR CRM470

Table 02.3.5 QUAliTY dATA

Data refer to the last quarter U.S. Europe

2008 2007 2008 2007

kt  /  v > 1.2 95 % 95 % 95 % 95 %

Hemoglobin 10 – 13 g / dl 85 % 80 % 75 % 74 %

Albumin ≥ 3.5 g / dl1 80 % 80 % 85 % 87 %

phosphat 3.5 – 5.5 mg / dl 53 % 52 % 61 % 60 %
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Another environmental protection project launched in 
2008 was the implementation of the new EU REACH 
chemical regulation at our European plants. Our project  
focuses on complying with legal requirements, assessing 
risks and developing appropriate preventive measures, 
for instance, exchanging information with suppliers or 
pre-ordering strategically important materials. Fresenius 
Medical Care is an active member of the REACH working 
group of the Federal Association of the Medical Device 
Industry in Germany.

At the largest industry trade show in Stockholm, we pre-
sented a resource-saving package solution. The Smart-
Bag for liquid dialysis concentrates is PVC-free. It contains 
80 % less plastic and has 90 % less waste volume than 
conventional Duroplastic containers. Moreover, it can 
be recycled very easily as it consists of polyolefins. 
Fresenius Medical Care did not first start promoting en-
vironmental protection with its environmental program, 
which we adopted in 2007. We introduced our first en-
vironmentally friendly products back in 1996. stay∙safe 
CAPD was the first system for PD made of Biofine. Many 
more PVC-free products have followed since. Biofine 
consists exclusively of hydrogen and carbon. It is 60 % 
thinner than PVC, making it less costly to dispose of due 
to its smaller volume, and is easy to recycle. We use  
Biofine today to manufacture most of our PD products 
due to its many advantages. In the year under review, 
we received Nordic Ecolabel certification ( also known 
as “SWAN” ) – a triumph for Biofine and for us. The Nor-
dic Ecolabel organization certified our stay∙safe Balance, 
stay∙safe Bicavera, sleep∙safe Balance and sleep∙safe  
Bicavera products and the corresponding accessories, 
which are all completely PVC-free. Nordic Ecolabel is an 
officially recognized organization in Sweden, Norway, 
Finland, Iceland and Denmark that labels environmentally 
friendly products. But Nordic Ecolabel is also acknowl-
edged in other countries for its quality standards, as a 
recent study by the British government shows. Its stand-
ards not only apply to environmentally friendly product 
qualities, but also to the corresponding production 
processes. Thus, Nordic Ecolabel expressly recognizes 
the two plants in which the certified PD products are 

manufactured: St. Wendel in Germany and SisTer in 
Italy. The Nordic Ecolabel certification is also interesting 
for economic reasons. As we are the only manufacturer 
of PD products to have received this eco label, we should 
be able to win market share in this product segment, 
particularly in countries that have a comprehensive  
environmental agenda.  

corPorate governance

coMPliance
For us, compliance means adhering to defined ethical 
and legal guidelines as part of our business activities. An 
integral part of our corporate culture is to follow the 
compliance guidelines. We have implemented Fresenius 
Medical Care’s compliance program, which is one of 
the most demanding in our industry, in all of our business 
regions. The guidelines therefore apply to all our sub-
sidiaries. 

We continued our compliance training activities in 2008. 
As part of this training, local compliance officers were 
given the opportunity to exchange experiences in their 
business region. These officers are key to the success of 
the compliance program, as the chart below shows. They 
ensure that the Company adheres to the same high ethi-
cal and legal standards around the world and that each 
employee is fully informed about our code of conduct 
and its goals. At the same time, they are responsible for 
training measures and ensuring compliance with the 
guidelines. Compliance officers act as contacts for our 
employees and can be reached via special telephone 
numbers, by e-mail, or in person. 

In the year under review, we implemented measures to 
monitor and audit the effectiveness of the compliance 
program. We increased the resources in the Corporate 
Compliance organisation to introduce further compli-
ance initiatives.

Our compliance activities have been recognized outside 
the Company by the Ethisphere Institute. In 2008 we 
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were named one of the “World’s Most Ethical Compa-
nies”. Ethisphere, a think tank committed to identifying 
and fostering best practice in the areas of international 
politics, business ethics, compliance, and corporate re-
sponsibility, presented the award at the Ethisphere and 
Forbes Magazine joint conference “Driving profit through 
Ethical Leadership”, held in June 2008. 

grouP ManageMent and Monitoring  
structure
Fresenius Medical Care shares are listed on the stock 
market in the U.S. ( as American Depositary receipts ) 
and in Germany. We are therefore subject to a number 
of regulations and recommendations regarding the 
management, administration and monitoring of the 
Company. In addition to mandatory requirements ac-
cording to stock corporation and commercial law, we 
comply with the regulations of Deutsche Börse and  
adhere voluntarily to most of the recommendations of 
the German Corporate Governance Code. At the same 
time, we are subject to the regulations connected to 
our listing in the U.S., in particular the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act ( SOX ) and portions of the Corporate Governance 
rules of the New york Stock Exchange. The Sarbanes-
Oxley Act includes provisions regulating companies and 
their auditors and is aimed at improving financial re-
porting and auditor independence, among other mat-
ters. The extension of regulations for financial reporting 
and related internal control systems is designed to in-
crease the trust of investors and other interested par-

ties. We fully meet all of the current requirements set 
forth in this law. 

Although we are a non-U.S. company ( a so-called foreign 
private issuer ), we are nevertheless obliged to comply 
with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act with re-
gard to implementing control over financial reporting in 
accordance with SOX section 404. We already voluntarily 
implemented these provisions ahead of time by Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and fulfilled them again in 2008. 

Fresenius Medical Care’s declaration concerning signifi-
cant differences between the systems of corporate gov-
ernance in Germany and the U.S. – based on the listing 
standards of the New york Stock Exchange – can be  
accessed on the Internet at www.fmc-ag.com. 

The Articles of Association of Fresenius Medical Care, 
also specifying the responsibilities of the various bodies 
of the Company, can also be found online.
 
The legal form of Fresenius Medical Care is that of a 
partnership limited by shares ( kommanditgesellschaft 
auf Aktien – KGaA ). In this legal form, the most impor-
tant bodies of the Company are the General Meeting, 
the Supervisory Board and the general partner Fresenius 
Medical Care Management AG. In 2008, there were no 
significant changes to the Group management and  
monitoring structure.

Chart 02.3.4 orGAnizATionAl STrUcTUre of The coMPliAnce ProGrAM
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Fresenius Medical Care continues to strive for a corporate 
governance that provides the highest transparency pos-
sible. The Management Board of the general partner 
manages the business of the Company. In addition to 
the Company’s Supervisory Board, Fresenius Medical 
Care Management AG also has its own Supervisory 
Board that includes at least two independent members 
who are not connected to the Company in any other 
way. Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care Management 
AG continues to guarantee the independence require-
ments of its Supervisory Board via a so-called pooling 
agreement, which Fresenius SE has also joined.

shareholders
Company shareholders exercise their rights by voting at 
the General Meeting. Each ordinary share of Fresenius 
Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA entitles the holder to one 
vote at the General Meeting. Our preference shares do 
not bear any voting rights. To compensate for this, 
preference shareholders receive a preference in earn-
ings distribution and a higher dividend. Shares with 
multiple or preference voting rights do not exist. As a 
matter of principle, at the General Meeting, the general 
partner ( as far as it is a shareholder in the Company, 
which was not the case in the year under review ) or its 
sole shareholder Fresenius SE can exercise the voting 
rights connected with the shares it holds. However, the 
general partner and its sole shareholder Fresenius SE are 
subject to various legal bans on voting on certain reso-
lutions. These include the election of the Supervisory 
Board, ratification of the actions of the general partner 
and members of the Supervisory Board, and the selec-
tion of the auditor of the annual financial statements. 
The purpose of this is to guarantee that the sharehold-
ers in the partnership limited by shares ( KGaA ) can 
solely decide on these matters, particularly those con-
cerning control of the Management. 

general Meeting
According to the basic principles of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code, shareholders can exercise their 
voting rights at the Annual General Meeting themselves, 
by proxy via a representative of their choice, or by a 
company-nominated proxy acting on their instructions. 
proxy voting instructions to a company nominee can be 

issued before and during the Annual General Meeting 
until the end of the open discussion period.
 
All documents and information about the meeting are 
easily accessible on our Web site.

In the year under review, the ordinary General Meeting 
of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA took place on 
May 20, 2008 in Frankfurt / Main ( Germany ). More than 
74 % of the ordinary share capital and 4 % of the prefer-
ence share capital were represented. In 2007, about 
74 % of the ordinary share capital and 5 % of the prefer-
ence share capital were represented at the ordinary 
General Meeting. We broadcast the speech of the 
Chairman of the Management Board live over the  
Internet for those shareholders unable to attend. The 
speech is available on our Web site at www.fmc-ag.com.

general Partner
The general partner – Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG – represented by its Management Board is 
responsible for managing the Company and conducting 
the Company’s business. Its actions and decisions are 
geared toward the interests of the Company. The seven 
members of the Management Board of the general 
partner are introduced from page 26 onwards of this annual 
report. 

As a stock corporation ( Aktiengesellschaft ) the general 
partner has its own Supervisory Board consisting of six 
members. It appoints the members of the Management 
Board and advises and supervises them in managing the 
Company. In accordance with clause 5.1.3 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has 
established rules of procedure.

suPervisorY Board
The Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. 
kGaA consists of six members. All six members are 
elected by the General Meeting according to the provi-
sions of the German Stock Corporation Act ( Aktien-
gesetz, AktG ). Such resolution of the General Meeting 
requires a majority of at least 75 % of the votes cast. As 
described above, Fresenius SE is barred from voting on 
this issue. In accordance with clause 5.1.3 of the German 
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Corporate Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has 
established rules of procedure.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is responsible 
for coordinating and directing the Supervisory Board. 
Further information on the tasks assumed by the Super-
visory Board in 2008, on the activities of Supervisory 
Board committees as well as on efficiency evaluations 
undertaken in that year is included in the report of the 
Supervisory Board starting on page 28. 

cooPeration of general Partner and  
suPervisorY Board
The general partner and the Supervisory Board of the 
Company work closely together in the Company’s interest 
with the joint goal of growing the Company’s value in 
the long term in compliance with corporate governance 
principles and compliance regulations. The general 
partner regularly informs the Supervisory Board of the 
Company about all relevant issues regarding business 
policy, corporate planning and corporate strategy, about 
the profitability of the Company as well as the course 
of business and the Company’s position including an 
assessment of the current risks. 

avoidance of conflicts of interest
In their decisions and in conjunction with their tasks 
and activities, the members of the Management Board 
of the general partner and of the Supervisory Board of 
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA as well the Su-
pervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management 
AG do not pursue personal interests or give unjustified 
advantages to other people. Any sideline activities or 
business dealings with the Company are to be reported 
to the Supervisory Board immediately and must receive 
its approval. The Supervisory Board reports to the Gen-
eral Meeting about possible conflicts of interest and 
how to deal with them. There were no conflicts of in-
terest among members of the Management Board or 
the Supervisory Board in the year under review. 

coMPensation of ManageMent Board and 
suPervisorY Board
Compensation for Management Board members com-
prises fixed and performance-related components. Since 
2006, Fresenius Medical Care has disclosed the compen-
sation of its Management Board members on an indi-
vidual basis. Compensation for the Supervisory Board is 

governed by article 13 of the Articles of Association. Our 
Supervisory Board members receive a fixed compensation.

Further details on the compensation of the Management 
and Supervisory Boards as well as detailed information 
on the stock option programs can be found in the finan-
cial report of this annual report from page 85 onwards.

transParencY of our rePorting
We attach special importance to informing our share-
holders simultaneously and uniformly about our Com-
pany in our regular financial reporting events. Ad hoc 
releases and our Web site play an essential role in these 
efforts. They provide institutional investors and private 
shareholders with equal and timely access to the infor-
mation we release. All ad hoc releases as well as other 
news for investors and the media are also published on 
our Web site. 

We keep our shareholders informed of key dates by 
means of a financial calendar that is published in the 
annual report, in quarterly reports and on the Web site 
of Fresenius Medical Care. 

inforMation on directors’ dealings and 
shareholding
According to article 15a of the German Securities Trading 
Act ( Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG ), members of the 
Management and Supervisory Boards or other employees 
in management positions are required to inform the 
Company when buying or selling shares in Fresenius 
Medical Care and related financial instruments if the 
volume exceeds € 5,000 within a single year. During 2008, 
we received a total of ten disclosures according to article 
15a of the German Securities Trading Act, which we 
published on our Web site in keeping with the regula-
tions as well as in the Annual Document. 

risk and oPPortunities ManageMent
In our opinion, good corporate governance means 
managing the risks of our business responsibly and rec-
ognizing opportunities for future development in suffi-
cient time. We have a comprehensive management 
system in place that takes care of identifying risks and 
opportunities early, optimizing the risk profile and mini-
mizing the costs related to these risks through timely 
intervention. Our risk management is an integral com-
ponent of our day-to-day business and is reviewed on 
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a regular basis by independent external auditors. Our 
compliance program also plays a significant role in en-
suring that our employees adhere to national and inter-
national regulations. Further information on Fresenius 
Medical Care’s compliance activities as well as risk and 
opportunities management can be found from pages 103 
and 91 onwards.

financial accounting and rePorting
Fresenius Medical Care prepares its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the United States Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting principles ( U.S. GAAP ) and 
publishes them within 90 days after the end of the fiscal 
year.

gerMan corPorate governance code and 
declaration of coMPliance for 2008
The German Corporate Governance Code includes key 
recommendations for the management and monitoring 
of companies listed on a German stock exchange with 
the aim of making the rules for managing and monitoring 
companies in Germany more transparent for investors. 
The code is also intended to boost the trust of the public 
as well as that of employees and customers in the man-
agement and monitoring of listed stock corporations. 

The majority of the guidelines, recommendations and 
suggestions in the code have been an integral and active 
part of Fresenius Medical Care’s day-to-day operations 
since the founding of the Company.

Fresenius Medical Care submitted the Declaration of 
Compliance required annually by article 161 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act in accordance with the rec-
ommendations of the German Corporate Governance 
Code as of June 6, 2008, and made it accessible to its 
shareholders. Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. kGaA 
complies with the recommendations specified by the 
German Corporate Governance Code for 2008. The fol-
lowing recommendations are the only ones which have 
not been or are not being applied: 

code clause 5.1.2 and 5.4.1 
“age liMit ManageMent and suPervisorY 
Board”
According to clause 5.4.1, an age limit shall be specified 
for the members of the Supervisory Board. According 
to clause 5.1.2 of the code the same shall apply for 

members of the Management Board. As in the past, 
Fresenius Medical Care will refrain from determination 
of an age limit for members of the Supervisory Board 
and the Board of Management since this would limit 
the selection of qualified candidates. 

code clause 5.4.6 
“coMPensation suPervisorY Board”
Based on clause 5.4.6. of the Code, members of the 
Supervisory Board shall receive fixed as well as perform-
ance-related compensation. The performance-related 
compensation should also contain components based 
on the long-term performance of the enterprise. Cur-
rently, Fresenius Medical Care pays a fixed compensation 
to the members of the Supervisory Board only. In addi-
tion, the introduction of a performance-related compen-
sation, linked to the success of the Company, to the 
members of the Supervisory Board is regularly considered. 

In accordance with clause 3.10 of the Code, this and all 
former declarations of compliance are available on our 
corporate Web site at www.fmc-ag.com in the Investor 
relations / Corporate Governance section.

eMPloYees

At the end of 2008, 64,666 people ( full-time equivalents ) 
were employed by  Fresenius  Medical Care: 3,260 or 5.3 % 
more than in the previous year. 

The increase in employee numbers is primarily the result 
of continued organic growth in our dialysis services 
business in all regions, as well as numerous acquisitions 
in Europe and Asia. No employees were laid off due to 
factory closures or similar measures such as deconsoli-
dations. This continues the trend of previous years. The 
number of employees has grown by an average of 8 % 
per year since the Company was founded in 1996. 

The highest percentage increase in employee numbers – 
15 % compared to 2007 – was again recorded in the 
Asia-pacific region. Organic growth was supported by 
clinic and production acquisitions in Australia, Malaysia, 
Singapore, Taiwan, China, and korea. In all other regions, 
the number of clinics and, as a result, the number of 
employees, also rose. 
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At the end of the year, approximately 3,600 people were 
employed by  Fresenius  Medical Care in Germany, 
accounting for nearly 6 % of the total workforce, another 
example of our high degree of internationalization.

In Germany, the average age of  Fresenius  Medical Care 
employees was 40.3 years in 2008, almost unchanged 
from the previous year. The average period of employ-
ment increased from 10 years in 2007 to 10.1 years in 
2008. In Germany our rate of staff turnover was again 
very low at 2.8 %; in the previous year it was 2.3 %.

 Fresenius  Medical Care’s personnel costs totalled 
$ 3.45 billion in 2008, about 10 % more than in 2007 
( $ 3.13 billion ). personnel costs comprised about 32 % 
of revenue, unchanged compared to 2007. Average 
cost per employee was about $ 53,000 in 2008 
( 2007: $ 50,800 ).

huMan resources develoPMent  
and Marketing
 Fresenius  Medical Care is continually expanding its ex - 
tensive range of activities in the dialysis industry. This 
means that the employees of the Group have access to 
high-quality continuing professional development ( CPD ) 
and develop professional skills in a broad range of 
medical, business, and technical fields. As an employer, 
 Fresenius  Medical Care makes a concerted effort to 
gear the numbers and expertise of its qualified employ-
ees and senior managers towards the current and future 
needs of the Company. Targeted human resources 
development measures and the attraction of new staff 
both play an important role in this.

In all areas of  Fresenius  Medical Care expertise, our em-
ployees must possess a high degree of specialized know-
ledge and have a passion for quality. Only then can 
we achieve our goal: using our medical services and 
products to help dialysis patients to lead better lives. 
 Fresenius  Medical Care surveys worldwide have repeat-
edly shown that our employees view this goal as integral 
to their work. 

An important focus of our human resources development 
is ensuring that our employees utilize and optimize their 
professional strengths and talents to the best of their 
ability. Human resources development encourages 
employees to take advantage of and improve their skills 
and advance their careers as specialists, managers 
and project managers. This is achieved through life-long 
learning, continuous feedback on performance and 
work quality, and providing professional challenges that 
are in line with employee ability. Senior management – 
supported by human resource experts – is committed 
to ensuring that these instruments are implemented 
throughout the entire company. At the beginning of 2008, 
the Group created the position of Global Human re-
sources Director. The Human resources Director is also 
responsible for managing selected human resources 
development projects worldwide, thus enabling syner-
gies and local experiences to be used and improved 
in a targeted way. 

In 2008,  Fresenius  Medical Care in North America began 
to focus on new learning modules for medical staff 
in clinics, and, once again, employee commitment was 
ex tremely high. A staff survey demonstrated the high 
 motivation of employees to help redesign or improve 
processes, thus providing important input for the further 
improvement of CPD. 

The great wealth of employee innovation became appa-
rent during the crisis in the southeast of the United 
States when Hurricane Gustav and Hurricane Ike were 
approaching the Gulf Coast in the fall.  Fresenius  Medical 
Care teams mobilized emergency care for our patients 
and employees in the disaster areas exceptionally quickly. 
The Company provided accommodation, generators, 
food, fuel, and additional staff. Thanks to the dedica-
tion of everyone involved, we were able to continue 
providing life-saving dialysis treatment for both current 
and new patients. 

Our innovative human resources development program 
for specialized dialysis personnel in the Asia-pacific 
 region ( presented in detail in the 2007 annual report ) 
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got off to a successful start. In January 2008, 25 young men 
and women began studying at the  Fresenius  Medical Care 
Institute of Dialysis Nursing ( F.I.D.N. ); more than 300 stu-
dents are expected in 2009. The F.I.D.N., the leading 
 education center of its kind in the world, ensures high 
dialysis care standards and thus plays a pioneering role 
in providing quality in the healthcare industry.

In 2008, we continued our longstanding cooperation with 
the International Business Academy INSEAD ( in Fontaine-
bleau and Singapore ). Here, senior managers from our 

subgroups come together on an international level. 
Further CPD modules for managers are being organized 
in each region. preparations are currently underway so 
that special modules for the Company’s senior manage-
ment can start next year. These modules will support 
managers in meeting the leadership requirements of a 
growing and highly integrated global company.

 Fresenius  Medical Care is one of the world’s largest 
employers of medical personnel. Finding the right staff 
for our expanding company is one of the most impor-

Chart 02.3.5 eMPloYeeS

Full-time equivalents

2008 64,666

2007 61,406

2006 56,803

2005 47,521

2004 44,526

 

  

  

  

  

Table 02.3.6 eMPloYeeS BY reGion

Full-time equivalents 2008 2007 Change

North America 40,509 39,161 3.4 %

Europe / Middle E ast /Africa 14,664 13,401 9.4 %

Latin America 5,935 5,749 3.2 %

Asia-pacific 3,558 3,095 15.0 %

ToTAl 64,666 61,406 5.3 %

Chart 02.3.6 eMPloYeeS BY reGion

63 % North America

5 % Asia-pacific

9 % Latin America

23 % E urope / Middle E ast /Africa

2008 fresenius Medical care

I p.
I   
97

   I02.3  non-financial PerforMance indicators



tant tasks of human resources. Therefore, the main 
objective of our presence at recruitment fairs, in print 
media, and at selected universities is to demonstrate 
that we are an attractive employer.

Thanks to a uniform technological platform, our man-
agement in North America can now carry out human 
resource planning more quickly and with more pre-
cision.

vocational training
An important factor in ensuring that a company is fit 
for the future is the professional training of young 
people in the company. This is why we take vocational 
training very seriously. We increased the number of 

trainee positions at all our German sites by an addi-
tional 10 %, on top of a 30 % increase in the previous 
year. 

We are focusing our marketing activities to an increasing 
extent towards schools, working with them to inform 
even more young people about the advantages of voca-
tional training within our company. We talk to students 
– and teachers. We invite students to our production 
sites to find out about corporate life and provide them 
with advice on applying for jobs; in our “SchuleWirt-
schaft” ( SchoolBusiness ) workshop, we deliver a range 
of CPD courses for teachers. In the middle of September, 
we held our second open day at Group headquarters in 
Bad Homburg with the theme “interactive education”. 

Chart 02.3.7 QUAlified occUPATionS (excerPT)

Amount

Industrial business management assistant 44

Management assistant for office communication 35

Certified industrial mechanic 30

Communications engineer specializing in IT 28

Bachelor of Arts International Business Administration ( BA ) 19

Chemical laboratory technician 17

Biological laboratory technician 13

IT systems electronics technician 11

Mechatronics fitter 10

Business information technologist 7

IT applications developer 6

pharmaceutical technician 6

Electrician 6

process engineer for plastics and rubber technology 5

Tool engineering technician 5

Mechanical engineer 4

Operating technology electronics technician 4

Systems integration specialist 3

Management assistant for freight forwarding and logistics services 2

Food technology specialist 2

Engineer specialized in plastics technology ( BA ) 2

Inventory management specialist 1

IT administrator 1

Systems mechanic 1
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The many visitors to the event learned about the trainee 
and vocational degree programs offered by our company, 
demonstrating that  Fresenius  Medical Care is an attrac-
tive provider of vocational training for young people. 
Last year we saw the first signs of the success of these 
marketing activities: bucking the trend of the vocational 
training market, we received considerably more high-
quality applications than in previous years. This is further 
proof that we are an attractive employer for both high-
school graduates and trainees.

At the beginning of December, for the first time,  Fresenius 
 Medical Care trainees participated in the innovation 
contest “Jugend denkt zukunft” ( young Foresight ). This 
took place at companies all over Germany, supported 
by politicians and professional and trade associations. 
The goal of the innovation contest is to encourage 
trainees to engage with a company and develop innova-
tive ideas for its future that will result in new products 
and services by 2020. In a one-week workshop including 
discussions with company representatives, participants 
generated ideas for our Company’s future. They also 
worked on product development and marketing proc-
esses in order to develop “innovative concepts for the 
customer service of the future”. Their ideas and propos-
als were put forward in a concluding presentation. 

At the end of October, a ceremony was held in Bad  
Hom burg in honor of the trainees who completed their 
training and vocational college students who graduated 
in 2008. Awards were presented to several chamber and 
state winners, and two students from the accadis Col-
lege in Bad Homburg received special mention for their 
excellent academic achievements.

Profit sharing
Our employees identify themselves to a high degree with 
the Company, which is a major contributing factor to 
our long-term success. This identification is supported 
by the fact that employees have a stake in the success 
of  Fresenius  Medical Care. The level of profit-sharing 
is linked to the Company’s operating result ( EBIT ), thus 
offering a value-oriented incentive. In 2008, each eligible 
employee received € 1,527 through the profit-sharing 
program. Two-thirds of the bonus was paid to the em-
ployees in the form of shares; the final third was avail-
able either as cash or shares.

stock oPtion Plan
Senior managers participate in the Company’s economic 
success and the development of the  Fresenius  Medical 
Care shares through stock option plans. The stock option 
program implemented in 2006 is directly linked to the 
success of the Company. Over a period of five years, 
our senior managers receive up to fifteen million options 
for ordinary bearer shares. These are exercisable after 
a waiting period of three years, if the adjusted earnings 
per share ( EPS ) hurdle of 8 % is achieved in every year 
of the waiting period. If this hurdle is achieved in only 
one or two years, the options are reduced accordingly. 
If the hurdle is not achieved at all, the options are can-
celled. The 2006 stock option program enables manag-
ers to participate in both the financial opportunities and 
risks of the Company, making an internationally competi-
tive remuneration system available to them.

In 2008, some 600 senior managers participated in the 
future success of  Fresenius  Medical Care’s through this 
program. Further information on the stock option plan 
can be found in the financial report beginning on page 85.

Table 02.3.7 ProfiT ShArinG

Year1 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Bonus in € 1,527 1,444 1,000 1,000 1,000

Number of eligible employees 2,581 2,483 2,101 2,101 1,624

1 Profit sharing is paid retroactively and reflects the Fresenius Group EBIT for the previous year.
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Portfolio exPansion and general 
factors 

dialYsis drugs
Dialysis drugs significantly contribute to the horizontal 
expansion of our product portfolio, beyond our dialysis 
services and products. Thus, they are perfectly in line 
with our strategic orientation. Typical drugs used to 
treat kidney patients counteract anemia and regulate 
the patients’ mineral levels. The spectrum includes 
erythropoesis-stimulating agents ( ESA ), iron compounds, 
phosphate binders, vitamin D, and so-called calcimimetics.

The hormone erythropoietin ( EPO ), which is normally 
produced by healthy kidneys, stimulates the production 
of red blood cells. Since the kidneys of dialysis patients 
can no longer produce this endogenous hormone 
themselves, EPO is administered during dialysis treat-
ment. A further component of anemia treatment are 
iron compounds that stimulate the blood formation of 
patients with reduced kidney function. phosphate  
binders improve bone mineralization. Excess phosphate 
consumed with food is normally discharged by healthy 
kidneys. This filtering process can only partially be re-
placed through dialysis for patients with chronic kidney 
disease. Too much phosphate in the blood can have a 
number of adverse effects, such as bone disease, thyroid 
problems and vascular calcification. Calcimimetics are 
administered when the thyroid gland is hyperactive, as 
is often the case with dialysis patients. Calcimimetics 
also have a positive effect on the calcium level in the 
bones. vitamin D is also very important for dialysis 
patients. The human body needs vitamin D to absorb 
sufficient calcium from food. In healthy bodies, this  
vitamin is then processed in the kidneys. A kidney with 
a limited function cannot adequately produce vitamin D. 
Hence, the stored calcium levels are too low.

In July 2008, Fresenius Medical Care concluded two 
separate and independent licensing and sales agree-
ments, one for the U.S. market and one for selected 
countries in Europe and the Middle East. The agreements 
cover the marketing and sales of the iron compounds 
venofer and Ferinject from Galenica Ltd. and its license 
partners. Both drugs are used to treat anemia as a  
result of iron deficiency in dialysis patients. venofer is 

the world’s leading intravenous iron product. More in-
formation can be found in the “Events Significant for 
the Business Development” section starting on page 60. 

Fresenius Medical Care’s total market volume of iron 
compounds in the world’s most important markets  
was about $ 800 million last year. With our cooperative 
agreements, we believe we are on the right track to 
reach our revenue goal of $ 400 million ( excluding eryth-
ropoietin ) for 2010. As part of our growth strategy, we 
will continue to pursue the horizontal expansion of our 
product portfolio. We will also strongly enhance our 
traditional offer ( ranging from dialysis machines to  
laboratory services ) with the integration and use of  
dialysis drugs . 

hoMe dialYsis
There are two kinds of home dialysis: peritoneal dialysis 
and home hemodialysis In 2008, around 11 % of all 
dialysis patients received peritoneal dialysis treatment. 
In recent years home hemodialysis was a niche market 
– at the end of 2008 only about 0.5 % of all patients 
worldwide received this treatment. 

By the end of 2008, we treated about more than 35,000 
peritoneal dialysis patients and approximated 3,500 
home hemodialysis patients. This made us the world’s 
largest provider of home hemodialysis. Approximately 
40 % of all home hemodialysis patients use our dialysis 
machines and dialyzers. 
 
We expect the need for home dialysis to increase sub-
stantially – driven by growing patient numbers and  
increasing cost pressure. Its significance and its market 
share – hand-in-hand with a growing availability of ad-
equate therapy options – could increase to around 4 % 
in North America in the next ten years. 

Fresenius Medical Care is ideally prepared to participate 
in this development. With the acquisition of the U.S. 
company renal Solutions, Inc. ( RSI ), we acquired a key 
technology for the expansion of home hemodialysis: 
the SORB technology. This technology purifies tap water 
for dialysis and the dialysis solution can be re-used ( see 
the section “research and Development” from page 82 on-
wards ).
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With the Continuum program, which we launched in 
2004, we intend to further enhance the attractiveness 
of our range of products and services for home dialysis. 
We provide our patients with excellent products and 
comprehensive training programs to make home dialysis 
easier and safer. Continuum is a holistic program. In the 
future, patients will not only be able to choose between 
hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis, but they will be 
able to decide whether they would like to be dialyzed 
in a clinic or at home. 

Home dialysis gives patients more say in how to allo-
cate their time, but it also requires more responsibility 
on their part. Therefore, this kind of therapy is not suitable 
for all patients. We want to educate doctors, nursing 
staff and healthcare decision makers, but primarily  
patients, and assure them that home dialysis is a safe, 
flexible and cost-effective option for the treatment of 
patients with end-stage renal disease when no other 
severe illnesses exist. Fresenius Medical Care’s many 
years of experience and safe, high-quality products are 
convincing arguments. 

laBoratorY services
Laboratory services complement Fresenius Medical 
Care’s service portfolio, as nephrologists require com-
prehensive lab tests to be able to tailor the therapy to 
the individual patient. The quality of the test results has 
a significant impact on the quality of the treatment and 
the quality of our patients’ lives. In 2008, our subsidiary 
Spectra Laboratories in the United States provided 
nearly 52 million laboratory services to approximately 
154,000 dialysis patients, an increase of 3 % ( 2007: about 
150,000 patients). 

Last year, Spectra Laboratories invested in information 
technology to be able to work even more flexibly and 
efficiently. Furthermore, environmental tests for dialysis 
clinics were added to its service portfolio. As a result, 
our clinics can now check the quality of their water at 

any time. Another novelty of Spectra Laboratories’ 
spectrum of services is the examination of product sam-
ples from our production lines. 

As part of our commitment to deliver best performance 
and services, Spectra Laboratories voluntarily adheres to 
a series of rigorous regulatory standards. This includes 
the requirements of organizations such as the Joint 
Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations 
and the College of American pathologists. 

neW reiMBurseMent Models
Dialysis reimbursement structures differ from country to 
country, and often even within one country. As a result, 
reimbursement rates and systems specified by govern-
ment impact on Fresenius Medical Care’s business. In 
the U.S., dialysis service reimbursement structures will 
change as from 2011. In portugal this change was al-
ready implemented in 2008: a lump-sum reimbursement 
was introduced.

u.s. Terminal kidney failure is one of the few chronic 
illnesses whose treatment is covered by public health 
insurance in the U.S. The treatment of more than 80 % 
of all U.S. dialysis patients is financed by Medicare and 
Medicaid, the American healthcare programs that manage 
the medical care of the elderly and people with low  
income who do not have private health insurance. 
Changes to the reimbursement levels or methods of 
Medicare and Medicaid can therefore have a significant 
effect on our business in North America. 

In the U.S., our most important sales market, a new and 
complex reimbursement system for dialysis treatment 
will be introduced for public healthcare patients ( Medi-
care ) as of January 1, 2011. The corresponding draft law 
was passed in July 2008. All products and services re-
imbursed according to the composite rate will be reim-
bursed in one lump sum in the future. The same applies 
to services such as the administration of certain drugs 
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and diagnostic laboratory tests which are now reim-
bursed separately. The bundled reimbursement rate will 
be adapted to patients’ characteristics such as age and 
weight. Adjustments are also planned for patients 
whose extraordinary medical care results in extremely 
high costs. In addition to the implementation of infla-
tionary adjustments, other special features of this new 
reimbursement system include the adherence to certain 
quality parameters. For example, the reimbursement 
rate will be decreased for dialysis clinics that do not 
meet certain quality standards. These standards com-
prise, among other things, patients’ satisfaction with 
the services, regulation of the hemoglobin content of 
the blood (anemia management), and the mineral me-
tabolism in the bones. Before the new reimbursement 
system takes effect, the composite rate will be in-
creased by 1 % in 2009 and another 1 % in 2010. 

Portugal. In portugal, where Fresenius Medical Care 
treats about 4,200 patients in 34 dialysis centers, the 
portuguese Ministry of Health and the national association 
of privately run dialysis centers agreed at the beginning 
of 2008 on a new reimbursement model for ambulatory 
care of hemodialysis patients. The new lump-sum re-
imbursement plan is a quality-oriented approach where 
the costs of individual dialysis services and products are 
no longer reimbursed, but rather a number of dialysis 
products and services are bundled. The aim is to achieve 
a more comprehensive patient care, an improved quality 
of care, and to boost the efficiency of the healthcare 
system in the dialysis area. With this new model, the 
fixed reimbursement per patient per week covers all 
necessary services and the use of dialysis products.  
The precondition is that certain treatment results are 
achieved and quality parameters maintained. Due to  
its high standards of quality and its proven methods of 
monitoring therapy results, Fresenius Medical Care  
is best placed to meet these requirements. For us, this  
reform not only means that the reimbursement rate  
( including the new additional services ) increased by 
around 50 %, it also gives us additional leeway for our 
quality-oriented research and development work that 
focuses on integrated products and services for this 
market. However, the additional sales potential is  
coupled with added research expenditure. 
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risk and oPPortunities ManageMent 

As a result of its worldwide activities, Fresenius Medical 
Care is naturally exposed to a variety of risks which are 
directly related to the Company’s business. Only by as-
suming risks we can seize the opportunities they offer. 
As a provider of life-saving products and therapies, we 
are only marginally subject to economic cycles, a key 
difference between us and, for example, a manufacturer 
of consumer goods. At the same time, our technical  
experience and our broad market knowledge provide a 
sound basis for detecting risks as early and as reliably as 
possible. 

Fresenius Medical Care sees risk management as the 
ongoing task of determining, analyzing and evaluating 
the spectrum of potential and actual developments, 
and, if possible, taking corrective measures. Our exten-
sive risk management system, the principles of which 
are set by internal guidelines, is therefore an important 
component of corporate control. It enables management 
to identify and reduce risks that could threaten the 
Company’s existence or growth at an early stage, and 
thus minimize their impact as far as possible. 

risk management is part of our integrated management 
information system and is based on group-wide control-
ling as well as an internal monitoring system. regional 
monitoring systems form the backbone of our risk man-

agement system and watch over all inherent industry 
and market-specific risks. The responsible risk managers 
present status reports to the Management Board twice 
a year. These provide qualitative and quantitative ap-
praisals of the likelihood of risks arising that have been 
identified as potentially harmful to the Company, as well 
as the potential extent of damage. In addition, the Board 
is immediately and directly informed of any newly iden-
tified risks. Efficient reporting is essential for controlling 
and monitoring risks as well as for taking precautionary 
measures. Therefore, the management of Fresenius  
Medical Care receives information on a monthly and 
quarterly basis about the state of the healthcare indus-
try, our operative and non-operative business, as well 
as analyses of our asset, financial and earnings position.
 
In 2007, our internal audit department was reorganized 
and strengthened as a part of the global company risk 
management system. The department works independ-
ently from the regions, and the head of department re-
ports directly to the CFO. The annual audit assignments 
are selected based on a risk assessment model. The 
audit plan is reviewed by the Management Board and 
finally approved by the Audit Committee. The plan con-
sists of financial audits and full-scope audits performed 
throughout the company. Audit reports are distributed 
to the Management Board and to our external auditors. 
The audit committee is informed about the audit results. 
In 2008, a total of 27 audits were conducted.

risk rePort
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Fresenius Medical Care’s opportunities management  
is a result of our efforts to closely observe individual 
markets and recognize trends early on. We identify op-
portunities based on comprehensive quantitative and 
qualitative analyses of market data, research plans and 
general health trends. The close cooperation between 
our strategy and planning departments and those respon-
sible for M&A activities allows us to recognize opportu-
nities worldwide as early as possible. Our ability to 
anticipate general economic, market-specific, regional 
and local trends at an early stage enables us to adjust 
our business model accordingly. As discussed in the 
“Dialysis Market” section starting on page 52, health sys-
tems and reimbursement criteria differ from country to 
country. Fresenius Medical Care’s position as a techno-
logically leading provider in the dialysis market with  
innovative products and therapies creates opportunities 
for future growth. We aim to take advantage of these 
with our long-term growth strategy GOAL 10 released in 
2005 (see page 47). Our Company objectives are discussed 
in detail in the “Outlook” section beginning on page 112.

We are listed on the New york Stock Exchange and are 
therefore required to adhere to the specifications of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Section 404 expects the Management 
Board of companies listed in the U.S. to take responsi-
bility for implementing and adhering to an appropriate 
internal control system to guarantee reliable financial 
reporting. As a non-U.S. company or “foreign private 
issuer”, we were obliged to comply with the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act by December 31, 2006. Fresenius Medical Care 
met the requirements one year earlier, on December 31, 
2005.

Our internal control system ensures that our financial 
reporting complies with applicable accounting standards. 
This is guaranteed by mechanisms such as automated 
and manual controls on the one hand, and by the  
separation of functions and adherence to guidelines 
and operational mandates on the other. Furthermore, 
the assessments carried out by management ensure 
that risks with a direct impact on financial reporting  
are identified and that controls are in place to minimize 
these risks. In addition, we stay abreast of changes in 
accounting standards and continuously instruct those 
responsible for preparing financial information with 
comprehensive training courses. 

Chart 02.4.2 coSo frAMeWork
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The criteria laid down in the “Internal Control – Inte-
grated Framework ( COSO framework )” set up by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-
way Commission form the basis for evaluating the ef-
fectiveness of our internal control system for financial 
reporting. Following the COSO framework, our internal 
financial reporting control system is divided into five 
levels and evaluated accordingly. Not only the control 
environment, but also risk evaluation, control activities, 
information and communication paths, as well as the 
monitoring of the internal control system are docu-
mented, tested and assessed. 

In 2008 we implemented a Sarbanes-Oxley Act 404 com-
pliance software. The documentation, testing and as-
sessment of the internal control system are carried out 
with this software. However, it supports a risk-based 
approach, enhances the efficiency of the management 
of internal controls, improves the quality of the data, 
and supports management in monitoring and assessing 
the internal control system.  

Our review of the internal control system for financial 
reporting complies with the guidelines published on 
May 23, 2007 by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
( SEC ) for the evaluation of the internal control system 
for financial reporting by management. The definitions 
as well as the requirements set out in the guidelines 
have been incorporated in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 404 
compliance software. 

regional project teams coordinate the evaluation of the 
internal control system. The Management assesses the 
effectiveness of the internal control system for each fis-
cal year and publishes its findings in the Annual report. 
External advisers are consulted as needed. A steering 
committee led by our Chief Financial Officer meets regu-
larly to find out about changes and new requirements 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as to discuss potential 
weak points in our system, and to derive further meas-
ures. In addition, the Audit Committee of the Super-
visory Board reviews the results of the Management’s 
assessment on a regular basis. 

The Management assessed the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control system for financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2008. Based on this assessment, 
management determined that the Company’s internal 
control system for financial reporting was effective as 
of December 31, 2008. The effectiveness of the internal 
control system for financial reporting was audited by 
KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, an independent regis-
tered public accounting firm, and confirmed in all  
material aspects as part of its review of our financial 
statements as of December 31, 2008. For further details, 
see page 112 of the financial report.

risk areas

The main risk areas with an impact on the business  
activities of the Fresenius Medical Care Group are as 
follows:

risks due to econoMic conditions
In addition to observing and evaluating the development 
of the global economy, we pay special attention to 
monitoring and assessing the political, legal and finan-
cial conditions. The predominately international mar-
kets of the Fresenius Medical Care Group also make it 
essential for us to conduct continuous, intensive analy-
ses of country-specific risks.

risks related to the general econoMic  
environMent
Fresenius Medical Care is affected by general economic 
fluctuations to a lesser degree than companies in other 
industries. The demand for dialysis products and services 
is largely independent of economic cycles and is also 
relatively stable. At present, the development of the glo-
bal economy presents no substantial danger to Fresenius 
Medical Care. For 2009, however, all the leading eco-
nomic institutes forecast a sharp downturn in the glo-
bal economy, which could have a slightly adverse effect 
on the growth of Fresenius Medical Care. Further infor-
mation can be found in the “Outlook” section from page 

112 onwards.
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risks in the healthcare industrY
risks related to changes in the healthcare market are of 
major importance to Fresenius Medical Care. The main 
risks include the development of new products and  
therapies by competitors, the financing of healthcare 
systems, and reimbursement in the healthcare sector. 

We actively minimize risks by closely monitoring the 
market, especially the products of our competitors and 
the introduction of new dialysis-related products. As 
part of our active risk management, Fresenius Medical 
Care has internal strategic departments that help us to 
anticipate and quickly react to new market conditions. 
Their main tasks are to identify and analyze all activities 
that could affect the dialysis market and the Group’s 
business, and communicate these within the Company 
on a regular basis. In addition, close ties with the medi-
cal and scientific communities allow us to quickly identify 
and capitalize on technological innovation. These alli-
ances also keep us up-to-date on alternative treatment 
methods and enable us to evaluate and, if necessary, 
adjust our corporate strategy. As a result, we continuously 
analyze and evaluate trends and review the progress of 
research and development projects. The development 
of new and innovative products will remain a decisive 
factor for success in the dialysis market in the foresee-
able future. 

As we operate in a highly regulated environment, changes 
in the law, such as those relating to reimbursement, can 
have a major economic and strategic impact on Fresenius 
Medical Care’s business success. This is especially true 
in the United States, where we generate about 89 % of 
our sales with dialysis services, the majority of which are 
financed by public health insurance programs. regula-
tory changes outside our most important market could 
also have a significant impact on the Company. For this 
reason, we not only carefully monitor regulatory planning 
and changes, but also intensively work with government 
healthcare agencies. Details on the changes in the reim-

bursement system in the U.S. can be found in the “New 
reimbursement Models” section beginning on page 101.

risks associated With oPerating activities
We counter potential risks in production, products and 
services using preventive and quality assurance measures.

research and develoPMent. The risk that goals 
may not be achieved or be achieved later than anticipa-
ted is inherent in the development of new products and 
therapies. A new product has to undergo comprehensive, 
cost-intensive preclinical and clinical studies before it 
can receive regulatory approval and is launched on the 
market. Fresenius Medical Care counteracts risks in re-
search and development projects by regularly analyzing 
and assessing development trends and reviewing the 
progress of the projects. Furthermore, we ensure that 
the legal regulations governing clinical and chemical-
pharmaceutical research and development are strictly 
adhered to. Our dialysis products research team develops 
new products and technologies in close cooperation 
with representatives from the medical and scientific 
community. Trade relations are established early on in 
the development phase. Further information can be 
found in the “research and Development” section  
starting on page 76. 

ProcureMent. We impose substantial quality standards 
on suppliers to control the risk of low-quality sourced 
raw materials, semi-finished goods and other compon-
ents. This includes demanding external certification, 
performing our own inspections of suppliers and sample 
products, as well as regular quality control checks.  
Fresenius Medical Care only accepts high-quality and 
safe products that are proven to be appropriate from 
certified suppliers that meet the Group’s specifications 
and requirements and have a proven track record. These 
suppliers are constantly evaluated using our exacting 
supplier assessment system.
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Fresenius Medical Care accepts market-related dependen-
cies of suppliers of strategically relevant materials in  
exceptional cases only and subject to defined conditions. 
In this regard, our purchasing strategy is aimed at sup-
porting and developing our partners and strategic sup-
pliers through long-term contracts while at the same 
time ensuring that we have at least two sources for all 
products and raw materials ( dual sourcing, multiple 
sourcing ) to ensure a steady supply at favorable prices. 

Fresenius Medical Care is also exposed to market-driven 
price fluctuations for raw materials. By conducting con-
tinuous market analyses, shaping supplier relations and 
contracts in accordance with our needs and reviewing 
the use of financial instruments on a case-by-case basis, 
we are able to counteract these fluctuations to a certain 
extent. Further information on procurement processes 
can be found on page 84. 

Production. Compliance with internal and legal pro-
duct and manufacturing regulations is ensured by our 
Integrated Management System in accordance with ISO 
9001, ISO 13485 and Good Manufacturing practice ( GMP ) 
requirements, and implemented according to written 
process and work instructions. regular audits are carried 
out by authorized quality management staff at each of 
our production sites to ensure that these adhere to the 
guidelines. The audits cover all areas and aspects affec-
ting quality, from management and administration to 
development, production and customer satisfaction. In 
2006, our production site for dialyzers in St. Wendel 
successfully passed an FDA ( Food and Drug Administra-
tion ) GMP Audit conducted by TÜV Süd product Service 
Munich under the mutual recognition agreement bet-
ween the European Union and the U.S. We have also 
introduced Lean Six Sigma in some of our plants. This  
is a management system used to analyze and better  
coordinate all production processes to permanently  
reduce the error rate. We intend to achieve even better 
production results and to further improve the quality of 

our products and related production processes. Further 
information can be found in the “production” section 
on page 86.

Personnel risks. Fresenius Medical Care has develo-
ped guidelines and codes of conduct for its employees 
worldwide to establish authoritative standards for our 
internal and external communication. With these guide-
lines and our compliance program, we aim to fulfil our 
own expectations and those of our partners, while ali-
gning our business activities with recognized standards 
as well as local laws and regulations. Further details on 
our compliance program can be found on page 91.

Employees who are entrusted with confidential or in-
sider information are under obligation to comply with  
relevant guidelines, such as the German Investor pro-
tection Improvement Act, and handle the information 
responsibly.

Our success depends to a large extent on the dedication, 
motivation and abilities of our employees. We counter-
act the risk of a shortage of qualified personnel through 
pre-emptive measures, such as employee development 
programs and comprehensive recruiting. Furthermore, 
we offer our employees performance-related bonus 
payments and attractive social benefits. Further details 
on our employee bonus scheme can be found on page 99.

In addition, we have launched several initiatives to fur-
ther increase job satisfaction among clinical staff, to im-
prove motivation and retain qualified staff in our clinics. 
These initiatives involve implementing improvement 
measures where they are needed, based on a thorough 
satisfaction analysis. To deal with the general shortage 
of trained clinical personnel, we use targeted marketing 
programs to locate qualified and motivated personnel 
for our clinics and thus ensure a high standard of treat-
ment quality. Comprehensive training programs such as 
the F.I.D.N., which is discussed from page 97 onwards, also 
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counteract a possible shortage of clinic personnel. risks 
in the area of personnel marketing are considered insig-
nificant as a result of our risk management strategies.

services. The very nature of the medical services we 
provide to patients at our dialysis clinics presents inherent 
risks. In this context, operational risks can arise, for ex-
ample in the area of hygiene. We counteract these with 
strict organizational and operational procedures, ongoing 
personnel training and patient-oriented working methods. 
Our ISO 9001 certified clinic quality management system 
is part of our Integrated Management System ( IMS ) as 
detailed on page 88. The ISO 9001 certificate also attests to 
“Good Dialysis practice”. In the U.S., we have successfully 
implemented the standards outlined in the kidney Disease 
Outcome quality Initiative ( KDOQI ) and the Center for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services ( CMS ) clinical perfor-
mance measures using our internal quality enhancement 
program. In addition to internal assessments of treatment 
data, annual internal audits of our processes provide a 
solid foundation for continuous improvement. Our clinic 
quality management system is also audited each year by 
external certification institutes such as the German TÜV 
or Medicare and CMS Networks in the U.S. As a conse-
quence, we are able to quickly identify quality flaws 
and risks and to remedy them in a timely manner.

The IMS also covers environmental management, as 
manufacturing dialysis products requires the use of envi-
ronmental resources and running dialysis centers pro-
duces clinical waste. An environmental management 
system, certified according to the ISO 14001 environ-
mental standard, has therefore been implemented in 
some of our production sites and dialysis clinics to fur-
ther protect the environment and resources while iden-
tifying potential savings for raw materials. please refer 
to the “quality and Environmental Management” sec-
tion starting on page 88 for further details. 

MaJor custoMers.In addition to a number of state-
owned and public health insurance carriers, private health 
insurers and companies are among Fresenius Medical 
Care’s customers. The largest private company is Davita, 
which is also the world’s second-largest provider in the 
dialysis services sector.

Fresenius Medical Care achieved about 1 % of its total 
revenue with Davita in 2008. Therefore we assess the 
risks arising from relationships with major customers to 
be relatively small. 

acquisitions and investMents. Fresenius Medical 
Care identifies potential financial risks arising from acqui-
sitions and capital expenditures early on by performing 
careful, in-depth reviews with the help of internal and, 
if necessary, external professionals. potential acquisitions 
and investments are analyzed at regular intervals by an 
internal committee ( Acquisition Investment Committee, 
AIC ) using internal guidelines and minimum requirements 
for a number of parameters. The efficiency of acquisitions 
and investments is also monitored subsequently on the 
basis of these key figures. Further information on cor-
porate performance measures can be found on page 44.

financial risks. The main financial risks that affect 
our Company are currency and interest rate risks. All 
other risks in this category are of secondary importance 
for Fresenius Medical Care.

We actively manage foreign currency and interest rate 
exposures that result from our business activities. risk 
management is based on strategies defined in close co-
operation with the Management Board. These include, 
for example, guidelines covering all steps and levels of 
the risk management process. They define responsibili-
ties for determining risks, the careful use of financial  
instruments for hedging purposes, and for accurate  
financial reporting. We also use derivative financial in-
struments to manage the risks from foreign exchange 
rate and interest rate fluctuations. These, however, are 
restricted to hedging exposures in relation to underlying 
transactions. Transactions for the purpose of trading or 
speculation are not allowed. All transactions are con-
ducted with highly rated financial institutions that are 
approved by the Management Board.

We use interest rate hedging instruments to reduce the 
impact of interest rate increases from our floating-rate 
financial liabilities. The aggregate nominal value of the 
respective hedge contracts, which all expire between 
2009 and 2010, was $ 285 billion as of December 31, 2008. 
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As of December 31, 2008, 75 % of the Group’s financial 
debt was protected against increases in interest rates  
either by fixed-rate borrowings or by interest rate hedges. 
Thus, only 25 % was exposed to the risk of increasing in-
terest rates. We are therefore hedged to a large extend. 
Based on the current headging, a sensitivity analysis  
results that the effect on the net income of Fresenius 
Medical Care would be less than 1 % if the relevant 
reference interest rates for Fresenius Medical Care 
would change by 50 basis points. 

Our foreign exchange exposures primarily result from 
transactions such as sales and purchases in foreign cur-
rencies between group companies located in different 
regions and currency areas. Most of our transaction  
exposures arise from sales of products from group com-
panies in the euro zone to other international business 
units. The foreign exchange risks are therefore related 
to changes in the euro against various other currencies. 
To hedge against these risks, we generally use foreign 
exchange contracts. The aggregate nominal value of 
foreign exchange derivatives as of December 31, 2008 
was $ 830 million. Based on a sensitivity analysis, Fresenius 
Medical Care estimates the effect on operating earnings 
to about $ 11 million. Although, it is assumed that the 
exchange rates of all non-hedged transactions in foreign 
currency change by 10 % to the disadvantage of Fresenius 
Medical Care. please see page 20 of the financial report 
( ”Liquidity and Capital resources” ) for further details.

deBtors. To reduce the risk of delayed or non-payment 
by customers, we evaluate the credit standing of new 
customers and review the credit limits of our existing 
ones. We monitor outstanding payments while assessing 
the possibility of default. please see page 7 of the financial 
report for further details on outstanding debts.

legal risks. risks associated with litigation are conti-
nuously identified, assessed and communicated within 
our organization. Fresenius Medical Care is involved in 
various legal proceedings resulting from our business 
operations. For details on ongoing proceedings and  

further information on the legal risks that Fresenius  
Medical Care is exposed to, please refer to Note 18 from 

page 95 onwards of the financial report. 

it risks. Fresenius Medical Care uses the latest hard-
ware and software to reduce potential risks from infor-
mation technology ( IT ). Our IT infrastructure is highly 
reliable and stable. potential IT risks are covered by a 
detailed disaster recovery plan, which is tested and  
improved on a regular basis. Fresenius Medical Care 
operates three data centers at different locations, each 
with an associated disaster recovery plan, thus further 
reducing the potential impact of a disaster at any one 
site. We use a mirrored infrastructure that creates a copy 
of critical systems, including clinical systems and the 
communication infrastructure and server. To minimize 
organizational risks such as manipulation or unauthorized 
access to sensitive data and programs, we use access 
protection by means of passwords. In addition, internal 
procedures must be observed that govern authorization 
assignment. These are monitored to ensure that they 
comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act ( see 
glossary on page 118  in the financial report). Operational 
and security audits take place annually. 

other oPerative risks. potential risks, such as those 
arising from the construction of new production sites 
or the introduction of new technologies, are considered 
early on in the planning stage and reviewed on an on-
going basis. When building new production sites, we 
use internal milestones which we monitor constantly. 
Further risk management measures limit the effect of 
environmental factors on dialysis services. Many of our 
own dialysis clinics have emergency generators that en-
sure that life-saving dialysis treatments can be continued 
even in the case of a complete power failure. Further-
more, in the U.S., for example, a Fresenius Medical Care 
emergency team steps in during natural disasters such 
as hurricanes to professionally coordinate relief efforts 
and provide dialysis treatment for patients in the affected 
regions.
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overall risk
The Management Board’s evaluation of general risk is 
based on Fresenius Medical Care’s risk management  
system, which is subject to regular external reviews and 
scrutiny from management. The effectiveness of the 
risk management system is monitored and improved if 
necessary as part of the group-wide review of the Inte-
grated Management System. The Management Board 
will continue to develop the risk management system 
as well as its review of the related management system 
to be able to identify, examine and evaluate potential 
risks even more quickly and ensure a timely and appro-
priate response. 

Based on the general principles for estimating risk factors 
described from page 103 onwards, we currently assume that 
none of the mentioned risks will significantly impair the 
asset, financial and earnings position of Fresenius Medical 
Care in the long term. Furthermore, no material changes 
in risks were identified compared to 2007. We have es-
tablished a structure that will allow us to quickly iden-
tify emerging risk situations.
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econoMic and Business environMent

No significant events took place between the closing 
date of December 31, 2008 and the annual report’s 
printing date of March 12, 2009. There were therefore 
no fundamental changes in the economic and business  
environment in our field of activity. Dialysis continues to 
be a medically indispensable and life-saving treatment 
for acute or chronic kidney failure for which there is no 
comparable alternative treatment with the exception 
of kidney transplantation. Therefore, Fresenius Medical 
Care is active in a relatively stable business area that is 
only exposed to economic cycles to a small extent.

We are currently not planning any major changes in 
Fresenius Medical Care’s organizational structure,  
administration, legal form or with regard to personnel 
which could lead to a significant impairment of the 
asset, financial and earnings situation of our company. 

overall assessMent of our Business  
situation 

Fresenius Medical Care’s business development met our 
expectations in the first weeks of 2009. 

As discussed in the Outlook section that follows, there 
is continued high demand for our dialysis products and 
services worldwide. Overall, the Management Board 
again assessed the Company’s business development as 
positive when this annual report was compiled. From 
today’s perspective, we expect to increase our revenue 
and earnings as forecast, and achieve the other perform-
ance ratios as planned. As this report goes to press, the 
current development of our business is basically in line 
with our expectations. 

 02.5   suBsequent events
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after achieving and partially exceeding our goals last 
year, we expect our sustainable growth to continue  
in the 2009 business year, resulting in new records in 
terms of revenue and earnings. despite the unfavora-
ble economic conditions worldwide, we consider  
ourselves to be prepared for achieving our goals for 
the year 2010.  

Business PolicY

Fresenius Medical Care is the world’s leading dialysis 
company. We intend to strengthen this position in the 
years to come by expanding our activities in business 
areas such as dialysis drugs. We will maintain our  
vertically integrated business model; at present, the 
Company does not plan any major changes to its  
business policy. 

general econoMic develoPMent

The economic climate deteriorated considerably in the 
course of 2008 due to the international financial crisis. 
Over the last few months, all the world’s major eco-
nomic research institutes have adjusted their forecasts 
for economic development in 2009 downwards signifi-
cantly. The outlook for worldwide economic growth 
continues to be characterized by great uncertainty and 
so the risk of further downward adjustment remains 

very high. For the current year, worldwide gross domes-
tic product growth is forecast to be under 1 %, in com-
parison to a growth rate of approx. 3.6 % last year. 
Unlike earlier phases of economic downturn, this steep 
economic decline is occurring simultaneously in all 
 regions. As a result, individual negative effects are rein-
forced overall. If the programs introduced to stabilize 
the financial sector and mobilize the demand for credit 
are successful, then the global economy could return 
to a growth path in 2010. 

u.s. After the decline in investment activity and indus-
trial production in the U.S. this year, a steeper and 
longer-lasting decline in private consumption is expected 
because of the flagging labor market. As a result, the 
gross domestic product is expected to decrease signifi-
cantly in 2009 by 1.5 % ( 2008: +1.3 % ). 

euroPe. A similar development can be identified in 
the euro zone. As in the U.S., declining investment and 
weak private consumption are having an adverse effect 
on the gross domestic product, which is forecast to 
drop by 2.7 % in 2009. The inflation rate is anticipated 
to fall to below 1 %, assuming that oil prices and the 
current exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the 
euro stabilize. 

The German economy has been in a recession since the 
end of 2008. Almost all economic indicators have dete-
riorated significantly in the last few months. The weak-

 02.6   outlook

 

Table 02.6.1 reAl GroSS doMeSTic ProdUcT

Expected change from the previous year in % 2008 2009 2010

U.S. 1.3 (1.5) 1.0

Germany 1.3 (2.7) 0.3

Euro region 0.9 (2.7) 0.1

Great Britain 0.8 (2.3) (0.4)

New EU member states 4.5 0.5 1.7

EU 27 1.2 (2.3) 0.2

russia 6.8 1.5 (1.0)

Japan 0.1 (1.5) 0.6

China and Hong kong 9.6 5.8 6.5

East Asia 4.4 1.9 3.3

Latin America 4.4 0.3 1.6

WorldWide 3.6 0.4 1.9

Sources: Institute for the World Economy at Kiel University: “Weltkonjunktur im Winter 2008; 19. Dezember 2008”, monthly reports of the Deutsche Bundesbank and the  
European Central Bank, German Federal Statistics Office
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ening of the world economy has had a particularly 
negative effect on exports, and corporate investments 
are expected to decrease considerably. This cannot be 
offset by comparably stable domestic demand or by 
Germany’s expansive financial policy. The gross domes-
tic product is expected to shrink by 2.7 %. 

Economic growth in Great Britain has been negative 
since the third quarter of 2008. With private consump-
tion further declining and investment activity remaining 
weak, the gross domestic product is also expected to 
decrease significantly, by about 2.3 %. 

asia. The export economy of China in particular, but 
also that of Japan, have slowed down quite substantially 
due to decreasing demand worldwide and especially 
exchange rate developments. Nevertheless, China’s 
gross domestic product is forecast to increase by 5.8 % 
in 2009 ( +9.6 % in 2008 ); the country is thus expected 
to remain the world’s most important growth driver.  
Japan’s gross domestic product, however, is expected 
to decrease by 1.5 %. 

latin aMerica. Economic growth in Latin America is 
expected to decline significantly in 2009. Countries that 
export raw materials are being adversely affected by 
the low prices for those materials. Overall, the gross 
domestic product is expected to stagnate in 2009.

Markets

We already offer our range of dialysis products and 
services in over 115 countries. Differences between the 
regions and between their regulatory frameworks mean 
that in some countries we only offer dialysis products 
and are not allowed to operate our own dialysis clinics. 
If the regulations in these countries, which include 
Japan, were to change, this would open up new dialysis 
service markets for us. More information can be found 
in the “risk and Opportunities Management” section 
starting on page 103. 

From today’s perspective, significant changes in the  
dialysis industry are not expected in 2009 and 2010. 
Market consolidation and the trend towards privatization 
of several years in the healthcare sector, particularly in 
highly industrialized countries, should continue in the 
future. In some markets, such as the U.S. dialysis serv-
ices sector, where the two major providers Fresenius 

Medical Care and Davita hold about 63 % of the mar-
ket, this process is more advanced. Market consolida-
tion outside North America, however, is at an early 
stage. Therefore, in these regions, we expect acquisi-
tions to play a more important role for Fresenius  
Medical Care in the development of new markets. 

sector-sPecific conditions –  
dialYsis Market

Fresenius Medical Care expects the number of dialysis 
patients worldwide to grow by about 6 % in 2009. Sig-
nificant regional differences will remain unchanged; we 
expect a slightly lower than average increase in patient 
numbers in the U.S., Japan, and Western and Central 
Europe. In these regions, the prevalence of terminal 
kidney failure is already relatively high and patients 
generally have secured access to treatment, normally 
dialysis. In economically weaker regions, the growth 
rates are much higher, with values of up to 10 %, and 
in some countries even higher than that. 

We are convinced that patient numbers will continue to 
increase in the coming years and expect annual growth 
rates of approximately 6 %. It is anticipated that the 
growing number of people suffering from high blood 
pressure and diabetes worldwide will contribute to  
sustained growth in the number of dialysis patients. 

The annual growth rates and the differences between 
economically strong regions and developing nations  
indicate that the regional distribution of patients will 
change. In the future, a higher proportion of patients 
will undergo dialysis treatment in Asia, Latin America, 
Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa. This opens 
up huge potential for the entire spectrum of dialysis 
services and products, as more than 80 % of the world’s 
population lives in these regions. 

We do not expect significant changes in the distribution 
of dialysis treatment modalities in 2009 and 2010. Hemo-
dialysis will remain the treatment of choice, accounting 
for about 90 % of all dialysis therapies. peritoneal dialy-
sis is expected to be the preferred treatment for about 
10 % of all dialysis patients. 

We expect that the volume of the worldwide dialysis 
market, which according to estimates amounted to 
about $ 65 billion last year, will increase by about 5 % 
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annually. As a result, the total market could amount  
to more than $ 70 billion by 2010, almost doubling its 
volume over a period of just ten years. 

We intend to maintain our market leadership in the 
major product groups such as dialyzers and dialysis  
machines, which is already at a very high level in some 
segments, and to improve it where possible. 

Business PerforMance of fresenius  
Medical care in 2009 and 2010

exchange rate relations
Fresenius Medical Care’s outlook for 2009 is based on 
an anticipated exchange rate of $ 1.36 to the euro. This 
exchange rate, in turn, is based on the year end rate 
of 2008 of $ 1.39 to the euro. As mentioned in section 
“ Economic Environment” on page 48, the relation  between 
the U.S. dollar and the euro is more important to  Fresenius 
Medical Care than any other currency relation. In its 
forecasts, the Company also takes other exchange rates 
that are relevant for the performance of its subsidiaries 
into account, such as yen to U.S. dollar and yen to euro. 

The current very volatile exchange rates have a major 
impact not only on our outlook for the local results of 
our subsidiaries, but also on the conversion of these 
 results to U.S. dollars. This is giving rise to greater uncer-
tainty and higher fluctuation margins. 

revenue
We intend to further increase our revenue in 2009 to 
more than $ 11.1 billion ( +8 % at constant currency ). As 
a result, we will be able to almost reach our “GOAL 10” 
target of more than $ 11.5 billion already in 2009. We 
intend to continue this positive development in 2010, 
achieving currency-adjusted growth of between 6 % 
and 9 %. 

net incoMe
In 2009, we aim to generate a net income between 
$ 850 million and $ 890 million. The targets of our GOAL 
10 growth strategy ( see also page 45 ) are based on an an-
nual net income growth of more than 10 % for 2009 and 
2010, based on stable exchange rates. At the time when 
this annual report went to press, no one-time effects 
were expected to have a significant impact on net in-
come in 2009. 

1 Internal estimates

Table 02.6.2 exPecTed GroWTh in nUMBer of PATienTS in 20091

Change

north America 4 – 5 %

U.S. 3  – 4 %

europe / Middle east /Africa 5 – 6 %

EU 3  – 4 %

Asia­Pacific 10 – 11 %

Japan 3  – 4 %

latin America 7 – 8 %

WorldWide 6 – 7 %
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earnings Per share
For 2009, we expect the earnings per share to grow in 
parallel with net income. We also expect the earnings 
per share in 2010 to develop in line with the expected 
improvement in net income.

dividends
We will continue to pursue our long-term profit-oriented 
dividend policy. Information on the proposed dividend 
increase can be found in the chapter “To Our Share-
holders” on page 37. We intend to continue this dividend 
development in 2009 and 2010. Over these two years, 
the dividend payout ratio should remain at the 2008 
level of nearly one-third of net income. 

caPital exPenditures and acquisitions
In 2009, we intend to spend about 7 % to 9 % – or $ 750 
million to $ 950 million – of our revenue on capital 
expenditures and acquisitions. While our planning  
foresees investments of about $ 550 million to $ 650 mil-

lion, the budget for acquisitions is $ 200 million to 
$ 300 million. We aim to maintain this level of capital 
expenditures and acquisitions in 2010. 

As in previous years, the Group plans to invest the ma-
jority of this amount in North America and Europe, our 
largest business regions. In addition to the ongoing 
modernization of our dialysis clinics and production  
facilities, capital expenditures will be allocated for new 
dialysis clinics, the expansion of worldwide production 
capacities, and for dialysis machines within the frame-
work of long-term supply contracts. Additionally, in-
vestments will be used to further rationalize production 
processes and to improve patient data management 
and billing. 

taxes
For 2009, we expect the effective tax rate to be between 
36 % and 37 %; a higher rate in 2010 is not anticipated. 

1 Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009
2 Full-time equivalents

Table 02.6.3 GoAlS 2009/2010

Results 2008 Goals 2009 Goals 2010

revenue $ 10.61 bil. > $ 11.1 bil. Increase + 6 % – 9 %

Net income $ 818 mil. $ 850 – 890 mil. Increase > +10 %

Earnings per share  $ 2.75 $ 2.89 – $ 3.03 Increase > +10 %

Dividend +7 % per ordinary share € 0.581 Continuous increase Continuous increase

Capital e xpenditures ( net ) $ 673 mil. $ 550 – 650 mil. –

Acquisitions ( net ) $ 215 mil. $ 200 – 300 mil. –

Tax rate 36.6 % 36 % – 37 % 36 % – 37 %

Debt / EBITDA r atio 2.69 Below 2.7 Below 2,7

Employees2 64,666 More than 67,000 More than 70,000

research and 
development expenditures $ 80 mil. ~ $ 95 mil. ~ 105 mil. $

product innovations e.g. 5008S dialysis machine
Further expansion of 

product and service range
Further expansion of 

product and service range
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cash floW
In 2009 and 2010, the operating cash flow is expected to 
account for more than 10 % of revenue. This takes into 
account potentially higher DSO ( days sales outstanding ) 
in some countries due to the difficult economic situa-
tion. reaching the cash flow targets will be guaranteed 
by a focused management of current assets. A revenue 
of more than $ 11.1 billion is forecast for 2009; operating 
cash flow for that year would thus be more than  
$ 1.1 billion. 

deBt / eBitda ratio
Fresenius Medical Care takes the debt / EBITDA ratio as 
its guideline for long-term financial planning. This ratio 
was 2.69 at the end of 2008 and we aim to keep it below 
2.7 in 2009 and 2010. 

financing
Although Fresenius Medical Care is not fully immune to 
the sustained worldwide financial crisis, we intend to 
continue to expand our business and meet our financial 
obligations by the maturity date. The syndicated credit 
facilities of the Company are spread over 60 lenders; 
none of these provide more than 4 % of the credit 
agreement of 2006.

We have a sufficient financial cushion – consisting of 
only partly utilized bilateral and syndicated credit facili-
ties and the accounts receivable facility – which we  
intend to preserve in the coming years. We aim to keep 
committed and unutilized credit facilities to a minimum 
of 10 % to 15 % of our debt portfolio. 

We will focus our financing activities in the coming 
years on reducing subordinated debt. Therefore, the 
subordinated trust-preferred securities Fresenius  
Medical Care Capital Trust II and III, which matured 
in February 2008, were not refinanced by issuing new 
subordinated debt, but instead by our existing senior 
credit facilities. 

Our mid-term target is to create a financing portfolio 
containing only senior and unsecured debt instruments.

refinancing needs for the years 2009 and 2010 will be 
limited to Euro Notes credit, amounting to $ 200 million 
in July 2009, as well as the annual extension of the 
accounts receivable facility amounting to $ 550 million 
( approx. € 395 million ). We aim to cover this refinancing 

requirement, the dividend distribution of approximately 
€ 173 million in May 2009 and the expected dividend 
payment in 2010 through our cash flow and by using 
existing credit facilities. The contractual obligations 
from debt instruments offer sufficient flexibility to cover 
our financing requirements. All in all, we expect to have 
sufficient financing to achieve our future goals and to 
continue promoting company growth. 

Further information can be found in the “Financial  
Situation” chapter beginning on page 70 as well as in 
the “risk and Opportunities Management” section  
beginning on page 103. 

theraPies, Products and services

The research and development of new treatment meth-
ods and products is a long-term process. The activities 
discussed in detail in the “research and Development” 
section, beginning on page 76, will remain the focus of 
our work. Our ongoing goal is continuous improvement 
of treatment quality and thus the quality of our patients’ 
lives. The use of platform technology – as in the work 
on the 5008S dialysis machine – will play a major role in 
improving products or extending their functions. At the 
same time, projects resulting from corporate decisions 
and current R&D activities are also of great interest as is 
following important trends on the market and in medi-
cine in general so that we can adapt our products and 
projects to the dynamic changes occurring in this envi-
ronment.

We are ideally equipped to meet future challenges, as 
we possess core competences in an increasing number 
of technologies that will be indispensable in the treat-
ment of chronic kidney patients in the years to come. 
We are constantly growing these competences, in 
keeping with current market trends and requirements. 
Our competitive position is extremely solid, due to the 
acquisition of renal Solutions, Inc. in November 2007. 
Finally, we benefit from the synergies resulting from the 
interaction between the various technological, medical, 
and academic institutes of our group. In order to ensure 
that we remain aware of our business environment and 
also our own accomplishments, we regularly evaluate 
our performance, benchmarking it against that of direct 
competitors and leading companies in other industries.
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We plan to spend around $ 95 million on research and 
development in 2009. Following the integration of rSI, 
the number of employees in R&D ( 415 full-time equiva-
lents ) is expected to remain fairly stable. In 2010, 
we  expect research and development expenditure to 
amount to about $ 105 million.

eMPloYees

As a result of further expanding its business, Fresenius 
Medical Care expects the number of employees to fur-
ther grow, especially in its dialysis clinics and production 
sites. We anticipate that, by the end of 2009, we will 
have more than 67,000 employees ( full-time equivalents ). 
This reflects an increase of 4 % year-on-year. We also 
expect our workforce to continue to grow in 2010, to 
over 70,000.

In keeping with our growth strategy, we see particularly 
promising opportunities in Asia-pacific. Employee num-
bers in this region will therefore increase significantly. 
Nevertheless, we do not anticipate any major changes 
in the worldwide distribution of our employees – most 
of them will continue to work in North America.

We will remain highly committed to training young 
people in Germany. In the years to come, we will  
continue to train beyond our own needs and thus  
fulfil our responsibility to society. 

legal structure and organization

Fresenius Medical Care has been a partnership limited 
by shares ( kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, kGaA ) 
since 2006. Changes to the legal form are not planned 
in the foreseeable future. As described in the “Group 
Structure and Business” section beginning on page 43, 
Fresenius Medical Care’s activities are organized into 
three operating segments: “North America”, “Interna-
tional”, and “Asia-pacific”: the last two are aggregated 
into the “International” segment for reporting purposes. 
We intend to retain this organizational structure in 2009 
and 2010. Our decentralized organizational structure 
enables us to react to market requirements with the 
greatest possible flexibility. This principle of “company 
within the company” with clearly defined responsibili-

ties has a proven track record of many years now and 
will therefore be maintained. 

Production

Expanding our production capacities is again a top  
priority this year. At the beginning of 2010, we will put 
a sixth production line into operation in our plant in 
Ogden, Utah. This will boost our production capacity 
there to over 45 million dialyzers a year. Two further 
production lines for fiber bundles will start operating in 
Ogden in 2010 and 2011. In addition to the expansion 
of our capacities, we will also better coordinate proc-
esses between the production sites and the supply 
chain. 

One of our goals for 2009 is to achieve Six Sigma quality 
standards and correspondingly high efficiency in all  
of our Asian plants. We will double our capacities to  
7.5 million dialyzers a year; in five years we plan to 
manufacture almost 20 million dialyzers annually in 
Asia. 

The Chinese and other Asian-pacific markets will con-
tinue to grow strongly in the next few years. Conse-
quently, we intend to introduce more products there 
and manufacture products locally. At our plant in 
Jiangsu, we will manufacture concentrates for hemodi-
alysis and peritoneal dialysis solutions for the Chinese 
market. We will also expand our capacities in Japan. 
The Indian market is becoming increasingly interesting 
for us. According to estimates, in 15 years India will 
have a population on a par with that of China. As a re-
sult, our motto for the Asia-pacific region in the years 
to come will continue to be: “prepare for growth”. We 
want to be ready to meet the growing demand in the 
region at all times.

Furthermore, we will continue to implement our techni-
cal management system TAM ( see page 88 ) in 2009. In ad-
dition to the nine countries where we apply TAM today, 
we also intend to extend its use to other European 
countries as well as large areas of South America over 
the next year. This will lead to a new level of quality 
and efficiency in customer service in these regions.
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ProcureMent and logistics

In 2009, in our International segment, we intend to im-
plement measures that were developed in our projects, 
for example, in supplier management, and in the “pur-
chasing Excellence” initiative ( see page 84 ). This will result 
in further cost savings in procurement and logistics.  
Another item on our agenda is the introduction of a 
uniform SAP-based information system for purchasing. 
It will comprise a bid management tool and an ad-
vanced purchasing controlling module for harmonized 
supplier and contract management.

Overall, supply chain management ( see also page 85 ) will 
gain increasing strategic importance in the Fresenius 
Medical Care Group, as it is the optimal lever for im-
proving quality, costs, and service. This is one reason 
why we plan to centralize supply chain management 
for the Europe / Middle East /Africa region in the future.  

In 2009, material costs will remain a challenge for us. 
As a consequence, we will step up our worldwide 
search for new, qualified suppliers. It remains to be 
seen whether overall demand for raw materials and 
other materials will decrease and prices will drop in the 
face of the generally unfavorable economic climate. 
The growing markets in the Asia-pacific region will con-
tinue to put pressure on supplier capacities in individual  
material groups. As a result, apart from cutting costs, 
safeguarding the required production capacities is on 
our agenda in 2009. The potential in North America and 
Asia-pacific will play an increasingly prominent role;  
initiatives to this end have already been launched.    

In 2009, our logistics activities will focus on integrating 
our Darmstadt warehouse into the new distribution 
center in Biebesheim ( both near Frankfurt / Main, Ger-
many ). More information on our distribution center  
can be found in the “procurement and Logistics” section 
beginning on page 84. Furthermore, we plan to harmo-
nize our warehousing in Central Europe and the Asia-
pacific region. 

In North America, we will bring together our third-party 
transport services under one brand name and thus gen-
erate additional revenue. We also intend to step up 
cross-border cooperation of the logistics departments 
in the U.S., Canada, and Mexico. Building extensions 
and moving to new sites will gear our distribution net-
work to better suit customer needs. A major challenge 
will be the integration of new products into the supply 
chain and the development of logistics solutions for  
increasing warehouse and transport volumes. 

qualitY and environMental  
ManageMent 

We intend to further enhance the effectiveness and  
efficiency of our quality management system in 2009. 
To this end, we will offer more audits, training sessions, 
and coaching to our subsidiaries, focusing on the topics 
of legal regulations, improvements to the management 
system, and risk management. Moreover, through ef-
fective measures and systems, we intend to bring about 
improvements in all of our business processes. 

An important aspect of quality management is quality 
risk, which will be viewed in closer relation to financial 
risk in future. The background for this change is the 
fact that all company activities have a financial impact. 
As a consequence, financial and quality management 
are to be consolidated into the Company’s risk man-
agement.

This year, we will expand our environmental manage-
ment system on the basis of ISO 14001 and certify further 
dialysis centers ( see page 88 ); Spain and romania will be 
the focus in 2009. We aim to certify our first dialysis 
clinic in Sweden according to ISO 9001. Our goal is for 
more than 75 % of our clinics to be certified with ISO 
9001 by the end of the year and for half of our clinics to 
have ISO 14001 certification. This means a total of 45 
new certifications according to ISO 9001, and 65 accord-
ing to ISO 14001. Another focus in 2009 will be ensuring 
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that employees are qualified to carry out audits, partic-
ularly in Eastern Europe. In addition, we are aiming for 
certification of our production sites for dialysis concen-
trate in Ober-Erlenbach, Germany, and our Serbian plant, 
where dialyzers, tubes and concentrate are made. 

In 2009, we will also implement our efficiency initiative 
“Energy squeeze” at our most important European 
plants. The goal is to save 5 % of energy consumed at 
these factories so far, which would cut costs by nearly 
€ 1 million this year alone. This will further contribute 
to achieving the goals of our environmental program 
( see page 90 ). 

Last year, using our clinical database EuCliD5, we devel-
oped the “e-con 5” integrated software solution for 
eco-controlling in our clinics. It records environmentally 
relevant data – for example, on energy consumption or 
waste disposal – more efficiently, stores these data in 
high quality, and provides convenient methods for ana-
lyzing the data. The pilot application in Slovenia, where 
the clinics have been working with the software since 
January 2008, was successful. The software will be 
rolled out to other countries this year. As a result, our 
vision of a comprehensive data management system in 
Europe is gradually becoming reality.

oPPortunities 

As mentioned on page 43 in the “Group Business and 
Structure” section, certain demographic factors have a 
decisive impact on Fresenius Medical Care’s growth op-
portunities. These include the aging population and the 
increasing incidence of diabetes and hypertension, two 
illnesses that frequently precede the onset of end-stage 
renal disease ( ESRD ). Due to these developments, there 
is a growing need for dialysis products and services. We 
intend to make a significant contribution to covering 
this need by supplying renal patients with high-quality 

products and services. At the same time, we will perse-
vere to achieve our goal of operating at profit. 

Fresenius Medical Care can benefit as further markets 
open up, particularly in Eastern Europe and Asia.  
Although we already sell dialysis products in most of 
these markets via distributors or our own sales organi-
zations, we only provide dialysis services in our own 
clinics in some of them. This is partly due to legal re-
strictions and to the fact that the prerequisite economic 
conditions often do not exist – for instance, appropri-
ate reimbursement structures or functioning health  
systems. 

In Japan, new opportunities for Fresenius Medical Care 
could arise from changes in the legal framework. If the 
regulations for operating dialysis clinics in this country 
are changed, enabling private companies such as  
Fresenius Medical Care to run their own clinics, this 
would open up significant new growth potential. Japan 
is the biggest market in Asia with about 290,000 dialysis 
patients, representing more than half of all dialysis  
patients in Asia. In addition, populous countries such  
as China and India will provide further growth opportu-
nities over the long term. Therefore, we intend to 
strengthen our presence in India’s eight largest cities  
by offering dialysis services there. 

Germany is the fourth-largest market worldwide in 
terms of the number of dialysis patients treated. We 
have an excellent market position there, thanks to the 
quality of our products. Whereas previously only  
doctors in private practice, hospitals, and nonprofit  
organizations were allowed to operate dialysis clinics, 
Fresenius Medical Care can now run dialysis clinics in 
medical care centers. Medical care centers are facilities 
managed by doctors with different areas of expertise: 
these are either salaried physicians or physicians under 
contract to the statutory healthcare insurance provider. 
We see ourselves as the partners of our customers with 
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regard to establishing new structures in the German 
healthcare system, and we will take advantage of any 
opportunities available to strengthen our business long-
term through this commitment. At the end of 2008, we 
had a share in two medical care centers. 

Further opportunities arise from the research and devel-
opment of new treatments for renal patients. A weara-
ble artificial kidney could be developed in the future. 
However, research is still in its infancy, and it is unlikely 
that significant numbers of patients will be treated in 
the short and medium term. Fresenius Medical Care 
made the first step with the acquisition of renal Solu-
tions, Inc. in 2007. Should such systems be developed, 
their use would open up considerable potential for  
Fresenius Medical Care in terms of dialysis products  
and services connected with home dialysis. 

renal drugs are another business area offering excellent 
long-term growth opportunities. The integration of the 
phosphate binder phosLo into the product portfolio in 
fall 2006 as well as its expansion through intravenous iron 
compounds in the previous business year are key steps 
forward in this area. Other renal drugs are vitamin D, 
iron compounds and calcimimetics. The Company esti-
mates the size of the market for renal drugs of these 
four product groups to total more than $ 2.5 billion with 
respect to 2008. 

Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care could benefit from 
a number of opportunities arising from its operating 
business. These include a continually optimized 
procure ment process and cost-efficient production. 

general stateMent on exPected  
develoPMents

We view Fresenius Medical Care’s prospects for the 
years to come as very positive. At present, all regions 
are expected to contribute to revenue and earnings 
growth on a constant currency basis. 

In 2008, we aspire to strengthen our market position in 
all segments and to pursue our growth plans resolutely. 
This includes building new clinics and the targeted  
acquisition of dialysis clinics in all regions, as well as 
the expansion of our production capacities. 

This outlook takes into account all factors known at the 
time of preparing the financial statements that could 
affect our business in 2009 and beyond. Major risks 
are discussed in the risk report beginning on page 105. 
Fresenius Medical care will do everything in its power 
to attain or – if possible – exceed its goals.
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How can quality extend patients’ life 
expectancy?

“Dialysis prolongs patients’ lives today by years or even decades; in the early days of 
kidney treatment, it was a matter of days and weeks. The difference is in the quality 
of the machines, drugs and nursing care offered. In Latin America, too, we enjoy our 
customers’ trust: They know that we have the best products and services in the 
market.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Horst Georg Radtke

Job Title Executive Vice President Latin America

Age 58 Years

Nationality German, Chilean

 
Joined

 in 1986 to 1995 and 
from 1997 to the present day

FURTHER INFORMATIONChap. 03.1 – 3
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fresenius Medical care ag & co. kgaa

 
 
suPervisorY Board
 

dr. gerd krick

Chairman 

königstein, Germany

suPervisorY Board 

Fresenius SE ( Chairman )

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

VAMED AG, Austria ( Chairman )

Allianz private krankenversicherungs-AG 

( until April 16, 2008 )

 
advisorY Board

HDI Haftpflichtverband der deutschen Industrie v.a.G. 

( until December 31, 2008 )

dr. dieter schenk

vice Chairman  

Attorney and Tax Advisor 

Munich, Germany

suPervisorY Board 

Fresenius SE ( vice Chairman )

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG ( vice Chairman )

Gabor Shoes AG ( Chairman )

Greiffenberger AG ( vice Chairman )

NSL Consulting AG ( Chairman until September 2008 )

TOPTICA photonics AG ( Chairman )

 
advisorY Board

Else-kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung ( Chairman )

 

dr. Walter l. WeisMan

Former president and Chief Executive Officer  

of American Medical International, Inc. 

Los Angeles, U.S.

suPervisorY Board 

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

 
Board of directors

Maguire properties, Inc. ( vice Chairman  

and Lead Director until September 1, 2008 )

Occidental petroleum Corporation

Board of trustees

California Institute of Technology ( „Senior Trustee” )

Los Angeles County Museum of Art ( „Life Trustee” )

Sundance Institute ( Chairman )

Samuel H. kress Foundation ( vice Chairman until  

November 1, 2008 )

John gerhard kringel

Former Senior vice president of Abbott Laboratories, Inc. 

Durango, Colorado, U.S.

suPervisorY Board 

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

 
other

Natures view, LLC

Alpenglow Development, LLC

Justice, LLC

river Walk, LLC
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dr. WilliaM P. Johnston

Former Chairman of the Board of Directors of renal Care 

Group, Inc. Nashville, Tennessee, U.S.

suPervisorY Board 

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

 
other

The Carlyle Group ( Senior Advisor )

The Hartford Mutual Funds, Inc. ( Member of Board of Directors )

LifeCare Holdings, Inc. ( Member of Board of Directors )

Multiplan, Inc. ( Member of Board of Directors )

Georgia O’keeffe Museum ( Member of Board of Directors )

HCR-Manor Care, Inc. ( Member of Board of Directors  

since February 2008 )

 
Prof. dr. Bernd fahrholz

Attorney, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

suPervisorY Board 

SMARTRAC N.V. ( Chairman )

 

suPervisorY Board coMMittee
 

audit and corPorate governance coMMittee 

Dr. Walter L. Weisman ( Chairman )

John Gerhard kringel

Dr. Gerd krick

Dr. William p. Johnston

prof. Dr. Bernd Fahrholz
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suPervisorY Board
 

dr. ulf M. schneider

Chairman  

Frankfurt am Main, Germany

ManageMent Board 

Fresenius SE ( Chairman )

 
suPervisorY Board

Fresenius kabi AG ( Chairman )

HELIOS kliniken GmbH ( Chairman )

Eufets AG ( Chairman )

Fresenius kabi Austria GmbH, Austria

Fresenius kabi España S.A., Spain

Fresenius Medical Care Groupe France S.A.S., France 

( Chairman )

Fresenius HemoCare Nederlands B.V., the Netherlands

Board of directors

FHC ( Holdings ), Ltd., Great Britain

App pharmaceuticals, Inc., U.S.

Fresenius kabi pharmaceuticals Holding, Inc., U.S. 

( Chairman )

 
dr. dieter schenk

vice Chairman  

Munich, Germany

dr. gerd krick

königstein, Germany

dr. Walter l. WeisMan

Los Angeles, U.S.

John gerhard kringel

Durango, Colorado, U.S.

dr. WilliaM P. Johnston

Nashville, Tennessee, U.S.

ManageMent Board

dr. Ben liPPs

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  

Boston, Massachusetts, U.S.

ManageMent Board 

Fresenius Medical Care Holdings ( Chairman )

Fresenius SE

 
dr. eManuele gatti

Chief Executive Officer for Europe, Latin America, Middle East 

and Africa, Bad Homburg v.d.H., Germany

suPervisorY Board

Centre d’Hémodialyse du Languedoc Méditerranéen S.A.S. 

( until June 30, 2008 )

Fresenius Medical Care Magyarország kft., Hungary

Fresenius Medical Care Dializis Center kft., Hungary

Fresenius Medical Care Groupe France S.A.S.

Board of trustees 

Danube University krems, Austria ( Chairman )

roBerto fusté

Chief Executive Officer for Asia-pacific, Hong kong, China
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unless otherwise indicated, all trademarks mentioned in the 
2008 annual report of fresenius Medical care have been 
registered in the respective countries and are subject to the 
trademark rights of fresenius Medical care. they are either 
owned or used under license by fresenius Medical care and 
its affiliates.

– 5008 TherAPY SYSTeM

This therapy system offers advantages for both patients and 
caregivers. The innovative, user-friendly interface makes the 
preparation of the hemodialysis treatment more efficient and 
the treatment itself safer; guarantees simple data processing. 

A A.n.d.Y.·diSc

A peritoneal dialysis double-bag system with lactate-buffered 
peritoneal dialysis fluid with PIN- and DISC technology for an 
easy and safe handling by the patient.

 B BAlAnce

Lactate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution with stay safe 
technology in a double- bag system. After mixing the contents 
of the two compartments, the ready-to-use solution has a  
physiological pH and a considerably reduced amount of  
glucose degradation products aiming at preserving of the  
peritoneal membrane function as well as the residual renal 
function.

 B BcM – BodY coMPoSiTion MoniTor

Based on bio-impedance spectroscopy, this device can be  
used to assess the body composition and quantify the level  
of overhydration in dialysis patients. 

 B BiBAG

Dry bicarbonate concentrate for online production of liquid  
bicarbonate concentrate used in bicarbonate hemodialysis 
with our hemodialysis machines of the 4008 and 5008 series.

 B BicAVerA

physiological peritoneal dialysis solution with stay·safe technol-
ogy in a double-bag system. After mixing the contents of the 
two compartments, the ready-to-use solution has a physiolo-
gical pH and a considerably reduced amount of glucose degra-
dation products aiming at the preservation of the peritoneal 
membrane function and the residual function as well as better  
acidosis correction.

 B Biofine

PVC-free, biocompatible material for producing foils, tubing 
and other components for peritoneal and acute dialysis.

 B Blood PreSSUre MoniTor ( BPM )

Module for hemodialysis machines for fully automated blood 
pressure monitoring.

 B Blood TeMPerATUre MoniTor ( BTM )

Module for hemodialysis machines to measure blood tem-
perature. It can be used to control the body temperature of  
a dialysis patient, for example.

 B Blood VolUMe MoniTor ( BVM )

Module for hemodialysis machines to measure relative blood 
volume and control fluid removal from the patient to avoid 
complications during dialysis treatment.

C cAlciMiMeTicS

An expansion of the therapy options to more effectively influ-
ence the bone and mineral change in patients with chronic 
kidney disease.

C cArdioProTecTiVe heModiAlYSiS

An integrated hemodialysis therapy developed by Fresenius 
Medical Care that deals with cardiovascular disease in dialysis 
patients.

C ci­cA SYSTeM

Multifiltrate with integrated regional citrate anticoagulation  
for a renal replacement therapy without the need for systemic 
anticoagulants, thereby reducing the risk of bleeding.

C conTinUUM – diAlYSiS WiThoUT BoUndArieS

Comprehensive program of Fresenius Medical Care to  
emphasize home dialysis – including home hemodialysis  
and peritoneal dialysis – for patients and healthcare  
professionals.

Products and services of fresenius Medical care
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D dAli – direcT AdSorPTion of liPoProTeinS

First method for the direct adsorption of lipoproteins from 
whole blood. Apheresis treatment for patients whose LDL 
cholesterol levels cannot be lowered sufficiently through  
medication alone.

D diASAfePlUS

Filter which produces ultrapure dialysis fluid during  
hemodialysis.

D diSc TechnoloGY

Unique technology where a DISC integrated in the bag system 
guides the patient through the essential steps during Continu-
ous Ambulatory peritoneal Dialysis ( CAPD ), virtually eliminating 
operating errors.

 E eUclid

European Clinical Database. Clinical database for ensuring  
the quality of dialysis treatment. The database records the 
treatment data of dialysis patients and allows an efficient  
comparison of treatment quality among individual dialysis  
clinics.

  F freSeniUS PolYSUlfon diAlYzer

Dialyzer with capillaries made from Fresenius polysulfone.

  F fx­clASS diAlYzer

A new class of dialyzer with increased performance and  
outstanding biocompatibility. The improved performance of  
FX-class dialyzers was realized with an innovative dialyzer 
concept, comprising improvements of individual components, 
including the Helixone membrane.

G GeniUS

Innovative hemodialysis therapy system based on a single-pass 
batch system. All the dialysate needed is prepared in one batch 
before treatment and adjusted to the requirements of the indi-
vidual patient.

G GrAnUdiAl

Dry acid and bicarbonate concentrates for the offline  
production of liquid concentrates for bicarbonate  
hemodialysis.

H helixone

An advanced high-flux membrane for FX-class dialyzers based 
on the Fresenius polysulfone membrane. The size and distri-
bution of pores in Helixone have been optimized to enable  
the removal of larger uremic toxins such as β2-microglobulin.

 I icAre MoniTorinG SYSTeM

Web-based system for monitoring nocturnal dialysis treatment 
from a central location and comparing actual with predefined 
data as the patient sleeps. The system reacts to any deviations 
from the defined data by contacting the patient immediately, 
using the emergency information provided.

 I in­line STeAM STeriliSATion

Specific steam sterilisation method employed by Fresenius  
Medical Care in the production of polysulfone dialyzers. One 
particular advantage is the automatic rinsing out of all sterili-
sation by-products and bacterial debris during actual dialyzer  
production. 

 I iQcArd

Used with the Fresenius Freedom Cycler PD+ to monitor every 
minute of automated peritoneal dialysis therapy. The data  
stored by the IQcard can be used to optimize the patient’s 
therapy as well as for research purposes.

 L liBerTY cYcler

Innovative device with PIN technology for automated perito-
neal dialysis marketed exclusively in the U.S. The Liberty Cycler 
automatically regulates the exchange of used and fresh dialysis 
fluid. It is equipped with a state-of-the-art pumping mechanism, 
is easy to set-up and also has an integrated patient data man-
agement software.

M MUlTiBic

A bicarbonate-buffered solution for hemofiltration.

M MUlTifilTrATe

Multifunctional acute dialysis machine used for therapy in  
intensive care.
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 on­line cleArAnce ( olc ) /
O on­line cleArAnce MoniTor ( ocM )

Optional quality assurance component for hemodialysis  
machines to measure online the effective in-vivo dialyzer  
clearance.

O onlinePlUS SYSTeM

A system for our 4008 and 5008 series hemodialysis machines 
to perform ONLINE hemodiafiltration and ONLINE hemofiltration. 
The infusion fluid is prepared conveniently and cost-efficiently 
by filtering dialysate.

O oPTiflUx

A dialyzer generation for the U.S. market, featuring improved 
clearance rates and outstanding biocompatibility.

 P PATienTonline

patientOnLine is a PC software tool recognized as medical 
device to administer patient data, to evaluate treatment results  
and to optimize prescription in order to ensure best treatment 
outcomes for peritoneal dialysis patients.

 P PhoSlo

A calcium acetate phosphate binder for oral application in 
end-stage renal disease patients.

 P Pin TechnoloGY

Unique automatic inline-closing system that eliminates the risk 
of contamination during disconnection from peritoneal dialysis 
( PD ) systems.

 P PlASMAflUx

Capillary membrane filter used to separate plasma from other 
blood components.

 P ProMeTheUS

Novel extracorporeal blood purification system for patients 
with hepatic failure.

 S SleeP·SAfe

Automated peritoneal dialysis system for a safe and convenient 
treatment during the night. One of sleep·safe’s main features 
is the automatic bag connection and the inline warming of the 
peritoneal dialysis fluid.

 S SorB TechnoloGY

purifies tap water to dialysate quality and allows dialysate to 
be regenerated; a water- and space-saving technology very 
suitable for home-hemodialysis and thus an important step  
towards a wearable kidney.

 S STAY·SAfe

Manual peritoneal dialysis system with PIN and DISC technology 
made of PVC-free Biofine material.

U UlTrA cAre

Innovative and integrated treatment concept in Fresenius  
Medical Care’s North American dialysis clinics combining, for 
example, the On-line Clearance Monitor, ultrapure dialysis  
fluid and the use of disposable high flux polysulfone dialyzers.

U UlTrAflUx

Filters for acute dialysis treatment.

V Venofer

Iron product used to treat anemia in dialysis patients resulting 
from iron deficiency.

The financial glossary is included in the financial report  
on page 117.
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03.2  glossary

HealtHcare and dialysis-related terms

A Acute Kidney FAilure

Acute loss of renal function. There is a good chance of recovery 
of the renal function if the cause of the acute kidney failure 
can be eliminated. Depending on the severity of renal function 
loss, intermittent dialysis treatment may be necessary.

A AdequAcy

The term refers to the quality of dialysis treatment. To measure 
adequacy, tests are performed to see if enough fluid and  
substances have been removed from the patient’s blood.

A Albumin

A protein that can be used to monitor a patient’s nutritional 
condition.

A AnemiA

Reduced oxygen transport capacity of the blood, measured  
as reduced hemoglobin content in the blood.

A AnticoAgulAnt

An agent ( e. g. heparin ) that prevents the clotting of blood 
( see blood coagulation ).

A Apheresis

Process of obtaining blood from a donor or a patient to  
separate or remove certain components ( thrombocytes, 
plasma ) before reinfusing the remainder.

A Arterio-Venous ( AV ) FistulA

A direct surgically created connection between an artery  
and a vein in a patient. This connection forms a large blood 
vessel with an increased blood flow, providing access for  
hemodialysis.

A Artery

A blood vessel that carries blood from the heart to the body.

A AutomAted peritoneAl diAlysis ( Apd )

Machine ( cycler ) supported version of peritoneal dialysis  
treatment usually performed at night.

 B biocompAtibility

Ability of a material, system or solution to perform without an 
undesired, clinically significant response from the host.

 B bioimpedAnce

Procedure for measuring the water content of the body.  
Alternating voltage electrodes measure the relationship  
between the alternating current and the alternating voltage 
flowing through the body. 

 B blood

Fluid circulating in the body composed of plasma and cells  
( red blood cells, white blood cells, platelets, etc. ). The main 
function of blood is to transport oxygen, nutrients and  
hormones to the cells and to remove waste products ( such  
as carbon dioxide and urea ). Blood also regulates the water 
and electrolyte balance and helps fight off contaminants  
as part of the immune system.

 B blood cells, red ( erythrocytes )

Cells responsible for transporting oxygen. They are created 
with the help of erythropoietin, a hormone produced in the 
kidneys.

 B blood cells, White ( leuKocytes )

Cells that defend the human body against infection. They are 
involved in allergic reactions and destroy damaged, old and 
dead cells in the body. 

 B blood coAgulAtion

A complex process during which blood forms solid clots. It is 
an important part of hemostasis whereby a damaged blood 
vessel wall is covered by a fibrin clot that stops hemorrhaging 
and helps repair the damaged vessel. Disorders in coagulation 
can lead to increased hemorrhaging and / or thrombosis and 
embolism. During dialysis treatment, blood coagulation is  
inhibited with anticoagulants such as heparin.

 B bloodlines

System of tubes connecting a patient’s blood circulation with  
a dialyzer during extracorporeal dialysis treatment.

 B blood plAtelets ( thrombocytes )

The part of blood responsible for healing wounds. Blood  
platelets form clots and release substances into the blood  
to generate the body’s healing response.
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 B blood pressure

Pressure exerted by the blood on the walls of the blood  
vessels. Unless indicated otherwise, blood pressure is under-
stood to mean arterial blood pressure, i.e. the pressure in  
the large arteries, such as the brachial artery ( in the arm ).  
The arterial pressure is higher than the pressure of the blood  
in other vessels.

 B buFFer

Substance that reduces pH changes that occur in a system  
during the introduction of an acid or a base.

C cAtheter

A flexible tube inserted through the skin into a blood vessel  
or cavity to draw out body fluid or infuse fluid. In peritoneal 
dialysis a catheter is used to infuse dialysis solution into the 
abdominal cavity and drain it out again.

C ce certiFicAtion

Proof of compliance with European Union directives for  
medical devices. 

C chronic Kidney diseAse

Slow and progressive loss of kidney function over several years, 
often resulting in permanent kidney failure. Since the renal 
function cannot be recovered, the patient has to be treated 
with renal replacement therapy, i.e. kidney transplantation or 
dialysis.

C cleArAnce

A quantitative parameter to describe dialysis performance in 
terms of uremic toxin removal.

C composite rAte

Medicare reimbursement rate for dialysis treatment.

 continuous AmbulAtory 
C peritoneAl diAlysis (cApd)

A type of peritoneal dialysis treatment where the dialysis  
solution is exchanged manually, generally four times a day.

D diAbetes

A condition characterized by high blood glucose ( sugar )  
resulting from the body’s inability to use glucose efficiently.  
Insulin helps the body’s cells use glucose.

D diAlysAte

Fluid used in the process of dialysis.

D diAlysis

Form of renal replacement therapy where a semipermeable 
membrane – in peritoneal dialysis the peritoneum of the  
patient, in hemodialysis the membrane of the dialyzer – is  
used to selectively filter solute from the patient’s blood into 
the dialysate.

D diAlyzer

Special filter used in hemodialysis for removing toxic  
substances and excess water from the blood. The dialyzer  
is sometimes referred to as the “artificial kidney”.

D diAlyzer membrAne

Semipermeable barrier in the dialyzer to separate the blood 
from the dialysate.

D diFFusion

An exchange in the chemical concentration of two fluids that 
are divided by a semipermeable membrane. The molecules 
move from one fluid to the other, with metabolic toxins being 
transferred through the membrane into the dialysate.

D diseAse mAnAgement

Integrated concept of patient care that takes into account all 
medical aspects of an illness.

D dry Weight

Targeted optimal body weight of the patient, achieved by  
removing excess water during dialysis.

D dWell time

In peritoneal dialysis, this is the amount of time the dialysis  
solution remains in the patient’s abdominal cavity during an 
exchange.
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 E end-stAge renAl diseAse ( esrd )

Terminal kidney failure accompanied by long-term  
complications such as renal anemia, hypertension  
and other cardiovascular problems, as well as  
bone disease, loss of appetite and malnutrition  
( see also “Chronic Kidney Failure” ).

 E erythropoietin ( epo )

Hormone that stimulates red blood cell production.  

 E erythropoiesis-stimulAting Agents ( esA ) 

Recombinant human EPO that is commonly prescribed to 
patients on dialysis who suffer from anemia. 

 E extrAcorporeAl treAtments

Treatments situated or occurring outside ( extra ) the body  
( corporeal ), e.g. haemodialysis.

  F FdA

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 

 G glomerulAr FiltrAtion rAte ( gFr ) 

The U.S. National Kidney Foundation categorizes kidney 
disease into five stages based on the glomerular filtration  
rate (GFR). The GFR indicates the volume of liquid that the 
kidneys filter from the blood per minute ( primary urine ).  
This ranges from more than 90 ml / min in healthy kidneys 
( stage 1) to less than 15 ml / min (stage 5) when dialysis or 
a kidney transplant is needed. Persons with stage 4 chronic 
kidney disease ( CKD ) have advanced kidney damage (GFR 
of 15 to 29 ml / min ); it is highly likely that these patients 
will need dialysis or a kidney transplant in the near future. 

 H heAlth mAintenAnce orgAnizAtion ( hmo )  

Special form of private health insurance in the U.S. where the 
insured are members and treatment is provided by contract 
physicians ( or member physicians ) of the organization.

 H hemodiAFiltrAtion ( hdF )

Special type of ESRD treatment combining the advantages  
of hemodialysis and hemofiltration. High elimination rates  
are achieved for substances with small and large weight  
molecules via diffusive and convective mechanisms  
respectively.

 H hemodiAlysis ( hd )

ESRD treatment method where the patient’s blood flows 
outside the body through disposable bloodlines into a special 
filter, the dialyzer. The dialysis solution carries away waste  
products and excess water, and the cleaned blood is returned 
to the patient. The process is controlled by a hemodialysis  
machine that pumps blood, adds anticoagulants, regulates  
the purification process, and controls the mixing of the dialysis 
solution and its flow rate through the system. A patient typi-
cally receives three treatments per week, lasting from three  
to six hours each.

 H hemoFiltrAtion ( hF )

A type of ESRD treatment that does not use dialysate. The 
solutes are removed using convective forces to filter plasma 
water through a semipermeable membrane. Substitution fluid 
is used to replace the volume removed by filtration.

 H hemoglobin

Substance in red blood cells that carries oxygen around the 
body.

 H hepArin

Universal anticoagulant substance that is administered during 
hemodialysis to inhibit blood coagulation during the dialysis 
treatment.
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From the Patient

 Used Dialysis Fluid

 Fresh Dialysis Fluid

Anticoagulant

Blood Pump

Dialyzer
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 H high-Flux diAlyzers

Dialyzers containing highly permeable membranes that allow 
for the effective removal of water and large uremic toxins in 
the size of e.g. β2-microglobulin.

 H hyperVolAemiA

Increased blood volume.

 I incidence

Number of patients who are newly diagnosed with a specific 
disease during a certain period of time.

 I iso

International Standards Organization.

K Kidney

Two kidneys are located at the rear of the abdominal cavity, 
one each on the right and left side of the spinal column.  
These vital organs are approximately 11 cm long and weigh 
only 160 grams each. The kidneys ensure a regulated acid-base 
balance by filtering excreta and producing urine. Approximately 
1,700 liters of blood normally pass through the kidneys every 
24 hours.

K Kidney trAnsplAntAtion

A surgical procedure to implant a kidney from a donor.  

L Kt / V 

Indicator to evaluate treatment quality. It is calculated  
by dividing the product of urea clearance ( K ) and the  
length of treatment ( dialysis time, t ) by the filtration rate  
of certain toxic molecules ( the urea distribution volume  
in the patient, V ).

L leAn six sigmA

System of quality management to describe, measure, analyze, 
improve and monitor processes with the goal of quality  
improvement. 

L loW-Flux diAlyzers

Dialyzers with low permeability, e. g. for water.

M medicAre / medicAid

A program developed by the federal U.S. Social Security Ad-
ministration that reimburses health insurances and providers of 
medical services for medical care to individuals over 65, with 
ESRD or the disabled.

M membrAne permeAbility

An indication of the “openness” of a dialyzer membrane for 
blood or dialysis fluid constituents. 

O osmosis

Passage of water from the blood through a semipermeable 
membrane. In osmosis, as opposed to diffusion, molecules 
move only in one direction.

 P peritoneAl diAlysis

  
Dialysis treatment method using the patient’s peritoneum, i.e. 
the tissue that covers the inner surface of the abdominal cavity 
and the abdominal organs, as the dialyzing membrane for 
blood purification. A sterile dialysis solution is introduced and 
removed through a catheter that has been surgically implanted 
into the patient’s abdominal cavity. The solution absorbs toxins 
and excess water. Most treatments are supported by a machine, 
the cycler, and are administered by the patients in their home 
or workplace several times a day or during the night.

Solution Bag

Peritoneum

Catheter

Peritoneal Dialysis Solution

Drainage Bag
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 P PlASMA

Liquid part of the blood containing water, proteins and other 
substances such as electrolytes and hormones. Blood cells are 
not part of the plasma.

 P PolYSUlfone

A polymer used to produce dialyzer membranes. It is charac-
terized by extreme thermal stability, chemical resistance and 
blood compatibility.

 P PreVAlence

Number of all patients who suffer from a specific disease.

 S SUPPlY chAin MAnAGeMenT

Management of all tasks along the supply chain, ranging  
from supplier selection, procurement and warehousing to the 
transport of goods to customers with the goal of improving  
efficiency in the value chain.

 T TerMinAl kidneY fAilUre

Terminal renal failure occurs when kidneys no longer detoxify 
the body, have lost this function finally and thus kidney  
substitute therapies become necessary.

 T TrAnSPlAnTATion 

Taking an organ or tissue from the body and grafting it into 
another area of the same body or into another individual.

U UlTrAfilTrATion

The convective transport of solutes through a dialyzer or  
hemofilter membrane due to a decrease in hydrostatic  
pressure. 

U UlTrAfilTrATion rATe

rate of fluid removal from the patient’s blood circulation  
measured in ml / min. This rate has to be chosen carefully.  
If the rate is too high, the cardiovascular stability of the  
patient is put at risk; if it is too low, the patient’s excess  
water cannot be removed.

V VAScUlAr AcceSS ( ShUnT )

Method to connect a patient’s blood circulation to the dia-
lyzer. The vascular access must enable sufficient blood flow 
and connection to the dialyzer as often as necessary, normally 
three times a week. Adequate vascular access is a prerequisite 
for hemodialysis. The early recognition of problems at the  
vascular access is essential for the blood to flow.

V Vein

A blood vessel that carries blood to the heart.

X xenoTrAnSPlAnTATion

Transplantation of tissues or organs from one species to  
another.
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Chart 03 earnings per share

Chart 02 net income

Chart 01 net reVenUe 

$ in millions

2008 10,612

2007 9,720

 

  

$ in millions

2008 818

2007 717

 

  

in $

2008 2.75

2007 2.43

 

  

Table 01 operating Data

$ in millions 2008 2007 Change 
 in %

selected key figures    

Net revenue 10,612 9,720 9 %

Earnings before interest and taxes, depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA ) 2,088 1,943 7 %

Earnings before interest and taxes ( EBIT ) 1,672 1,580 6 %

Net incom 818 717 14 %

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,016 1,200 (15 %)

Free Cash Flow1 343 657 (48 %)

Capital e xpenditure ( net ) 673 543 24 %

Acquisitions, investments and purchases of intangible assets ( net ) 218 234 (7 %)

Earnings per ordinary share in $ 2.75 2.43 13 %

Dividend per ordinary share2 in € 0.58 0.54 7 %

EBIT margin in % 15.8 16.3 –

Return on invested capital ( ROIC ) in % 8.6 8.4 –

Equity to assets in % 40.0 39.3 –

other data    

Employees ( full-time equivalents ) 64,666 61,406 5 %

Patients 184,086 173,863 6 %

Clinics 2,388 2,238 7 %

Treatments in millions 27.9 26.4 5 %

1 Before acquisitions and dividends
2 2008: Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.

All figures in this report are stated in U.S.-$ and in conformity with U.S. GAAP, if not indicated otherwise.
Unless specified, all charts refer to fiscal year 2008. For more details please look to the 5-year-summary at the end of the financial report.



Fresenius Medical Care filed an annual report under Form 20-F with the Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC )
with additional information on the Company. Fresenius Medical Care’s annual report on Form 20-F may be obtained
from the Company.

The audited financial statements of the Group’s holding company, Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, will be
submitted electronically to the electronic German Federal Gazette ( Bundesanzeiger ) who files these financial statements 
with the Company Register. These financial statements can be obtained from the Company.

The audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 315 a Commercial Code ( HGB ) in conjunction 
with Article 58( 5 ) of the Introductory Act to the German Commercial Code ( EGHGB ) will be submitted electronically 
to the electronic German Federal Gazette ( Bundesanzeiger ) who files these consolidated financial statements with  
the Company Register. These financial statements can be obtained from the Company.

The publications can be also accessed on www.fmc-ag.com.
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How does low absenteeism and a focus 
 to a safe workplace relate to quality?

“Our casualty insurer has presented us with the “Safety In Excellence” award for 
ten consecutive years now. We are the only client to have received this distinction. 
Employees whose workplace meets high health and safety and security standards 
are less likely to be hurt or take unscheduled leave. At the same time, teams 
that are constant and work together well vouch for high-quality products and 
services.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Lawrence Park

 
 
Job Title

 
 

Vice President Corporate Health, 
Environmental Affairs, Engineering, 
Security and Risk Management

Age 47 Years

Nationality Korean

Joined in May 1986
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You should read the following discussion and analysis of the results of operations of 
 Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries ( “FMC-AG & Co. KGaA” or the 
“Company”) in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial statements and related 
notes contained elsewhere in this report. Some of the statements contained below, including 
those concerning future revenue, costs and capital expenditures and possible changes in 
our industry and competitive and financial conditions include forward-looking statements. 
We made these forward-looking statements based on the expectations and beliefs of the 
management of the Company’s General Partner concerning future events which may affect 
us, but we cannot assure that such events will occur or that the results will be as anticipated. 
Because such statements involve risks and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially 
from the results which the forward-looking statements express or imply. Such statements in-
clude the matters and are subject to the un-certainties that we described in “Outlook” and 
“Risk Report” in the corporate report as well as in Note 18 “Legal Proceedings”. 

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to 
time in our public filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ 
materially from the results that we or others have projected or may project.

CritiCal aCCounting PoliCies 04.1   

The Company’s reported financial condition and results of operations are sensitive to ac-
counting methods, assumptions and estimates that are the basis for our financial statements. 
The critical accounting policies, the judgments made in the creation and application of these 
policies, and the sensitivities of reported results to changes in accounting policies, assumptions 
and estimates are factors to be considered along with the Company’s financial statements, 
and the discussion in “Results of Operations”.

reCoverability oF goodwill and intangible assets

The growth of our business through acquisitions has created a significant amount of intangible 
assets, including goodwill, trade names and management contracts. At December 31, 2008, 
the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to $ 7,310 million and non-amortizable intangible 
assets amounted to $ 430 million representing in total approximately 52 % of our total assets. 

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( “SFAS” ) No. 142 Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets, we perform an impairment test of goodwill and non-amortizable 
intangible assets at least once a year for each reporting unit, or if we become aware of events 
that occur or if circumstances change that would indicate the carrying value might be impaired 
(  see also Note 1f  ).

To comply with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the fair value of the reporting unit is compared 
to the reporting unit’s carrying amount. We estimate the fair value of each reporting unit 
using estimated future cash flows for the unit discounted by a weighted average cost of capital 
( “WACC” ) specific to that unit. Estimating the discounted future cash flows involves significant 
assumptions, especially regarding future reimbursement rates and sales prices, treatments 

oPerating and FinanCial review and ProsPeCts

 

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
05

   I04.1  CritiCal aCCounting PoliCies



and sales volumes and costs. In determining discounted cash flows, the Company utilizes its 
three-year budget, projections for years 4 to 10 and a range of growth rates of 0 % to 4 % for 
all remaining years. The Company’s weighted average cost of capital consists of a basic rate 
of 6.47 % for 2008. This basic rate is then adjusted by a percentage ranging from 0 % to 7 % 
for specific country risks within each reporting unit for determining the reporting unit’s fair 
value.

If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a second step is performed 
which compares the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the carrying value of its 
goodwill. If the fair value of the goodwill is less than its carrying value, the difference is  
recorded as an impairment.

A prolonged downturn in the healthcare industry with lower than expected increases in 
reimbursement rates and/or higher than expected costs for providing healthcare services  
and for procuring and selling products could adversely affect our estimated future cash-
flows. Future adverse changes in a reporting unit’s economic environment could affect the 
discount rate. A decrease in our estimated future cash flows and/or a decline in the repor-
ting unit’s economic environment could result in impairment charges to goodwill and other 
intangible assets which could materially and adversely affect our future financial position 
and operating results.

legal ContingenCies

We are party to litigation and subject to investigations relating to a number of matters as 
described in Note 18 “Legal Proceedings”. The outcome of these matters may have a 
material effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We regularly analyze current information including, as applicable, our defenses and we  
provide accruals for probable contingent losses including the estimated legal expenses to  
resolve the matters. We use the resources of our internal legal department as well as external 
lawyers for the assessment. In making the decision regarding the need for loss accrual, we 
consider the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and our ability to make a  
reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment, or the disclosure of any such 
suit or assertion, does not automatically indicate that accrual of a loss may be appropriate.
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aCCounts reCeivable and allowanCe For doubtFul aCCounts

Trade accounts receivable are a significant asset of ours and the allowance for doubtful  
accounts is a significant estimate made by management. Trade accounts receivable were 
$ 2,176 million and $ 2,027 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, net of allowances 
for doubtful accounts of $ 263 million and $ 248 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. The majority of our receivables relates to our dialysis service business in  
North America.

Dialysis care revenues are recognized and billed at amounts estimated to be receivable under 
reimbursement arrangements with third party payors. Medicare and Medicaid programs are 
billed at pre-determined net realizable rates per treatment that are established by statute or 
regulation. Revenues for non-governmental payors where we have contracts or letters of  
agreement in place are recognized at the prevailing contract rates. The remaining non-go-
vernmental payors are billed at our standard rates for services and, in our North America 
segment, a contractual adjustment is recorded to recognize revenues based on historic reim-
bursement experience with those payors for which contracted rates are not predetermined. 
The contractual adjustment and the allowance for doubtful accounts are reviewed quarterly 
for their adequacy. No material changes in estimates were recorded for the contractual  
allowance in the periods presented.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on local payment and collection experience. 
We sell dialysis products directly or through distributors in over 115 countries and dialysis 
services in more than 30 countries through owned or managed clinics. Most payors are go-
vernment institutions or government-sponsored programs with significant variations between 
the countries and even between payors within one country in local payment and collection 
practices. Specifically, public health institutions in a number of countries outside the U.S. 
require a significant amount of time until payment is made. Payment differences are mainly 
due to the timing of the funding by the local, state or federal government to the agency 
that is sponsoring the program that purchases our services or products. The collection of  
accounts receivable from product sales to third party distributors or dialysis clinics is affected 
by the same underlying causes, since these buyers of our products are reimbursed as well by 
government institutions or government sponsored programs.

In our U.S. operations, the collection process is usually initiated 30 days after service is provided 
or upon the expiration of the time provided by contract. For Medicare and Medicaid, once 
the services are approved for payment, the collection process begins upon the expiration of 
a period of time based upon experience with Medicare and Medicaid. In all cases where  
co-payment is required the collection process usually begins within 30 days after service has 
been provided. In those cases where claims are approved for amounts less than anticipated 
or if claims are denied, the collection process usually begins upon notice of approval of the 
lesser amounts or upon denial of the claim. The collection process can be confined to inter-
nal efforts, including the accounting and sales staffs and, where appropriate, local manage-
ment staff. If appropriate, external collection agencies may be engaged.
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For our international operations, a significant number of payors are government entities 
whose payments are often determined by local laws and regulations. Depending on local 
facts and circumstances, the period of time to collect can be quite lengthy. In those instances 
where there are commercial payors, the same type of collection process is initiated as in the US.

Due to the number of our subsidiaries and different countries that we operate in, our policy 
of determining when a valuation allowance is required considers the appropriate local facts 
and circumstances that apply to an account. While payment and collection practices vary  
significantly between countries and even agencies within one country, government payors 
usually represent low credit risks. Accordingly, the length of time to collect does not, in and 
of itself, indicate an increased credit risk and it is our policy to determine when receivables 
should be classified as bad debt on a local basis taking into account local practices. In all  
instances, local review of accounts receivable is performed on a regular basis, generally 
monthly. When all efforts to collect a receivable, including the use of outside sources where 
required and allowed, have been exhausted, and after appropriate management review, a 
receivable deemed to be uncollectible is considered a bad debt and written off. 

Estimates for the allowances for doubtful accounts receivable from the dialysis service business 
are mainly based on local payment and past collection history. Specifically, the allowances 
for the North American operations are based on an analysis of collection experience, recognizing 
the differences between payors and aging of accounts receivable. From time to time, accounts 
receivable are reviewed for changes from the historic collection experience to ensure the  
appropriateness of the allowances. The allowances in the International segment and the 
products business are also based on estimates and consider various factors, including aging, 
creditor and past collection history. Write offs are taken on a claim by claim basis when the 
collection efforts are exhausted. A significant change in our collection experience, a deteriora-
tion in the aging of receivables and collection difficulties could require that we increase our 
estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Any such additional bad debt charges 
could materially and adversely affect our future operating results.
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If, in addition to our existing allowances, 1 % of the gross amount of our trade accounts 
receivable as of December 31, 2008 were uncollectible through either a change in our estimated 
contractual adjustment or as bad debt, our operating income for 2008 would have been 
reduced by approximately 1 %.

The following table shows the portion and the aging of trade accounts receivable of major 
debtors or debtor groups at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. No single debtor other 
than U.S. Medicaid and Medicare accounted for more than 5 % of total trade accounts receivable 
in either year. Trade accounts receivable in the International segment are for a large part due 
from government or government-sponsored organizations that are established in the various 
countries within which we operate. Amounts pending approval from third party payors repre-
sent less than 1 % at December 31, 2008.

Aging of net trade accounts receivable by major payor groups:
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Table 04.1.1 aging oF net traDe accoUnts receiVaBLe BY maJor paYor groUps  
in million $,  
as of December 31, 
2008

Current overdue  
by up to 

3 months

overdue more 
than 3 months 

up to 6 months

overdue by more 
than 6 months 

up to 1 year

overdue 
by more 

than 1 year

Total % of  
net trade  

A / R

U.S. Medicare and
Medicaid Programs 311 56 47 34 34 482 22

U.S. Commercial 
Payors 215 176 62 47 41 541 25

U.S. Hospitals 83 25 3 1 1 113 5

Self-Pay of 
U.S. Patients 1 5 3 2 0 11 1

Other North
America, including
product customers 7 1 0 0 0 8 0

International 
product customers
and dialysis payors 620 185 84 66 66 1,021 47

totaL 1,237 448 199 150 142 2,176 100



selF-insuranCe PrograMs

Under the insurance programs for professional, product and general liability, auto liability 
and worker’s compensation claims, FMCH, our largest subsidiary, is partially self-insured for 
professional liability claims. For all other coverages we assume responsibility for incurred 
claims up to predetermined amounts above which third party insurance applies. Reported  
liabilities for the year represent estimated future payments of the anticipated expense for 
claims incurred (both reported and incurred but not reported) based on historical experience 
and existing claim activity. This experience includes both the rate of claims incidence 
(number) and claim severity (cost) and is combined with individual claim expectations to  
estimate the reported amounts.
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Table 04.1.2 aging oF net traDe accoUnts receiVaBLe BY maJor paYor groUps  

$ in million,  
as of December 31, 
2007

Current overdue by  
up to 3 months

overdue more 
than 3 months 

up to 6 months

overdue by more 
than 6 months 

up to 1 year

overdue by more 
than 1 year

Total % of  
net trade  

A / R

U.S. Medicare and
Medicaid Programs 261 63 30 28 19 401 20

U.S. Commercial 
Payors 209 139 57 56 62 523 26

U.S.Hospitals 69 39 2 1 1 112 6

Self-Pay of 
U.S. patients 1 2 4 3 1 11 1

Other North
America, including
product customers 5 1 0 0 0 6 0

International 
product customers
and dialysis payors 614 178 75 56 51 974 47

totaL 1,159 422 168 144 134 2,027 100



FinanCial Condition and results oF oPerations 04.2   

overview

We are engaged primarily in providing dialysis services and manufacturing and distributing 
products and equipment for the treatment of end stage renal disease. In the U.S., we also 
perform clinical laboratory testing. We estimate that providing dialysis services and distribu-
ting dialysis products and equipment represents an over $ 65 billion worldwide market with 
expected annual world-wide patient growth of around 6 %. Patient growth results from fac-
tors such as the aging population; increasing incidence of diabetes and hypertension, which 
frequently precede the onset of ESRD; improvements in treatment quality, which prolong pa-
tient life; and improving standards of living in developing countries, which make life-saving 
dialysis treatment available. Key to continued growth in revenue is our ability to attract new 
patients in order to increase the number of treatments performed each year. For that reason, 
we believe the number of treatments performed each year is a strong indicator of continued 
revenue growth and success. In addition, the reimbursement and ancillary services utilization 
environment significantly influences our business. In the past we experienced and also ex-
pect in the future generally stable reimbursements for dialysis services. This includes the ba-
lancing of unfavorable reimbursement changes in certain countries with favorable changes 
in other countries. The majority of treatments are paid for by governmental institutions such 
as Medicare in the United States. As a consequence of the pressure to decrease health care 
costs, reimbursement rate increases have been limited. Our ability to influence the pricing of 
our services is limited. Profitability depends on our ability to manage rising labor, drug and 
supply costs.

For calendar year 2009, CMS has maintained the drug add-on adjustment at the 2008 rate 
of $ 0.69 which resulted in a reduction in the drug add-on adjustment from 15.5 percent to 
15.2 percent of the total per-treatment prospective payment. The composite rate, unlike 
many other payment rates in Medicare is not automatically updated each year. As a result, 
this portion of the payment rate has not received an annual update in the absence of a statutory 
change. In the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 (“MIPPA”), 
Congress provided for a 1.0 percent increase in the composite rate in each of 2009 and 2010. 
Further, Congress eliminated a provision that previously paid hospital-based facilities slightly 
more than independent (or “free-standing”) facilities. Thus, in 2009, all facilities are paid at 
the 2008 independent facility rate increased by 1.0 percent. CMS updated the wage index ad-
justment applicable to ESRD facilities from the 25 / 75 blend between adjustments based 
on old metropolitan statistical areas (“MSAs”) and those based on new core-based statistical 
areas (“CBSAs”) used in 2008. For 2009, CMS completed the transition from the MSA definition to 
the CBSA definition, and facilities will henceforth be paid according to the CBSA rate. 
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Certain other items and services that we furnish at our dialysis centers are not now included 
in the composite rate and are eligible for separate Medicare reimbursement. The most significant 
of these items are drugs or biologicals, such as erythropoietin-stimulating agents (“ESAs”), 
vitamin D analogs, and iron, which are reimbursed at 106 % of the average sales price as re-
ported to CMS by the manufacturer. Products and support services furnished to ESRD patients 
receiving dialysis treatment at home are also reimbursed separately under a reimbursement 
structure comparable to the in-center composite rate. Although these reimbursement  
methodologies limit the allowable charge per treatment, they provide us with predictable 
per treatment revenues.

In 2008, Congress mandated the development of an expanded ESRD bundled payment system 
for services furnished on or after January 1, 2011. The new law requires CMS to implement by 
January 1, 2011 a bundled ESRD payment system under which CMS will reimburse dialysis facili-
ties with a single payment for ( i ) all items and services included in the composite rate, ( ii ) all 
ESAs and other pharmaceuticals (other drugs and biologicals, other than vaccines) furnished 
to the patients that were previously reimbursed separately, ( iii ) diagnostic laboratory tests 
and ( iv ) other services furnished to individuals for the treatment of ESRD. The initial bundled 
reimbursement rate will be set based on 98 percent of estimated 2011 Medicare program 
costs of dialysis care as calculated under the current reimbursement system using the lowest 
per patient utilization data from 2007, 2008 or 2009. The bundled payment will be subject to 
case mix adjustments that may take into account individual patient characteristics ( e.g., age, 
weight, body mass ) and co-morbidities. Payments will also be adjusted for ( i ) certain high cost 
patient outliers due to unusual variations in medically necessary care, ( ii ) disparately high 
costs incurred by low volume facilities relative to other facilities and ( iii ) such other adjust-
ments as the Secretary of HHS deems appropriate. Beginning in 2012, the bundled payment 
amount will be subject to annual increases based on increases in the costs of a mix of dialysis 
items and services to be determined by HHS minus 1 %. The Act will establish pay-for-perfor-
mance quality standards that will take effect in 2012. Dialysis facilities that fail to achieve the 
established quality standards will have payments reduced by 2 %. Facility quality standards are 
expected to be developed in the areas of anemia management, patient satisfaction, iron ma-
nagement, bone mineral metabolism and vascular access. Facility performance scores will be 
made available to the public. The bundled system will be phased in over four years with full 
implementation for all dialysis facilities on January 1, 2014. However, providers may elect at 
any time prior to 2011 to become fully subject to the new system. The Act extends the authority 
of specialized Medicare Advantage ( “MA” ) plans to target enrollment to certain populations 
through December 31, 2010 and revises definitions, care management requirements and qua-
lity reporting standards for all specialized plans. CMS is developing and drafting the regulations 
necessary to implement this new system; details of the system will not be known until CMS issues 
final regulations sometime in 2010. The Act maintains a moratorium on the new specialized MA 
plans through December 31, 2010. This change will materially affect how the Company is paid 
for Epogen and other items and services. The Company cannot estimate the overall effect of 
the new system on its business until adoption of the final CMS regulations.
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We believe our policies on billing for ESAs comply with CMS policies. We have recommended 
to our treating physicians that they review and understand the package label insert and the 
K / DOQI guidelines as they make their anemia management decisions.

We have identified three operating segments, North America, International, and Asia-Pacific. 
For reporting purposes, we have aggregated the International and Asia-Pacific segments as 
“International”. We aggregated these segments due to their similar economic characteri-
stics. These characteristics include same services provided and same products sold, same type 
patient population, similar methods of distribution of products and services and similar eco-
nomic environments. The general partner’s Management Board member responsible for the 
profitability and cash flow of each segment's various businesses supervises the management 
of each operating segment. The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same 
as those we apply in preparing our consolidated financial statements under accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). Our management evaluates each 
segment using a measure that reflects all of the segment's controllable revenues and ex-
penses. 

With respect to the performance of our business operations, our management believes the 
most appropriate measure in this regard is operating income which measures our source of 
earnings. Financing is a corporate function which segments do not control. Therefore, we 
do not include interest expense relating to financing as a segment measurement. We also  
regard income taxes to be outside the segments’ control. Similarly, we do not allocate “corporate 
costs”, which relate primarily to certain headquarters overhead charges, including accounting 
and finance, professional services, etc. because we believe that these costs are also not 
within the control of the individual segments. In addition, certain acquisitions and intangible 
assets are not allocated to a segment but are accounted for as “corporate”. Accordingly, all  
of these items are excluded from our analysis of segment results and are discussed below in 
the discussion of our consolidated results of operations. 
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results oF oPerations 04.3   

The following tables summarize our financial performance and certain operating results by 
principal business segment for the periods indicated. Inter-segment sales primarily reflect 
sales of medical equipment and supplies from the International segment to the North America 
segment. We prepared the information using a management approach, consistent with the 
basis and manner in which our management internally disaggregates financial information 
to assist in making internal operating decisions and evaluating management performance. 
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Table 04.3.1 segment Data

$ in million 2008 2007

total revenue   

North America 7,007 6,664

International 3,688 3,134

Corporate 1 –

totaL 10,696 9,798

inter-segment revenue   

North America 2 1

International 82 77

totaL 84 78

total net revenue   

North America 7,005 6,663

International 3,606 3,057

Corporate 1 –

totaL 10,612 9,720

amortization and depreciation   

North America 238 220

International 171 141

Corporate 7 2

totaL 416 363

operating income   

North America 1,168 1,130

International 616 544

Corporate (112) (94)

totaL 1,672 1,580

Interest income 25 29

Interest expense (361) (400)

Income tax expense (489) (466)

Minority interest (29) (26)

net income 818 717



HigHligHts

Revenues increased by 9 % to $ 10,612 million ( 8 % at constant exchange rates ) mainly due to 
organic growth at 7 % and acquisitions at 1 %. 

Operating income ( EBIT ) increased 6 %.

Net Income increased by 14 %.

Trust Preferred Securities in the amount of $ 678 million were redeemed at maturity. 

In July 2008, we entered into two separate and independent license and distribution agree-
ments to market and distribute intravenous iron products, such as Venofer and Ferinject. 

Consolidated FinanCials

We provided 27,866,573 treatments during the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 
5 % over the same period in 2007. Same market treatment growth contributed 4 % and 
growth from acquisitions contributed 1 %. 

At December 31, 2008, we owned, operated or managed ( excluding those managed but not 
consolidated in the U.S. ) 2,388 clinics compared to 2,238 clinics at December 31, 2007. During 
2008, we acquired 48 clinics, opened 127 clinics and combined or closed 25 clinics. The number 
of patients treated in clinics that we own, operate or manage ( excluding patients of clinics 
managed but not consolidated in the U.S. ) increased by 6 % to 184,086 at December 31, 2008 
from 173,863 at December 31, 2007. Including 32 clinics managed but not consolidated in the 
U.S., the total number of patients was 185,768. 

Net revenue increased by 9 % ( 8 % at constant exchange rates ) for the year ended December 31, 
2008 over 2007 due to growth in revenue in both dialysis care and dialysis products.
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Table 04.3.2 KeY inDicators For consoLiDateD FinanciaLs

2008 2007 Change  
as reported

Change  
at constant 

exchange rates

Number of treatments 27,866,573 26,442,421 5 % –

Same market treatment growth 4.5 % 3.9 % – –

Revenue in $ million 10,612 9,720 9 % 8 %

Gross profit in % of revenue 34.2 % 34.5 % – –

Selling, general and administrative costs in % of revenue 17.7 % 17.6 % – –

Net income in $ million 818 717 14 % –



Dialysis care revenue grew by 7 % to $ 7,737 million ( 6 % at constant exchange rates ) in 2008 
mainly due to growth in same market treatments ( 4 % ), revenue per treatment ( 2 % ), acquisitions 
( 1 % ), and exchange rate fluctuations ( 1 % ), partially offset by sold or closed clinics ( 1 % ).

Dialysis product revenue increased by 15 % to $ 2,875 million ( 11 % at constant exchange 
rates ) mainly as a result of increased sales of hemodialysis machines, dialyzers, bloodlines, 
concentrates, and peritoneal dialysis products and higher revenues attributable to the phosphate 
binding drug, PhosLo and to the sales of the newly licensed intravenous iron products. 

The decrease in gross margin reflects reductions in gross margin in the International segment. 
North America was impacted by higher personnel and other operating costs, decreased utili-
zation of and reduced reimbursement rates for EPO, higher material costs, and increased 
costs for the anticoagulant drug heparin, fully offset by increased commercial payor revenue. 
International was affected by strong growth in dialysis care business which has lower than 
average margins and unfavorable foreign currency transaction effects related to purchases 
from Europe due to the appreciation of the Euro against local currencies. Both segments ex-
perienced higher depreciation expense in 2008 as compared to 2007 as a result of expansion 
of production capacities. The availability of these new capacities allowed a more normalized 
summer maintenance program in our International facilities, in contrast to the prior year’s 
shortened program. 

Selling, general and administrative ( “SG&A” ) costs increased to $ 1,876 million in 2008 from 
$ 1,709 million in 2007. SG&A costs as a percentage of sales increased to 17.7 % in 2008 from 
17.6 % in 2007. The percentage increased in the North America segment and decreased in the 
International segment. North America was impacted by higher personnel costs and higher 
bad debt expense, partially offset by economies of scale and gains on the sale of minority 
interests in subsidiaries. International benefited from lower foreign currency losses in Europe, 
lower bad debt expense and with respect to SG&A as a percentage of sales, from revenue 
growth in excess of the increase of SG&A. These were partially offset by higher corporate 
expenses relating to the operating expenses of Renal Solutions Inc., reported under corporate, 
and compensation expense for stock options. Bad debt expense for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 was $ 214 million as compared to $ 202 million in 2007, representing 2.0 % of sales 
for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2.1 % for 2007. 

Research and development ( “R&D” ) expenses increased to $ 80 million in 2008 from $ 67 million 
for the same period in 2007 mainly as a result of the additional R&D programs related to con-
tinued development of hemodialysis machines, field testing of new products and extracorporeal 
and home therapy programs. 

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
16

   I



Operating income increased to $ 1,672 million in 2008 from $ 1,580 million for 2007. Operating 
income margin decreased to 15.8 % for the year ended December 31, 2008 from 16.3 % for 
2007 due to the decreased gross margins, increased SG&A as a percentage of sales, and increased 
R&D costs as discussed above.

Interest expense decreased 10 % to $ 361 million in 2008 from $ 400 million for 2007 mainly as 
a result of decreased interest rates and the more favorable financing structure following the 
repayment of a portion of our trust preferred securities. This was partially offset by the 
slightly increased debt level resulting from the acquisition of Renal Solutions, Inc. in the 
fourth quarter of 2007 as well as higher capital expenditures in 2008. 

Income tax expense increased to $ 489 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 from 
$ 466 million in 2007 due to increased earnings. The effective tax rate for 2008 decreased to 
36.6 % from 38.5 % for 2007 mainly due to a German corporate tax rate reduction which became 
effective January 1, 2008.

Net income for 2008 increased to $ 818 million from $ 717 million for 2007 mainly as a result of the 
combined effects of the items discussed above. 

We employed 64,666 people ( full-time equivalents ) as of December 31, 2008 compared to 
61,406 as of December 31, 2007, an increase of 5 % primarily due to our overall growth in 
business.

The following discussions pertain to our business segments and the measures we use to manage 
these segments. 

nortH aMeriCa segMent

revenue
Treatments increased by 4 % for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to 2007 due 
to same market growth ( 3 % ) and acquisitions ( 1 % ). At December 31, 2008, 125,857 patients 
( a 4 % increase over the same period in the prior year ) were being treated in the 1,686 clinics 
that we own or operate in the North America segment, compared to 121,431 patients treated 
in 1,602 clinics at December 31, 2007. Average North America revenue per treatment was 
$ 326 for the year ended December 31, 2008 and $ 323 for 2007. In the U.S., the average revenue 
per treatment was $ 330 for the year ended December 31, 2008 and $ 327 in 2007, mainly due 
to increased commercial payor revenue.
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Table 04.3.3 KeY inDicators For north america segment

2008 2007 Change

Number of treatments 19,146,084 18,451,381 4 %

Same market treatment growth 2.9 % 2.9 %  –

Revenue in $ million 7,005 6,663  5 %

Depreciation and amortization in $ million 238 220 8 %

Operating income in $ million 1,168 1,130 3 %

Operating income margin 16.7 % 17.0 %  –



Net revenue for the North America segment for 2008 increased as a result of increases in dialysis 
care revenue by 4 % to $ 6,247 million from $ 6,002 million in 2007 and in dialysis product revenue 
by 15 % to $ 758 million from $ 661 million in 2007.

The dialysis care revenue increase was driven by same market treatment growth of 3 %, in-
creased revenue per treatment ( 1 % ), and 1 % resulting from acquisitions partially offset by 
the effects of sold or closed clinics ( 1 % ). The administration of EPO represented approximately 
20 % and 21 % of total North America dialysis care revenue for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The product revenue increase was driven mostly by a higher sales volume of dialysis machines, 
concentrate, bloodlines, dialyzers, and peritoneal products, as well as increased pricing and 
sales of the newly licensed intravenous iron products and higher sales attributable to the 
phosphate binding drug, PhosLo, which we acquired in late 2006. However, we experienced 
substantial reductions in our PhosLo sales following a competitor’s launch of a generic version 
of PhosLo in the U.S. in October 2008.
 

oPerating inCoMe
Operating income increased by 3 % to $ 1,168 million for 2008 from $ 1,130 million for 2007. 
Operating income margin decreased to 16.7 % for 2008 as compared to 17.0 % for 2007 primarily 
due to increased personnel and other operating costs, higher raw material costs, decreased 
utilization of and reduced reimbursement rates for EPO, heparin cost increases, and higher de-
preciation expense due to expansion of production capacities, partially offset by increased 
commercial payor revenue. Cost per treatment increased to $ 273 in 2008 from $ 267 in 2007.

international segMent
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Table 04.3.4 KeY inDicators For internationaL segment

2008 2007 Change  
as reported

Change  
at constant 

exchange rates

Number of treatments 8,720,489 7,991,040 9 %  –

Same market treatment growth 8.6 % 6.2 %  –  –

Revenue in $ million 3,606 3,057 18 % 13 %

Depreciation and amortization in $ million 171 141 21 %  –

Operating income in $ million 616 544 13 %  –

Operating income margin 17.1 % 17.8 %  –  –



revenue
Treatments increased by 9 % in 2008 over 2007 mainly due to same market growth ( 9 % ), and 
acquisitions ( 1 % ), partially offset by sold or closed clinics ( 1 % ). As of December 31, 2008, 
58,229 patients ( a 11 % increase over the prior year ) were being treated at 702 clinics that we 
own, operate or manage in the International segment compared to 52,432 patients treated 
at 636 clinics at December 31, 2007. Average revenue per treatment increased to $ 171 from 
$ 152 due to increased reimbursement rates and changes in country mix ( $ 11 ) and the 
strengthening of local currencies against the U.S. dollar ( $ 8 ).

The increase in net revenues for the International segment for 2008 over 2007 resulted from 
increases in both dialysis care and dialysis product revenues. Organic growth during the period 
was 12 % and acquisitions contributed approximately 1 %. Exchange rate fluctuations contri-
buted 5 %.

Including the effects of acquisitions, European region revenue increased 19 % ( 12 % at con-
stant exchange rates ), Latin America region revenue increased 23 % ( 19 % at constant ex-
change rates ), and Asia-Pacific region revenue increased 12 % ( 11 % at constant exchange 
rates ).

Total dialysis care revenue for the International segment increased during 2008 by 23 % ( 18 % 
at constant exchange rates ) to $ 1,490 million from $ 1,211 million for 2007. This increase is a 
result of same market treatment growth of 9 % and a 1 % increase in contributions from acqui-
sitions and one additional dialysis day ( 1 % ), partially offset by sold or closed clinics ( 1 % ). In-
creases in revenue per treatment contributed 8 % and exchange rate fluctuations contributed 
approximately 5 %. 

Total dialysis product revenue for 2008 increased by 15 % ( 10 % at constant exchange rates ) 
to $ 2,117 million mostly due to higher dialyzer and machine sales.

oPerating inCoMe 
Operating income increased by 13 % to $ 616 million primarily as a result of increases in the 
number of treatments, revenue per treatment and increases in units of products sold. Operating 
income margin decreased to 17.1 % for the year ended December 31, 2008 from 17.8 % in 
2007. The margin decrease resulted from the effects of stronger growth in dialysis care business 
which has lower than average margins and higher depreciation expense due to expansion of 
production capacities. The availability of these new capacities allowed a more normalized 
summer maintenance program in our facilities in 2008, in contrast to the prior year’s shortened 
program. In addition, the International margin was impacted by unfavorable foreign currency 
transaction effects in Asia-Pacific related to purchase of products from Europe due to the  
appreciation of the Euro against local currencies.
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liquidity and CaPital resourCes 04.4   

Our primary sources of liquidity have historically been cash from operations, cash from  
borrowings from third parties and related parties, as well as cash from issuance of equity 
and debt securities. We require this capital primarily to finance working capital needs, to 
fund acquisitions and develop free-standing renal dialysis centers, to purchase equipment for 
existing or new renal dialysis centers and production sites, to repay debt and to pay dividends.

At December 31, 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 222 million and unused credit 
lines of $ 820 million available to us which are discussed in more detail below.

oPerations

In the past two years, 2008 and 2007, we have generated cash flows from operations of 
$ 1,016 million and $ 1,200 million, respectively. Cash from operations is impacted by the profi-
tability of our business, the development of our working capital, principally receivables, and 
cash outflows that occur due to a number of singular specific items ( especially payments in 
relation to disallowed tax deductions and legal proceedings ). 

The profitability of our business depends significantly on reimbursement rates. Approxima-
tely 73 % of our revenues are generated by providing dialysis treatment, a major portion of 
which is reimbursed by either public health care organizations or private insurers. For the 
year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 35 % of our consolidated revenues resulted 
from U.S. federal health care benefit programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid reimburse-
ment. Legislative changes could affect Medicare reimbursement rates for all the services we 
provide, as well as the scope of Medicare coverage. A decrease in reimbursement rates or 
the scope of coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations and thus on our capacity to generate cash flow. In the past we 
experienced and also expect in the future generally stable reimbursements for our dialysis 
services. This includes the balancing of unfavorable reimbursement changes in certain coun-
tries with favorable changes in other countries. See “Overview” above for a discussion of re-
cent Medicare reimbursement rate changes including provisions for implementation of a 
“bundled rate” by January 1, 2011. 

Furthermore, cash from operations depends on the collection of accounts receivable. Our 
working capital was $ 1,068 million at December 31, 2008 which increased from $ 833 million 
at December 31, 2007, mainly as a result of increases in our accounts receivables; our ratio of 
current assets to current liabilities was 1.34. We could face difficulties in enforcing and colle-
cting accounts receivable under some countries' legal systems. Some customers and govern-
ments may have longer payment cycles. A lengthening of this payment cycle could have a 
material adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. During 2008, we have expe-
rienced some delay in payments from our customers worldwide. Accounts receivable balan-
ces at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, net of valuation allowances, represented 
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approximately 77 and 73 days of net revenue, respectively, with increased balances in both 
of our segments. The increase in the North America segment is mainly driven by the launch 
of Venofer in late 2008 in the Products business, as well as reimbursement delays in the dialysis 
services business related to National Provider Identification issues and other delays associated 
with provider numbers for new clinics and acquisitions. The increase for the International 
segment mainly reflects payment delays by government entities most recently impacted by 
the worldwide financial crises. Due to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is 
provided by public health care organizations and private insurers, we expect that most of 
our accounts receivables will be collectable, albeit somewhat more slowly in the immediate 
future. 

The development of days sales outstanding ( “DSO” ) by operating segment is shown in the 
table below:

Interest and income tax payments also have a significant impact on our cash from operations.

There are a number of tax and other items we have identified that will or could impact our 
cash flows from operations in the immediate future as follows: 

During the third quarter 2006, the German tax authorities substantially finalized their tax 
audit for tax years 1998 – 2001 and issued an audit report in the second quarter 2008. We 
recognized and recorded the results of the audit in 2006, and thereafter paid all amounts 
due to the tax authorities. We have filed claims for refunds contesting the IRS’s disallowance 
of FMCH’s civil settlement payment deductions in prior year tax returns. As a result of a settle-
ment agreement with the IRS to resolve our appeal of the IRS’s disallowance of deductions 
for the civil settlement payments made to qui tam relators in connection with the resolution 
of the 2000 investigation, we received a refund in September 2008 of $ 37 million, inclusive of 
interest. The settlement agreement preserves our right to continue to pursue claims in the 
U.S. Federal courts for refund of all other disallowed deductions. 
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Table 04.4.1 DeVeLopment oF DaYs saLes oUtstanDing

in days, December 31, 2008 2007

North America 60 58

International 107 104

totaL 77 73



For the tax year 1997, we recognized an impairment of one of our subsidiaries which the 
German tax authorities have disallowed in the audit for the years 1996 and 1997. We disagree 
with such conclusion, believe we have valid arguments and have filed a complaint with the 
appropriate German court to challenge the tax authority’s decision. An adverse determina-
tion in this litigation could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the 
relevant reporting period. We have a liability payable to Fresenius SE related to this matter 
(  see Note 3 “Related Party Transactions – Other” ).

The IRS tax audit of FMCH for the years 2002 through 2004 has been completed. Except for 
the disallowance of all deductions taken during the audit period for remuneration related to 
intercompany mandatorily redeemable preferred shares, the proposed adjustments are routine 
in nature and have been recognized in the financial statements. The Company has protested 
the disallowed deductions and some routine adjustments and will avail itself of all remedies. 
An adverse determination in this litigation could have a material adverse effect on results of 
operations and liquidity. 

We are subject to ongoing tax audits in the U.S., Germany and other jurisdictions. We have 
received notices of unfavorable adjustments and disallowances in connection with certain of 
the audits. We are contesting, including appealing, certain of these unfavorable determina-
tions. If our objections and any final audit appeals are unsuccessful, we could be required to 
make additional tax payments, including payments to state tax authorities reflecting the ad-
justments made in our federal tax returns in the U.S. With respect to other potential adjust-
ments and disallowances of tax matters currently under review or where tentative agree-
ment has been reached, we do not anticipate that an unfavorable ruling would have a mate-
rial impact on our results of operations. We are not currently able to determine the timing of 
these potential additional tax payments.

W.R. Grace & Co. and certain of its subsidiaries filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of 
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code ( the “Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings” ) on April 2, 2001. The settle-
ment agreement with the asbestos creditors committees on behalf of the W.R. Grace & Co. 
bankruptcy estate (  see Note 18 “Legal Proceedings” ) provides for payment by the Company of 
$ 115 million upon approval of the settlement agreement by the U.S. District Court, which has 
occurred, and confirmation of a W.R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy reorganization plan that inclu-
des the settlement. The $ 115 million obligation was included in the special charge we recor-
ded in 2001 to address 1996 merger-related legal matters. The payment obligation is not in-
terest-bearing.

If all potential additional tax payments and the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings settlement 
payment were to occur contemporaneously, there could be a material adverse impact on our 
operating cash flow in the relevant reporting period. Nonetheless, we anticipate that cash 
from operations and, if required, our available liquidity will be sufficient to satisfy all such 
obligations if and when they come due.
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investing

We used net cash of $ 891 million and $ 777 million in investing activities in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment, net of disposals were $ 673 million 
in 2008 and $ 543 million in 2007. In 2008, capital expenditures were $ 384 million in the North 
America segment, and $ 289 million for the International segment. Capital expenditures in 
2007 were $ 314 million in the North America segment, and $ 229 million for the International 
segment. The majority of our capital expenditures was used for equipping new clinics, 
maintaining existing clinics, maintenance and expansion of production facilities primarily in 
North America and Germany and; in 2008 – Japan and France, in 2007 – Japan. In addition, we 
incurred higher investment for machines that we provide to our customers mostly under 
operating leases, primarily in the International segment ( 2008 and 2007 ). Capital expenditures 
were approximately 6 % and 6 % of total revenue for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Primarily for acquisitions of dialysis clinics and licenses, we invested approximately $ 227 million 
cash in 2008 ( $ 113 million in the North America segment, $ 57 million in the International 
segment and $ 57 million in Corporate ) and $ 143 million in 2007 ( $ 63 million in the North 
America segment and $ 80 million in the International segment ). In addition, in 2007 we paid 
approximately $ 120 million in conjunction with the Renal Solutions, Inc. acquisition. We also 
received $ 59 million and $ 29 million in conjunction with divestitures in 2008 and 2007, re-
spectively. 

In 2008, we granted a loan of $ 50 million to Fresenius SE, our parent (  see Note 3 “Related Party 
Transactions” ).

We anticipate capital expenditures of approximately $ 550 to $ 650 million and expect to 
make acquisitions of approximately $ 200 to $ 300 million in 2009.

FinanCing

Net cash used in financing was $ 156 million in 2008 compared to $ 341 million in 2007. 

In 2008, cash was mainly used for redemption of trust preferred securities ( $ 678 million ), 
the payment of dividends ( $ 252 million) and the payment in November 2008 of the remaining 
financial liability relating to the 2007 RSI Acquisition ( $ 56 million ); we raised cash from our 
accounts receivable securitization facility ( “A / R Facility” ) and other existing long-term credit 
facilities. In 2007, cash was mainly used to pay down our A / R Facility and other debt and 
for payment of dividends; we raised net proceeds of $ 484 million from the issuance of our 
Senior Notes due 2017 ( “Senior Notes” ). 
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For a description of our short-term credit facilities, including our A / R Facility, see Note 8 
“Short-Term Borrowings, Other Financial Liabilities and Short-Term Borrowings from Related 
Parties”. For a description of our long-term sources of liquidity, including our 2006 Senior 
Credit Agreement, our Senior Notes, our credit facilities with the European Investment Bank 
( “EIB” ), and our trust preferred securities, see Note 9 “Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease 
Obligations” and see Note 11 “Mandatorily Redeemable Trust Preferred Securities”.
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s available sources of liquidity at December 31, 
2008:

At December 31, 2008, we have short-term borrowings, excluding the current portion of 
long-term debt, of $ 660 million.

The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2008, our obligations and commitments 
to make future payments under our long-term debt, trust preferred securities and other 
long-term obligations, and our commitments and obligations under lines of credit and letters 
of credit.
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1  Subject to availability of sufficient accounts receivable meeting funding criteria.
The amount of guarantees and other commercial commitments at December 31, 2008 is not significant.

Table 04.4.2 aVaiLaBLe soUrces oF LiQUiDitY

$ in million Total Expiration per period of

1 Year 2 – 5 Years over 5 Years

Accounts receivable facility1 11 11 – –

Unused Senior Credit lines 583 – 583 –

Other unused lines of credit 226 226 – –

totaL 820 237 583 –

1  Interest payments are determined on these debt instruments until their respective maturity dates and based on their applicable balances and fixed interest rates for each period
presented. We redeemed $670 million of Trust Preferred Securities on February 1, 2008, primarily by utilizing funds available under our existing credit facilities.

2  Interest payments are based upon the principal repayment schedules and fixed interest rates or estimated variable interest rates considering the applicable interest rates ( e.g. Libor,
Prime ), the applicable margins, and the effects of related interest rate swaps.

Table 04.4.3 contractUaL cash oBLigations

$ in million Total Payments due by period of

1 Year 2 – 5 Years over 5 Years

Trust Preferred Securities1 765 50 715 –

Long-term debt2 4,990 588 3,649 753

Capital lease obligations 13 3 9 1

Operating leases 2,121 388 1,094 639

Unconditional purchase obligations 2,557 358 1,002 1,197

Other long-term obligations 63 57 6 –

Letters of Credit 112 112 – –

totaL 10,621 1,556 6,475 2,590



Our obligations under the 2006 Credit Agreement are secured by pledges of capital stock of 
certain material subsidiaries, including FMCH and D-GmbH, in favor of the lenders. Our 2006 
Senior Credit Agreement, EIB agreements, Euro Notes, Senior Notes, and the indentures relating 
to our trust preferred securities include covenants that require us to maintain certain financial 
ratios or meet other financial tests. Under our 2006 Senior Credit Agreement, we are obligated 
to maintain a minimum consolidated fixed charge ratio ( ratio of consolidated EBITDAR ( sum of 
EBITDA plus Rent expense under operation leases ) to Consolidated Fixed Charges as these 
terms are defined in the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement) and a maximum consolidated leve-
rage ratio ( ratio of consolidated funded debt to consolidated EBITDA as these terms are defined 
in the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement ). Other covenants in one or more of each of these 
agreements restrict or have the effect of restricting our ability to dispose of assets, incur debt, 
pay dividends and make other restricted payments, create liens or engage in sale-lease backs. 

The breach of any of the covenants in any of the instruments or agreements governing our 
long-term debt – the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement, the EIB agreements, the Euro Notes, the 
Senior Notes or the notes underlying our trust preferred securities – could, in turn, create 
additional defaults under one or more of the other instruments or agreements. In default, 
the outstanding balance under the Senior Credit Agreement becomes due at the option of 
the lenders under that agreement, and the “cross default” provisions in our other long-term 
debt permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the debt upon such a default as well. 
As of December 31, 2008, we are in compliance with all covenants under the 2006 Senior 
Credit Agreement and our other financing agreements. 

Although we are not immune from the world-wide financial crises of 2008, we believe that 
we are in a solid financial position to continue to grow our business while meeting our 
 financial obligations as they come due. Our business is generally not cyclical. A substantial 
portion of our accounts receivable are generated by governmental payers. While payment 
and collection practices vary significantly between countries and even between agencies 
within one country, government payors usually represent low risks ( see “Critical Accounting 
Policies – Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts”, above). Our syndi-
cated credit facility is comprised of 60 lenders for our revolving credit facility none of which 
contribute more than 4 % of our revolving borrowings under the 2006 Credit Agreement. 
Even though one of the 60 participating banks in this syndicated facility defaulted on its obli-
gation to provide funds under the terms of the revolving facility during the fourth quarter 
2008, we do not anticipate any major issues in having funds available for us when we utilize 
this credit facility. As we deemed the amount in default immaterial, we took no action to 
amend our 2006 Credit Agreement to replace the defaulting bank ( see Note 9 “Long-Term Debt 
and Capital Lease Obligations – 2006 Senior Credit Agreement” ). However, limited or expen-
sive access to capital could make it more difficult for our customers to do business with us, 
or to do business generally, which could adversely affect our business. Current conditions in 
the credit and equity markets, if they continue, could also increase our financing costs and 
limit our financial flexibility.
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Following our earnings-driven dividend policy, our General Partner’s Management Board will 
propose to the shareholders at the Annual General meeting on May 7, 2009, a dividend with 
respect to 2008 and payable in 2009, of € 0.58 per ordinary share ( for 2007 paid in 2008: € 0.54 ) 
and € 0.60 per preference share ( for 2007 paid in 2008: € 0.56 ). The total expected dividend 
payment is approximately € 173 million ( approximately $ 240 million based upon the December 31, 
2008 spot rate ) compared to € 160 million ( $ 252 million ) in 2008 with respect to 2007. Our 2006 
Senior Credit Agreement limits disbursements for dividends and other payments for the  
acquisition of our equity securities ( and rights to acquire them, such as options or warrants ) 
during 2009 to $ 280 million in total. 

Our treasury management services, which Fresenius SE provides under contractual arrange-
ments with us, assists in the management of our liquidity by means of effective cash ma-
nagement as well as an anticipatory evaluation of financing alternatives. We have sufficient 
financial resources – consisting of only partly drawn credit facilities and our accounts recei-
vable facility – which we intend to preserve in the next years. We aim to keep committed 
and unutilized credit facilities to a minimum of $ 500 million.

We will focus our financing activities in the coming years on reducing subordinated debt. 
In this respect we did not refinance the subordinated trust-preferred securities issued by 
 Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust II and III which matured in February 2008 by issuing new 
subordinated debt, but used our existing senior credit facilities instead. Our target for matur-
ing long-term debt is to refinance with senior and unsecured debt instruments only.

Our refinancing needs for the years 2009 and 2010 are limited to refinancing of our Euro Notes 
totaling $ 278 million ( € 200 million ) in July 2009 and the annual renewal of our $ 550 million 
 accounts receivable facility. These refinancing requirements, as well as our dividend payment 
of approximately $ 240 million in May 2009 and the anticipated dividend payment in 2010, are 
expected to be covered by our cash flows and by using existing credit facilities. Our debt 
 covenants provide sufficient flexibility to cover our financing needs. Generally, we believe that 
we will have sufficient financing to achieve our goals in the future and to continue to pro-
mote our growth.

Our financing strategy and our financial performance are reflected in the credit ratings assigned 
to us by the rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. The table below shows the  
ratings as of December 31, 2008.
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Tabelle 04.4.4 rating

Rating Outlook

Standard & Poor’s BB negative

Moody’s Ba1 stable



debt Covenant disClosure – ebitda

EBITDA ( earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ) was approximately 
$ 2,088 million, 19.7 % of revenues for 2008 and $ 1,944 million, 20.0 % of revenues for 2007. 
EBITDA is the basis for determining compliance with certain covenants contained in our 2006 
Credit Agreement, Senior Notes, Euro Notes, EIB, and the indentures relating to our outstanding 
trust preferred securities. You should not consider EBITDA to be an alternative to net earnings 
determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP or to cash flow from operations, investing activities 
or financing activities. In addition, not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for manage-
ment’s discretionary use. For example, a substantial portion of such funds are subject to con-
tractual restrictions and functional requirements for debt service, as needed for capital ex-
penditures and to meet other commitments as described in more detail elsewhere in this report. 
EBITDA, as calculated, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other 
companies. A reconciliation of cash flow provided by operating activities to EBITDA is calculated 
as follows:

reCently issued aCCounting standards 04.5   

For a discussion of recently issued accounting standards, see Note 1 “The Company, Basis 
of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Summary of Significant  
Accounting Policies – U ) Recent Pronouncements”.
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Table 004.4.5 reconciLiation oF measUres For consoLiDateD totaLs

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Total EBITDA 2,088,103 1,943,451

Interest expense ( net of interest income ) (336,742) (371,047)

Income tax expense, net (489,142) (465,652)

Change in deferred taxes, net 133,047 1,177

Change in operating assets and liabilities (420,297) 46,876

Compensation expense 31,879 24,208

Other items, net 9,550 20,561

net cash proViDeD BY operating actiVities 1,016,398 1,199,574



quantitative and qualitative disClosures 
about MarKet risK

 04.6   

MarKet risK

Our businesses operate in highly competitive markets and are subject to changes in business, 
economic and competitive conditions. Our business is subject to:

 changes in reimbursement rates; 
 intense competition; 
 foreign exchange rate fluctuations; 
 varying degrees of acceptance of new product introductions; 
 technological developments in our industry; 
  uncertainties in litigation or investigative proceedings and regulatory developments in the 
health care sector; and

 the availability of financing. 

Our business is also subject to other risks and uncertainties that we describe from time to 
time in our public filings. Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to differ 
materially from the results that we or others have projected or may project.

reiMburseMent rates
We obtained approximately 35 % of our worldwide revenue for 2008 from sources subject to 
regulations under U.S. government health care programs. In the past, U.S. budget deficit red-
uction and health care reform measures have changed the reimbursement rates under these 
programs, including the Medicare composite rate, the reimbursement rate for EPO, and the 
reimbursement rates for other dialysis and non-dialysis related services and products, as well 
as other material aspects of these programs, and they may change in the future.

We also obtain a significant portion of our net revenues from reimbursement by non-go-
vernment payors. Historically, these payors’ reimbursement rates generally have been higher 
than government program rates in their respective countries. However, non-governmental 
payors are imposing cost containment measures that are creating significant downward 
pressure on reimbursement levels that we receive for our services and products.

inFlation
The effects of inflation during the periods covered by the consolidated financial statements 
have not been significant to our results of operations. However, most of our net revenues 
from dialysis care are subject to reimbursement rates regulated by governmental authorities, 
and a significant portion of other revenues, especially revenues from the U.S., is received 
from customers whose revenues are subject to these regulated reimbursement rates. Non-
governmental payors are also exerting downward pressure on reimbursement rates. Increased 
operation costs that are subject to inflation, such as labor and supply costs, may not be  
recoverable through price increases in the absence of a compensating increase in reimbursement 
rates payable to us and our customers, and could materially adversely affect our business,  
financial condition and results of operations.
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ManageMent oF Foreign exCHange and interest rate risKs
We are primarily exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates and changes 
in interest rates. In order to manage the risks from these foreign exchange rate and interest 
rate fluctuations, we enter into various hedging transactions, as authorized by the Manage-
ment Board of the General Partner, with banks which generally have ratings in the “A” Cate-
gory or better. We do not use financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes.

Fresenius SE, as provided for under a service agreement, conducts financial instrument activity 
for us and its other subsidiaries under the control of a single centralized department. Fresenius 
SE has established guidelines, that we have agreed to, for risk assessment procedures and 
controls for the use of financial instruments. They include a clear segregation of duties with 
regard to execution on one side and administration, accounting and controlling on the other.

Foreign exCHange risK. We conduct our business on a global basis in various currencies, 
although our operations are located principally in the United States and Germany. For financial 
reporting purposes, we have chosen the U.S. dollar as our reporting currency. Therefore, 
changes in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the local currencies in which the 
financial statements of our international operations are maintained, affect our results of oper-
ations and financial position as reported in our consolidated financial statements. We have 
consolidated the balance sheets of our non-U.S. dollar denominated operations into U.S. dol-
lars at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.

Our exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to transactions 
such as sales and purchases. We have significant amounts of sales of products invoiced in  
euro from our European manufacturing facilities to our other international operations. This 
exposes our subsidiaries to fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the euro and the 
currency in which their local operations are conducted. For the purpose of hedging existing 
and foreseeable foreign exchange transaction exposures we enter into foreign exchange forward 
contracts and, on a small scale, foreign exchange options. Our policy, which has been con-
sistently followed, is that financial derivatives be used only for purposes of hedging foreign 
currency exposures. We have not used such instruments for purposes other than hedging.

In connection with intercompany loans in foreign currency, we normally use foreign exchange 
swaps thus assuring that no foreign exchange risks arise from those loans.

The Company is exposed to potential losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties 
to financial instruments. We do not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations as 
the counterparties are banks which generally have ratings in the “A” Category or better. The 
current credit exposure of foreign exchange derivatives is represented by the fair value of 
those contracts with a positive fair value at the reporting date. The table below provides  
information about our foreign exchange forward contracts at December 31, 2008. The infor-
mation is provided in U.S. dollar equivalent amounts. The table presents the notional amounts 
by year of maturity, the fair values of the contracts, which show the unrealized net gain 
( loss ) on existing contracts as of December 31, 2008, and the credit risk inherent to those 
contracts with positive market values as of December 31, 2008. All contracts expire within 
25 months after the reporting date.
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A summary of the high and low exchange rates for the Euro to U.S. dollars and the average 
exchange rates for the last five years is set forth below.

Foreign exCHange sensitivity analysis. In order to estimate and quantify the trans-
action risks from foreign currencies, the Company considers the cash flows reasonably expect - 
ed for the three months following the reporting date as the relevant assessment basis for 
a sensitivity analysis. For this analysis, the Company assumes that all foreign exchange rates 
in which the Company had unhedged positions as of the reporting date would be negatively 
impacted by 10 %. By multiplying the calculated unhedged risk positions with this factor, 
the maximum possible negative impact of the foreign exchange transaction risks on the 
Company’s results of operations would be $ 11 million. 
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Table 04.6.2 

$ per € Year’s  
high

Year’s  
low

Year’s  
average

Year’s  
close

2008 1.5990 1.2460 1.4713 1.3917

2007 1.4874 1.2893 1.3705 1.4721

2006 1.3331 1.1826 1.2558 1.3170

2005 1.3507 1.1667 1.2442 1.1797

2004 1.3633 1.1802 1.2439 1.3621

Table 04.6.1 Foreign cUrrencY risK management

$ in million, December 31 Nominal amount Fair value Credit risk

2009 2010 2011 Total

Purchase of € against $ 113 41 – 154 – 7

Sale of € against $ 14 – – 14 – –

Purchase of € against others 501 32 – 533 12 38

Sale of € against others 30 – – 30 – –

Others 83 15 1 99 2 9

totaL 741 88 1 830 14 54



interest rate risK. We are exposed to changes in interest rates that affect our variable-
rate borrowings. We enter into debt obligations and into accounts receivable securitizations 
to support our general corporate purposes including capital expenditures and working capi -
tal needs. Consequently, we enter into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps to protect 
interest rate exposures arising from borrowings at floating rates by effectively swapping 
them into fixed rates. 

We enter into interest rate swap agreements that are designated as cash flow hedges effectively 
converting the major part of variable interest rate payments due on our 2006 Senior Credit 
Agreement denominated in U.S. dollars into fixed interest rate payments. Those swap agree-
ments, all of which expire at various dates between 2009 and 2012, in the notional amount 
of $ 2.85 billion, effectively fix the Company’s variable interest rate exposure on the majority 
of its U.S. dollar-denominated revolving loans at an average interest rate of 4.37 % plus an 
applicable margin. Interest payable and interest receivable under the swap agreements are 
accrued and recorded as an adjustment to interest expense at each reporting date. At  
December 31, 2008, the negative fair value of these agreements is $ 149 million. 
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The table below presents principal amounts and related weighted average interest rates by 
year of maturity for interest rate swaps and for our significant debt obligations.
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Table 04.6.3 interest rate exposUre

$ in million 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total Fair value 
Dec. 31, 

2008

Floating rate $ Debt         

Principal payments on 
Senior Credit Agreement
Variable interest rate = 3.92 % 134 134  1,410  1,142 379   3,199 3,199 

Accounts receivable securitization programs
Variable interest rate = 2.29 % 539          539 539 

EIB loans
Variable interest rate = 2.03 %         49   49 49 

Floating rate € Debt         

Principal payments on
Senior Credit Agreement
Variable interest rate = 3.49 %     167       167 167

Euro N otes 20 05 / 2009
Variable interest rate = 6.871 %  103           103 103 

EIB loan
Variable interest rate = 4.77 %           125 125 125 

Fixed rate $ Debt         

Company obligated mandatorily redee-
mable preferred securities of subsidiaries
Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust
Fixed interest rate = 7.875 % / issued in 2001     224       224 213 

Senior Notes 2007/2017
Fixed interest rate = 6.875 % 492 492 466

Fixed rate € Debt         

Company obligated mandatorily redee- 
mable preferred securities of subsidiaries
Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust
Fixed interest rate = 7.375 % / issued in 2001

( denominated in  E UR )     417        417 413 

Euro N otes 20 05 / 2009;
Fixed interest rate = 4.57 % 175           175 173 

interest rate derivatives         

$ Payer Swaps Notional amount 450 250 1,000 1,150   2,850 (149)

Average fixed pay rate = 4.37 % 4.84 % 4.28 % 4.10 % 4.45 %   4.37 %  

Receive rate = 3-month $LIBOR         

All variable interest rates depicted above are as of December 31, 2008



interest rate sensitivity analysis. For purposes of analyzing the impact of changes 
in the relevant reference interest rates on the Company’s results of operations, the Company 
calculates the portion of financial debt which bears variable interest and which has not been 
hedged by means of interest rate swaps or options against rising interest rates. For this par-
ticular part of its liabilities, the Company assumes an increase in the reference rates of 0.5 % 
compared to the actual rates as of reporting date. The corresponding additional annual 
 interest expense is then compared to the Company’s net income. This analysis shows that 
an increase of 0.5 % in the relevant reference rates would have an effect of less than 1 % on 
the consolidated net income of the Company.
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CoMPensation oF ManageMent board 
and suPervisory board

 04.7   

rePort oF tHe ManageMent board oF Fresenius MediCal Care  
ManageMent ag, our general Partner 

The compensation report of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA summarizes the principles 
applied for the determination of the compensation of the management board members of 
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG as general partner of Fresenius   Medical Care AG & Co. 
KGaA and explains the amounts and structure of the management board compensation. 

The compensation report is based on the recommendations of the German Corporate  
Governance Code and also includes the disclosures in accordance with the Commercial 
Code extended by the Act on the Disclosure of Management Board Compensation. 

i.  CoMPensation oF tHe ManageMent board
Determination of the compensation of the management board is made by the full supervisory 
board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG. In the fiscal year 2008, the supervisory 
board was, for the first time, supported in this manner by a personnel committee, the “Human 
Resources Committee”. In the year under report, the Human Resources Committee consisted 
of Dr. Ulf M. Schneider, Dr. Gerd Krick, Dr. William P. Johnston and Dr. Walter Weisman. The 
objective of the compensation system is to enable the members of the management board 
to participate in the development of the business relative to their duties and performance 
and the successes in managing the economic and financial position of the Company taking 
into account its comparable environment. 

The compensation of the management board is, as a whole, performance oriented and con-
sists of three elements in fiscal year 2008:

 non-performance related compensation ( basic salary )
 performance related compensation ( variable bonus )
  components with long-term incentive effect ( share options, share-based compensation 
with cash settlement )

Furthermore, three members of the management board had pension commitments in the  
reporting period. The design of the individual components is based on the following criteria:

The non-performance-related compensation was paid in twelve monthly installments as 
basic salary in fiscal year 2008. In addition, the members of the management board received 
additional benefits consisting mainly of insurance premiums, the private use of company 
cars, special payments such as foreign supplements, rent supplements and reimbursement of 
certain other charges and additional contributions to pension and health insurance.
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The performance-related compensation will also be granted for fiscal year 2008 as a variable 
bonus. The amount of the bonus in each case depends on the achievement of individual and 
common targets. For the total performance-related compensation, the maximum achievable 
bonus is fixed. The targets are measured  on revenue growth, consolidated net income and 
operating income ( EBIT ) as well as  the development of cash flow, are in part subject to a 
comparison with the previous year's figures and can for another part be derived from the 
comparison of budgeted and actually achieved figures. Furthermore, targets are divided into 
group level targets and those to be achieved in individual regions. The regional targets also 
include in some cases special components which are for a three-year period, and therefore 
only for the fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008, linked to a special bonus component to the 
achievement of extraordinary financial targets connected to special integration measures,  
e. g. in connection with the acquisition of Renal Care Group in the U.S. The special components 
require an extraordinary increase in earnings. These special bonus components thereby con-
sist in equal parts of cash payments and a share-based compensation based on the develop-
ment of the stock exchange price of the Company's ordinary shares. Once the annual tar-
gets are achieved, the cash was or will be paid after the end of the respective fiscal year. The 
share-based compensation also to be granted yearly in these cases is subject to a three-year 
vesting period. The amount of cash payment of this share-based compensation corresponds 
to the share price of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA ordinary shares on exercise, and 
is, for that reason, attributed to the long-term incentive compensation components.

For fiscal years 2008 and 2007 the amount of the cash payment of the management board of 
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG consisted of the following:
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Table 04.7.1 

$ in thousands Non-performance 
related  

compensation

Performance 
related  

compensation

Cash compensation  
(without long-term  

incentive components)

Salary Other1 Bonus
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

1 Includes insurance premiums, private use of company cars, contributions to pension and health insurance and other benefits.

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 1,200 1,050 297 315 1,417 2,257 2,914 3,622

Roberto Fusté 515 480 270 251 290 624 1,075 1,355

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 809 637 95 63 968 1,530 1,872 2,230

Rice Powell 750 700 44 46 1,053 1,541 1,847 2,287

Lawrence A. Rosen 589 548 126 115 750 1,197 1,465 1,860

Dr. Rainer Runte 486 452 42 41 644 979 1,172 1,472

Mats Wahlstrom 850 800 46 47 1,244 1,761 2,140 2,608

totaL 5,199 4,667 920 878 6,366 9,889 12,485 15,434



In fiscal year 2008 stock options based on the Stock Option Plan 2006 were granted as com-
ponents with long-term incentive effect. The principles of the Stock Option Plan 2006 are 
described in more detail in Note 15 “Stock Options”. As of January 1, 2008, the Company had 
three additional Employee Participation Programs secured by conditional capital which en-
titled their participants to convertible bonds or stock options and under which however, no 
further options could be issued. 

In connection with these successful employee participation programs of the past fiscal years, 
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA implemented Stock Option Plan 2006 approved by 
resolution of the general meeting on May 9, 2006 and amended by resolution of the general 
meeting of May 15, 2007 ( share split 1:3 ). A total of 2,499,021 stock options were granted 
under the Stock Option Plan 2006 on July 28, 2008, of which 398,400 options were granted to 
the members of the management board. 

For fiscal years 2008 and 2007 the number and value of stock options issued and also the 
value of the share-based compensation is shown in the following table. 

The stated values of the stock options granted to members of the management board in  
fiscal year 2008 correspond to their fair value at the time of grant, namely a value of $ 15.43 
( € 9.80 ) ( 2007: $ 13.23 / € 9.71 ) per stock option. The exercise price for the stock options granted 
is $ 55.88 ( € 35.49 ) ( 2007: $46.22/€ 33.91 ).

At the end of fiscal year 2008, the members of the management board held a total of 
2,159,720 stock options ( December 31, 2007: 1,922,628 stock options ). 
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Table 04.7.2 components With Long-term incentiVe eFFects

 
Stock options

Share-based compensation 
with cash settlement

 
Total

Number Value $ in thousands Value $ in thousands Value $ in thousands

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 99,600 99,600 1,537 1,318 626 1,243 2,163 2,561

Roberto Fusté 49,800 49,800 768 659 – – 768 659

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 49,800 49,800 768 659 260 366 1,028 1,025

Rice Powell 49,800 49,800 768 659 348 841 1,116 1,500

Lawrence A. Rosen 49,800 49,800 768 659 307 649 1,075 1,308

Dr. Rainer Runte 49,800 49,800 768 659 253 535 1,021 1,194

Mats Wahlstrom 49,800 49,800 768 659 395 961 1,163 1,620

totaL 398,400 398,400 6,145 5,272 2,189 4,595 8,334 9,867



The development and the status of the stock options of the members of the management 
board during 2008 are shown in more detail in the following table:

On the basis of the financial targets achieved in fiscal year 2008, additional rights for share-
based compensation with cash settlement amounting to $ 2,189,419 ( 2007: $4,595,000 ) were 
earned. Since the actual distribution will only take place in March 2009, the number of 
shares will, on the basis of the then current share price, be determined only then by the su-
pervisory board and serve as the basis for the calculation of the payment after the three year 
waiting period. 
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Options outstanding 
at December 31, 2008

Options exercisable 
at December 31, 2008

Number Weighted  
average exercise 

price in $

Weighted average 
remaining contractu-

al life in years

Range of exercise 
price in $

Number Weighted  
average exercise 

price in $

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 818,411 34.19 3.7 20.14 – 55.88 519,611 27.21

Roberto Fusté 291,276 34.27 5.0 15.89 – 55.88 141,876 21.56

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 276,276 34.93 5.1 15.89 – 55.88 126,876 21.50

Rice Powell 177,177 42.10 5.4 15.89 – 55.88 27,777 19.29

Lawrence A. Rosen 227,604 39.90 5.5 23.91 – 55.88 78,204 25.85

Dr. Rainer Runte 207,753 41.11 5.3 19.98 – 55.88 58,353 27.73

Mats Wahlstrom 161,223 45.01 5.6 28.20 – 55.88 11,823 28.20

totaL 2,159,720 36.96 4.7 15.89 – 55.88 964,520 25.33

Table 04.7.3  

Options outstanding 
at January 1, 2008

Options granted 
during the fiscal year

Options exercised 
during the fiscal year

Number Weighted 
average exercise 

price in $

Number Weighted 
average exercise 

price in $

Number Weighted 
average exercise 

price in $

Weighted 
average share 

price in $

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 824,280 31.05 99,600 55.88 105,469 24.01 49.55

Roberto Fusté 241,476 31.15 49,800 55.88 – – –

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 226,476 31.76 49,800 55.88 – – –

Rice Powell 162,846 36.84 49,800 55.88 35,469 28.20 49.09

Lawrence A. Rosen 177,804 36.47 49,800 55.88 – – –

Dr. Rainer Runte 157,953 38.50 49,800 55.88 – – –

Mats Wahlstrom 131,793 40.23 49,800 55.88 20,370 24.81 49.20

totaL 1,922,628 33.38 398,400 55.88 161,308 25.03 49.40



The amount of the total compensation of the management board of Fresenius Medical Care 
Management AG for fiscal years 2008 and 2007 consisted of:

The components with long-term incentive effect can be exercised only after the expiry of  
the specified vesting period. Their value is recognized over the vesting period as expense in 
the respective fiscal year. The expenses attributable to fiscal years 2008 and 2007 are stated in 
the following table.

The non-performance related compensation components and the basic structures of the 
performance-related compensation components are agreed in the service agreements with 
the individual management board members. The stock options are granted on an annual 
basis by the supervisory board to members of the management board. 
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Table 04.7.4 

$ in thousands Cash compensation 
( without long-term  

incentive components )

Components with 
long-term 

incentive effect

Total compensation  
( including long-term  

incentive components )

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

 

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 2,914 3,622 2,163 2,561 5,077 6,183

Roberto Fusté 1,075 1,355 768 659 1,843 2,014

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 1,872 2,230 1,028 1,025 2,900 3,255

Rice Powell 1,847 2,287 1,116 1,500 2,963 3,787

Lawrence A. Rosen 1,465 1,860 1,075 1,308 2,540 3,168

Dr. Rainer Runte 1,172 1,472 1,021 1,194 2,193 2,666

Mats Wahlstrom 2,140 2,608 1,163 1,620 3,303 4,228

totaL 12,485 15,434 8,334 9,867 20,819 25,301

Table 04.7.5 

$ in thousands  
Expense for long-term  
incentive components  

with equity instruments

Expense for long-term  
incentive components  

by share-based compensation  
with cash settlement

 
Total expense  

for share-based  
compensation

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

 

Dr. Ben J. Lipps 1,188 769 796 379 1,984 1,148

Roberto Fusté 594 384 – – 594 384

Dr. Emanuele Gatti 594 384 265 133 859 517

Rice Powell 594 378 488 224 1,082 602

Lawrence A. Rosen 594 398 385 147 979 545

Dr. Rainer Runte 594 384 340 144 934 528

Mats Wahlstrom 594 378 558 256 1,152 634

totaL 4,752 3,075 2,832 1,283 7,584 4,358



ii.  CoMMitMents to MeMbers oF tHe ManageMent board For  
tHe event oF tHe terMination oF tHeir aPPointMent
There are individual contractual pension commitments for the management board members 
Roberto Fusté, Dr. Emanuele Gatti and Lawrence A. Rosen. With regard to these pension 
commitments, the Company as of December 31, 2008 has pension obligations of $ 3,354,178 
( at December 31, 2007: $ 3,192,997 ). The additions to pension obligations in fiscal year 2008 
amounted to $ 422,394 ( 2007: $1,530,166 ). Each of the pension commitments provides a pension 
and survivor benefit, depending on the amount of the most recent basic salary, from the 65th 
year of life, or, in the case of termination because of professional or occupational incapacity, 
from the time of ending active work. The starting percentage of 30 % increases with every 
year of service by 1.5 percentage points, 45 % being the attainable maximum. 30 % of the 
gross amount of any later income from an occupation of the management board member is set-
off against the pension. 

With the chairman of the management board, Dr. Ben Lipps, there is an individual agreement, 
instead of a pension provision, to the effect that, taking account of a competitive restriction 
after the ending of the employment contract / service agreement between him and Fresenius 
Medical Care Management AG, he can, for a period of ten years, act in a consultative capa-
city for the company. The consideration to be granted annually by Fresenius Medical Care 
Management AG in return would amount to approximately 33 % of the non-performance 
related compensation components paid to him in the fiscal year 2008.

The management board members Dr. Emanuele Gatti, Rice Powell and Mats Wahlstrom have 
been granted benefits ( severance, calculated on the basis of guaranteed simple annual in-
come, based on the relevant basic salary ) by individual agreements for the event that their 
employment with Fresenius Medical Care Management AG should end. One half of any addi-
tional compensation payments which the said management board members would be en-
titled to in connection with existing post-contractual prohibitions of competitive activity 
would be set-off against these severance payments. The employment contracts of manage-
ment board members contain no express provisions for the case of a change of control. 

iii.  MisCellaneous
In fiscal year 2008, no loans or advance payments of future compensation components were 
made to members of the management board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG. 

As far as legally permitted, Fresenius Medical Care Management AG undertook to indemnify 
the members of the management board against claims against them arising out of their 
work for the company and its affiliates, if such claims exceed their responsibilities under German 
law. To secure such obligations, the company concluded a Directors & Officers insurance  
with an appropriate excess. The indemnity applies for the time in which each member of the 
management board is in office and for claims in this connection after the ending of the 
membership of the management board in each case. 

Former members of the management board did not receive any compensation in fiscal year 2008.
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CoMPensation oF tHe suPervisory board

The compensation of the Supervisory Board of FMC - AG & Co. KGaA is regulated in § 13 of its 
statute. 

Corresponding to this regulation the Company reimburses the Supervisory Board members 
for expenses incurred from their duties as Supervisory Board members, including value 
added tax. 

Each member of the supervisory board shall receive a fixed fee of $ 80,000 per annum for 
each full fiscal year, payable in four equal installments at the end of each calendar quarter. 
In the event that the general meeting, taking into consideration the annual results, resolves 
a higher remuneration by a three fourths majority of the votes cast, such higher remunera-
tion shall be payable.

The chairman of the supervisory board shall receive additional remuneration in the amount 
of $ 80,000 and his deputy additional remuneration in the amount of $ 40,000. As a member 
of a committee, a supervisory board member shall receive, in addition, $ 30,000 per year. As 
chairman of a committee a supervisory board member shall receive additional remuneration 
of $ 20,000 per year, payable in each case in four equal installments at the end of each 
 calendar quarter.

To the extent that a member of the supervisory board is at the same time member of the 
 supervisory board of the General Partner Management AG and receives remuneration for his 
services as member of the supervisory board of the Management AG, the remuneration will 
be reduced to half of it. The same shall apply in relation to additional remuneration of the 
Chairman and his deputy if such person is, at the same time, the chairman or his deputy, 
 respectively, of the supervisory board of the Management AG. If the deputy of the chairman 
of the supervisory board of the Company is at the same time chairman of the supervisory 
board of the Management AG he shall not receive additional remuneration for his services 
as deputy of the chairman of the Company.

As regulated in § 7 of the Company’s statute the aggregate compensation fees to the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner Management AG and to its committees 
were charged to FMC - AG & Co. KGaA. 

For the years 2008 and 2007 the compensation for the members of the supervisory boards 
were as follows:
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Table 04.7.6 

$ in thousands1   
Fixed 

compensation

Compensation for  
committee services at  

Management AG4

Compensation for 
committee services at 

KGaA

  
 Total 

compensation

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

1  Shown without VAT and withholding tax.
2  Chairman of the supervisory board of Management AG, but not member of the supervisory board of KGaA; fixed compensation paid by Management AG.
3  Member of the supervisory board of KGaA, but not member of the supervisory board of Management AG; fixed compensation paid by KGaA.
4  At Management AG level committees have been established in Q3 2008 only; hence, the respective compensation was paid on a pro rata basis.

Dr. Gerd Krick 160 160 20 – 30 30 210 190

Dr. Dieter Schenk 120 120 15 – – – 135 120

Dr. Ulf M. Schneider2 160 160 25 – – – 185 160

Dr. Walter L. Weisman 80 80 15 – 50 50 145 130

John Gerhard Kringel 80 80 20 – 30 30 130 110

Dr. William P. Johnston 80 80 40 – 30 30 150 110

Prof. Dr. Bernd Fahrholz3 80 80 – – 30 30 110 110

totaL 760 760 135 – 170 170 1,065 930



 
Why does quality make business sense?

“Quality ensures that we deliver the best products and services to our customers. 
They can rely on Fresenius Medical Care to fulfil this promise every day. And that is 
why we are the leading provider in the field of dialysis – with all the economic 
benefits that this market position entails.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Toby Jones

Job Title Director of Marketing Asia-Pacific

Age 50 Years

Nationality Australian

Joined in July 2003
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   I05.1  Consolidated stateMents oF inCoMe

Table 05.1.1 consoLiDateD statements oF income

$ in thousands, except share data Note 2008 2007

net revenue    

Dialysis care 1I 7,737,498 7,213,000

Dialysis products  2,874,825 2,507,314

totaL 22 10,612,323 9,720,314

costs of revenue    

Dialysis care  5,547,615 5,130,287

Dialysis products  1,435,860 1,234,232

totaL  6,983,475 6,364,519

Gross profit  3,628,848 3,355,795

operating expenses    

Selling, general and administrative  1,876,177 1,709,150

Research and development 1J 80,239 66,523

operating income  1,672,432 1,580,122

other ( income ) expense    

Interest income  (24,811) (28,588)

Interest expense  361,553 399,635

Income before income taxes and minority interest  1,335,690 1,209,075

Income tax expense 1K, 16 489,142 465,652

Minority interest  28,941 26,293

net income  817,607 717,130

Basic income per orDinarY share  2.75 2.43

FULLY DiLUteD income per orDinarY share  2.75 2.42

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ in thousands, except share data, at December 31 Note 2008 2007

assets

current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1B 221,584 244,690

Trade accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 
of $ 262,836 in 2008 and $ 247,800 in 2007  2,176,316 2,026,865

Accounts receivable from related parties  175,525 99,626

Inventories 4 707,050 636,234

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  607,399 495,630

Deferred taxes 1K, 16 324,123 356,427

totaL cUrrent assets  4,211,997 3,859,472

Property, plant and equipment, net 1E, 5 2,236,078 2,053,793

Intangible assets 1F, 6 846,496 689,956

Goodwill 1F, 6 7,309,910 7,245,589

Deferred taxes 1K, 16 92,805 83,615

Other assets  222,390 237,840

totaL assets  14,919,676 14,170,265

Table 05.2.1 consoLiDateD BaLance sheets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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   I05.2  Consolidated balanCe sHeet

Table 05.2.2 consoLiDateD BaLance sheets

$ in thousands, except share data, at December 31 Note 2008 2007

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

current liabilities    

Accounts payable  366,017 329,919

Accounts payable to related parties  239,243 201,049

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 7 1,288,433 1,352,013

Short-term borrowings and other financial liabilities 8 683,155 217,497

Short-term borrowings from related parties 8 1,330 2,287

Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 9 455,114 84,816

Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of 
subsidiary Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts holding solely
Company-guaranteed debentures of subsidiaries – current portion 11 – 669,787

Income tax payable 1K, 16 82,468 146,536

Deferred taxes 1K, 16 28,652 22,589

totaL cUrrent LiaBiLities  3,144,412 3,026,493

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion 9 3,957,379 4,004,013

Other liabilities  319,602 193,604

Pension liabilities 10 136,755 111,352

Income tax payable 1K, 16 171,747 111,280

Deferred taxes 1K, 16 426,299 378,497

Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of 
subsidiary Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts holding solely 
Company-guaranteed debentures of subsidiaries 11 640,696 663,995

Minority interest  160,504 105,814

totaL LiaBiLities  8,957,394 8,595,048

shareholders’ equity    

Preference shares, no par value, € 1.00 nominal value, 
12,356,880 shares authorized, 3,810,540 issued and outstanding  4,240 4,191

Ordinary shares, no par value, € 1.00 nominal value
373,436,220 shares authorized, 293,932,036 issued and outstanding  363,076 361,384

Additional paid-in capital  3,293,918 3,221,644

Retained earnings  2,452,332 1,887,120

Accumulated other comprehensive ( loss ) income 21 (151,284) 100,878

totaL sharehoLDers’ eQUitY 13 5,962,282 5,575,217

totaL LiaBiLities anD sharehoLDers’ eQUitY  14,919,676 14,170,265

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Table 05.3.1 consoLiDateD statements oF cash FLoWs

$ in thousands Note 2008 2007

operating activities    

Net income   817,607 717,130

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization 22  415,671 363,330

Change in minority interest   59,555 43,237

Change in deferred taxes, net   133,047 1,177

( Gain ) Loss on sale of fixed assets and investments   (21,064) 3,616

Compensation expense related to stock options 1T, 15  31,879 24,208

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of amounts from 
businesses acquired:     

Trade accounts receivable, net   (241,967) (62,735)

Inventories 4  (94,112) (72,825)

Prepaid expenses, other current and non-current assets   (101,263) (11,680) 

Accounts receivable from / payable to related parties   32,252 (22,265) 

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current and 
non-current liabilities  

 

(17,040) 113,960

Income tax payable 1K, 16  1,833 102,421

net cash proViDeD BY operating actiVities   1,016,398 1,199,574

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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   I05.3  Consolidated stateMents oF CasH Flows

Table 05.3.2 consoLiDateD statements oF cash FLoWs

$ in thousands Note 2008 2007

investing activities    

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 1E, 5, 22  (687,356)  (572,721)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1E, 5, 22  13,846  29,668 

Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired,
and net purchases of intangible assets 22, 23 (276,473) (263,395)

Proceeds from divestitures   58,582  29,495

net cash UseD in inVesting actiVities   (891,401)  (776,953) 

Financing activities    

Proceeds from short-term borrowings and other financial liabilities 8  176,104  96,995 

Repayments of short-term borrowings and other financial liabilities 8  (183,210)  (107,793)

Proceeds from short-term borrowings from related parties 8  168,641  43,554 

Repayments of short-term borrowings from related parties 8  (169,573)  (46,071)

Proceeds from long-term debt and capital lease obligations 
( net of debt issuance costs of $ 16,703 in 2007 ) 9  458,951 

 

516,762 

Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations   (135,492)  (486,513)

Redemption of trust preferred securities   (678,379)  –  

Increase of accounts receivable securitization program   454,000  (181,000)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 15  43,887  46,934

Repurchase of preferred stock   –   (7,660)

Dividends paid 13  (252,395)  (188,407)

Distributions to minority interest   (38,592)  (27,469)

net cash UseD in Financing actiVities   (156,058)  (340,668)

eFFect oF exchange rate changes on cash anD 
cash eQUiVaLents  7,955 3,727

cash and cash equivalents    

Net ( decrease ) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (23,106)  85,680

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   244,690  159,010 

cash anD cash eQUiVaLents at enD oF perioD   221,584  244,690 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Table 05.4.1 consoLiDateD statements oF sharehoLDers’ eQUitY

$ in thousands Note Preference shares Ordinary shares

Number of 
shares

No par value Number of 
shares

No par value

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2006   3,711,435 4,098  291,449,673   359,527  

Proceeds from exercise of options and related tax effects 15  66,652  93  1,336,910  1,857

Compensation expense related to stock options 15   –   –   –   –

Dividends paid 13   –   –   –   –

Comprehensive income ( loss )      

Net income    –   –   –   –

Other comprehensive income ( loss ) related to:      

Cash flow hedges, net of related tax effects 21   –   –   –   –

Foreign currency translation 21   –   –   –   –

Adjustments relating to pension obligations,
net of related tax effects 10, 21   –   –   –   –

Comprehensive Income    –   –   –   –

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2007    3,778,087   4,191   292,786,583   361,384  

Proceeds from exercise of options and related tax effects 15   32,453   49   1,145,453   1,692 

Compensation expense related to stock options 15   –    –    –    –

Dividends paid 13   –    –    –    –

Comprehensive income ( loss )      

Net income    –    –    –    –

Other comprehensive income ( loss ) related to:      

Cash flow hedges, net of related tax effects 21   –    –    –    –

Foreign currency translation 21   –    –  – –

Adjustments relating to pension obligations, 
net of related tax effects 10, 21   –    –    –    –

Comprehensive Income     –    –    –    –

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2008    3,810,540   4,240   293,932,036   363,076  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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   I05.4  Consolidated stateMents oF sHareHolders’  equity

Table 05.4.2 consoLiDateD statements oF sharehoLDers’ eQUitY

$ in thousands Note Additional 
paid in 
capital 

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income  
(loss)

Total

Foreign 
currency 

translation

Cash  
flow 

hedges

Pensions

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2006   3,153,556  1,358,397    8,309  37,187   (50,912) 4,870,162

Proceeds from exercise of options and 
related tax effects 15  43,880  – –  –  – 45,830 

Compensation expense related 
to stock options 15

 

24,208

 

 – –

 

 –

 

 –

 

24,208

Dividends paid 13 – (188,407) – – – (188,407)

Comprehensive income ( loss )        

Net income  –  717,130 – – –  717,130 

Other comprehensive income ( loss ) 
related to:        

Cash flow hedges, net of related 
tax effects 21 – – – (54,053) – (54,053)

Foreign currency translation 21 – –  137,048 – –  137,048 

Adjustments relating to pension 
obligations, net of related tax effects 10, 21 –  – –  –  23,299 23,299 

Comprehensive Income  – – – – –  823,424 

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2007    3,221,644   1,887,120    145,357 (16,866)  (27,613)  5,575,217  

Proceeds from exercise of options and
related tax effects 15 40,395  – –  –  –  42,136

Compensation expense related 
to stock options 15 31,879

 

– –

 

 –   –

 

31,879

Dividends paid 13 – (252,395) – – – (252,395)

Comprehensive income ( loss )        

Net income  – 817,607 – – –  817,607 

Other comprehensive income ( loss ) 
related to:        

Cash flow hedges, net of related 
tax effects 21 – – – (65,180) – (65,180)

Foreign currency translation 21 – – (171,063) – – (171,063)

Adjustments relating to pension 
obligations, net of related tax effects 10, 21 –  – –  – (15,919)  (15,919) 

Comprehensive Income  – – – – – 565,445

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2008    3,293,918   2,452,332  (25,706)  (82,046)  (43,532)  5,962,282  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



notes to Consolidated FinanCial stateMents 
In thousands, except share data

 05.5   

1. tHe CoMPany, basis oF Presentation and  
suMMary oF signiFiCant aCCounting PoliCies

tHe CoMPany
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA ( “FMC-AG & Co. KGaA” or the “Company”, “we”, “us” 
or “our” and together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as the context requires ), a 
German partnership limited by shares ( Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien ), is the world’s lar-
gest kidney dialysis company, operating in both the field of dialysis services and the field of 
dialysis products for the treatment of end-stage renal disease ( “ESRD” ). The Company’s 
dialysis business is vertically integrated, providing dialysis treatment at dialysis clinics it owns or 
operates and supplying these clinics with a broad range of products. In addition, the Company 
sells dialysis products to other dialysis service providers. In the United States, the Company 
also performs clinical laboratory testing and provides inpatient dialysis services and other 
services under contract to hospitals. 

basis oF Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ( “U.S. GAAP” ). 

suMMary oF signiFiCant aCCounting PoliCies
a) PrinCiPles oF Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include all 
companies in which the Company has legal or effective control. In addition, the Company 
consolidates variable interest entities ( “VIEs” ) for which it is deemed the primary beneficiary. 
The equity method of accounting is used for investments in associated companies ( 20 % to 
50 % owned ). Minority interest represents the proportionate equity interests of owners in the 
Company’s consolidated entities that are not wholly owned. All significant intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The Company entered into various arrangements with certain dialysis clinics to provide ma-
nagement services, financing and product supply. A group of these clinics has negative equity 
and are unable to provide their own funding, therefore the Company has agreed to fund 
their operations for at least a six year period. The funding carries no interest but the Company 
is entitled to a pro rata share of profits, if any, and has a right of first refusal in the event 
the owners sell the business or assets. These clinics are VIEs in which the Company has been 
determined to be the primary beneficiary and which therefore have been fully consolidated. 
They generated approximately $ 88,508 and $79,164 in revenue in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
The following table shows the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of these VIEs:
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b) CasH and CasH equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds and 
all short-term, liquid investments with original maturities of up to three months.

C) allowanCe For doubtFul aCCounts. Estimates for the allowances for accounts 
receivable from the dialysis care business are based mainly on past collection history. Spe-
cifically, the allowances for the North American services division are based on an analysis of 
 collection experience, recognizing the differences between payors and aging of accounts 
 receivable. From time to time, accounts receivable are reviewed for changes from the his-
toric collection experience to ensure the appropriateness of the allowances. The allowances 
in the International Segment and the products business are based on estimates and consider 
various factors, including aging, debtor and past collection history. 

d) inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost ( determined by using the aver-
age or first-in, first-out method ) or market value (  see Note 4 ). Costs included in inventories are 
based on invoiced costs and / or production costs as applicable. Included in production costs 
are material, direct labor and production overhead, including depreciation charges.

e) ProPerty, Plant and equiPMent. Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation (  see Note 5 ). Significant improvements are capitalized; repairs 
and maintenance costs that do not extend the useful lives of the assets are charged to 
 expense as incurred. Property and equipment under capital leases are stated at the present 
value of future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated 
 depreciation. Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 5 to 50 years for 
build ings and improvements with a weighted average life of 12 years and 3 to 15 years for 
 machinery and equipment with a weighted average life of 10 years. Equipment held under 
capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over 
the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Internal use platform 
software that is integral to the computer equipment it supports is included in property, plant 
and equipment. The Company capitalizes interest on borrowed funds during construction 
periods. Interest capitalized during 2008 and 2007 was $ 8,723 and $ 5,323, respectively.
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   I05.5  notes to  Consolidated FinanCial stateMents

Table 05.5.1 carrYing amoUnts Vie

$ in thousands

Trade accounts receivable, net 22,207

Other current assets 7,308

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets & other non-current assets 6,466

Goodwill 13,992

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities (19,306)
Non-current loans to related parties (10,086)
Equity (20,581)



F) intangible assets and goodwill. Intangible assets such as non-compete agree-
ments, technology, distribution rights, patents, licenses to treat, licenses to manufacture, 
distribute and sell pharmaceutical drugs, trade names, management contracts, application 
software, acute care agreements, lease agreements, and licenses acquired in a purchase 
method business combination are recognized and reported apart from goodwill (  see Note 6 ).

Goodwill and identifiable intangibles with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but tested 
for impairment annually or when an event becomes known that could trigger an impairment. 
The Company identified trade names and certain qualified management contracts as intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over 
their respective useful lives to their residual values. The Company amortizes non-compete 
agreements over their average useful life of 8 years. Technology is amortized over its useful 
life of 15 years. Licenses to manufacture, distribute and sell pharmaceutical drugs are amor-
tized over their average useful life of 10 years. The U.S. intravenous iron products distribution 
and manufacturing agreement is amortized over its 10 year contractual license period based 
upon the annual estimated units of sale of the licensed product. All other intangible assets 
are amortized over their weighted average useful lives of 6 years. The average useful life of 
all amortizable intangible assets is 8 years. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are evaluated 
for impairment when events have occurred that may give rise to an impairment.

To perform the annual impairment test of goodwill, the Company identified its reporting 
units and determined their carrying value by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the 
existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units. In a first step, the Company 
compares the fair value of each reporting unit to the reporting unit’s carrying amount. Fair 
value is determined using a discounted cash flow approach based upon the cash flow expected 
to be generated by the reporting unit. 

In the case that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its book value, a second step 
is performed which compares the fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to the carrying 
value of its goodwill. If the fair value of the goodwill is less than the book value, the differ-
ence is recorded as an impairment.

To evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, the Company 
compares the fair values of intangible assets with their carrying values. An intangible asset’s 
fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow approach or other methods, if appropriate.
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g) derivative FinanCial instruMents. Derivative financial instruments which prima-
rily include foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps are recognized as as-
sets or liabilities at fair value in the balance sheet (  see Note 19 ). Changes in the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments classified as fair value hedges and in the corresponding under-
lyings are recognized periodically in earnings. The effective portion of changes in fair value of 
cash flow hedges is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income ( loss ) in share-
holders’ equity. The ineffective portion of cash flow hedges is recognized in earnings imme-
diately.

H) Foreign CurrenCy translation. For purposes of these consolidated financial 
statements, the U.S. dollar is the reporting currency. Substantially all assets and liabilities of the 
parent company and all non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated at year-end exchange rates, while 
revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates. Adjustments for foreign cur-
rency translation fluctuations are excluded from net earnings and are reported in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income ( loss ). In addition, the translation adjustments of certain 
intercompany borrowings, which are considered foreign equity investments, are reported in 
accumulated other comprehensive income ( loss ).

i) revenue reCognition PoliCy. Dialysis care revenues are recognized on the date 
services and related products are provided and the payor is obligated to pay at amounts esti-
mated to be received under reimbursement arrangements with third party payors. Medicare 
and Medicaid in North America and programs involving other government payors in the In-
ternational Segment are billed at pre-determined rates per treatment that are established by 
statute or regulation. Most non-governmental payors are billed at our standard rates for 
services net of contractual allowances to reflect the estimated amounts to be received under 
reimbursement arrangements with these payors.

Dialysis product revenues are recognized when title to the product passes to the customers 
either at the time of shipment, upon receipt by the customer or upon any other terms that 
clearly define passage of title. As product returns are not typical, no return allowances are 
established. In the event a return is required, the appropriate reductions to sales, accounts 
receivables and cost of sales are made. Sales are stated net of discounts and rebates.
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A minor portion of International Segment product revenues is generated from arrangements 
which give the customer, typically a health care provider, the right to use dialysis machines. 
In the same contract the customer agrees to purchase the related treatment disposables at a 
price marked up from the standard price list. FMC-AG & Co. KGaA does not recognize revenue 
upon delivery of the dialysis machine but recognizes revenue, including the mark-up, on the 
sale of disposables.

Any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is incurred as a result of a revenue trans-
action ( e.g. sales tax ) is excluded from revenues and reported on a net basis.

j) researCH and develoPMent exPenses. Research and development expenses are 
expensed as incurred. 

K) inCoMe taxes. The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 ( “FIN 48” ), Accoun-
ting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 Accoun-
ting for Income Taxes ( “FAS 109” ) as of January 1, 2007. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are re-
cognized for the future consequences attributable to temporary differences between the fi-
nancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 
basis as well as on consolidation procedures affecting net income and tax loss carryforwards 
which are more likely than not to be utilized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is re-
corded to reduce the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than 
not that such assets will be realized (  see Note 16 ).

It is the Company’s policy to recognize interest and penalties related to its tax positions as 
income tax expense.

l) iMPairMent. The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets or asset 
groups with definite useful lives to be held and used for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recov-
erable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying value of 
an asset to the future net cash flows directly associated with the asset. If assets are consid-
ered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying value 
exceeds the fair value of the asset. The Company uses a discounted cash flow approach or 
other methods, if appropriate, to assess fair value.

Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are reported at the lower of carrying value or fair 
value less cost to sell and depreciation is ceased. Long-lived assets to be disposed of other 
than by sale are considered to be held and used until disposal.
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M) debt issuanCe Costs. Costs related to the issuance of debt are amortized over the 
term of the related obligation (  see Note 9 ).

n) selF-insuranCe PrograMs. Under the insurance programs for professional, product 
and general liability, auto liability and worker’s compensation claims, the Company’s largest 
subsidiary is partially self-insured for professional liability claims. For all other coverages, the 
Company assumes responsibility for incurred claims up to predetermined amounts above 
which third party insurance applies. Reported liabilities for the year represent estimated future 
payments of the anticipated expense for claims incurred ( both reported and incurred but not 
 reported ) based on historical experience and existing claim activity. This experience includes 
both the rate of claims incidence ( number ) and claim severity ( cost ) and is combined with 
 individual claim expectations to estimate the reported amounts.

o) use oF estiMates. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity 
with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the re-
ported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

P) ConCentration oF risK. The Company is engaged in the manufacture and sale of 
products for all forms of kidney dialysis, principally to health care providers throughout the 
world, and in providing kidney dialysis treatment, clinical laboratory testing, and other medi-
cal ancillary services. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers’ financial 
condition and, generally, requires no collateral.

Approximately 35 % and 36 % of the Company’s worldwide revenues were earned and subject 
to regulations under governmental health care programs, Medicare and Medicaid, adminis-
tered by the United States government in 2008 and 2007, respectively. ( See Note 4 for concen-
tration of supplier risks. )

q) legal ContingenCies. From time to time, during the ordinary course of the Company’s 
operations, the Company is party to litigation and arbitration and is subject to investigations 
relating to various aspects of its business (  see Note 17 ). The Company regularly analyzes current 
information about such claims for probable losses and provides accruals for such matters, in-
cluding the estimated legal expenses and consulting services in connection with these matters, 
as appropriate. The Company utilizes its internal legal department as well as external resources 
for these assessments. In making the decision regarding the need for loss accrual, the Com-
pany considers the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and its ability to make 
a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

The filing of a suit or formal assertion of a claim or assessment, or the disclosure of any such 
suit or assertion, does not necessarily indicate that accrual of a loss is appropriate.
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r) earnings Per ordinary sHare and PreFerenCe sHare. Basic earnings per 
 ordinary share and basic earnings per preference share for all years presented have been 
 calculated using the two-class method required under U.S. GAAP based upon the weighted 
 average number of ordinary and preference shares outstanding. Basic earnings per share is 
computed by dividing net income less preference amounts by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares and preference shares outstanding during the year. Basic earnings per 
preference share is derived by adding the preference per preference share to the basic 
 earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share include the effect of all potentially dilutive 
 instruments on ordinary shares and preference shares that would have been outstanding 
during the year.

The awards granted under the Company’s stock incentive plans (  see Note 15 ), are potentially 
dilutive equity instruments.

s) eMPloyee beneFit Plans. As of December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the 
recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 158, Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit 
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans – an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, 
and 132( R ) ( “FAS 158” ). The Company recognized the underfunded status of its defined benefit 
plans, measured as the difference between plan assets at fair value and the benefit obliga-
tion, as a liability. Changes in the funded status of a plan, net of tax, resulting from actuarial 
gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that are not recognized as components of 
the net periodic benefit cost will be recognized through accumulated other comprehensive 
income in the year in which they occur. Actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs are 
subsequently recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost pursuant to the recognition 
and amortization provisions of those standards. The Company uses December 31 as the 
measurement date when measuring the funded status of all plans.

t) stoCK oPtion Plans. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions 
of FASB Statement No. 123R ( revised 2004 ), Share-Based Payment ( “FAS 123( R )” ) using the 
modified prospective transition method (  see Note 14 ). Under this transition method, compen-
sation cost recognized in 2006 and subsequent years includes applicable amounts of: ( a ) 
compensation cost of all stock-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, 
January 1, 2006, and ( b ) compensation cost for all stock-based payments subsequent to 
 January 1, 2006 ( based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the new 
provisions of FAS 123( R ) ).
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u) reCent PronounCeMents. On December 30, 2008, the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board ( “FASB” ) issued final staff position FSP FAS 132R-1: Employers’ Disclosures about 
Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets. The FSP requires more disclosure about pension plan assets 
mainly regarding the following areas:
 

  How investment allocation decisions are made, including the factors that are pertinent to 
an understanding of investment policies and strategies,

  The major categories of plan assets,
  The inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets,
  The effect of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs ( Level 3 ) on 
changes in plan assets for the period, and 

  Significant concentrations of risk within plan assets.

The disclosures about plan assets required by this FSP shall be provided for fiscal years en-
ding after December 15, 2009. Upon initial application, the provisions of this FSP are not re-
quired for earlier periods that are presented for comparative purposes. Earlier application of 
the provisions of this FSP is permitted. The Company will comply with the disclosure require-
ments of this standard in its report on its consolidated financial statements beginning for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161 Disclosures 
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 
( “FAS 161” ). This Statement changes the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments 
and hedging activities. Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about ( a ) how 
and why an entity uses derivative instruments, ( b ) how derivative instruments and related 
hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations, and ( c ) 
how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position,  
financial performance, and cash flows. The requirements of this Statement are effective for 
financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 
2008, with early application encouraged. This Statement encourages, but does not require, 
comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The Company will adopt this 
standard as of January 1, 2009 and will implement its disclosure requirements in 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Con-
solidated Financial Statements – an amendment of ARB No. 51 ( “FAS 160” ), which establishes 
a framework for reporting of noncontrolling or minority interests, the portion of equity in a 
subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. FAS 160 is effective for financial 
statements issued for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption 
is prohibited. The Company will adopt this standard as of January 1, 2009, and does not anti-
cipate any material impact of this standard on its Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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In December 2007, FASB issued FASB Statement No. 141 ( revised ), Business Combinations. This 
Statement replaces FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations and retains the fundamental 
requirements in Statement 141 that the acquisition method of accounting ( which Statement 
141 called the purchase method ) be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer 
to be identified for each business combination. This Statement defines the acquirer as the 
entity that obtains control of one or more businesses in the business combination and establishes 
the acquisition date as the date that the acquirer achieves control. 

In general, the main points of this Statement are that the assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and non-controlling interests in the acquired company are stated at fair value as of the date 
of acquisition, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from contractual contin-
gencies are recognized as of the acquisition date, measured at their acquisition-date fair values 
and that contingent consideration is recognized at the acquisition date, measured at its fair 
value at that date.

This Statement applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date  
is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after De-
cember 15, 2008. An entity may not apply it before that date. The effective date of this State-
ment is the same as that of the related FASB Statement No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company will adopt this standard as of January 1, 2009.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( “FASB” ) issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ( “FAS 157” ), which establishes 
a framework for reporting fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. 
FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 
2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. FASB Staff Position No. 157-2 ( “FSP 157-2” ) 
issued February 12, 2008 delayed application of this Statement for nonfinancial assets and 
nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis ( at least annually ), until fiscal years  
beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. 

The Company adopted this standard, except for those sections affected by FSP 157-2, as of 
January 1, 2008.

2. aCquisitions 

rsi aCquisition
On November 26, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of all the common stock of 
Renal Solutions, Inc. ( “RSI” ), an Indiana corporation with principal offices in Warrendale, PA. 
The RSI acquisition agreement provided for total consideration of up to $ 203,666, consisting 
of $ 20,000 previously advanced to RSI in the form of a loan, $ 99,854 paid at closing, $ 60,000 
paid in November, 2008, $ 3,572 receivable related to a working capital adjustment which was 
received in 2008, and up to $ 30,000 in milestone payments over a three year period contingent 
upon the achievement of certain performance criteria, none of which were due or paid in 
2008. In 2007, the Company recorded a liability of $ 27,384 representing the net present value 
of the $ 30,000 milestone payments as it was deemed beyond reasonable doubt that the fu-
ture performance criteria would be achieved. The purchase price was allocated to goodwill 
( $ 159,385 ), intangible assets ( $ 34,480 ) and other net assets ( $ 9,800 ). RSI holds key patents 
and other intellectual property worldwide related to sorbent-based technology ( “SORB” ). 
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SORB technology purifies potable water to dialysate quality and allows dialysis for up to 8 hours 
with only 6 liters of potable water through a process of dialysate regeneration and toxin 
adsorption. This regeneration capability significantly reduces the water volume requirement 
for a typical hemodialysis treatment and is an important step in advancing home hemodialysis 
and helping to create a potential platform for eventual development of a wearable kidney.

The assets and liabilities of all acquisitions were recorded at their estimated fair values at the 
dates of the acquisitions and are included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial State-
ments and operating results from the effective date of acquisition.

3. related Party transaCtions

a) serviCe agreeMents and leases
The Company is party to service agreements with Fresenius SE, the sole stockholder of its 
General Partner and its largest shareholder with approximately 36.3 % ownership of the 
Company’s voting shares, and certain affiliates of Fresenius SE that are not also subsidiaries 
of the Company to receive services, including, but not limited to: administrative services, 
management information services, employee benefit administration, insurance, IT services, 
tax services and treasury management services. For the years 2008, and 2007, amounts char-
ged by Fresenius SE to the Company under the terms of these agreements are $ 59,038 and 
$ 44,143, respectively. The Company also provides certain services to Fresenius SE and certain 
affiliates of Fresenius SE, including research and development, central purchasing, patent 
administration and warehousing. The Company charged $ 9,798 and $ 9,784 for services 
rendered to Fresenius SE in 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Under operating lease agreements for real estate entered into with Fresenius SE, the Company 
paid Fresenius SE $ 23,485 and $ 19,211 during 2008 and 2007, respectively. The majority of the 
leases expire in 2016 and contain renewal options.

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the General Partner shall be reimbursed 
for any and all expenses in connection with management of the Company’s business, including 
remuneration of the members of the General Partner’s supervisory board and the General 
Partner’s management board. The aggregate amount reimbursed to Management AG for 2008 
and 2007 was $ 9,230 and $ 10,348 for its management services during those years and included 
and $ 88 and $ 82 as compensation for their exposure to risk as General Partner for 2008 and 
2007, respectively. The Company’s Articles of Association set the annual compensation for as-
suming unlimited liability at 4 % of the amount of the General Partner’s invested capital ( € 1,500 ).

b) ProduCts
During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company sold products to Fresenius SE 
for $ 36,704 and $ 34,133, respectively. During 2008 and 2007, the Company made purchases 
from Fresenius SE in the amount of $ 45,084 and $ 52,280, respectively.

As a result of product recalls and production suspension by other suppliers in 2008, APP Pharma-
ceuticals, Inc. ( “APP Inc.” ), is the only remaining U.S. supplier of FDA-approved heparin used in 
dialysis. APP Inc. has substantially increased prices for this product. On September 10, 2008, 
Fresenius Kabi AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fresenius SE, acquired APP Inc. The acquisition 
has had no impact on the Company’s purchase price of heparin. The Company currently 
purchases heparin supplied by APP Inc. through a group purchasing organization ( “GPO” ). 
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The Company has no direct supply agreement with APP Inc. and does not submit purchase 
orders directly to APP Inc. During 2008, FMCH acquired approximately $ 19,500 of heparin from 
APP Inc. through the GPO contract, which was negotiated at arm’s length.

C) FinanCing Provided by and to Fresenius se
The Company receives short-term financing from and provides short-term financing to  
Fresenius SE. There was $ 1,330 and $ 2,287 owed to Fresenius SE at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively (  see Note 8 ).

On November 7, 2008, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Fresenius SE whereby 
it advanced Fresenius SE $ 50,000 at 6.45 % interest which is due on April 30, 2009.

d) otHer
The Company was party to a German consolidated trade tax return with Fresenius SE and cer-
tain of its German subsidiaries for the fiscal years 1998 – 2001. For this period Fresenius SE made 
advance tax payments of which $118,100 ( € 77,700 ) including interest is recorded as a liability 
due to Fresenius SE at December 31, 2008. During 2008 the final tax assessment for those years 
was received and on this basis the tax and interest allocation will be finally determined.

In 2007, the company acquired a production line at our Schweinfurt facility from Fresenius SE 
for $ 5,646.

The Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board is also the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of Fresenius SE. He is also a member of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s General 
Partner. 

The Vice Chairman of the Company’s Supervisory Board is a member of the Supervisory 
Board of Fresenius SE and Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Company’s General 
Partner. He is also a partner in a law firm which provided services to the Company. The Company 
paid the law firm approximately $ 1,098 and $ 969 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Five of the 
six members of the Company’s Supervisory Board are also members of the Supervisory Board 
of the Company’s General Partner.
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4. inventories

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, inventories consisted of the following:

Under the terms of certain unconditional purchase agreements, the Company is obligated to 
purchase approximately $ 2,556,603 of materials, of which $ 358,283 is committed at December 31, 
2008 for 2009. The terms of these agreements run 1 to 10 years. 

Inventories as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 include $ 35,143 and $ 30,999 respectively, of 
Erythropoietin ( “EPO” ), which is supplied by a single source supplier in the United States. In 
October 2006, the Company entered into a five-year exclusive sourcing and supply agreement 
with its EPO supplier. Revenues from EPO accounted for approximately 20 % and 21 % of total 
dialysis care revenue in the North America segment for 2008 and 2007, respectively. Delays, 
stoppages, or interruptions in the supply of EPO could adversely affect the operating results 
of the Company.
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Table 05.5.2 inVentories

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Raw materials and purchased components 145,756 136,013

Work in process 60,960 51,829

Finished goods 385,607 350,478

Health care supplies 114,727 97,914

totaL 707,050 636,234



5. ProPerty, Plant and equiPMent

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
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Table 05.5.3 acQUisition anD manUFactUring costs

Table 05.5.4 Depreciation / amortiZation

$ in thousands Balance at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Currency 
change

Changes in 
consolidation

group

Additions Reclassi- 
fications

Disposals Balance at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Land and improvements 39,791 (110) –   1,182 (608) (99) 40,156 

Buildings and improvements 1,348,727  (33,881)  1,370  205,125  25,939  (12,263)  1,535,017 

Machinery and equipment  2,191,418  (95,028)  8,504  316,526  44,019  (113,095) 2,352,344

Machinery, equipment and rental 
equipment under capitalized leases 21,533

 

353 

 

85 

 

2,160 

 

(570)

 

(843)

 

22,718 

Construction in progress  235,144  (7,163)  –    191,012 (129,126)  (51,284)  238,583 

totaL  3,836,613 (135,829)  9,959  716,005  (60,346)  (177,584)  4,188,818 

$ in thousands Balance at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Currency 
change

Changes in 
consolidation

group

Additions Reclassi- 
fications

Disposals Balance at 
Dec. 31, 2008

Land and improvements  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

Buildings and improvements  566,455  (13,689)  242  120,956  727  (23,918)  650,773 

Machinery and equipment  1,208,321  (53,853)  1,142  243,969  (4,711)  (103,885)  1,290,983 

Machinery, equipment and rental 
equipment under capitalized leases 

 

8,044 

 

 (480)

 

 –   

 

 3,375 

 

 539 

 

 (494)

 

 10,984 

Construction in progress  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

totaL  1,782,820  (68,022)  1,384  368,300  (3,445)  (128,297)  1,952,740 



Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment amounted to $ 368,300 and $ 328,595 
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Included in property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $ 299,778 
and $ 275,537, respectively, of peritoneal dialysis cycler machines which the Company leases 
to customers with end-stage renal disease on a month-to-month basis and hemodialysis ma-
chines which the Company leases to physicians under operating leases. Accumulated depre-
ciation related to machinery, equipment and rental equipment under capital leases was 
$ 10,984 and $ 8,044 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Table 05.5.5 net BooK VaLUe

$ in thousands Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

Land and improvements 40,156  39,791 

Buildings and improvements  884,244  782,272 

Machinery and equipment  1,061,361  983,097 

Machinery, equipment and rental equipment under capitalized leases  11,734  13,489 

Construction in progress  238,583  235,144 

totaL  2,236,078  2,053,793 



6. intangible assets and goodwill

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the carrying value and accumulated amortization of 
intangible assets consisted of the following:
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Table 05.5.6 acQUisition costs

$ in thousands Balance at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Currency 
change

Changes in 
consolidation

group

Additions Reclassi- 
fications

Disposals Balance at 
Dec. 31, 2008

amortizable intangible assets        

Non-compete agreements  212,105  (1,451)  7,782  142  –    (333)  218,245 

Technology  100,016  –  –  –    –    –   100,016 

License and
distribution agreements  52,422  (6,963)  –    128,962  –    (1,177)  173,244 

Construction in progress  –    (26)  –    173  49,739  –    49,886 

Other  257,886  (9,272)  7,377  24,295  10,301  (20,115)  270,472 

totaL  622,429  (17,712)  15,159  153,572  60,040  (21,625)  811,863 

non-amortizable
intangible assets        

Tradename  256,850  (372)  –    874  (15,878)  –  241,474 

Management contracts  241,391  (17)  –    –    –    –    241,374 

totaL  498,241  (389)  –    874  (15,878)  –    482,848 

     

totaL intangiBLe assets  1,120,670  (18,101)  15,159  154,446  44,162  (21,625)  1,294,711

     

gooDWiLL 7,691,763  (44,693)  95,818  341  14,997  (1,572)  7,756,654 
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Table 05.5.8 net BooK VaLUe

$ in thousands Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

amortizable intangible assets   

Non-compete agreements  75,271  82,546 

Technology  88,526  95,144 

License and distribution agreements  131,908  16,613 

Construction in progress  49,886  –   

Other  71,283  52,820 

totaL  416,874  247,123 

non-amortizable intangible assets   

Tradename  210,156  223,350 

Management contracts  219,466  219,483 

totaL  429,622  442,833 

totaL intangiBLe assets  846,496  689,956 

gooDWiLL  7,309,910 7,245,589

Table 05.5.7 Depreciation / amortiZation

$ in thousands Balance at 
Jan. 1, 2008

Currency 
change

Changes in 
consolidation

group

Additions Reclassi- 
fications

Disposals Balance at 
Dec. 31, 2008

amortizable intangible assets                    

Non-compete agreements 129,559 (1,163) – 14,594 – (16) 142,974

Technology 4,872 – – 6,618 – – 11,490

License and
distribution agreements 35,809 (2,298) – 7,825 – – 41,336

Construction in progress – – – – – – –

Other 205,066 (5,158) 9 18,347 2,067 (21,142) 199,189

totaL 375,306 (8,619) 9 47,384 2,067 (21,158) 394,989

non-amortizable
intangible assets        

Tradename 33,500 (42) – – (2,140) – 31,318

Management contracts 21,908 – – – – – 21,908

totaL 55,408 (42) – – (2,140) – 53,226

    

totaL intangiBLe assets 430,714 (8,661) 9 47,384 (73) (21,158) 448,215

    

gooDWiLL 446,174 (1,654) – – 2,224 – 446,744



Amortization on intangible assets amounted to $ 47,384 and $ 34,003 for the years 2008 and 
2007, respectively.

intangible assets: liCense and distribution agreeMents 
In July 2008, Fresenius Medical Care entered into two separate distribution agreements, one 
for the U.S. ( with Galenica Ltd. and Luitpold Pharmaceuticals Inc. ), the “U.S. Agreement”, and 
one for certain countries in Europe and the Middle East ( with Galenica AG and Vifor (    Inter-
national ) AG ), the “International Agreement”, to market and distribute Galenica Ltd’s and 
 Luitpold Pharmaceuticals Inc.’s intravenous iron products, such as Venofer and Ferinject 
for dialysis treatment. In North America, the license agreement among our subsidiary, FUSA 
Manufacturing Inc. ( “FMI” ), Luitpold Pharmaceuticals Inc, American Regent, Inc. and Vifor 
(  International ), Inc. provides FMI with exclusive rights to manufacture and distribute Venofer 
to freestanding ( non-hospital based ) U.S. dialysis facilities. In addition, it grants FMI similar 
rights for Injectafer ( ferric carboxymaltose ), a proposed new intravenous iron medication 
 currently under clinical study in the U.S. The U.S. license agreement has a term of ten years, 
includes FMI extension options, and requires payment by FMI over the ten year term of ap-
proximately $ 2,000,000, which the Company will expense as incurred ( based upon the annual 
estimated units of sale of the licensed product ), subject to certain early termination provi-
sions. In addition to these payments, the Company will pay a total of approximately $ 47,000 
over a four year period for the U.S Agreement of which $ 22,000 was paid in 2008. The Com-
pany recorded a liability for the balance. The cost of the U.S. Agreement and  related trans-
action costs of $ 5,843 will be amortized over their 10-year expected useful life ( based upon 
the annual estimated units of sale of the licensed product ). The Company paid $ 14,566 upon 
signing of the International Agreement in 2008 and could pay up to € 40,000 more upon cer-
tain milestones being met. The International Agreement costs will be amortized over their 
expected 20-year useful life. Milestone payments will be capitalized and  amortized over their 
useful lives at the time the milestone payments are made.
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Table 05.5.9 estimateD amortiZation expenses

$ in thousands 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

 Estimated Amortization Expenses  46,420    44,479    40,219    37,923    36,747   



goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are mainly a result of acquisitions and the im-
pact of foreign currency translations. During 2008, the Company’s acquisitions consisted primarily 
of clinics in the normal course of operations. During 2007, the Company’s acquisitions consisted 
primarily of RSI and clinics in the normal course of operations (  see Note 2 ). The segment detail 
is as follows:
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Table 05.5.10 gooDWiLL

$ in thousands North America International Corporate Total

BaLance as oF JanUarY 1, 2007 6,437,995 454,166 – 6,892,161

Goodwill acquired 52,674 59,491 159,385 271,550

Reclassifications 17,952 8,195 – 26,147

Foreign currency translation adjustment (146) 55,877 – 55,731

BaLance as oF DecemBer 31, 2007 6,508,475 577,729 159,385 7,245,589

Goodwill acquired 64,809 30,577 432 95,818

Reclassifications (1,231) 12,773 – 11,542

Foreign currency translation adjustment (642) (42,397) – (43,039)

BaLance as oF DecemBer 31, 2008 6,571,411 578,682 159,817 7,309,910



7. aCCrued exPenses and otHer Current liabilities

As at December 31, 2008 and 2007 accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of 
the following:

In 2001, the Company recorded a $ 258,159 special charge to address legal matters relating to 
transactions pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of February 4, 
1996 by and between W.R. Grace & Co. and Fresenius SE ( the “Merger” ), estimated liabilities 
and legal expenses arising in connection with the W.R. Grace & Co. Chapter 11 proceedings 
( the “Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings” ) and the cost of resolving pending litigation and other 
disputes with certain commercial insurers. During the second quarter of 2003, the court su-
pervising the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings approved a definitive settlement agreement entered 
into among the Company, the committees representing the asbestos creditors and W.R. 
Grace & Co. Under the settlement agreement, the Company will pay $ 115,000, without interest, 
upon plan confirmation (  see Note 18 ). With the exception of the proposed $ 115,000 payment under 
the Settlement Agreement, all other matters included in the special charge have been resolved. 

The other item in the table above includes accruals for interest, withholding tax, value 
added tax, legal and compliance costs, physician compensation, commissions, short-term 
portion of pension liabilities, bonuses and rebates, and accrued rents.
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Table 05.5.11 accrUeD expenses anD other cUrrent LiaBiLities

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Accrued salaries and wages 301,923 331,931

Unapplied cash and receivable credits 205,187 173,424

Accrued insurance 125,713 146,377

Special charge for legal matters 115,000 115,000

Other 540,610 585,281

totaL 1,288,433 1,352,013



8.  sHort-terM borrowings, otHer FinanCial liabilities  
and sHort-terM borrowings FroM related Parties

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, short-term borrowings, other financial liabilities and 
short-term borrowings from related parties consisted of the following:

sHort-terM borrowings and otHer FinanCial liabilities
lines oF Credit. Short-term borrowings of $ 121,476 and $ 71,908 at December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively, represent amounts borrowed by the Company and certain of its sub-
sidiaries under lines of credit with commercial banks. The average interest rates on these 
borrowings at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were 5.30 % and 4.50 %, respectively. 

Excluding amounts available under the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement (  see Note 9 ), at 
December 31, 2008, the Company had $ 226,221 available under such commercial bank agree-
ments. In some instances, lines of credit are secured by assets of the Company’s subsidiary 
that is party to the agreement or may require the Company’s guarantee. In certain circum-
stances, the subsidiary may be required to meet certain covenants.

aCCounts reCeivable FaCility. The Company has an asset securitization facility ( the 
“A / R Facility” ) which is typically renewed in October of each year and was most recently 
renewed in October 2008. Under the A / R Facility, certain receivables are sold to NMC Funding 
Corporation ( “NMC Funding” ), a wholly-owned subsidiary. NMC Funding then assigns per-
centage ownership interests in the accounts receivable to certain bank investors. Under the 
terms of the A / R Facility, NMC Funding retains the right to recall all transferred interests in 
the accounts receivable assigned to the banks under the facility. As the Company has the 
right at any time to recall the then outstanding interests, the receivables remain on the  
Consolidated Balance Sheet and the proceeds from the transfer of percentage ownership  
interests are recorded as short-term borrowings.
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Table 05.5.12 short-term BorroWings

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Borrowings under lines of credit 121,476  71,908  

Accounts receivable facility 539,000  85,000  

Other financial liabilities 22,679  60,589  

short-term BorroWings anD other FinanciaL LiaBiLities 683,155 217,497 

Short-term borrowings from related parties 1,330 2,287 

short-term BorroWings, other FinanciaL LiaBiLities anD 
short-term BorroWings From reLateD parties 684,485 219,784 



At December 31, 2008 there are outstanding short-term borrowings under the A / R Facility of 
$ 539,000. NMC Funding pays interest to the bank investors, calculated based on the commer-
cial paper rates for the particular tranches selected. The average interest rate at December 
31, 2008 was 3.89 %. Annual refinancing fees, which include legal costs and bank fees ( if any ), 
are amortized over the term of the facility.

otHer FinanCial liabilities. At December 31, 2008, the Company also had $ 22,679 
of other financial liabilities which was related to the Venofer transaction in the year 2008 
(  see Note 6 ). At December 31, 2007, the Company also had $ 60,589 of other financial liabilities 
of which $ 56,427 was related to the 2007 RSI acquisition and was paid in November 2008.

sHort-terM borrowings FroM related Parties 
From time to time during each of the years presented, the Company received advances 
under the existing loan agreements with Fresenius SE for those years. During the year ended 
December 31, 2008, the Company received advances ranging from € 13,200 to € 153,400 with 
interest rates ranging from 4.02 % to 5.11 %. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were no 
advances outstanding with Fresenius SE. On December 31, 2008, the Company had advances 
outstanding with a Fresenius SE subsid iary in the amount of $ 1,330 with an interest rate of 
7.25 %. On December 31, 2007, the  Company had advances outstanding with a Fresenius SE 
subsidiary in the amount of $ 2,287 ( € 1,554 ) with an interest rate of 4.1 % which was repaid in 
2008. Annual interest expense on the borrowings during the years presented was $ 81 and 
$ 506 for the years 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

9. long-terM debt and CaPital lease obligations

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, long-term debt and capital lease obligations consisted of 
the following:
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Table 05.5.13 Long-term DeBt anD capitaL Lease oBLigations

$ in thousands 2008 2007

2006 Senior Credit Agreement 3,366,079 3,166,114

Senior Notes 492,456 491,569

Euro Notes 278,340 294,420

EIB agreements 174,059 48,806

Capital lease obligations 13,394 14,027

Other 88,165 73,893

 4,412,493 4,088,829

Less current maturities (455,114) (84,816)

totaL 3,957,379 4,004,013



senior debt
The Company’s senior debt consists mainly of borrowings related to its 2006 Senior Credit 
Agreement, its Senior Notes, its Euro Notes and borrowings under its European Investment 
Bank Agreements as follows: 

2006 senior Credit agreeMent
The Company entered into a $ 4,600,000 syndicated credit agreement ( the “2006 Senior Cre-
dit Agreement” ) with Bank of America, N.A. ( “BofA” ); Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch; 
The Bank of Nova Scotia; Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch; JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nati-
onal Association; and certain other lenders ( collectively, the “Lenders” ) on March 31, 2006 
which replaced its prior credit agreement. 

The 2006 Senior Credit Agreement consists of:
 

  a 5-year $ 1,000,000 revolving credit facility ( of which up to $ 250,000 is available for letters 
of credit, up to $ 300,000 is available for borrowings in certain non-U.S. currencies, up to 
$ 150,000 is available as “swing line” loans in U.S. dollars, up to $ 250,000 is available as a 
competitive loan facility and up to $ 50,000 is available as “swing line” loans in certain 
non-U.S. currencies, the total of which cannot exceed $ 1,000,000 ) which will be due and 
payable on March 31, 2011.

  a 5-year term loan facility ( “Term Loan A” ) of $ 1,850,000, also scheduled to mature on 
March 31, 2011. The 2006 Senior Credit Agreement requires 19 quarterly payments on 
Term Loan A of $ 30,000 each that permanently reduce the term loan facility which began 
June 30, 2006 and continue through December 31, 2010. The remaining amount outstan-
ding is due on March 31, 2011. As a result of the voluntary repayment made in July 2007 
from the proceeds of the issuance of senior notes ( see “Senior Notes” ) which reduced the 
principal balance outstanding, the quarterly payments were reduced to $ 29,430 beginning 
with the payment for September 30, 2008.

  a 7-year term loan facility ( “Term Loan B” ) of $ 1,750,000 scheduled to mature on March 31, 
2013. The terms of the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement require 28 quarterly payments on 
Term Loan B that permanently reduce the term loan facility. The repayment began June 
30, 2006. The first 24 quarterly payments are $ 4,375 and payments 25 through 28 are 
$ 411,250 with the final payment of the remaining balance due on March 31, 2013, subject 
to an early repayment requirement on March 1, 2011 if the Trust Preferred Securities due 
June 15, 2011 are not repaid or refinanced or their maturity is not extended prior to that 
date. As a result of the voluntary repayment made in July 2007 from the proceeds of the 
issuance of senior notes ( see “Senior Notes” ) the balance of the remaining payments of 
$ 4,375 were reduced to $ 4,036 beginning with the September 30, 2008 payment, and 
payments 25 through 28 were reduced to $ 379,396.

Interest on these facilities will be, at the Company’s option, depending on the interest periods 
chosen, at a rate equal to either ( i ) LIBOR plus an applicable margin or ( ii ) the higher of ( a ) 
BofA’s prime rate or ( b ) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 %, plus an applicable margin. 

The applicable margin is variable and depends on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage 
Ratio which is a ratio of its Consolidated Funded Debt less up to $ 30,000 cash and cash equi-
valents to Consolidated EBITDA ( as these terms are defined in the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement ).
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In addition to scheduled principal payments, indebtedness outstanding under the 2006 Senior 
Credit Agreement will be reduced by mandatory prepayments utilizing portions of the net 
cash proceeds from certain sales of assets, securitization transactions other than the Company’s 
existing A / R Facility, the issuance of subordinated debt other than certain intercompany 
transactions, certain issuances of equity and excess cash flow.

Obligations under the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement are secured by pledges of capital stock 
of certain material subsidiaries in favor of the lenders. The 2006 Senior Credit Agreement 
contains affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries 
and other payment restrictions. Certain of the covenants limit indebtedness of the Company 
and investments by the Company, and require the Company to maintain certain financial  
ratios defined in the agreement. Additionally, the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement provides for 
a limitation on dividends and other restricted payments which is $ 280,000 for dividends in 
2009, and increases in subsequent years. The Company paid dividends of $ 252,395 in May of 
2008 which was in compliance with the restrictions set forth in the 2006 Senior Credit Agree-
ment. In default, the outstanding balance under the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement becomes 
immediately due and payable at the option of the Lenders. As of December 31, 2008, the 
Company is in compliance with all covenants under the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement.

The following table shows the available and outstanding amounts under the 2006 Senior 
Credit Agreement at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively:
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Table 05.5.14 aVaiLaBLe anD oUtstanDing creDits

$ in thousands, December 31 2008 2007

maximum amount available   

Revolving credit 1,000,000 1,000,000

Term Loan A 1,491,139 1,550,000

Term Loan B 1,570,053 1,578,125

totaL 4,061,192 4,128,125

Balance outstanding   

Revolving credit 304,887 37,989

Term Loan A 1,491,139 1,550,000

Term Loan B 1,570,053 1,578,125

totaL 3,366,079 3,166,114



In addition, at December 31, 2008, $ 111,994 and at December 31, 2007, $ 87,140 were utilized 
as letters of credit which are not included as part of the balances outstanding at those dates.

In June 2007, the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement was amended in order to enable the Company 
to issue $ 500,000 in Senior Notes ( see “Senior Notes” below ). Furthermore, on January 31, 2008, it was 
amended to increase certain types of permitted borrowings and to remove all limitations on 
capital expenditures.

In July 2007, the Company voluntarily repaid portions of the term loans outstanding utilizing 
a portion of the proceeds from the issuance of senior notes ( see “Senior Notes” below ). Under the 
terms of the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement, advance payments on the term loans are applied 
first against the next four quarterly payments due with any amounts in excess of the four 
quarterly payments applied on a pro-rata basis against any remaining payments. As a result 
of the advance payments on the Term Loans, no payments were made or were due for either 
Term Loan A or B until the third quarter of 2008 at which time quarterly payments were resumed.

senior notes
In July 2007, FMC Finance III S.A. ( “Finance III” ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
issued $ 500,000 aggregate principal amount of 6 7/8 % senior notes due 2017 ( the “Senior 
Notes” ) at a discount resulting in an effective interest rate of 7 1/8 %. The Senior Notes are 
guaranteed on a senior basis jointly and severally by the Company and by its subsidiaries 
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. ( “FMCH” ) and Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland 
GmbH ( “D-GmbH” ). Finance III may redeem the Senior Notes at any time at 100 % of principal 
plus accrued interest and a premium calculated pursuant to the terms of the indenture. The 
holders have a right to request that Finance III repurchase the Senior Notes at 101 % of prin-
cipal plus accrued interest upon the occurrence of a change of control followed by a decline 
in the rating of the Senior Notes. The proceeds, net of discounts, investment bank fees and 
other offering related expenses, were $ 484,024, of which $ 150,000 was used to reduce Term 
Loan A and $ 150,000 to reduce Term Loan B under the Company’s 2006 Senior Credit Agree-
ment ( see 2006 Senior Credit Agreement above ). The remaining $ 184,024 was applied to the 
then outstanding balance under its short-term A / R Facility. The discount is being amortized 
over the life of the Senior Notes. 

euro notes
In July 2005, FMC Finance IV Luxembourg issued euro denominated notes ( “Euro Notes” ) 
( Schuldscheindarlehen ) totaling $ 278,340 ( € 200,000 ) with a € 126,000 tranche at a fixed in-
terest rate of 4.57 % and a € 74,000 tranche with a floating rate at EURIBOR plus applicable 
margin resulting in an interest rate of 6.87 % at December 31, 2008. The Euro Notes, guaranteed 
by the Company, mature on July 27, 2009 and are included in the short term portion of long-
term debt in our balance sheet at December 31, 2008.
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euroPean investMent banK agreeMents
The Company entered into various credit agreements with the European Investment Bank 
( “EIB” ) in 2005 and 2006 totaling € 221,000. The EIB is a not-for-profit long-term lending insti-
tution of the European Union and lends funds at favorable rates for the purpose of capital 
investment and R & D projects, normally for up to half of the funds required for such projects. 

The Company uses the funds to refinance certain R & D projects, to make investments in ex-
pansion and optimization of existing production facilities in Germany, and for financing and 
refinancing of certain clinic refurbishing and improvement projects. Currently all agreements 
with the EIB have variable interest rates that change quarterly, with FMC-AG & Co. KGaA having 
options to convert the variable rates into fixed rates. All advances under all agreements can 
be denominated in certain foreign currencies including U.S. dollars. 

The Company has three credit facilities available at December 31, 2008 under these agree-
ments as follows:
 

At December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving 
credit facility, $ 48,806 under the Loan 2005 facility and $ 125,253 under the Loan 2006 facility 
which was drawn down during 2008. The Company’s U.S. dollar borrowings under the Loan 
2005 agreement had an interest rate of 2.03 % and the Euro borrowings under the Loan 2006 
agreement had an interest rate of 4.77 % at December 31, 2008.

Borrowings under these agreements are secured by bank guarantees, which are in place for 
Loan 2005 and Loan 2006 and have customary covenants. Borrowings under the Revolving 
Credit facility are subject to obtaining a bank guarantee at the time of the borrowings.
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Table 05.5.15 aVaiLaBLe anD oUtstanDing creDits

December 31 2008 2007

maximum amount available € in thousands   

Revolving credit 90,000 90,000

Loan 2005 41,000 41,000

Loan 2006 90,000 90,000

totaL 221,000 221,000

Balance outstanding $ in thousands   

Revolving credit – –

Loan 2005 48,806 48,806

Loan 2006 125,253 –

totaL 174,059 48,806



annual PayMents
Aggregate annual payments applicable to the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement, Senior Notes, 
Euro Notes, EIB agreements, capital leases and other borrowings ( excluding the Company’s 
trust preferred securities, see Note 11) for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2008 are:

10. eMPloyee beneFit Plans

general
FMC-AG & Co. KGaA recognizes pension costs and related pension liabilities for current and 
future  benefits to qualified current and former employees of the Company. The Company’s 
pension plans are structured differently according to the legal, economic and fiscal circum-
stances in each country. The Company currently has two types of plans, defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans. In general plan benefits in defined benefit plans are based on all 
or a portion of the employees’ years of services and final salary. Plan benefits in defined con-
tribution plans are determined by the amount of contribution by the employee and the em-
ployer, both of which may be limited by legislation, and the returns earned on the invest-
ment of those contributions. 

Upon retirement under defined benefit plans, the Company is required to pay defined bene-
fits to former employees when the defined benefits become due. Defined benefit plans may 
be funded or unfunded. The Company has two major defined benefit plans, one funded 
plan in North America and an unfunded plan in Germany.

Actuarial assumptions generally determine benefit obligations under defined benefit plans. 
The actuarial calculations require the use of estimates. The main factors used in the actuarial 
calculations affecting the level of the benefit obligations are: assumptions on life expectancy, 
the discount rate, salary and pension level trends. Under the Company’s funded plans, assets 
are set aside to meet future payment obligations. An estimated return on the plan assets is 
recognized as income in the respective period. Actuarial gains and losses are generated 
when there are variations in the actuarial assumptions and differences between the actual 
and the estimated return on plan assets for that year. The Company’s pension liability is im-
pacted by these actuarial gains or losses.

In the case of the Company’s funded plan, the defined benefit obligation is offset against 
the fair value of plan assets. A pension liability is recognized in the balance sheet if the de-
fined benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets. A pension asset is recognized 
( and reported under other assets in the balance sheet ) if the fair value of plan assets ex-
ceeds the defined benefit obligation and if the Company has a right of reimbursement 
against the fund or a right to reduce future payments to the fund. 
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Table 05.5.16 annUaL paYments

$ in thousands 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Annual Payments 455,114 157,037 1,504,105 1,152,256 519,380 632,145 4,420,037



Under defined contribution plans, the Company pays defined contributions during the 
employee’s service life which satisfies all obligations of the Company to the employee. The 
Company has a defined contribution plan in North America.

deFined beneFit Pension Plans
During the first quarter of 2002, FMCH, the Company’s North America subsidiary, curtailed its 
defined benefit and supplemental executive retirement plans. Under the curtailment amend-
ment for substantially all employees eligible to participate in the plan, benefits have been 
frozen as of the curtailment date and no additional defined benefits for future services will 
be earned. The Company has retained all employee benefit obligations as of the curtailment 
date. Each year FMCH contributes at least the minimum amount required by the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. There was no minimum funding requi-
rement for FMCH for the defined benefit plan in 2008. FMCH voluntarily contributed $ 684 
during 2008. Expected funding for 2009 is $ 827.

The benefit obligation for all defined benefit plans at December 31, 2008, is $ 353,961 ( 2007: 
$ 331,649 ) which consists of the benefit obligation of $ 245,070 ( 2007: $ 218,009 ) for the North 
America funded plan and the benefit obligation of $ 108,891 ( 2007: $ 113,640 ) for the German 
unfunded plan. The benefit obligation includes $ 245,070 ( 2007: $218,009 ) which is funded by 
plan assets and $ 108,891 ( 2007: $ 113,640 ) which is unfunded. 

The following table shows the changes in benefit obligations, the changes in plan assets, 
and the funded status of the pension plans. Benefits paid as shown in the changes in benefit 
obligations represent payments made from both the funded and unfunded plans while the 
benefits paid as shown in the changes in plan assets include only benefit payments from the 
Company’s funded benefit plan.
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The Company had a pension liability of $ 139,345 at December 31, 2008. The pension liability 
consists of a current portion of $ 2,590 ( 2007: $ 2,288 ) which is recognized as a current liability 
in the line item “accrued expenses and other current liabilities” in the balance sheet. The 
non-current portion of $ 136,755 ( 2007: $ 111,352 ) is recorded as non-current pension liability 
in the balance sheet. The net amount recognized at December 31, 2007, consisted of Balance 
Sheet items of a pension liability of $ 113,640 and prepaid pension costs of $ 10,572. The prepaid 
pension costs related to the North America plan and were recorded within Other Assets in 
the balance sheet. Approximately 85 % of the beneficiaries are located in North America with 
the majority of the remaining 15 % located in Germany.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $ 334,951 and 
$ 312,459 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for 
all defined benefit pension plans with an obligation in excess of plan assets was $ 334,951 
and $ 96,659 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively; the related plan assets had a fair 
value of $ 214,616 at December 31, 2008.

The pre-tax changes in the following table reflect actuarial losses ( gains ) in other comprehen-
sive income relating to pension liabilities. As of December 31, 2008, there are no cumulative 
effects of prior service costs included in other comprehensive income.
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Table 05.5.17 FUnDeD statUs oF empLoYee BeneFit pLans

$ in thousands 2008 2007

change in benefit obligation   

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 331,649 334,375

Foreign currency translation (6,288) 12,193

Service cost 8,357 8,835

Interest cost 20,393 18,506

Transfer of plan participants 2,228 670

Actuarial ( gain ) loss 4,472 (36,637)

Benefits paid (6,850) (6,293)

BeneFit oBLigation at enD oF Year 353,961 331,649

change of plan assets   

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 228,581 220,367

Actual return on plan assets (9,092) 12,276

Employer contributions 684 1,173

Benefits paid (5,557) (5,235)

Fair VaLUe oF pLan assets at enD oF Year 214,616 228,581

FUnDeD statUs at Year enD 139,345 103,068



The actuarial loss expected to be amortized from other comprehensive income into net periodic 
pension cost over the next year is $ 6,412.

The discount rates for all plans are based upon yields of portfolios of equity and highly rated 
debt instruments with maturities that mirror the plan’s benefit obligation. The Company’s 
discount rate is the weighted average of these plans based upon their benefit obligations at 
December 31, 2008. The following weighted-average assumptions were utilized in determi-
ning benefit obligations as of December 31: 

The defined benefit pension plans’ net periodic benefit costs are comprised of the following 
components for each of the years ended December 31:
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Table 05.5.18 other comprehensiVe income ( Loss ) reLateD to pension LiaBiLities

$ in thousands Actuarial losses 
( gains )

aDJUstments reLateD to pensions at JanUarY 1, 2007 84,104

Additions (32,551)

Releases (5,163)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,985

aDJUstments reLateD to pensions at DecemBer 31, 2007 48,375

Additions 30,494

Releases (1,944)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1

aDJUstments reLateD to pensions at DecemBer 31, 2008 76,926

Table 05.5.19 WeighteD aVerage assUmptions For BeneFit oBLigations

2008 2007

Discount rate 6.15 % 6.16 %

Rate of compensation increase 4.19 % 4.16 %

Table 05.5.20 components oF net perioDic BeneFit costs

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Service cost 8,357 8,835

Interest cost 20,393 18,506

Expected return on plan assets (16,931) (16,362)

Amortization of unrealized losses 1,944 5,163

net perioDic BeneFit costs 13,763 16,142



The following weighted-average assumptions were used in determining net periodic benefit 
cost for the year ended December 31:

Expected benefit payments for the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years there-
after are as follows:

Plan investMent PoliCy and strategy
For the North America funded plan, the Company periodically reviews the assumption for 
long-term expected return on pension plan assets. As part of the assumptions review, a 
range of reasonable expected investment returns for the pension plan as a whole was deter-
mined based on an analysis of expected future returns for each asset class weighted by the 
allocation of the assets. The range of returns developed relies both on forecasts, which in-
clude the actuarial firm’s expected long-term rates of return for each significant asset class 
or economic indicator, and on broad-market historical benchmarks for expected return, cor-
relation, and volatility for each asset class. As a result, the Company’s expected rate of return 
on pension plan assets was 7.5 % for 2008.

The investment policy, utilizing a revised target investment allocation of 31 % equity and 69 % 
long-term U.S. bonds, considers that there will be a time horizon for invested funds of more 
than 5 years. The total portfolio will be measured against a policy index that reflects the 
asset class benchmarks and the target asset allocation. The Plan policy does not allow in-
vestments in securities of the Company or other related party securities. The performance 
benchmarks for the separate asset classes include: S & P 500 Index, Russell 2000 Growth Index, 
MSCI EAFE Index, Barclays Capital Long Term Government Credit Index and Barclays Capital US 
Strips 20+ Year Index. 
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Table 05.5.21 WeighteD aVerage assUmptions For net perioDic BeneFit costs

2008 2007

Discount rate 6.16 % 5.52 %

Expected return of plan assets 7.50 % 7.50 %

Rate of compensation increase 4.16 % 4.18 %

Table 05.5.22 expecteD BeneFit paYments

$ in thousands 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  
through 

2018

Expected benefit payments 9,138 9,994 10,763 12,366 13,172 89,250



The following schedule describes FMCH’s allocation for its plans:

deFined Contribution Plans
Most FMCH employees are eligible to join a 401( k ) savings plan. Employees can deposit up to 
75 % of their pay up to a maximum of $ 15.5 if under 50 years old ( $ 20.5 if 50 or over ) under 
this savings plan. The Company will match 50 % of the employee deposit up to a maximum 
Company contribution of 3 % of the employee’s pay. The Company’s total expense under 
this defined contribution plan for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $ 26,096 
and $ 23,534, respectively.

11. Mandatorily redeeMable trust PreFerred seCurities

The Company issued Trust Preferred Securities through Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts, 
statutory trusts organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. FMC-AG & Co. KGaA 
owns all of the common securities of these trusts. The sole asset of each trust is a senior 
subordinated note of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA or a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMC-AG & Co. 
KGaA. FMC-AG & Co. KGaA, D-GmbH and FMCH have guaranteed payment and performance 
of the senior subordinated notes to the respective Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts. The 
Trust Preferred Securities are guaranteed by FMC-AG & Co. KGaA through a series of underta-
kings by the Company, FMCH and D-GmbH.
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Table 05.5.23 categories oF pLan assets

Allocation 2008 Allocation 2007 Target allocation

Equity securities 33 % 32 % 31 %

Debt securities 67 % 68 % 69 %

totaL 100 % 100 % 100 %



The Trust Preferred Securities entitle the holders to distributions at a fixed annual rate of the 
stated amount and are mandatorily redeemable after 10 years. Earlier redemption at the op-
tion of the holders may also occur upon a change of control followed by a rating decline or de-
fined events of default including a failure to pay interest. Upon liquidation of the trusts, the 
holders of Trust Preferred Securities are entitled to a distribution equal to the stated amount. 
The Trust Preferred Securities do not hold voting rights in the trust except under limited  
circumstances. 

The indentures governing the notes held by the Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trusts contain 
affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Company and its subsidiaries and 
other payment restrictions. Some of the covenants limit the Company’s indebtedness and its 
investments, and require the Company to maintain certain ratios defined in the indentures. 
As of December 31, 2008, the Company is in compliance with all financial covenants under 
all Trust Preferred Securities agreements.
 
The Trust Preferred Securities outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

The Company redeemed the securities issued by Trust II and Trust III which were due and paid 
on February 1, 2008, primarily with funds obtained under its existing credit facilities.
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Table 05.5.24 trUst preFerreD secUrities

in thousands, 
stated amounts in $

Year  
issued

Stated 
amount

Interest rate Mandatory 
redemption date

2008 2007

Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust II 1998 $ 450,000 7 7/8 % Feb. 1, 2008 – 443,985

Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust III 1998 DM 300.000 7 3/8 % Feb. 1, 2008 – 225,802

Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust IV 2001 $ 225,000 7 7/8 % Jun. 15, 2011 224,068 223,684

Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust V 2001 € 300.000 7 3/8 % Jun. 15, 2011 416,628 440,311

totaL     640,696 1,333,782



12. Minority interests

The Company has obligations to purchase options held by minority shareholders in certain of 
its subsidiaries. These obligations result from put options and are exercisable by the minority 
owners. If these put options were exercised, the Company would be required to purchase the 
minority owners’ interest for cash equal to the then fair value. As of December 31, 2008 the 
Company’s potential obligations under these put options are $ 112,000 of which $ 53,000 were 
exercisable and another $ 15,000 is exercisable within one year. In the last two fiscal years en-
ding December 31, 2008, one put has been exercised for a total consideration of $ 7,000.

13. sHareHolders' equity 

CaPital stoCK
The General Partner has no equity interest in the Company and, therefore, does not participate 
in either the assets or the profits and losses of the Company. However, the General Partner is 
compensated for all outlays in connection with conducting the Company’s business, including 
the remuneration of members of the management board and the supervisory board (  see Note 3 ).

The general meeting of a partnership limited by shares may approve Authorized Capital ( ge-
nehmigtes Kapital ). The resolution creating Authorized Capital requires the affirmative vote 
of a majority of three quarters of the capital represented at the vote and may authorize the 
management board to issue shares up to a stated amount for a period of up to five years. 
The nominal value of the Authorized Capital may not exceed half of the capital stock at the 
time of the authorization. 

In addition, the general meeting of a partnership limited by shares may create Conditional 
Capital ( bedingtes Kapital ) for the purpose of issuing ( i ) shares to holders of convertible 
bonds or other securities which grant a right to shares, ( ii ) shares as the consideration in a 
merger with another company, or ( iii ) shares offered to management or employees. In each 
case, the authorizing resolution requires the affirmative vote of a majority of three quarters 
of the capital represented at the vote. The nominal value of the Conditional Capital may not 
exceed half or, in the case of Conditional Capital created for the purpose of issuing shares to 
management and employees, 10 % of the company’s capital at the time of the resolution. 

All resolutions increasing the capital of a partnership limited by shares also require the consent 
of the General Partner for their effectiveness. 

autHorized CaPital
By resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting ( “EGM” ) of shareholders on August 30, 
2005, Management AG was authorized, with the approval of the supervisory board, to incre-
ase, on one or more occasions, the Company’s share capital until August 29, 2010 by a maxi-
mum amount of € 35,000 through issue of new ordinary shares against cash contributions, 
Authorized Capital I. The General Partner is entitled, subject to the approval of the supervisory 
board, to decide on the exclusion of statutory pre-emption rights of the shareholders. However, 
such an exclusion of pre-emption rights will be permissible for fractional amounts. Additionally, 
the newly issued shares may be taken up by certain credit institutions determined by the  
General Partner if such credit institutions are obliged to offer the shares to the shareholders 
( indirect pre-emption rights ).
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In addition, by resolution of the EGM of shareholders on August 30, 2005, the General Partner 
was authorized, with the approval of the supervisory board, to increase, on one or more  
occasions, the share capital of the Company until August 29, 2010 by a maximum amount of 
€ 25,000 through the issue of new ordinary shares against cash contributions or contributions in 
kind, Authorized Capital II. The General Partner is entitled, subject to the approval of the su-
pervisory board, to decide on an exclusion of statutory pre-emption rights of the shareholders. 
However, such exclusion of pre-emption rights will be permissible only if ( i ) in case of a capital 
increase against cash contributions, the nominal value of the issued shares does not exceed 
10 % of the nominal share value of the Company’s share capital and the issue price for the 
new shares is at the time of the determination by the General Partner not significantly lower 
than the stock price in Germany of the existing listed shares of the same type and with the 
same rights or, ( ii ) in case of a capital increase against contributions in kind, the purpose of 
such increase is to acquire an enterprise, parts of an enterprise or an interest in an enterprise.  

The Company’s Authorized Capital I and Authorized Capital II became effective upon registration 
with the commercial register of the local court in Hof an der Saale on February 10, 2006. 

Conditional CaPital
By resolution of the Company’s Annual General Meeting of shareholders ( “AGM” ) on May 9, 
2006, as amended by the AGM on May 15, 2007, resolving a three-for-one share split, the 
Company’s share capital was conditionally increased by up to € 15,000 corresponding to 15 
million ordinary shares with no par value and a nominal value of € 1.00. This Conditional Capital 
increase can only be effected by the exercise of stock options under the Company’s Stock 
Option Plan 2006 with each stock option awarded exercisable for one ordinary share (  see Note 15 ). 
The Company has the right to deliver ordinary shares that it owns or purchases in the market 
in place of increasing capital by issuing new shares. 

Through the Company’s other employee participation programs, the Company has issued 
convertible bonds and stock option/subscription rights ( Bezugsrechte ) to employees and the 
members of the Management Board of the General Partner and employees and members of 
management of affiliated companies that entitle these persons to receive preference shares 
or, following the conversion offer in 2005, ordinary shares. At December 31, 2008, 241,776 
convertible bonds or options for preference shares remained outstanding with a remaining 
average term of 3.57 years and 11,279,843 convertible bonds or options for ordinary shares 
remained outstanding with a remaining average term of 5.33 years under these programs. 
For the year ending December 31, 2008, 32,453 options for preference shares and 1,145,453 
options for ordinary shares had been exercised under these employee participation plans 
and $ 36,755 ( € 24,886 ) remitted to the Company.
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As the result of the Company’s three-for-one stock split for both preference and ordinary 
shares on June 15, 2007, and with the approval of the shareholders as the AGM on May 15, 
2007, the Company’s Conditional Capital was increased by € 4,454 ( $ 6,557 ). Conditional Capital 
available for all programs at December 31, 2008 is € 28,051 ( $ 39,038 ) which includes € 15,000 
( $ 20,876 ) for the 2006 Plan and € 13,051 ( $ 18,162 ) for all other plans.

dividends
Under German law, the amount of dividends available for distribution to shareholders is 
based upon the unconsolidated retained earnings of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA 
as reported in its balance sheet determined in accordance with the German Commercial 
Code ( Handelsgesetzbuch ). 

If no dividends on the Company’s preference shares are declared for two consecutive years 
after the year for which the preference shares are entitled to dividends, then the holders of 
such preference shares would be entitled to the same voting rights as holders of ordinary 
shares until all arrearages are paid. In addition, the payment of dividends by FMC-AG & Co. 
KGaA is subject to limitations under the 2006 Senior Credit Agreement (  see Note 9 ).

Cash dividends of $ 252,395 for 2007 in the amount of € 0.56 per preference share and € 0.54 
per ordinary share were paid on May 21, 2008.

Cash dividends of $ 188,407 for 2006 in the amount of € 0.49 per preference share and € 0.47 
per ordinary share were paid on May 16, 2007.
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14. earnings Per sHare

The following table is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and 
diluted earnings per share computations and shows the basic and fully diluted income per 
ordinary and preference share for the years ending December 31:

15. stoCK oPtions

In connection with its stock option program, the Company incurred compensation expense 
of $ 31,879 and $ 24,208 for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. There 
were no capitalized compensation costs in any of the two years presented. The Company 
also recorded a related deferred income tax of $ 9,158 and $ 6,880 for the years ending 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

stoCK oPtions and otHer sHare-based Plans
At December 31, 2008, the Company has awards outstanding under various stock-based 
compensation plans.
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Table 05.5.25 reconciLiation oF Basic anD DiLUteD earnings per share

$ in thousands, except per share data 2008 2007

numerators   

Net income 817,607 717,130

Less dividend preference on preference shares 112 103

income aVaiLaBLe to aLL cLass oF shares 817,495 717,027

Denominators   

Weighted average number of   

Ordinary shares outstanding 293,233,477 291,929,141

Preference shares outstanding 3,795,248 3,739,470

Total weighted average shares outstanding 297,028,725 295,668,611

Potentially dilutive Ordinary shares  497,714 1,079,683

Potentially dilutive Preference shares  97,929 127,324

Total weighted average ordinary shares outstanding assuming dilution 293,731,191 293,008,824

Total weighted average preference shares outstanding assuming dilution 3,893,177 3,866,794

Basic income per ordinary share 2.75 2.43

Plus preference per preference share 0.03 0.02

Basic income per preference share 2.78 2.45

Fully diluted income per ordinary share 2.75 2.42

Plus preference per preference share 0.03 0.02

Fully diluted income per preference share 2.78 2.44



inCentive Plan
In 2006, Fresenius Medical Care Management AG adopted a three-year performance related 
compensation plan for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, for the members of its management 
board in the form of a variable bonus. A special bonus component ( award ) for some of the 
management board members consists in equal parts of cash payments and a share-based 
compensation based on development of the share price of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. 
KGaA’s ordinary shares. The amount of the award in each case depends on the achievement 
of certain performance targets. The targets are measured by reference to revenue growth, 
operating income, consolidated net income, and cash flow development. Once the annual 
targets are achieved, the cash portion of the award is paid after the end of the respective 
fiscal year. The share-based compensation portion of the award is granted but subject to a 
three-year vesting period beginning after the respective fiscal year in which the target has 
been met and is amortized over the same three-year vesting period. The payment of the 
share-based compensation portion corresponds to the share price of Fresenius Medical Care 
AG & Co. KGaA’s ordinary shares on exercise, i.e. at the end of the vesting period, and is also 
made in cash. The share-based compensation is revalued each reporting period during the 
vesting period to reflect the market value of the stock as of the reporting date with any 
changes in value recorded in the reporting period. The share-based compensation incurred 
under this plan for target years 2008 and 2007 was $ 2,189 and $ 4,595, respectively. 

Fresenius MediCal Care ag & Co. Kgaa stoCK oPtion Plan 2006
On May 9, 2006, as amended on May 15, 2007, the Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA 
Stock Option Plan 2006 ( the “Amended 2006 Plan” ) was established by resolution of the 
Company’s AGM with a conditional capital increase up to € 15,000 subject to the issue of up 
to fifteen million no par value bearer ordinary shares with a nominal value of € 1.00 each. 
Under the 2006 Plan, up to fifteen million options can be issued, each of which can be exercised 
to obtain one ordinary share, with up to three million options designated for members of 
the Management Board of the General Partner, up to three million options designated for 
members of management boards of direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Company and up  
to nine million options designated for managerial staff members of the Company and such 
subsidiaries. With respect to participants who are members of the General Partner’s Ma-
nagement Board, its Supervisory Board has sole authority to grant stock options and exercise 
other decision making powers under the Amended 2006 Plan ( including decisions regarding 
certain adjustments and forfeitures ). The General Partner has such authority with respect to 
all other participants in the Amended 2006 Plan.

Options under the Amended 2006 Plan can be granted the last Monday in July and / or the 
first Monday in December. The exercise price of options granted under the Amended 2006 
Plan shall be the average closing price on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange of the Company’s 
ordinary shares during the 30 calendar days immediately prior to each grant date. Options 
granted under the Amended 2006 Plan have a seven-year term but can be exercised only 
after a three-year vesting period. The vesting of options granted is subject to achievement of 
performance targets measured over a three-year period from the grant date. For each such 
year, the performance target is achieved if the Company’s adjusted basic income per ordi-
nary share ( “EPS” ), as calculated in accordance with the Amended 2006 Plan, increases by at 
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least 8 % year over year during the vesting period, beginning with EPS for the year of grant as 
compared to EPS for the year preceding such grant. Calculation of EPS under the Amended 
2006 Plan excluded, among other items, the costs of the transformation of the Company’s 
legal form and the conversion of preference shares into ordinary shares. For each grant, 
one-third of the options granted are forfeited for each year in which EPS does not meet or 
exceed the 8 % target. The performance targets for 2008 and 2007 were met. Vesting of the 
portion or portions of a grant for a year or years in which the performance target is met 
does not occur until completion of the entire three-year vesting period. Upon exercise of  
vested options, the Company has the right to reissue treasury shares or issue new shares.

During 2008, the Company awarded 2,523,729 options, including 398,400 options granted to 
members of the Management Board of the General Partner, at a weighted average exercise 
price of $ 49.38 ( € 35.48 ), a weighted average fair value of $ 15.37 each and a total fair value of 
$ 38,788, which will be amortized on a straight line basis over the three-year vesting period.

During 2007, the Company awarded 2,395,962 options, including 398,400 options granted to 
members of the Management Board of the General Partner, at a weighted average exercise 
price of $ 46.22 ( € 33.91 ), a weighted average fair value of $ 13.23 ( € 9.71 ) each and a total fair 
value of $ 31,709, which will be amortized on a straight line basis over the three-year vesting 
period. 

Options granted under the 2006 Plan to US participants are non-qualified stock options under 
the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Options under the 2006 Plan 
are not transferable by a participant or a participant’s heirs, and may not be pledged, assigned, 
or otherwise disposed of.

Fresenius MediCal Care 2001 international stoCK oPtion Plan
Under the Fresenius Medical Care 2001 International Stock Incentive Plan ( the “2001 Plan” ), 
options in the form of convertible bonds with a principal of up to € 10,240 were issued to the 
members of the Management Board and other employees of the Company representing 
grants for up to 4 million non-voting preference shares. The convertible bonds originally had 
a par value of € 2.56 and bear interest at a rate of 5.5 %. In connection with the share split 
effected in 2007, the principal amount was adjusted in the same proportion as the share 
capital out of the capital increase and the par value of the convertible bonds was adjusted 
to € 0.85 without affecting the interest rate. Except for the members of the Management 
Board, eligible employees may purchase the bonds by issuing a non-recourse note with 
terms corresponding to the terms of and secured by the bond. The Company has the right 
to offset its obligation on a bond against the employee’s obligation on the related note; the-
refore, the convertible bond obligations and employee note receivables represent stock  
options issued by the Company and are not reflected in the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. The options expire ten years from issuance and can be exercised beginning two, 
three or four years after issuance. Compensation costs related to awards granted under this 
plan are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for each separately vesting 
portion of the awards. Bonds issued to Management Board members who did not issue a 
note to the Company are recognized as a liability on the Company’s balance sheet. 
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Upon issuance of the option, the employees had the right to choose options with or without 
a stock price target. The conversion price of options subject to a stock price target corresponds 
to the stock exchange quoted price of the preference shares upon the first time the stock 
exchange quoted price exceeds the initial value by at least 25 %. The initial value ( “Initial 
Value” ) is the average price of the preference shares during the last 30 trading days prior to 
the date of grant. In the case of options not subject to a stock price target, the number of 
convertible bonds awarded to the eligible employee would be 15 % less than if the employee 
elected options subject to the stock price target. The conversion price of the options without a 
stock price target is the Initial Value. Each option entitles the holder thereof, upon payment 
of the respective conversion price, to acquire one preference share. Effective May 2006, no 
further grants can be issued under the 2001 Plan and no options were granted under the 
2001 Plan after 2005.

At December 31, 2008, the Management Board members of the General Partner, held 
2,159,720 stock options for ordinary shares and employees of the Company held 9,120,123 
stock options for ordinary shares and 241,776 stock options for preference shares, under the 
various stock-based compensation plans of the Company. The Table below provides reconci-
liations for options outstanding at December 31, 2008, as compared to December 31, 2007.

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
88

   I

Table 05.5.26 reconciLiation oF options oUtstanDing

Options in thousands Weighted average exercise price

in € in $

ordinary shares    

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2007 9,973 26.64 37.07

Granted 2,524 35.48 49.38

Excercised 1,145 21.27 29.60

Forfeited 72 29.82 41.51

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2008 11,280 29.15 40.56

preference shares    

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2007 275 16.16 22.50

Exercised 32 16.01 22.29

Forfeited 1 16.42 22.85

BaLance at DecemBer 31, 2008 242 16.18 22.52



The following table provides a summary of fully vested options outstanding and exercisable 
for both preference and ordinary shares at December 31, 2008:

At December 31, 2008, there were $ 53,628 of total unrecognized compensation costs related 
to non-vested options granted under all plans. These costs are expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 the company received cash of $ 36,755 
and $ 38,757, respectively, from the exercise of stock options. The intrinsic value of options 
exercised for the twelve-month periods ending December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $ 27,135 
and $ 27,591, respectively. The Company recorded a related tax benefit of $ 7,132 and $ 8,177 
for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Fair value inForMation
The Company used a binomial option-pricing model in determining the fair value of the 
awards under the 2006 Plan. Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions including expected stock price volatility. The Company’s assumptions are based 
upon its past experiences, market trends and the experiences of other entities of the same 
size and in similar industries. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Company’s 
shares. To incorporate the effects of expected early exercise in the model, an early exercise 
of vested options was assumed as soon as the share price exceeds 155 % of the exercise 
price. The Company’s stock options have characteristics that vary significantly from traded 
options and changes in subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair value of the op-
tion. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the 2008 and 2007 grants are as 
follows:

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
89

   I05.5  notes to  Consolidated FinanCial stateMents

Table 05.5.27 FULLY VesteD oUtstanDing anD exercisaBLe options

Options 
 in thousands

Weighted  
average  

remaining 
contractual life 

in years

Weighted average exercise price Aggregate intrinsic value

in € in $ in € in $

options       

Options for preference shares   217  3.21  15.49 21.55  3,918  5,452 

Options for ordinary shares  3,470  4.50  21.24 29.56  41,876  58,278

Table 05.5.28 assUmptions

2008 2007

Expected dividend yield 1.85 % 1.93 %

Risk-free interest rate 4.38 % 4.19 %

Expected volatility 25.58 % 27.13 %

Expected life of options 7 years 7 years

Exercise price in €  35.48 33.91

Exercise price in $ 49.38 46.22



16. inCoMe taxes

Income before income taxes and minority interest is attributable to the following geographic 
locations:

Income tax expense ( benefit ) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of 
the following:

As a result of the German Business Tax Reform Act 2008 ( Unternehmensteuerreformgesetz 
2008 ), the corporate income tax rate was reduced from 25 % to 15 % for German companies. 
This reduction, together with technical changes to trade tax rules, generally reduces the 
Company’s German entities’ combined corporate income tax rate effective as of January 1, 
2008. Deferred tax assets and liabilities for German entities expected to be realized in 2008 
and beyond, were revalued in 2007 to reflect the changes in the enacted tax rate. 

In 2007 the Company was subject to German federal corporation income tax at a base rate 
of 25 % plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 % on federal corporation taxes payable.

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
90

   I

Table 05.5.30 expense (  BeneFit  ) For income taxes

$ in thousands 2008 2007

current   

Germany  62,609  124,598

United States  211,889  283,350

Other  77,134  75,534

totaL cUrrent  351,632  483,482

Deferred   

Germany  43,593 (11,377)    

United States  105,466  4,052    

Other (11,549) (10,505)    

totaL DeFerreD  137,510 (17,830)   

totaL  489,142  465,652

Table 05.5.29 income BeFore income taxes

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Germany 372,174  281,633  

United States 773,089  724,839  

Other 190,427  202,603  

totaL 1,335,690  1,209,075  



A reconciliation between the expected and actual income tax expense is shown below. The 
expected corporate income tax expense is computed by applying the German corporation 
tax rate ( including the solidarity surcharge ) and the effective trade tax rate on income be-
fore income taxes and minority interest. The respective combined tax rates are 29.58 % and 
38.47 % for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.
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Table 05.5.31 reconciLiation oF income taxes

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Expected corporate income tax expense 395,097 465,131

Tax free income (49,309) (50,131)

Foreign tax rate differential 93,877 (5,434)

Non-deductible expenses 5,494 5,081

Taxes for prior years 21,371 41,868

Change in valuation allowance 4,168 3,627

Change of German tax rate – (4,257)

Other 18,444 9,767

actUaL income tax expense 489,142 465,652

eFFectiVe tax rate 36.6 % 38.5 %



The tax effects of the temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities 
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, are presented below:

The valuation allowance increased by $ 4,843 in 2008 and by $ 10,095 in 2007.

The expiration of net operating losses is as follows:
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Table 05.5.33 net operating Loss carrYForWarDs $ in thousands

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
and  

thereafter

Without 
expiration 

date

Total

27,304 4,604 9,155 19,503 17,879 9,640 13,485 13,632 12,158 30,477 95,984 253,821

Table 05.5.32 DeFerreD income tax assets anD LiaBiLities

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets   

Accounts receivable, primarily due to allowance for doubtful accounts 37,431 37,572

Inventory, primarily due to additional costs capitalized 
for tax purposes, and inventory reserve accounts 35,029 42,301

Plant, equipment, intangible assets and other non current assets,
principally due to differences in depreciation and amortization 41,103 50,829

Accrued expenses and other liabilities for financial accounting purposes, 
not currently tax deductible 305,898 320,518

Net operating loss carryforwards, tax credit carryforwards
and interest carryforwards 79,389 64,792

Derivatives 67,800 22,260

Stock-based compensation expense 17,405 11,213

Other 10,679 11,497

totaL DeFerreD tax assets 594,734 560,983

Less valuation allowance (56,169) (51,326)

net DeFerreD tax assets 538,565 509,657

Deferred tax liabilities   

Accounts receivable 11,015 13,630

Inventory, primarily due to inventory reserve accounts for tax purposes 4,615 6,306

Accrued expenses and other liabilities deductible for tax
prior to financial accounting recognition

Plant, equipment and intangible assets, principally due to differences
in depreciation and amortization

Derivatives

Other

totaL DeFerreD tax LiaBiLities

net DeFerreD tax assets ( LiaBiLities )

50,229

432,367

11,830

66,532

576,588

(38,023)

15,134

 

 400,408

14,636 

 20,587 

 470,701 

 38,956



In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more-
likely-than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate 
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income 
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management 
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future  taxable income 
in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections 
for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, 
management believes it is more-likely-than-not the Company will realize the benefits of these 
deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances at  December 31, 2008.

The Company provides for income taxes on the cumulative earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
that will not be reinvested. During the year 2008, the Company provided for $ 8,600 of defer-
red tax liabilities associated with earnings that are likely to be distributed in 2009 and the fol-
lowing years. Provision has not been made for additional taxes on $ 1,643,429 undistributed 
earnings of foreign subsidiaries as these earnings are considered permanently reinvested. 
The earnings could become subject to additional tax if remitted or deemed remitted as divi-
dends; however calculation of such additional tax is not practical. These taxes would predo-
minantly comprise foreign withholding tax on dividends of foreign subsidiaries, and German 
income tax of approx 1.5 percent on all dividends and capital gains.

FMC-AG & Co. KGaA companies are subject to tax audits in Germany and the U.S. on a regular 
basis and on-going tax audits in other jurisdictions. In Germany, the tax audit for the years 
1998 until 2001 has been finalized. The Company recognized and recorded the results of the 
audit in 2006 and thereafter paid all amounts due to the tax authorities. Fiscal years 2002 
through 2005 are currently under audit and fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008 are open to 
audit.  

For the tax year 1997, the Company recognized an impairment of one of its subsidiaries 
which the German tax authorities have disallowed in the audit for the years 1996 and 1997. 
The Company disagrees with such conclusion and filed a complaint with the appropriate 
German court to challenge the tax authority’s decision. An adverse determination in this  
litigation could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations in the relevant  
reporting period. The Company has included the related unrecognized tax benefit in the 
total unrecognized tax benefit noted below.

In the U.S., the Company filed claims for refunds contesting the IRS’s disallowance of FMCH’s 
deductions of civil settlement payments in prior year tax returns. As a result of a settlement 
agreement with the IRS to resolve the appeal of the IRS’s disallowance of deductions for the 
civil settlement payments made to qui tam relators in connection with the resolution of the 
2000 investigation, the Company received a refund in September 2008 of $ 37,000, inclusive 
of interest. The settlement agreement preserves the right to continue to pursue claims 
in the U.S. Federal courts for refund of all other disallowed deductions. The unrecognized 
tax  benefit relating to these deductions is included in the total unrecognized tax benefit 
noted below. 

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
93

   I05.5  notes to  Consolidated FinanCial stateMents



The Federal tax audit for the years 2002 through 2004 has been completed and the IRS has 
issued its report. The audit report includes disallowance of a material amount of deductions 
taken during the audit period for interest expense related to intercompany mandatorily re-
deemable preferred securities. The Company has filed a protest over the disallowed deductions 
and will avail itself of all remedies. An adverse determination with respect to any of the dis-
puted disallowances could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, tax expenses, 
net income and earnings per share.

Fiscal years 2005 and 2006 are currently under audit, 2007 and 2008 are open to audit. There 
are a number of state audits in progress and various years are open to audit in various 
states. All expected results have been recognized in the financial statements.

Subsidiaries of FMC-AG & Co. KGaA in a number of countries outside of Germany and the U.S. 
are also subject to tax audits. The Company estimates that the effects of such tax audits are 
not material to these consolidated financial statements.

The following table shows the reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of un- 
recognized tax benefits:

Included in the balance at December 31, 2008 are $ 363,188 of unrecognized tax benefits which 
would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company is currently not in a position 
to forecast the timing and magnitude of changes in the unrecognized tax benefits. 

During the year ended December 31, 2008 the Company recognized $ 17,982 in interest and 
penalties. The Company had a total accrual of $ 101,178 of tax related interest and penalties 
at December 31, 2008.

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
94

   I

Table 5.5.34 UnrecogniZeD tax BeneFits (  net oF interest  )

$ in thousands 2008 2007

BaLance at JanUarY 1 354,050 302,552

Increases in unrecognized tax benefits prior periods 24,074 29,236

Decreases in unrecognized tax benefits prior periods (36,334) (9,965)

Increases in unrecognized tax benefits current period 20,180 14,893

Changes related to settlements with tax authorities (2,042) (2,960)

Foreign currency translation 19,399 20,294

BaLance at DecemBer 31 379,327 354,050



17. oPerating leases

The Company leases buildings and machinery and equipment under various lease agree-
ments expiring on dates through 2045. Rental expense recorded for operating leases for the 
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $ 497,875 and $ 461,490, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases for the five years 
succeeding December 31, 2008 and thereafter are: 

18. legal ProCeedings

The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory and tax audits, 
investigations and other legal matters arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its 
business of providing healthcare services and products. The outcome of litigation and other 
legal matters is always difficult to accurately predict and outcomes that are not consistent 
with the Company’s view of the merits can occur. The Company believes that it has valid  
defenses to the legal matters pending against it and is defending itself vigorously. Nevertheless, 
it is possible that the resolution of one or more of the legal matters currently pending or 
threatened could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and  
financial condition.

CoMMerCial litigation
The Company was originally formed as a result of a series of transactions it completed pur-
suant to the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as of February 4, 1996, by and 
between W.R. Grace & Co. and Fresenius SE ( the “Merger” ). At the time of the Merger, a W.R. 
Grace & Co. subsidiary known as W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn. had, and continues to have, signifi-
cant liabilities arising out of product-liability related litigation ( including asbestos-related  
actions ), pre-Merger tax claims and other claims unrelated to National Medical Care, Inc. 
( “NMC” ), which was W.R. Grace & Co.’s dialysis business prior to the Merger. In connection 
with the Merger, W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn. agreed to indemnify the Company, FMCH, and NMC 
against all liabilities of W.R. Grace & Co., whether relating to events occurring before or after 
the Merger, other than liabilities arising from or relating to NMC’s operations. W.R. Grace & Co. 
and certain of its subsidiaries filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy 
Code ( the “Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings” ) on April 2, 2001. 
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Table 05.5.35 FUtUre minimUm rentaL paYments

$ in thousands 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 There- 
after

Total

Future minimum
rental payments 387,996 348,208 300,387 246,607 198,460 638,944 2,120,602



Prior to and after the commencement of the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings, class action 
complaints were filed against W.R. Grace & Co. and FMCH by plaintiffs claiming to be creditors 
of W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn., and by the asbestos creditors’ committees on behalf of the W.R. 
Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate in the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings, alleging among other 
things that the Merger was a fraudulent conveyance, violated the uniform fraudulent transfer 
act and constituted a conspiracy. All such cases have been stayed and transferred to or are 
pending before the U.S. District Court as part of the Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings.

In 2003, the Company reached agreement with the asbestos creditors’ committees on behalf 
of the W.R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy estate and W.R. Grace & Co. in the matters pending in the 
Grace Chapter 11 Proceedings for the settlement of all fraudulent conveyance and tax claims 
against it and other claims related to the Company that arise out of the bankruptcy of W.R. 
Grace & Co. Under the terms of the settlement agreement as amended ( the “Settlement Ag-
reement” ), fraudulent conveyance and other claims raised on behalf of asbestos claimants 
will be dismissed with prejudice and the Company will receive protection against existing 
and potential future W.R. Grace & Co. related claims, including fraudulent conveyance and 
asbestos claims, and indemnification against income tax claims related to the non-NMC 
members of the W.R. Grace & Co. consolidated tax group upon confirmation of a W.R. Grace & Co. 
bankruptcy reorganization plan that contains such provisions. Under the Settlement Agree-
ment, the Company will pay a total of $ 115,000 without interest to the W.R. Grace & Co. ban-
kruptcy estate, or as otherwise directed by the Court, upon plan confirmation. No admission 
of liability has been or will be made. The Settlement Agreement has been approved by the U.S. 
District Court. Subsequent to the Merger, W.R. Grace & Co. was involved in a multi-step 
transaction involving Sealed Air Corporation ( “Sealed Air”, formerly known as Grace Holding, 
Inc. ). The Company is engaged in litigation with Sealed Air to confirm its entitlement to in-
demnification from Sealed Air for all losses and expenses incurred by the Company relating 
to pre-Merger tax liabilities and Merger-related claims. Under the Settlement Agreement, 
upon confirmation of a plan that satisfies the conditions of the Company’s payment obligation, 
this litigation will be dismissed with prejudice.

On April 4, 2003, FMCH filed a suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Cali-
fornia, styled Fresenius USA, Inc., et al., v. Baxter International Inc., et al., Case No. C 03-1431, 
seeking a declaratory judgment that FMCH does not infringe patents held by Baxter International 
Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates ( “Baxter” ), that the patents are invalid, and that Baxter 
is without right or authority to threaten or maintain suit against FMCH for alleged infringe-
ment of Baxter’s patents. In general, the alleged patents concern the use of touch screen in-
terfaces for hemodialysis machines. Baxter filed counterclaims against FMCH seeking more 
than $140,000 in monetary damages and injunctive relief, and alleging that FMCH willfully inf-
ringed on Baxter’s patents. On July 17, 2006, the court entered judgment on a jury verdict in 
favor of FMCH finding that all the asserted claims of the Baxter patents are invalid as obvious 
and / or anticipated in light of prior art. On February 13, 2007, the court granted Baxter’s motion 
to set aside the jury’s verdict in favor of FMCH and reinstated the patents and entered judg-
ment of infringement. Following a trial on damages, the court entered judgment on Novem-
ber 6, 2007 in favor of Baxter on a jury award of $ 14,300. On April 4, 2008, the court denied 
Baxter’s motion for a new trial, established a royalty payable to Baxter of 10 % of the sales 
price for continuing sales of FMCH’s 2008K hemodialysis machines and 7 % of the sales price 
of related disposables, parts and service beginning November 7, 2007, and enjoined sales of 
the 2008K machine effective January 1, 2009. We appealed the court’s rulings to the Court of 
Appeals for the Federal Circuit. We are confident that we will prevail on appeal or as a result 
of the pending U.S. Patent and Trademark Office re-examinations of the underlying Baxter 

2008 Fresenius Medical Care

I p.
I   
96

   I



patents and have made no provision in our financial statements for any potential liability in 
this matter. If we are unsuccessful on all appeals, including any appeal of the royalty, the 
royalties payable to Baxter on the machines and disposable supplies that are subject to the 
court’s order will be approximately $ 56,000 for sales through December 31, 2008 and are esti-
mated to be in the range of $ 2,000 to $ 3,000 per month thereafter. In the interim period until 
our appeal is decided, we are funding a court-approved escrow account at the royalty rates 
noted above. If we win the appeal, the escrowed funds will be returned to us with interest. 
In October 2008, we completed design modifications to the 2008K machine that we expect 
will eliminate any incremental hemodialysis machine royalty payment exposure under the 
court order and permit the continued sale of the modified machine in compliance with the 
injunction, irrespective of the outcome of our appeal.

On April 28, 2008, Baxter filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, 
Eastern Division ( Chicago ), styled Baxter International, Inc. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation 
v. Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and Fresenius USA, Inc., Case No. CV 2389, asserting 
that FMCH’s hemodialysis machines infringe four recently issued patents ( late 2007-2008 ), all 
of which are based on one of the patents at issue in the April 2003 Baxter case described 
above. The new patents expire in April 2011 and relate to trend charts shown on touch 
screen interfaces and the entry of ultrafiltration profiles ( ultrafiltration is the removing of 
liquid from a patient’s body using pressure ). The court has stayed the case pending the out-
come of the appeal in the April 2003 Baxter case. The Company believes that its hemodialysis 
machines do not infringe any valid claims of the Baxter patents at issue. 

On October 17, 2006, Baxter and Deka Products Ltd. ( DEKA ) filed suit in the U.S. District Court 
for the Eastern District of Texas which was subsequently transferred to the Northern District 
of California, styled Baxter Healthcare Corporation and DEKA Products Limited Partnership v. 
Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. d / b / a Fresenius Medical Care North America and Fre-
senius USA, Inc., Case No. CV 438 TJW. The complaint alleges that FMCH’s Liberty peritoneal 
cyclers infringe certain patents owned by or licensed to Baxter. Sales of the Liberty cyclers 
commenced in July 2008. The Company believes that the Liberty peritoneal cycler does not 
infringe any valid claims of the Baxter / DEKA patents.
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Two patent infringement actions have been pending in Germany between Gambro Industries 
( “Gambro” ) on the one side and D-GmbH and FMC-AG & Co. KGaA on the other side ( herein-
after collectively “Fresenius Medical Care” ). Gambro herein alleged patent infringements 
by  Fresenius Medical Care concerning a patent on a device for the preparation of medical 
 solutions. The first case was dismissed as being unfounded. Such decision has already  become 
final. In the second case, the District Court of Mannheim rendered a judgment on June 27, 2008 
deciding in favor of Gambro and declaring that Fresenius Medical Care has in-fringed a patent. 
Accordingly, the court ordered Fresenius Medical Care to pay compensation ( to be determined 
in a separate court proceeding ) for alleged infringement and to stop  offering the alleged 
 patent infringing technology in its original form in Germany. D-GmbH brought an invalidity 
 action in the Federal German Patent Court ( “BPatG” ) against Gambro’s patent. This case is 
currently pending with the Federal Court of Justice as the court of  appeal.  Fresenius Medical 
Care has also filed an appeal against the District Court’s verdict. On January 5, 2009, Gambro 
enforced such verdict provisionally by way of security to be  deposited by Gambro. However, 
preceding such enforcement Fresenius Medical Care had  already developed design modifica-
tions, being an alternative technical solution, and replaced the alleged patent infringing 
technology in nearly all of the affected devices. In view of the pending appeal against BPatG’s 
 verdict and Fresenius Medical Care’s appeal against the  District Court’s verdict, Fresenius 
 Medical Care continues to believe that the alleged patent infringing technology does not 
 infringe any valid patent claims of Gambro. Therefore, the Company has made no provision 
in the financial statements for any potential liability in this matter. 

otHer litigation and Potential exPosures
Renal Care Group, Inc. ( “RCG” ) was named as a nominal defendant in a second amended 
complaint filed September 13, 2006 in the Chancery Court for the State of Tennessee Twenti-
eth Judicial District at Nashville against former officers and directors of RCG which purports 
to constitute a class action and derivative action relating to alleged unlawful actions and 
 breaches of fiduciary duty in connection with the Company’s acquisition of RCG ( the “RCG 
Acquisition” ) and in connection with alleged improper backdating and / or timing of stock 
 option grants. The amended complaint was styled Indiana State District Council of Laborers 
and Hod Carriers Pension Fund, on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated and 
 derivatively on behalf of RCG, Plaintiff, vs. RCG, Gary Brukardt, William P. Johnston, Harry R. 
 Jacobson, Joseph C. Hutts, William V. Lapham, Thomas A. Lowery, Stephen D. McMurray, 
Peter J. Grua, C. Thomas Smith, Ronald Hinds, Raymond Hakim and R. Dirk Allison, Defend-
ants. The complaint sought damages against former officers and directors and did not state 
a claim for money damages directly against RCG. On August 30, 2007, this suit was dismissed 
by the trial court without leave to amend. Plaintiff subsequently appealed and the matter 
 remains pending in the appellate court of Tennessee.
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FMCH and its subsidiaries, including RCG ( prior to the RCG Acquisition), received subpoenas 
from the U.S. Department of Justice, Eastern District of Missouri, in connection with a joint 
civil and criminal investigation. FMCH received its subpoena in April 2005. RCG received its 
subpoena in August 2005. The subpoenas require production of a broad range of documents 
relating to FMCH’s and RCG’s operations, with specific attention to documents related to clinical 
quality programs, business development activities, medical director compensation and physician 
relationships, joint ventures, and anemia management programs, RCG’s supply company, 
pharmaceutical and other services that RCG provides to patients, RCG’s relationships to phar-
maceutical companies, and RCG’s purchase of dialysis equipment from FMCH. The Office of 
the Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the U.S. 
Attorney’s office for the Eastern District of Texas have also confirmed that they are participating 
in the review of the anemia management program issues raised by the U.S. Attorney’s office 
for the Eastern District of Missouri. On July 17, 2007, the U.S. Attorney’s office filed a civil 
complaint against RCG and FMCH in its capacity as RCG’s current corporate parent in United 
States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri. The complaint seeks monetary damages 
and penalties with respect to issues arising out of the operation of RCG’s Method II supply 
company through 2005, prior to the date of FMCH’s acquisition of RCG. The complaint is 
styled United States of America ex rel. Julie Williams et al. vs. Renal Care Group, Renal Care 
Group Supply Company and FMCH. The Company believes that RCG’s operation of its Method II 
supply company was in compliance with applicable law and will defend this litigation vigorously. 
We will continue to cooperate in the ongoing investigation. 

On November 27, 2007, the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas ( El 
Paso ) unsealed and permitted service of two complaints previously filed under seal by a qui 
tam relator, a former FMCH local clinic employee ( Qui tam is a legal provision under the United 
States False Claims Act, which allows for private individuals to bring suit on behalf of the 
U.S. federal government, as far as such individuals believe to have knowledge of presumable 
fraud committed by third parties ). The first complaint alleges that a nephrologist unlawfully 
employed in his practice an assistant to perform patient care tasks that the assistant was not 
licensed to perform and that Medicare billings by the nephrologist and FMCH therefore violated 
the False Claims Act. The second complaint alleges that FMCH unlawfully retaliated against 
the relator by discharging her from employment constructively. The United States Attorney 
for the Western District of Texas declined to intervene and to prosecute on behalf of the 
United States. Counsel for the nephrologist asserted that a criminal investigation of the rela-
tor’s allegations was in process and therefore moved the Court to stay all activity in the qui 
tam until the alleged criminal investigation concluded. The Court denied the nephrologist’s 
motion to stay and the litigation is progressing.
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From time to time, the Company is a party to or may be threatened with other litigation or 
arbitration, claims or assessments arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management 
regularly analyzes current information including, as applicable, the Company’s defenses and 
insurance coverage and, as necessary, provides accruals for probable liabilities for the even-
tual disposition of these matters. 

The Company, like other health care providers, conducts its operations under intense go-
vernment regulation and scrutiny. It must comply with regulations which relate to or govern 
the safety and efficacy of medical products and supplies, the operation of manufacturing 
 facilities, laboratories and dialysis clinics, and environmental and occupational health and 
 safety. The Company must also comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, 
the Stark Statute, and other federal and state fraud and abuse laws. Applicable laws or regu-
lations may be amended, or enforcement agencies or courts may make interpretations that 
differ from the Company’s interpretations or the manner in which it conducts its business. 
Enforcement has become a high priority for the federal government and some states. 

In addition, the provisions of the False Claims Act authorizing payment of a portion of any 
recovery to the party bringing the suit encourage private plaintiffs to commence “whistle 
blower” actions. By virtue of this regulatory environment, as well as the Company’s corpo-
rate integrity agreement with the U.S. federal government, the Company’s business activities 
and practices are subject to extensive review by regulatory authorities and private parties, 
and continuing audits, investigative demands, subpoenas, other inquiries, claims and litiga-
tion relating to the Company’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The Com-
pany may not always be aware that an inquiry or action has begun, particularly in the case 
of “whistle blower” actions, which are initially filed under court seal.

The Company operates many facilities throughout the United States. In such a decentralized 
system, it is often difficult to maintain the desired level of oversight and control over the 
thousands of individuals employed by many affiliated companies. The Company relies upon 
its management structure, regulatory and legal resources, and the effective operation of its 
compliance program to direct, manage and monitor the activities of these employees. On 
occasion, the Company may identify instances where employees, deliberately or inadver tently, 
have submitted inadequate or false billings. The actions of such persons may subject the 
Company and its subsidiaries to liability under the Anti-Kickback Statute, the Stark Statute 
and the False Claims Act, among other laws.

Physicians, hospitals and other participants in the health care industry are also subject to  
a large number of lawsuits alleging professional negligence, malpractice, product liability, 
worker’s compensation or related claims, many of which involve large claims and significant 
defense costs. The Company has been and is currently subject to these suits due to the na-
ture of its business and expects that those types of lawsuits may continue. Although the 
Company maintains insurance at a level which it believes to be prudent, it cannot assure 
that the coverage limits will be adequate or that insurance will cover all asserted claims. 
A successful claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries in excess of insurance 
 coverage could have a material adverse effect upon it and the results of its operations. Any 
claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s reputation and business.
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The Company has also had claims asserted against it and has had lawsuits filed against it  
relating to alleged patent infringements or businesses that it has acquired or divested. These 
claims and suits relate both to operation of the businesses and to the acquisition and dive-
stiture transactions. The Company has, when appropriate, asserted its own claims, and claims 
for indemnification. A successful claim against the Company or any of its subsidiaries could 
have a material adverse effect upon its business, financial condition, and the results of its 
operations. Any claims, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s reputation and business.

aCCrued sPeCial CHarge For legal Matters
At December 31, 2001, the Company recorded a pre-tax special charge of $ 258,159 to reflect 
anticipated expenses associated with the defense and resolution of pre-Merger tax claims, 
Merger-related claims, and commercial insurer claims. The costs associated with the Settle-
ment Agreement and settlements with insurers have been charged against this accrual. With 
the exception of the proposed $ 115,000 payment under the Settlement Agreement, all other 
matters included in the special charge have been resolved. While the Company believes that 
its remaining accrual reasonably estimates its currently anticipated costs related to the conti-
nued defense and resolution of this matter, no assurances can be given that its actual costs 
incurred will not exceed the amount of this accrual.
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19. Fair value Measures

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( “FASB” ) issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ( “FAS 157” ), which establishes 
a framework for reporting fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. 
FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 
2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. FASB Staff Position No. 157-2 ( “FSP 157-2” ) 
issued February 12, 2008 delayed application of this Statement for nonfinancial assets and 
nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis ( at least annually ), until fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. 

FAS 157 extablishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in estimating 
fair value: ( i ) Level 1 is defined as observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets, 
( ii ) Level 2 is defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, that are directly or 
indirectly observable, and ( iii ) Level 3 is defined as unobservable inputs for which little or no 
market data exists, therefore requiring the Company to develop its own assumptions.

The Company adopted this standard, except for those sections affected by FSP 157-2, as of 
January 1, 2008.
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The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial 
instruments at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The carrying amounts in the table are included in the consolidated balance sheet under the 
indicated captions, except for derivatives, which are included in other assets or other liabilities.

The significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial  
instruments are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value which equals the fair value.

Short-term financial instruments like accounts receivable and payable and short-term borrowings 
are valued at their carrying amounts, which are reasonable estimates of the fair value due to 
the relatively short period to maturity of these instruments. 
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Table 05.5.36 carrYing amoUnt anD Fair VaLUe oF FinanciaL instrUments

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

non-Derivatives     

assets     

Cash and cash-equivalents 221,584 221,584 244,690 244,690

Receivables 2,176,316 2,176,316 2,026,865 2,026,865

Liabilities     

Accounts payable 605,260 605,260 530,968 530,968

Long-term debt, excluding Euro and Senior Notes 3,641,697 3,641,697 3,302,840 3,302,840

Trust Preferred Securities 640,696 626,241 1,333,782 1,364,188

Euro Notes 278,340 276,154 294,420 292,466

Senior Notes 492,456 465,625 491,569 496,035

Derivatives1     

assets     

Foreign exchange contracts 53,631 53,631 19,485 19,485

Dollar interest rate hedges – – 62 62

Liabilities   

 

 

 

 

Foreign exchange contracts (39,595) (39,595) (5,849) (5,849)

Dollar interest rate hedges (148,946) (148,946) (40,797) (40,797)

Yen interest rate hedges (9) (9) (32) (32)

1  As of December 31, 2008, the valuation of the Company’s derivates was determined using Significant. 
Other Observable Inputs ( Level 2 ) in accordance with the fair value hierarchy levels established in FAS 157.



The fair value of Senior Notes and trust preferred securities are based on market prices and 
quotes as of the balance sheet date. The fair values of other fixed-rate financial liabilities, for 
which market quotes are not available, are calculated as present value of the respective future 
cash flows. To determine these present values, the prevailing interest rates and credit 
spreads for the Company as of the balance sheet date are used. 

The fair values of financial liabilities with floating interest rates approximate their carrying 
amounts as the interest rates for these liabilities are predominantly updated every three 
months with interest rates reflecting actual market conditions at the time of update.

The Company enters into interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts which 
are carried at fair value initially and on a recurring basis. The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is calculated by discounting the future cash flows on the basis of the market interest rates 
applicable for the remaining term of the contract as of the balance sheet date. To determine 
the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts, the contracted forward rate is compared 
to the current forward rate for the remaining term of the contract as of the balance sheet 
date. The result is then discounted on the basis of the market interest rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date for the respective currency.

Under FAS 157, the Company is required to take into account credit risks when measuring 
the fair value of derivative financial instruments. In accordance with these requirements, the 
Company’s own credit risk is incorporated in the fair value estimation of interest rate deriva-
tives that are liabilities. However, for foreign exchange forward derivatives that are liabilities, 
due to the relatively short term of the contracts, the Company did not take into account its 
own credit risk in the fair value estimation. Counterparty credit-risk adjustments are not ma-
terial at this time due to the ratings of the counterparty banks which generally have ratings 
in the “A” Category or better and are therefore not factored into the valuation of derivatives 
that are assets. 

20.  MarKet risK

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates. In order to manage the risk of interest rate and currency exchange rate fluctuations, 
the Company enters into various hedging transactions with highly rated financial institutions 
as authorized by the Company’s General Partner. The Company does not use financial instru-
ments for trading purposes.

The Company established guidelines for risk assessment procedures and controls for the use 
of financial instruments. They include a clear segregation of duties with regard to execution 
on one side and administration, accounting and controlling on the other.

Foreign exCHange risK ManageMent
The Company conducts business on a global basis in various currencies, though its operations 
are mainly in Germany and the United States. For financial reporting purposes, the Company 
has chosen the U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. Therefore, changes in the rate of exchange 
between the U.S. dollar and the local currencies in which the financial statements of the 
Company’s international operations are maintained affect its results of operations and financial 
position as reported in its consolidated financial statements. 
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The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in foreign exchange rates relates to 
transactions such as sales and purchases. The Company has significant amounts of sales of 
products invoiced in euro from its European manufacturing facilities to its other international 
operations and, to a lesser extent, sales of products invoiced in other non functional currencies. 
This exposes the subsidiaries to fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the euro and 
the currency in which their local operations are conducted. For the purpose of hedging exi-
sting and foreseeable foreign exchange transaction exposures the Company enters into fo-
reign exchange forward contracts and, on a small scale, foreign exchange options. The 
Company’s policy, which has been consistently followed, is that financial derivatives be used 
only for the purpose of hedging foreign currency exposure. As of December 31, 2008 the 
Company had no foreign exchange options. 

In connection with intercompany loans in foreign currency the Company normally uses foreign 
exchange swaps thus assuring that no foreign exchange risks arise from those loans.

Changes in the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts designated and qualifying 
as cash flow hedges of forecasted product purchases and sales are reported in accumulated 
other comprehensive income ( loss ). These amounts are subsequently reclassified into earnings 
as a component of cost of revenues, in the same period in which the hedged transaction affects 
earnings. After tax gains of $ 9,534 ( $ 12,491 pretax ) for the year ended December 31, 2008 
are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income and will mainly be reclassified into 
earnings during 2009. During 2008, the Company reclassified after tax gains of $ 2,452 ( $3,296 
pretax ) from accumulated other comprehensive income ( loss) into the statement of opera-
tions. 

The notional amounts of foreign exchange forward contracts in place to hedge exposures 
from operations totaled $ 543,911 with a fair value of $ 21,227 as of December 31, 2008.

In connection with foreign currency denominated intercompany loans, the Company also 
entered into foreign exchange swaps with a notional amount of $ 285,932 having a fair value 
of $ ₋ 7,191 as of December 31, 2008. No hedge accounting is applied to these foreign ex-
change contracts. Accordingly, the respective foreign exchange swaps are recognized as as-
sets or liabilities and changes in their fair values are recognized against earnings thus offset-
ting the changes in fair values of the underlying intercompany loans denominated in foreign 
currency. 

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had foreign exchange derivatives with maturities of 
up to 25 months. 

The Company is exposed to potential losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties 
to financial instruments but does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations 
as the counterparties are banks which generally have ratings in the “A” Category or better. 
The current credit exposure of foreign exchange derivatives is represented by the fair value 
of those contracts with a positive fair value at the reporting date amounting to $ 53,631.
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interest rate risK ManageMent
The Company enters into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps and to a certain extent, 
interest options, to protect interest rate exposures arising from long-term debt at floating 
rates by effectively swapping them into fixed rates. 

The Company may be exposed to potential losses in the event of nonperformance by coun-
terparties to financial instruments but does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its 
obligations as the counterparties are banks which generally have ratings in the “A” Category 
or better. The Company had no current credit exposure from interest rate derivatives as none 
of those contracts had a positive fair value at December 31, 2008.

CasH Flow Hedges oF variable rate debt
The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements that are designated as cash flow 
hedges effectively converting the major part of variable interest rate payments due on the 
Company’s 2006 Senior Credit Agreement denominated in U.S. dollars into fixed interest rate 
payments. Those swap agreements, all of which expire at various dates between 2009 and 
2012, in the notional amount of $ 2,850,000, effectively fix the Company’s variable interest 
rate exposure on the majority of its U.S. dollar-denominated revolving loans at an average in-
terest rate of 4.37 % plus an applicable margin. After tax losses of $ 91,573 ( $ 148,913 pretax ) 
for the year ended December 31, 2008, were deferred in accumulated other comprehensive 
income. Interest payable and interest receivable under the swap agreements are accrued 
and recorded as an adjustment to interest expense.

Fair value Hedges oF Fixed rate debt
The Company entered into interest rate swap agreements that were designated as fair value 
hedges to hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of fixed interest rate borrowings effec-
tively converting the fixed interest payments on Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust II trust 
preferred securities (  see Note 11 ) denominated in U.S. dollars into variable interest rate pay-
ments. Since the critical terms of the interest rate swap agreements were identical to the 
terms of Fresenius Medical Capital Trust II trust preferred securities, the hedging relationship 
was highly effective and no ineffectiveness was recognized in earnings. The interest rate 
swap agreements were reported at fair value in the balance sheet. The reported amount of 
the hedged portion of the fixed rate trust preferred securities included an adjustment repre-
senting the fair value attributable to the interest rate risk being hedged. Changes in the fair 
value of interest rate swap contracts and trust preferred securities offset each other in the 
income statement. On February 1, 2008, the Fresenius Medical Care Capital Trust II trust pre-
ferred securities were repaid and the interest rate swap agreements expired.
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21. otHer CoMPreHensive inCoMe ( loss )

The changes in the components of other comprehensive income ( loss ) for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

22. business segMent inForMation

The Company has identified three business segments, North America, International, and Asia 
Pacific, which were determined based upon how the Company manages its businesses. All 
segments are primarily engaged in providing dialysis services and manufacturing and distri-
buting products and equipment for the treatment of end-stage renal disease. In the U.S., the 
Company also engages in performing clinical laboratory testing and providing inpatient dialysis 
services, and other services under contract to hospitals. The Company has aggregated the 
International and Asia Pacific operating segments as “International”. The segments are ag-
gregated due to their similar economic characteristics. These characteristics include the same 
services provided and the same products sold, the same type patient population, similar methods 
of distribution of products and services and similar economic environments.

Management evaluates each segment using a measure that reflects all of the segment’s con-
trollable revenues and expenses. Management believes that the most appropriate measure in 
this regard is operating income which measures the Company’s source of earnings. Financing is 
a corporate function, which the Company’s segments do not control. Therefore, the Company 
does not include interest expense relating to financing as a segment measure. Similarly, the 
Company does not allocate “corporate costs” which relate primarily to certain headquarters 
overhead charges, including accounting and finance, professional services, etc., because the 
Company believes that these costs are also not within the control of the individual segments. 
The Company also regards income taxes to be outside the segment’s control. In addition, 
certain acquisitions and intangible assets are not allocated to a segment but are accounted 
for as “corporate”. 
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Table 05.5.37 other comprehensiVe income (  Loss  )

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Pretax Tax effect Net Pretax Tax effect Net

other comprehensive ( loss ) income 
relating to cash flow hedges       

Changes in fair value of cash flow
hedges during the period

Reclassification adjustments

totaL other comprehensiVe
( Loss ) income reLating

(107,316) 

(924)  

42,764

296

(64,552) 

(628) 

(83,919)  

(4,455) 

32,961 

1,360 

(50,958) 

(3,095) 

to cash FLoW heDges

Foreign-currency translation adjustment

Adjustments related to 
pension obligations

(108,240)

 (171,063)

(28,551) 

43,060 

–  

12,632 

(65,180) 

(171,063)

(15,919)

(88,374) 

137,048 

35,729 

34,321 

–

(12,430) 

(54,053) 

137,048 

23,299 

other comprehensiVe
income ( Loss ) (307,854) 55,692 (252,162) 84,403 21,891 106,294 



For the geographic presentation, revenues are attributed to specific countries based on the 
end user’s location for products and the country in which the service is provided. Information 
with respect to the Company’s geographic operations is set forth in the table below:
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Table 05.5.38 BUsiness segment inFormation

$ in thousands North America International Segment total Corporate Total

2008      

Net revenue 7,005,401 3,606,270 10,611,671 652 10,612,323

Inter-segment revenue 2,100 82,283 84,383 (84,383) –

totaL net reVenUe 7,007,501 3,688,553 10,696,054 (83,731) 10,612,323

Depreciation and amortization (238,300) (169,999) (408,299) (7,372) (415,671)

operating income 1,168,173 616,034 1,784,207 (111,775) 1,672,432

Segment assets 10,960,264 3,557,247 14,517,511 402,165 14,919,676

Capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments1 497,612 358,930 856,542 107,287 963,829

2007      

Net revenue 6,663,221 3,057,030 9,720,251 63 9,720,314

Inter-segment revenue 516 77,492 78,008 (78,008) –

totaL net reVenUe 6,663,737 3,134,522 9,798,259 (77,945) 9,720,314

Depreciation and amortization (220,210) (140,968) (361,178) (2,151) (363,329)

operating income 1,129,801 544,214 1,674,015 (93,894) 1,580,121

Segment assets 10,586,316 3,330,955 13,917,271 252,994 14,170,265

Capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments2 396,705 319,105 715,810 120,306 836,116

1 North America and International acquisitions exclude $ 22,542 and $ 24,710, respectively, of non-cash acquisitions for 2008.
2 International and Corporate acquisitions exclude $ 9,964 and $ 83,812, respectively, of non-cash acquisitions for 2007.

Table 05.5.39 geographic DiVision

$ in thousands 2008 2007

Net revenue Long-lived 
assets

Net revenue Long-lived 
assets

Germany 350,995 306,963 308,603 195,846

North America 7,005,401 8,706,790 6,663,221 8,471,870

Rest of the world 3,255,927 1,597,576 2,748,490 1,558,364

totaL 10,612,323 10,611,329 9,720,314 10,226,080



23.  suPPleMentary CasH Flow inForMation

The following additional information is provided with respect to the consolidated statements 
of cashflows:
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1 Net of tax refund

Table 05.5.40 sUppLementarY cash FLoW inFormation

$ in thousands 2008 2007

supplementary cash flow information   

Cash paid for interest 357,295 407,882

Cash paid for income taxes1 343,224 349,058

Cash inflow for income taxes from stock option exercises 7,132 8,177

supplemental disclosures of cash flow information   

Details for acquisitions   

Assets acquired (129,711) (431,289)

Liabilities assumed 9,858 47,779

Minorities (3,706) 13,040

Notes assumed in connection with acquisition 2,490 99,775

Cash paid (121,069) (276,695)

Less cash acquired 714 18,818

net cash paiD For acQUisitions (120,355) (257,877)



ManageMent’s annual rePort on
internal Control over FinanCial rePorting

 05.6   

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15( f ). 
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by or under 
the  supervision of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief  Financial Officer to pro-
vide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  of financial reporting and the preparation 
of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles . 

As of December 31, 2008, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in  Internal 
Control–Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission ( COSO ). Management’s assessment follows the guidance for manage-
ment of the evaluation of internal controls over financial reporting released by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on May 23, 2007. Based on this assessment, management has 
 determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is  effective as of 
 December 31, 2008. 

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that 
( 1 ) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect 
transactions and dispositions of assets; ( 2 ) provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accord-
ance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that the Company’s receipts 
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s 
 management and directors; and ( 3 ) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 
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Because of its inherent limitation, internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well 
designed, cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives and 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even if the internal control over financial 
reporting is determined to be effective it can provide only reasonable assurance with respect 
to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of  effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
 because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
 procedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2008, has been audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, an independent 
 registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included on page 114.

February 18, 2009
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
a partnership limited by shares, represented by:
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, its general partner

Dr. Ben Lipps Lawrence A. Rosen
Chief Excecutive Officer  Chief Financial Officer
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rePort oF indePendent registered 
PubliC aCCounting FirM 

 05.7   

to tHe suPervisory board oF  
Fresenius MediCal Care ag & Co. Kgaa

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Fresenius Medical Care  
AG & Co. KGaA and subsidiaries ( “Fresenius Medical Care” or the “Company” ) as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ( COSO ). Fresenius 
Medical Care’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board ( United States ). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial report-
ing was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that ( 1 ) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; ( 2 ) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation  
of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and ( 3 ) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,  
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial  
statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent 
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Fresenius Medical Care maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission ( COSO ).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board ( United States ), the consolidated balance sheets of Fresenius Medical Care 
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended 
December 31, 2008, and our report dated February 18, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion 
on those consolidated financial statements.

Frankfurt am Main, Germany
February 18, 2009

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
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auditors’ rePort: rePort oF indePendent 
registered PubliC aCCounting FirM

 05.8   

to tHe suPervisory board oF  
Fresenius MediCal Care ag & Co. Kgaa

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fresenius Medical Care 
AG & Co. KGaA and subsidiaries ( “Fresenius Medical Care” or the “Company” ) as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2008. 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board ( United States ). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Fresenius Medical Care as of December 31, 2008 
and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the 
two-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted ac-
counting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board ( United States ), the effectiveness of Fresenius Medical Care’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission ( COSO ), and our report dated February 18, 2009 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on the effective operation of internal control over financial reporting.

Frankfurt am Main, Germany
February 18, 2009

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
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What does quality 
in administration mean?

“Quality in administration implies that the company has understood what its respon
sibilities are. And that it has the workforce, know-how and procedures it needs to 
meet these responsibilities. It also involves assisting our employees in achieving their 
career aspirations and providing health care coverage for their families, as well as 
helping them plan for their retirement.”  living CONFIDENCE

Employee Ron Kuerbitz

 
Job Title

 Executive Vice President Governmental 
affairs and Chief Administrative Officer

Age 49 Years

Nationality American

Joined in March 1997

Further InformationChap. 06.1 – 5
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A american DepositarY receipt ( aDr )

Physical certificate proving ownership in one or several American 
Depositary Shares ( ADS ). The terms ADS ( see “American Depositary 
Share” ) and ADR are often used interchangeably. Fresenius 
Medical Care’s ordinary and preference shares are listed on  
the New York Stock Exchange ( NYSE ) in the form of ADRs.

A american DepositarY share ( aDs )

Share certificate traded at U.S. exchanges, representing ( parts 
of ) shares of a foreign company.

C cUrrencY transLation eFFects

Financial figures translated at prior-period exchange rates.

D DaYs saLes oUtstanDing ( Dso )

Indicates the average number of days it takes for a receivable 
to be paid. A shorter DSO results in less interest for the creditor 
and a lower risk of default.

D Dax

Acronym for “German stock index – calculated on the basis of 
the weighted prices of the 30 largest ( by market capitalization 
and market turnover ) German stock corporations.

D DeBt / eBitDa ratio

Important indicator in corporate management. It compares a 
company’s debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortization and other noncash charges.

D DiViDenD

Portion of a company’s profits. The profit to be distributed  
divided by the number of outstanding shares shows the dividend 
per share. The dividend is paid to shareholders usually once a 
year in the form of cash, stock or tangible assets.

 E eBit ( earnings BeFore interest anD taxes )

This is used to assess the company’s earnings position. More 
precisely, it is the operating result before earnings from financial 
activities and investments.

  eBitDa ( earnings BeFore interest,
 E taxes, Depreciation anD amortiZation )  

Corresponds to operative cash flow before taxes.

 F Free cash FLoW

Net cash from operating activities less net capital expenditures 
(purchases of property, plant and equipment as well as intangible 
assets, less acquisitions and dividends).

 F Free FLoat

The proportion of a company’s listed shares that are freely 
available for trading.

G gross Domestic proDUct ( gDp )

Total value of goods and services produced in a national  
economy over a particular period of time, usually one year.

K KommanDitgeseLLschaFt aUF aKtien ( Kgaa )

A German legal form meaning ’partnership limited by shares’. 
An entity with its own legal identity in which at least one general 
partner has full liability ( personally liable shareholder, or  
’Komplementäraktionär’ ), while the other shareholders have  
an interest in the capital stock divided into shares without 
being personally liable for the debts of the company.

M marKet capitaLiZation

Total value of all outstanding shares of a company calculated 
by the number of shares multiplied by the share price.

 net operating proFit
N aDJUsteD For taxes ( nopat ) 

Earnings before interest and taxes ( EBIT ) less taxes. It shows 
the profit a company would achieve in the event of pure equity 
financing. In contrast to EBIT, NOPAT does not take into account 
the tax savings which a company generates as a result of high 
debt.

N no-par share

Stock issued without a nominal value.

O operating margin

Earnings before interest and taxes ( EBIT ) divided by revenues.

O orDinarY anD preFerence shares

The capital stock of the Company consists of ordinary and  
preference shares, both of which are bearer shares. Preference 
shares are non-voting, but are entitled to a dividend exceeding 
that of ordinary shares. The distribution of the minimum  
dividend on preference shares takes precedence over the  
distribution of a dividend on ordinary shares.
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R rating

The rating is a classification of the creditworthiness of a company 
accepted on the international capital market. It is published  
by independent rating agencies such as Standard & Poor’s or 
Moody’s based on a company analysis.

R recession

A phase in which economic growth is slightly negative or  
stagnant for more than two quarters. A distinct form of recession 
is the depression.

R retUrn on eQUitY ( roe )

The Return on Equity is an indicator of company profitability  
related to the shareholders’ financing.

R retUrn on inVesteD capitaL ( roic )

The return on a Company’s adjusted invested capital or the 
NOPAT divided by average invested capital. Invested capital con-
sists of current and noncurrent assets plus accumulated good-
will amortization less cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax 
assets, accounts payable ( including those due to related par-
ties), accrued expenses and other liabilities ( including income tax 
accruals ).

R retUrn on operating assets ( rooa )

EBIT divided by average operating assets. Operating assets 
consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable  
( including those due from related parties ), inventories, prepaid 
expenses and other current assets, noncurrent assets, less  
noncurrent deferred tax assets and accounts payable ( including 
those due to related parties ).

R reVenUe

The amount of money a company actually receives from its  
activities, mostly from sales of products and / or services to  
customers.

 S sarBanes-oxLeY act ( sox )

A law aimed at corporations and their auditors designed  
to improve financial accounting. The intention of SOX is to 
strengthen the confidence of shareholders and other stakeholders 
by extending regulations which relate to financial reporting and 
internal monitoring systems. SOX requirements include strict 
obligations for a company’s management regarding the provision 
of complete and correct information. The new and expanded 
rules apply for all U.S. exchange-listed companies.

 S secUrities anD exchange commission ( sec )

A federal agency that regulates and monitors the U.S. finan-
cial markets.

 S share inDex

Indicates the development of the stock market as a whole 
and / or of individual groups of shares ( e. g. DAX, DOW JONES, 
STOXX ). Share indices act as a guide for investors to help them 
identify trends in the stock market. The index calculation is 
based on a weighted value for the average development of  
the stock corporations that make up the index. Share indices 
can be calculated as price indices or performance indices.

U U.s. gaap

United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

V VoLatiLitY

This means the price fluctuation of a security or currency. Often 
this is calculated from the form of standard deviation from the 
share price history or implicit from a price-setting formula.

W WorKing capitaL

Current assets less current liabilities. The higher the working  
capital, the more secure a company’s liquidity position.
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euroPe / Middle east / aFriCa asia-PaCiFiC nortH aMeriCa

germanY

100 % FMC Deutschland GmbH
 Bad Homburg v. d. H.

France

100 % FMC France S.A.S. 
 Fresnes

serBia

100 % FMC Srbjia d.o.o. 
 Vrsac

great Britain

100 % FMC (UK) Ltd. 
 Nottinghamshire

itaLY

100 % FMC Italia S.p.A. 
 Palazzo Pignano / Cremona

spain

100 % NMC of Spain S.A.  
 Madrid

soUth aFrica

100 % FMC South Africa (Pty.) Ltd.  
 Johannesburg

tUrKeY

100 % Fresenius Medikal Hizmetler   
 A.S., Istanbul

BeLgiUm

100 % FMC Belgium N.V.   
 Antwerp

morocco

100 % FMC Maroc S.A.   
 Casablanca

ireLanD

100 % FMC (Ireland) Ltd.   
 Dublin

poLanD

100 % FMC Polska S.A   
 Poznan

portUgaL

100 % NMC Centro Médico Nacional    
 S.A., Lisbon

romania

100 % FMC Romania S.r.l.    
 Bucharest

rUssia

100 % ZAO Fresenius S.P.
 Moscow

sLoVaKia

100 % FMC Slovensko spol. s.r.o. 
 Pieštany

sLoVenia

100 % FMC Slovenija d.o.o. 
 Zrece

cZech repUBLic

100 % FMC Česká Republica spol 
 s.r.o., Prague

hUngarY

100 % FMC Dializis Center 
 Kft., Budapest

DenmarK

100 % FMC Danmark A.S.  
 Albertslund

FinLanD

100 % FMC Suomi OY  
 Helsinki

LeBanon

99 % FMC Lebanon S.a.r.l.   
 Beirut

the netherLanDs

100 % FMC Nederland B.V.   
 Nieuwkuijk

aUstria

100 % FMC Austria GmbH   
 Vienna

sWeDen

100 % FMC Sverige AB   
 Sollentuna

sWitZerLanD

100 % FMC (Schweiz) AG   
 Stans

Bosnia
& herZegoWina

100 % FMC BH d.o.o. Sarajevo    
 Sarajevo

estonia

100 % Renculus OÜ    
 Tartu

aUstraLia

100 % FMC Australia Pty. Ltd.
 Sydney

Japan

70 % Fresenius-Kawasumi Co. Ltd.
 Tokyo

china

100 % FMC  Shanghai  Co. Ltd.
 Shanghai

hongKong

100 % FMC Hongkong Ltd.
 Hongkong

singapore

100 % FMC Singapore Pte. Ltd.
 Singapore

taiWan

100 % FMC Taiwan Co., Ltd.
 Taipei

inDia

100 % FMC India Pvt. Ltd.
 New Delhi

inDonesia

100 % P.T. FMC Indonesia 
 Jakarta

maLaYsia

100 % FMC Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
 Kuala Lumpur

phiLippines

100 % FMC Philippines Inc.
 Makati City

soUth Korea

100 % FMC Korea Ltd.
 Seoul

thaiLanD

100 % FMC (Thailand) Ltd.
 Bangkok

paKistan

100 % FMC Pakistan Private Ltd.
 Lahore

Usa

100 % Fresenius Medical Care
 Holdings Inc., New York

100 % National Medical Care Inc.
 Delaware

100 % Fresenius USA Inc.
 Massachusetts

100 % Renal Care Group, Inc.
 Delaware

mexico

100 %  FMC Mexico S.A. 
Mexico City

argentina

100 % FMC Argentina S.A.
 Buenos Aires

coLomBia

100 % FMC Colombia S.A.
 Santa Fé de Bogotà

BraZiL

100 % FMC Ltda.
 Rio de Janeiro

chiLe

100 % Pentafarma S.A. 
 Santiago de Chile

VeneZUeLa

100 % FMC de Venezuela, C.A.
 Valencia

perU

100 % FMC del Peru S.A.
 Lima

Simplified chart of Fresenius Medical Care's regional organization. Line of Business in 2008 in respective country.
        Some percentage of subsidiaries represent direct and indirect shareholdings.SellingProduction    Dialysis Care
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Table 06.3.1 maJor sUBsiDiaries 2008

$ in million, except employees Ownership1 
in %

Revenue2 Net income/
(-loss)2

Equity 
Dec. 312 

Employees 
Dec. 314 

name and Location

       

Germany FMC Deutschland GmbH, Bad Homburg v. d. H. 100 1,767.0 0.0 1,485.8 3,334

France FMC France S.A.S., Fresnes 100 124.7 4.4 19.3 163

SMAD S.A., L’Arbresle 100 130.9 9.0 43.9 360

Great Britain FMC (UK) Ltd., Nottinghamshire 100 127.0 0.2 29.5 196

Italy FMC Italia S.p.A., Palazzo Pignano/Cremona 100 132.4 8.0 55.1 170

SIS-TER S.p.A., Palazzo Pignano/Cremona 100 87.9 4.6 17.4 270

Spain FMC Espana S.A., La Roca del Vallès 100 118.6 8.6 43.3 118

NMC of Spain S.A., Madrid 100 13.3 (5.8) 66.4 1,454

South Africa FMC South Africa (Pty.) Ltd., Johannesbourg 100 20.0 0.2 5.7 209

Turkey Fresenius Medikal Hizmetler A.S., Istanbul 100 127.6 5.6 48.3 233

Belgium FMC Belgium N.V., Antwerp 100 39.8 3.6 9,6 53

Marocco FMC Maroc S.A., Casablanca 100 16.0 0.8 3.5 46

Serbia FMC Srbjia d.o.o., Vrsac 100 60.8 8.0 26.6 336

Poland FMC Polska S.A., Poznan 100 42.9 2.1 14.8 72

Portugal FMC Portugal S.A., Moreira 100 48.5 0.4 10,1 38

NMC Centro Médico Nacional, S.A., Lisbon 100 102.4 42.9 50.1 794

Romania FMC Romania S.r.l., Bucharest 100 38.0 3.0 12.5 66

Slovakia FMC Slovensko spol s.r.o., Piestany 100 20.8 2.4 12.3 20

Slovenia FMC Slovenija d.o.o., Zrece 100 8.1 0.2 3.1 12

Nefrodial d.o.o., Zrece 100 14.7 1.4 3.0 96

Czech Republic

Hungary

FMC Česká Republika spol. s ro., Prague 100 48.6 6.3 27.5 54

FMC Hungary Ltd., Budapest 100 38.1 0.2 33.0 62

Denmark

FMC Dializis Center Kft., Budapest 100 55.8 0.2 1.9 649

FMC Danmark A.S., Albertslund 100 13.4 0.8 2.8 19

Finland FMC Suomi OY, Helsinki 100 19.3 0.6 4.8 22

Lebanon FMC Lebanon S.a.r.l., Beirut 99 3.8 (0.1) 0.8 10

The 
Netherlands FMC Nederland B.V., Nieuwkuijk 100 30.0 2.1 5.8 37

Austria FMC Austria GmbH, Vienna 100 24.6 1.1 3.4 23

Russia ZAO Fresenius S.P., Moscow 100 50.0 1.1 11.4 129

Sweden FMC Sverige AB, Sollentuna 100 19.2 0.8 4.8 24

Switzerland FMC ( Schweiz ) AG, Stans 100 34.5 3.5 10.2 42

Estonia Renculus OÜ, Tartu 100 2.7 0.0 0.5 15

europe
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Table 06.3.1 maJor sUBsiDiaries 2008

$ in million, except employees Ownership1 
in %

Revenue2 Net income/
(-loss)2

Equity 
Dec. 312

Employees 
Dec. 314

name and Location

north 

america

 

 

 

      

USA FMC Holdings Inc., New York 100 7,008.0 442.1 4,749.1 39,306

Mexico FMC de Mexico S.A. Mexico City3 100 95.7 (10.3) 18.1 1,203

Latin america       

Argentina FMC Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires 100 149.9 7.6 68.0 2,375

Colombia FMC Colombia S.A., Santa Fé de Bogota 100 110.7 9.9 85.2 1,032

Brazil FMC Ltda., Rio de Janeiro 100 112.1 (10.1) 48.5 477

Chile Pentafarma S.A., Santiago de Chile 100 10.7 0.1 3.3 61

Venezuela FMC de Venezuela C.A., Valencia 100 36.1 6.4 20.7 579

Peru FMC del Peru S.A., Lima 100 5.4 0.3 1.5 21

asia-pacific       

Australia FMC Australia Pty. Ltd., Sydney 100 83.2 (1.4) 16.1 274

Japan FMC Japan K.K., Tokyo 100 75.7 (13.4) (6,5) 660

Fresenius-Kawasumi Co. Ltd., Tokyo 70 17.6 3.0 19.7 63

China FMC Shanghai Co. Ltd., Shanghai 100 61.7 7.5 15.2 133

Fresenius Medical Care (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd., Changshu 100 2.6 (2.6) 11.4 207

Hongkong FMC Hong Kong Ltd., Hongkong 100 28.8 (1.3) 43.7 40

BioCare Technology Co. Ltd., Hongkong 100 12.4 (1.7) 18.9 7

Excelsior Renal Service Co. Ltd., Hongkong 51 12.4 1.9 2.3 645

Singapore FMC Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100 6.3 0.3 3.3 65

Taiwan FMC Taiwan Co., Ltd., Taipei 100 49.2 0.7 14.0 94

Jiate Excelsior Co., Ltd., Taipei 51 27.6 3.0 26.3 311

India FMC India Pvt. Ltd., New Dehli 100 2.6 0.0 0.2 23

Indonesia P.T. FMC Indonesia, Jarkata 100 6.9 0.5 4.9 28

Malaysia FMC Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur 100 14.4 1.1 8.7 79

Philippines FMC Philippines Inc., Makati City 100 9.1 1.1 4.5 27

FMC Renalcare Corp., Makati City 100 0.1 (0.1) 0.1 15

South Korea FMC Korea Ltd., Seoul    100 73.2 (3.3) 44.3 143

NephroCare Korea Inc., Seoul 100 3.2 0.4 0.7 5

Thailand FMC Thailand Ltd., Bangkok 100 13.6 0.5 5.9 62

Pakistan FMC Pakistan Private Limited, Lahore 100 3.6 0.2 0,4 17

1 Direct and indirect interest
2  These figures comply with the financial statements prepared in accordance with the specific generally accepted accounting principles of each country 

and do not reflect the amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Shareholders` equity and earnings are translated at the year-end current rate, 
and sales are translated at the average rate of the year.   

3  Included in US-GAAP-closing of FMC Holdings Inc. 
4  Full-time equivalents 
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Table 06.4.1 5-Year sUmmarY

$ in thousands, except share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

statements of earnings      
Net revenue 10,612,323 9,720,314 8,499,038 6,771,819 6,228,002
Cost of revenue1 6,983,475 6,364,519 5,621,482 4,563,681 4,266,203
Gross profits1 3,628,848 3,355,795 2,877,556 2,208,138 1,961,799
Selling, general and administrative expenses1 1,876,177 1,709,150 1,548,369 1,218,265 1,058,090
Gain on sale of legacy clinics – – (40,233)  –  –
Research and development expenses 80,239 66,523 51,293 50,955 51,364
Operating income ( EBIT ) 1,672,432 1,580,122 1,318,127 938,918 852,345
Interest expenses, net 336,742 371,047 351,246 173,192 183,746
Income before income taxes and minority interests 1,335,690 1,209,075 966,881 765,726 668,599
Income tax expense, net 489,142 465,652 413,489 308,748 265,415
Minority Interest 28,941 26,293 16,646 2,026 1,186
net income 817,607 717,130 536,746 454,952 401,998

Income per ordinary share 2.75 2.43 1.82 1.56 1.39
Income per preference share 2.78 2.45 1.85 1.58 1.41

Earnings before interest and taxes, 
depreciation and amortization ( EBITDA )

 
2,088,103

 
1,943,451

 
1,626,825

 
1,190,370

 
1,084,931

Personnel expenses 3,506,423 3,189,348 2,766,599 2,174,719 2,011,890
Depreciation 368,304 329,327 265,488 211,103 199,732
Amortization 47,367 34,003 43,210 40,349 32,853

Before one-time costs2      
EBITDA 2,088,103 1,943,451 1,623,503 1,212,764 1,084,931
EBIT 1,672,432 1,580,122 1,314,805 961,312 852,345
Net income 817,607 717,130 574,386 471,556 401,998
Earnings per share 2.75 2.43 1.95 1.62 1.39

Balance sheet      
Current assets 4,211,997 3,859,472 3,411,916 2,460,938 2,445,970
Non-current assets 10,707,679 10,310,793 9,632,765 5,522,162 5,515,571
totaL assets 14,919,676 14,170,265 13,044,681 7,983,100 7,961,541
Short-term debt 1,139,599 974,387 495,941 296,139 655,093
Other current liabilities 2,004,813 2,052,106 1,879,764 1,282,101 1,282,760
Current liabilities 3,144,412 3,026,493 2,375,705 1,578,240 1,937,853
Long-term debt 4,598,075 4,668,008 5,083,169 1,894,964 1,824,330
Other non-current liabilities 1,214,907 900,547 715,645 536,190 564,542
Non-current liabilities 5,812,982 5,568,555 5,798,814 2,431,154 2,388,872
Total liabilities 8,957,394 8,595,048 8,174,519 4,009,394 4,326,725
Shareholders’ equity 5,962,282 5,575,217 4,870,162 3,973,706 3,634,816
totaL LiaBiLities anD sharehoLDers' eQUitY 14,919,676 14,170,265 13,044,681 7,983,100 7,961,541
Total debt incl. accounts receivable securitization program 5,737,674 5,642,395 5,579,110 2,191,103 2,479,423
Working capital3 2,322,184 1,922,366 1,647,152 1,296,378 1,285,295

credit rating      
Standard & Poor's4     
Corporate credit rating BB BB BB BB+ BB+
Subordinated debt BB B+ B+ BB– BB–
Moody's       
Corporate credit rating Ba1 Ba2 Ba2 Ba2 Ba1
Subordinated debt Ba3 B1 B1 B1 Ba2
Fitch      
Corporate credit rating BB
Subordinated debt B+



1  Certain items in prior years  have been reclassified to conform with the current periods presentation. The reclassifications include $ 124.5 million for 2005 and $ 124.1 million for 2004 
relating to rents for clinics which were removed from selling, general and administrative expenses for the International segment and included in cost of revenue for dialysis care. 

2  In 2006 excluding restructuring costs and in-process R&D, one-time costs associated with the transformation of legal form, the gain from the sale of dialysis clinics and the 
write-off of deferred financing costs related to the 2003 senior credit facility but including costs related to the change of accounting principles for stock options (FAS 123 R) of 
$ 14.3 million pre-tax and $ 9.7 million after tax; in 2005 before one-time costs for the transformation of legal form and the settlement and related legal fees of the shareholders 
suit. Effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 123 R using the modified prospective transition method (see note 1t and 15). 

3  Current assets less current liabilities (excluding current debt and accruals for special charge included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities).
4  Standard & Poor's lowered the corporate credit rating to 'BB' and the subordinated debt rating to 'B+' relates to completion of the Renal Care Group acquisition in 2006.
5  2007, 2006, 2005, 2004: Capital expenditures, net, have been restated to exclude spendings for purchases of intangible assets. Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired, 

and net purchases of intangible assets have been restated, accordingly.
6  2008: Proposal for approval at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2009.
7  2006: EBITDA margin of 19.1 % and EBIT margin of 15.5 % before restructuring costs and in-process R&D, before one-time costs associated with the transformation of legal form 

and the gain from the sale of dialysis clinics but including one-time costs related to the change of accounting principles for stock options (FAS 123 R) of $ 14.3 million; in 2005 
EBITDA margin of 17.9 % and EBIT margin of 14.2 % before one-time costs for the transformation of legal form and the settlement and related legal fees of the shareholders suit.

8  2006: Pro forma including RCG, after FTC mandated divestitures, excluding restructuring costs and in process R&D, excluding gain from divested clinics and excluding the write-off 
of deferred financing costs related to the 2003 senior credit facility.

9  Correction of non-cash charges of $ 44.4 million in 2008, $ 40.7 million in 2007, $ 35.0 million pro forma including RCG, after FTC mandated divestitures, excluding restructuring 
costs and in-process R&D and excluding gain from divested clinics in 2006; correction of non-cash charges of $14.0 million in 2005 and $12.7 million in 2004.
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Table 06.4.1 5-Year sUmmarY

$ in thousands, except share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

cash Flow      
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,016,398 1,199,574 907,830 670,304 827,843
Capital expenditure, net5 (673,510)  (543,053)  (445,627)  (288,296)  (250,147)
Free cash flow5  342,888 656,521 462,203 382,008 577,696

Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired
and net purchases of intangible assets5  (276,473)  (263,395)  (4,311,190) (134,199) (114,720)

Proceeds from divestitures  58,582  29,495   515,705  –  –

share data      
Year-end share price Frankfurt, XETRA €      
Ordinary shares 33.31 36.69 33.66 29.67 19.74
Preference shares 33.50 35.39 31.67 26.28 14.22
Year-end ADS share price New York $      
Ordinary shares 47.18 52.75 44.43 35.03 26.80
Preference shares 43.00 46.84 40.00 31.20 19.15
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 293,233,477 291,929,141 290,621,904 210,000,000 210,000,000
Weighted average number of preference shares 3,795,248 3,739,470 3,575,376 80,369,448 78,729,177

Total dividend amount € in thousands 172,767 160,220 138,800 120,497 109,429
Dividend per ordinary share € 6 0.58 0.54 0.47 0.41 0.37
Dividend per preference share € 6 0.60 0.56 0.49 0.43 0.39

employees      
Full-time equivalents 64,666 61,406 56,803 47,521 44,526

operational ratios  in %      
EBITDA margin7 19.7 20.0 19.1 17.6 17.4
EBIT margin7 15.8 16.3 15.5 13.9 13.7
EPS growth 13.5 32.9 17.0 12.6 21,4
Organic revenue growth ( currency-adjusted ) 7.3 6.4 10.2 7.4 6.3
Return on invested capital ( ROIC )8 8.6 8.4 7.4 8.0 7.5
Return on operating assets ( ROOA )8 12.3 12.5 11.3 12.6 11.8
Return on equity before taxes8 22.4 21.7 20.0 19.3 18.4
Return on equity after taxes8 13.7 12.9 11.8 11.4 11.1
Cash flow return on invested capital (CFROIC )8 14.5 14.4 16.0 14.5 13.5
Leverage ratio ( total d ebt / EBITDA )9 2.7 2.8 3.2 1.8 2.3
Gearing (( total d ebt – cash) / equity ) 0.9 1.0 1.1 0.5 0.7
EBITDA / Interest e xpenses 6.2 5.2 4.6 6.9 5.9
Cash from operating activities in percent of revenue 9.6 12.3 10.7 9.9 13.3
Equity r atio ( equity / total as sets ) 40.0 39.3 37.3 49.8 45.7

Dialysis care Data      
Treatments  in millions 27.9 26.4 23.7 19.7 18.8
Patients 184,086 173,863 163,517 131,450 124,400
Clinics 2,388 2,238 2,108 1,680 1,610
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